
- 1 -

CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL
CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD

CABINET: MONDAY, 21 MARCH 2016 at 2.00 PM

A Cabinet Meeting will be held in the Ferrier Hall - City Hall on at 2.00 pm

A G E N D A

Scrutiny Matters  

1  To receive the Community and Adult Services Scrutiny Committee report 
entitled "How to reduce Crime and Disorder in the Night Time Economy in a time 
of Austerity"  (Pages 1 - 86)

Leader  

2  Wales Audit Office Corporate Assessment Follow On Report - Statement of 
Action  (Pages 87 - 108)

3  Cardiff Capital Region City Deal  (Pages 109 - 138)

Education  

4  Creative Education Partnership  (Pages 139 - 144)

5  School Catchment Areas  (Pages 145 - 300)

6  School Organisation Planning: The provision of additional English-medium and 
Welsh-medium primary school provision in the Adamsdown and Splott Wards.  
(Pages 301 - 530)

Transport, Planning & Sustainability  

7  Cardiff Central Transport Interchange  (Pages 531 - 544)

PAUL ORDERS
Chief Executive



This page is intentionally left blank



A Report of the: 

Community and Adult Services Scrutiny 
Committee

How to reduce Crime and 
Disorder in the Night Time 

Economy in a time of austerity 

March 2016 

The City and County of Cardiff 

Item 1

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



 

 

CONTENTS 

 
CONTENTS ..................................................................................................... 2 

CHAIR’S FOREWORD .................................................................................... 3 

TERMS OF REFERENCE ............................................................................... 4 

HEADLINE FINDINGS .................................................................................... 5 

KEY FINDINGS ............................................................................................... 6 

RECOMMENDATIONS ................................................................................. 12 

CORE ISSUES .............................................................................................. 15 

BACKGROUND EVIDENCE ......................................................................... 17 

INQUIRY METHODOLOGY........................................................................... 46 

BIBLIOGRAPHY ........................................................................................... 48 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS ......................................................................... 50 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS ................................................................................ 50 

COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE ....................................................... 51 

 

  

Page 2



 

 

CHAIR’S FOREWORD 

 

The City Centre Night Time Economy is vital to Cardiff and we have a 

deservedly excellent reputation and proven record in ensuring the safety and 

well being of  those who use and work in it. This relies on close working 

between a range of partners, many of whom are facing cutbacks in funding as 

a result of austerity. 

 

At the request of South Wales Police, concerned about the actual and 

potential reductions in resources available to manage the Night Time 

Economy, Members decided to undertake this Inquiry. We have identified real 

concerns about the sustainability and security of funding for key Night Time 

Economy management services. 

 

To address these concerns, we have taken a solution focused approach 

throughout the Inquiry, seeking to identify key areas, within the control of the 

Council and partners, that can be improved and funding mechanisms that can 

be secured. Our recommendations are informed by both the evidence we 

received from witnesses and our own desk based research looking at 

solutions used elsewhere in the U.K. to manage the Night Time Economy. 

 

We believe, if the recommendations are accepted and implemented, that they 

will help to ensure Cardiff retains a vibrant and safe Night Time Economy, 

essential to our vision to be the most liveable Capital city in Europe. 

 

I would like to thank all those who gave their time to speak with us, sharing 

their knowledge and experience. I would also like to thank my fellow members 

of the Task Group for their commitment in undertaking the Inquiry. 

 

 
Councillor Mary McGarry 
Chair, Community & Adult Services Scrutiny Committee 
 

Page 3



 

 

 

 
 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 
 

 To take a solution focused approach to identifying how best to reduce 

crime and disorder in the Night Time Economy (NTE) in Cardiff in a time of 

reducing public and third sector resources, including: 

- Exploring the role of licensing, Business Improvement Districts 

(BID), Late Night Levy, taxi marshals, street pastors and Alcohol 

Treatment Centres: 

- Exploring partnership working and resource allocation associated 

with managing the Night Time Economy in Cardiff. 

 

 To gather stakeholders views with regard to the above, including statutory 

partners, city centre business representatives, third sector organisations 

representatives and relevant Cabinet Members and Cardiff Council 

officers.  

 

 To explore relevant best practice in external organisations and other local 

authorities, that is transferable to Cardiff, including the work of the South 

Wales Police and Crime Commissioner’s Violent Crime Reduction team. 

 

 To make evidence based recommendations to improve the reduction of 

crime and disorder in the Night Time Economy in Cardiff in a time of 

austerity. 

 
Members of the Task & Finish Group were: 

 Councillor Mary McGarry (Chair) 

 Councillor Chris Lomax 

 Councillor Eleanor Sanders1. 
  

                                                           
1
 Cllr Sanders has a personal interest in this Inquiry, as she volunteers as a Street Pastor in Cardiff City 

Centre 

Page 4



 

 

HEADLINE FINDINGS 

 

HEADLINE FINDINGS 
 

HF1. Cardiff has a good reputation for effectively managing the Night Time 

Economy. This relies on an interlocking system of operational mechanisms 

delivered by statutory partners, the business community, the third sector 

and voluntary groups. These mechanisms are working, with violent crime 

and disorder reducing. However, the funding sources for many of these 

mechanisms are not secure and sustainable, with some under immediate 

pressure and unlikely to be available going forward. 

 

HF2. There is no specific strategy for managing the Night Time Economy in 

Cardiff.  At the same time, leadership responsibility for the Night Time 

Economy is spread across three Cabinet Member portfolios, several senior 

officers and various partnership groups. This has the benefit of being able 

to mobilise resources across a breadth of services to respond to issues. 

However, day to day work has tended to focus on land use planning, 

operational initiatives, dealing with events on the ground and developing a 

Business Improvement District. This is good work but none of it has 

focused on developing a framework for securing sustainable resources to 

manage the Night Time Economy both now and in the future, as Cardiff 

grows. 

 
HF3. There is a clear need for an urgent conversation to identify and secure 

sustainable funding for the existing mechanisms, which clearly work. 

Resource pressures within statutory partners have led to a situation where 

partners are retreating into their silos, shrinking apart rather than shrinking 

together. The proposed Cardiff Business Improvement District will work to 

add to and enhance service provision but will not meet the shortfall in 

funding for existing services. It cannot be relied upon to ensure the future 

existence of street pastors and taxi marshals, of the Alcohol Treatment 

Centre and Operation Mistletoe, all of which are essential to ensuring that 

Cardiff city centre remains safe during the night time.  

Page 5



 

 

KEY FINDINGS 

 

TACKLING ALCOHOL CONSUMPTION 
 
KF1. Alcohol consumption in Cardiff mirrors national trends, in terms of 

binge drinking and pre-loading. A harm reduction approach is being taken 

to tackle alcohol consumption. However, health professionals believe more 

should be done to make it harder to consume alcohol, thereby improving 

public health and reducing crime and disorder. Members heard that the 

following examples of actions could be taken: minimum alcohol pricing, 

reducing alcohol sales and regulating drinking on trains and in taxis on the 

way into and out of Cardiff.  

 

CRIME AND DISORDER     
 

KF2. A&E attendance figures provide the most accurate overview of trends 

in violent crime. These show a decrease in violent crime in Cardiff city 

centre, due to prevention and early intervention mechanisms. However, 

overall crime has increased and there are regular incidences of Anti- 

Social Behaviour such as public urination. There are significantly fewer 

mass disorder incidences than in the past. 

 

KF3. Professor Shepherd, a renowned expert in tackling violent crime and 

chair of Cardiff’s Violence Prevention Group, believes that boredom is a 

key factor in violence and that there is a need to provide diversions, such 

as street entertainment, which have been seen to work in Cardiff in 

reducing violence in the night time economy. 

 

VISION FOR CARDIFF 
 

KF4. Cardiff is aspiring to be a Liveable City with a vibrant and safe Night 

Time Economy throughout the week and across the city, in 

neighbourhoods with a strong identity rather than focused solely in the city 

centre. This Inquiry heard that Cardiff needs to change the demographic of 

the city centre, to have more mixed venues which attract a wider range of 

clients. 

Page 6



 

 

PARTNERSHIP AND CROSS COUNCIL WORKING 
 

KF5. There are a range of partnership groups in Cardiff involved in 

operationally managing the Night Time Economy, covering statutory 

partners, the voluntary sector and businesses. Partnership working is data 

driven and is used to deploy resources based on intelligence. Historically, 

partnership working has focused on planning, coordinating and 

implementing operational initiatives and mechanisms to manage Cardiff’s 

Night Time Economy. Cardiff has a good reputation and track record in this 

area.  

 

KF6. The Civic Summit held in September 2015 is an example of the ability 

in Cardiff for a range of partners to come together at short notice to 

respond to public concerns resulting from a sudden increase in sexual 

attacks of women at night time in the city centre and to collectively agree a 

range of operational actions. 

 

KF7. However, there is a lack of leadership and strategic, proactive direction 

for the Night Time Economy. There is no mention of the Night Time 

Economy per se in key strategic documents, despite the specific issues 

flowing from the Night Time Economy and the need for specific solutions to 

address these issues. The partnership strategy, What Matters, and the 

Council’s Corporate Plan focus on broad outcomes and the aim to be a 

Liveable City but there is no specific strategy for the Night Time Economy. 

This has led to a situation where partners are retreating into their silos.  

 

OPERATIONAL MECHANISMS 
 

KF8. Cardiff has a good reputation for effectively managing the Night Time 

Economy and for pioneering successful approaches and techniques, such 

as use of A&E data and use of plastic rather than glass. Operational 

mechanisms used in Cardiff are working, as evidenced by a reduction in 

violent crime, despite growth in footfall and an increase in events. 

 

KF9. The Inquiry heard evidence about a range of operational mechanisms 

that complement one another and meet the needs of the Night Time 

Page 7



 

 

Economy. Witnesses stressed the importance of having a clean, well-lit 

environment as this helps to improve behaviours and reduce the 

opportunity for crime and disorder. Likewise, the visible presence of 

resources such as street pastors, taxi marshals and police help to prevent 

crime and disorder; these, coupled with real-time CCTV and radio 

communications, also enable resources to be targeted effectively at early 

intervention, preventing the escalation of crimes to more serious and 

violent crime and disorder. 

 
KF10. The Alcohol Treatment Centre is seen as a highly useful resource 

helping to manage demand on A&E and support health promotion with 

those who use the service. More recently, it has also provided a safe 

space for people identified as potentially vulnerable in the Night Time 

Economy. 

 
KF11. Members heard from several internal and external witnesses that a key 

strength of Cardiff’s operational working is that it is data driven, which 

relies on the senior partnership analyst work. The data is used to inform 

decisions on the deployment of resources. 

 
 

LICENSING 
 

KF12. The Licensing Act 2003 means that there has to be a presumption to 

grant a licence unless evidence that doing so will have a negative impact 

on the licensing objectives set out in the Council’s Licensing Statement. 

The Council revised its Licensing Statement in November 2015, with the 

aim of establishing more mixed venues rather than vertical drinking 

establishments. 

 

KF13. Licensing is a key element in effectively managing the Night Time 

Economy as licensing conditions can be used to address negative impacts 

and can include conditions not to hold drinking games or ‘carnage’ events 

on the premises. Not all licensing applications are brought to Licensing 

Committee; where no relevant representations are received, licenses are 

automatically granted by officers, in accordance with the Licensing Act 

2003. 

Page 8



 

 

KF14. There is recognition amongst statutory partners of the need to work 

together proactively to share evidence to support objections where it is 

believed a license would have a negative impact on licensing objectives. 

This could include meeting before a hearing of the Licensing Committee to 

‘peer review’ evidence to ensure that licensing conditions are strongly 

worded to remove the negative impacts or to ensure evidence is strong 

enough to enable to Licensing Committee to refuse an application. It could 

also include meeting after a hearing to review lessons that need to be 

learned for future hearings. 

 
 

RESOURCES 
 

KF15. The status quo is positive, as demonstrated by views expressed 

regarding the success of existing operational and policy mechanisms. 

However, the Inquiry heard clear evidence that the status quo is being 

challenged by pressures on resources caused by cutbacks due to austerity 

and the increasing and changing nature of demands in the Night Time 

Economy. There are no specific budget lines for key elements of existing 

service provision and the status quo has come about through flexible 

resource use across the statutory, voluntary and business sectors. 

However, austerity is leading to reduced scope for organisations to be 

flexible in the use of resources. 

 

KF16. The Night Time Economy is changing, which causes a change in the 

demand pattern for resources. South Wales Police highlighted that the 

traditional area of the Night Time Economy is widening and that this 

causes them concern that there may be subsequent pressures on their 

resources, in that the resources will be spread more thinly. Other 

witnesses highlighted that it was anticipated that the creation of a more 

mixed Night Time Economy would reduce demand pressures. 

 

KF17. The Inquiry heard clear evidence of resource pressures in 2016/17, 

including:  

a. Possible reduction in Council funding for taxi marshals and 

Operation Mistletoe; 

Page 9



 

 

b. the potential reduction in South Wales Police funding for Operation 

Mistletoe; 

c. the lack of secure funding for Street Pastors (on an on-going basis) 

d. the lack of secure funding for the Alcohol Treatment Centre (post 

2016/17). 

 

KF18. Some witnesses stated that some of the cutbacks implemented in 

2015/16 have affected Night Time Economy service delivery, particularly 

with regard to CCTV operations and road closures. 

 

KF19. Due to the nature of managing the Night Time Economy, a reduction in 

any partnership resource has a consequential impact on the other partners 

managing the Night Time Economy. There is a clear need for an open 

conversation to be had between the statutory, voluntary and business 

partners to discuss and agree how to ‘shrink together not shrink apart’.  

 

BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT- BID 
 

KF20. Many witnesses saw a BID as a positive development for Cardiff, 

providing a mechanism to: enhance joint working amongst city centre 

businesses; enable conversations to take place on the aspirations for the 

city centre and the management of the Night Time Economy; address a 

range of issues, including community safety; and strengthening the 

governance of joint working amongst businesses. A BID could raise 

approximately £1M to £1.5M per annum. 

 

KF21. The Inquiry heard that a BID will not be used to fund existing services 

but to add value to these, where businesses voted to do so. Crime and 

disorder issues are being discussed as part of the BID and the draft 

business case includes proposals to enhance the taxi marshal and street 

pastor service as well as street cleansing. 

 
KF22. Many Night Time Economy businesses will be exempt from paying the 

BID as their rateable value falls below the threshold. However, the draft 

business case states that these businesses may take out voluntary 

membership of the BID and the BID will pay any Late Night Levy. 
Page 10



 

 

LATE NIGHT LEVY 
 

KF23. A Late Night Levy raises monies from Night Time Economy businesses 

which is split 70:30 between the local Police Force and the local authority. 

The monies have to be spent on dealing with the consequences of the 

Night Time Economy. It is likely that the local authority element would be 

needed to meet the administrative burden. A legal agreement could ensure 

that the monies raised in Cardiff were spent in Cardiff by South Wales 

Police.  A Late Night Levy could raise approximately £200,000 to £250,000 

per annum, resulting in a ring-fenced £140,000 to £175,000 to be spent on 

Night Time Economy crime and disorder issues. 

 

KF24. The Inquiry heard that there was limited support for a Late Night Levy 

in Cardiff. Concerns were expressed that it would apply across the whole 

of Cardiff rather than focus solely on the city centre Night Time Economy. 

A BID was seen by many as preferable, in that it would raise significantly 

more monies than a Levy and would deal with wider issues.  

 
KF25. However, supporters of a Late Night Levy welcomed the fact that 

monies were ring-fenced to deal with crime and disorder issues arising 

from the Night Time Economy. Late Night Levies have worked elsewhere 

in England and have raised monies that have been spent on creative ways 

of tackling crime and disorder issues, such as paying for training and 

supporting student community patrol volunteers. In addition, a Late Night 

Levy could lead to a reduction in alcohol consumption, with consequential 

public health benefits and crime and disorder benefits, including a more 

manageable pattern of closing times. 

 

OTHER RESOURCE MECHANISMS 
 

KF26. The Inquiry found evidence of a number of mechanisms used  

elsewhere in the U.K. to find resources, not just BIDs or Late Night Levies, 

but mechanisms to reduce crime and disorder by tackling the root cause of 

much Night Time Economy crime and disorder, namely excessive alcohol 

consumption, as well as manage crime and disorder by using partner 

resources creatively.    

Page 11



 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

This inquiry was undertaken to investigate how to reduce crime and disorder in 

the Night Time Economy in a time of austerity. The Inquiry has taken a solution-

focused approach and our recommendations demonstrate this; if these are 

implemented, they will lead to improvements in cross-council and partnership 

working, identification of resources for existing services; and help to secure 

sustainable funding for essential existing services both now and in the future. The 

Inquiry has used the Welsh Government’s draft ‘Framework for Managing the 

Night Time Economy in Cardiff’ as a guide and resource when setting these 

recommendations. 

 

Effective communication, coordination and cooperation between all 

Community Safety agencies 

R1. At a Cabinet Member level, identify a single Night Time Economy 

champion, to provide strategic and tactical leadership within the Council, 

covering the range of issues associated with the Night Time Economy 

including crime and disorder, and ensuring that the Council’s legal 

responsibilities and duties are met. 

 
R2. Ensure that the Night Time Economy Champion has lead responsibility for 

the development of the action plan that will be required in response to the 

Welsh Government’s ‘Framework for Managing the Night Time Economy 

in Wales’. 

 
R3. Task officers to clarify the roles and responsibilities of the various 

partnership groups and meetings that take place and the relationship 

between those that take place under the remit of the Cardiff Partnership 

Board and those that take place under the remit of the Cardiff Business 

Improvement District, to ensure that strategic and tactical conversations 

take place at the right level and at the right time and that there is better 

clarity about joint decision making for all issues relating to Night Time 

Economy issues. 

 

  

Page 12



 

 

Identifying Secure and Sustainable Funding 

R4. Task officers to work with existing operational delivery partners across the 

Night Time Economy to first, prepare an audit of existing resources which 

are input from a range of partners to meet the costs of managing crime 

and disorder in the Night Time Economy and secondly, identify those that 

are not secure, not sustainable, stretched and/ or have recently been 

reduced.  

 
R5. Ensure that the Night Time Economy Champion takes the lead in holding 

an open conversation with all relevant partners on how to ‘shrink together 

not shrink apart’, by identifying and agreeing solutions to secure 

sustainable funding for the essential mechanisms that work in Cardiff, 

including: taxi marshals, street pastors, the Alcohol Treatment Centre and 

Operation Mistletoe. 

 
R6. As part of identifying and securing sustainable funding for the essential 

mechanisms that work in Cardiff, task officers to implement a Late Night 

Levy, with a legal agreement between Cardiff Council and the South 

Wales Police and Crime Commissioner to make it transparent that the 

monies raised by the Levy will be spent in Cardiff on tackling Night Time 

Economy crime and disorder issues. 

 

Working with Cardiff BID 

R7. Task officers to ensure that all relevant sections of the Council involved in 

managing the Night Time Economy are involved in the conversations to 

develop and implement the Cardiff Business Improvement District. 

 
R8. Continue to have strong and constructive conversations with the Cardiff 

Business Improvement District working group to ensure Night Time 

Economy issues are kept on the table so that proposals to add to and 

enhance service provision to tackle these issues appear in the final 

business case. 

 
R9. Clearly acknowledge that the Cardiff Business Improvement District will 

not pay for existing Night Time Economy services, including those to 

tackle crime and disorder. 

 

Page 13



 

 

 

Tackle Alcohol Consumption 

R10. Task officers to work with British Transport Police and taxi forums to 

develop and implement mechanisms to regulate drinking on trains and in 

taxis on the way into and out of Cardiff city centre. 

  

R11. Task officers to work to support and encourage late night street 

entertainments as a way of addressing the boredom which can lead to 

crime and disorder in the Night Time Economy. 

 

Make effective use of Licensing Powers 

R12. Task officers to set out an awareness raising campaign to inform Members 

and partners about the Licensing Act 2003 and the limitations these place 

on the licensing function of Cardiff Council. 

 
R13. Task officers to put in place a robust system to enable statutory partners 

to work together at an early stage to support objections where it is 

believed a license would have a negative impact on the Council’s licensing 

objectives. 

 
R14. Task officers to ensure Licensing Committee Members are informed that 

licensing conditions can be used to ensure premises do not hold drinking 

games or ‘carnage’ events. 

 
R15. Task officers to ensure that high profile joint enforcement visits are 

undertaken between licensing authorities, Environmental Health, Fire 

Service and Trading Standards to check door supervisors, health and 

safety, fire prevention, noise nuisance controls and compliance with 

licensing conditions. 

 

The Community & Adult Services Scrutiny Committee invites the Cabinet to 

accept the above recommendations and in their response, detail the work to be 

undertaken for those recommendations that are accepted and, if any 

recommendations are rejected, the reasons for this. 

Page 14



 

 

CORE ISSUES 

 

1. The crux of this Inquiry is the unsettled picture of resources for managing 

the Night Time Economy in Cardiff and the impact that further cutbacks 

caused by austerity could have on the effectiveness of this process. The 

Inquiry has heard clear evidence that the status quo is positive, as 

demonstrated by views expressed re operational and policy mechanisms, 

detailed further on in this report, and by the reduction in violent crime and 

disorder in Cardiff city centre. However, the status quo has come about 

through flexible resource use which is no longer viable due to austerity 

cutbacks. 

 

2. Members heard that the successful partnership approach taken historically 

in Cardiff is under threat because of austerity, with partners retreating into 

their own silos rather than working together collectively to design solutions. 

Members heard from several witnesses that the reduction in resources by 

any one actor will increase the pressures on all the other actors involved in 

Cardiff’s Night Time Economy management. For example, a reduction in 

the local authority contributions increases the need for extra police 

resources and increases pressure on other agencies involved in Night 

Time Economy management. Likewise, if the Alcohol Treatment Centre 

was no longer available, pressures would increase consequentially on 

A&E, the Police, Street Pastors etc. Members also heard witnesses raise 

concerns about the unintended consequence of cuts, which could lead to 

declining behaviours and an increase in violent crime. 

 

3. At the same time, Members heard that pressure on resources is 

increasing, with growing and changing demand in Cardiff’s Night Time 

Economy. The overall footfall has increased, the number of events has 

increased and these are causing increased resource pressures. In 

addition, Members heard concerns expressed that the area of the Night 

Time Economy is widening with the Bierkeller, Tramshed and other venues 

outside the traditional Night Time Economy zone.  South Wales Police 

Page 15



 

 

expressed their concerns that this causes pressures on their resources, as 

they have the same number of officers to cover a wider geographical area. 

 
4. Currently there is excellent operational working, with evident goodwill 

amongst those that work together to deliver Night Time Economy 

management week in, week out. What is lacking is a strategic approach 

that joins up decision making about the way forward and plans for secure 

and sustainable resource provision. Whilst conversations are taking place 

about a Business Improvement District and Late Night Levy, these on their 

own are not sufficient to meet the resource needs. Meanwhile, partner 

organisations are proposing cutbacks in isolation from an overall plan. 

 
5. Members recognise that there has to be constructive conversations 

between all partners about how to deal with the cutbacks in a collective 

way, to enable provision to shrink together not shrink apart, and to enable 

Cardiff to continue to benefit from a safe Night Time Economy. Members 

heard time and again of the need for long term sustainable resource 

funding and the need to be open about the cuts partners are facing and 

the consequences of these cuts.  

  

Page 16



 

 

BACKGROUND EVIDENCE 

 

TACKLING ALCOHOL CONSUMPTION 
 

6. The Inquiry heard that alcohol consumption in Cardiff is a big problem, 

albeit that it mirrors national trends, in terms of binge drinking and pre-

loading. At a population level, data shows that 43% of Cardiff’s adults drink 

more than the recommended amount of alcohol twice per week and 26% 

of Cardiff’s adults binge drink every week. 

 

Alcohol Consumption 
2013-2014 - 43% of Cardiff’s adults reported drinking above guidelines2 on at least 
one day in the past week. This was above the equivalent figure for Wales of 41%, but 
had fallen from 44% for 2012-2013 (source: Welsh Health Survey).  
 
2009-2012 - Welsh Health Surveys combined breakdown of alcohol consumption by 
age group, showing the proportion consuming alcohol above the guideline levels in 
Cardiff:  
16-44 - 48%  
45-64 - 51%  
65+ - 25%  
The comparative figures for Wales were 48%, 50% and 25% respectively.  
 
Binge Drinking 
2013-2014 - 26% of adults in Cardiff had reported binge drinking3 on at least one day 
in the past week. This was down from 27% in the previous survey and compared to 
25% for the whole of Wales (source: Welsh Health Survey). 
 
2009-2012 - Welsh Health Surveys combined breakdown re binge drinking in Cardiff 
by age group: 
16-44 – 33% 
45-64 – 30% 
65+ - 10% 
These compared to 34%, 29% and 10% for Wales respectively. 

 

7. The Inquiry heard from Cardiff and Vale University Health Board that pre-

loading is a huge issue and leads to people being brought directly to the 

                                                           
2
 Guidelines means men drinking more than 4 units a day and women drinking more than 3 units. 

3
 Binge drinking means men drinking more than 8 units a day and women drinking more than 6 units. 

Figures are based on all adults (drinkers and non-drinkers) 

Page 17



 

 

Alcohol Treatment Centre4 by taxi, without having been into the Night Time 

Economy. 

 
8. The Inquiry heard little evidence of drug misuse in Cardiff although the 

Cardiff Licensee Forum highlighted that drug use is an increasing problem 

and a bad combination when mixed with alcohol as it leads to some of the 

worst violence licensees have to deal with.  

 
9. A harm reduction approach is being taken to tackling alcohol 

consumption5, with education and awareness raising campaigns in 

schools, youth groups, universities, via all health professionals and via 

licensed premises, including the Millennium Stadium. Cardiff universities 

are actively participating in tackling excessive alcohol consumption. 

 

Cardiff & Vale University Health Board – Tackling Alcohol Consumption: 

o Working with the University to tackle the ‘Carnage’ concept, marketed at students. 

The University now requires students to sign a contract which means they can be 

sent down from university if they participate in these types of activities. 

o Working with Student Union venues resulting in venues now having water on 

supply. 

o Local campaigns with Millennium Stadium re public health messages. 

o Targeted working on +55year group - local research has produced evidence of 

widespread problematic and harmful consumption levels of alcohol across this age 

band, which need to be addressed. 

o Targeted work re younger people – building links with youth groups. 

o Work with Professor Shepherd and A&E to get richer data regarding alcohol 

consumption. 

o Alcohol Treatment Centre – provides direct response to issues in NTE, source of 

data and enables health promotion for example via wristbands which are given to 

patients. 

o Drop in services in Riverside and street based work. 

o Using ‘Making Every Contact Count’ campaign to ensure basic messaging on health 

given to all who are in contact with health professionals. 

o Factual conversations with all parties involved – pubs, clubs, licensees, and partners 

– there is a willingness to work together, to build relationships and to deal with the 

issues. 

o Education and awareness raising in schools - seems to be working as there are 

different attitudes emerging, with zero tolerance for drink driving and less 

tolerance for binge drinking. 

                                                           
4
 Set up in the city centre to provide treatment directly and ameliorate pressures on A&E services 

5
 ‘Cardiff & Vale Health and Wellbeing Board’ - work stream for ‘Reducing damaging alcohol 

consumption’. 

Page 18



 

 

10. Health professionals told Members that they are interested in exploring 

other ways of reducing alcohol consumption by:  

• Reducing alcohol sales, for example via minimum alcohol pricing, 

and/ or reducing the number of premises selling alcohol and/or 

reducing hours able to buy alcohol;  

• Regulating drinking on the way into and out of Cardiff, on trains 

and in taxis, as this would reduce pre-loading and would reduce 

the amount of glass and bottles brought into the city centre.   

 

11. With regard to minimum alcohol pricing, Members heard from the Director 

for Public Health that there is solid evidence that raising alcohol price 

affects patterns of alcohol consumption and so work is needed on 

persuading and influencing on this matter in relation to the Public Health 

(Wales) Bill going through at the moment. 

 

12. The Inquiry heard clear evidence that the South Wales Police and Crime 

Commissioner’s campaign ‘Know the Score’ worked to reduce alcohol 

consumption by raising awareness of the law with regard to serving people 

who are drunk or buying alcohol for people who are drunk . Members 

received the evaluation of the scheme, undertaken by Liverpool John 

Moores University, and heard clear support from many of the internal and 

external witnesses, including Cardiff and Vale University Health Board, 

Cardiff Licensee Forum and Professor Shepherd. The next iteration of the 

scheme is ‘Drink Less: Enjoy more’ which ran over the Christmas period 

2015/16 and for the Rugby Six Nations 2016. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 19



 

 

CRIME AND DISORDER     
 

13. The Inquiry heard that changes to the way crimes are recorded over time 

means that it can be difficult to find a way to accurately identify trends over 

time. Cardiff has pioneered the usage of A&E attendance data to track 

trends in violent crime. This is because victims of violent crime will have to 

attend A&E for treatment and therefore attendance figures provide an 

accurate overview of trends. This approach is now cited as good practice 

by Welsh and UK Governments. 

 

14. Overall, there are higher rates of anti-social behaviour and criminal 

offences in the city centre than is found across other wards in Cardiff, 

particularly at the peak times for the Night Time Economy (Friday and 

Saturday night into Sunday morning). Overall crime in the city centre has 

increased with rises in robberies, hate crime and mobile phone theft. 

 
15. However, A&E attendances as a result of violent crime6 in the city centre 

show a year on year decrease, from 80 per week in 2002 to 25 per week in 

2015. As well as a decrease in overall numbers, there is also a decrease 

in the severity of the violence. Both of these are believed to be the result of 

the Police intervening earlier and preventing escalation into more serious 

violent crime. Operational mechanisms such as replacing glass with plastic 

and using CCTV and radio communications to enable more proactive 

policing have been instrumental in achieving the reduction. 

South Wales Police 
o  serious assaults have reduced and this is seen as a direct result of the Cardiff 

After Dark initiative which has increased overall resource levels and has 

improved use of intelligence to deploy resources effectively 

o less glass assaults – due to use of plastic during events 

o less mass disorder – due to policing tactics used 

o Increase in phone theft, due to increase in numbers of phones and people 

needing to report loss to qualify for insurance 

o Increase in hate incidents, including abusive comments directed at NTE staff 

o Increase in robberies 

o Change in location of incidents – as more of city centre is covered by CCTV, 

incidences shift to areas where there is no CCTV (such as some car parks) 

 

                                                           
6
 Violent crime includes public order offences, common assault and assault with injury 

Page 20



 

 

16. The Inquiry heard that, in 2014/15 there were a total of 2,352 incidents of 

anti - social behaviour within the City Centre, such as public urination, with 

Street Pastors recording 870 incidences of public urination last year and 

almost 4,000 discarded bottles and glasses, which are  potential weapons.  

 

17. The latest data for Operation Mistletoe over the Christmas period 2015/16 

shows that, whilst footfall in the city centre increased by 1 million 

compared to a normal month, there was no significant increases in 

reported violent crime with injury.  

 

Key Operation Mistletoe Statistics 2015/16 

Footfall for the month of December in the City Centre was 4.1 million. 

Between 20.00hrs - 04.00am - footfall was measured at 750,000. 

There were no significant increases in reported violent crime with injury. Figures are as 

follows: 

Oct – 70 Violent Crimes. 

Nov – 71 Violent Crimes. 

Dec – 74 Violent Crimes (52.7% detections). 

1st December 2015-3rd January 2016- Total 6 GBH assaults- reduction of 25% on last year, 

when there were 8 GBH assaults. 

1st December 2015- 3rd January 2016 – 1456 calls in City Centre, 631 recorded crimes -

decrease of 143 occurrences compared to last year.  

Bleak Friday 18th December 2015  

24 crimes - increase of 2 compared to last year. 

New Year’s Eve -  

24 crimes - increase of 1 compared to last year. 

Alcohol Treatment Centre   

145 patients seen throughout December  

‘Bleak’ Friday - assessed 17 patients 

New Year’s Eve - assessed 29 patients  

 

Page 21



 

 

18. Professor Shepherd highlighted to the Inquiry that, in his experience, 

boredom is a key factor in violence and that there is a consequent need to 

provide diversions, such as street entertainment (buskers) as these could 

have a positive impact by preventing boredom, reducing friction and 

tension and allowing the Police to monitor drunk people more easily. 

 

VISION FOR CARDIFF 

19. The Vision for Cardiff set out in the Corporate Plan 2015-17 is for Cardiff 

‘to be Europe’s most liveable Capital City’. In terms of this Inquiry, the 

Council’s vision builds on the following Integrated Partnership Strategy, 

What Matters 2010-2020, shared outcomes: Cardiff has a Thriving and 

Prosperous Economy; People in Cardiff are Safe and Feel Safe; and 

People in Cardiff are Healthy. 

 

20. The Inquiry heard from Councillor Bale, Leader of Cardiff Council, that 

Cardiff is aspiring to be a Liveable City with a vibrant and safe Night Time 

Economy throughout the week and across the city, in neighbourhoods with 

a strong identity rather than focused solely in the city centre. The aim is to 

establish more mixed venues, such as family venues, restaurants and 

different cultural offers rather than more vertical drinking establishments.   

 
21. The Local Development Plan assists in the delivery of this vision by setting 

out the aim of diversifying the city centre, both in terms of economic 

potential and as a place to visit and live, with the Cardiff Central Enterprise 

Zone and Central Square cited as key developments to enable this: 

 
‘To maximise the economic potential of the city centre of Cardiff as a major 
financial and service sector opportunity that builds upon its position next to 
a transport hub of national and regional significance and is readily 
accessible from all areas within the city and well connected to other UK 
cities.’  
 
‘To maintain and enhance the vitality, attractiveness and viability of the city 
centre as a major retail and cultural destination and as a place to work, 
visit and live.’7  
 

 

                                                           
7
 Quotes taken from Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 

Page 22



 

 

22. The Council’s Licensing Statement is another key mechanism to achieve a 

more diverse city centre, as it sets out the licensing objectives that the 

Council wishes to achieve. Cardiff Council’s Licensing Statement was 

revised in November 2015 to encourage and promote mixed venues. 

 

23. The Inquiry heard that Economic Development is helping to drive the 

creation of a more mixed Night Time Economy, with more family venues, 

restaurants and entertainments appealing to a wider range of clients, 

which in turn helps to attract more inward investment into Cardiff. 

 

PARTNERSHIP WORKING 
 

24. The Inquiry heard that Cardiff has a good reputation and track record for 

effective partnership working to operationally manage the Night Time 

Economy. There is, and has been for several years, a system of multi-

agency partnership working, with a range of groups to enable this. The 

statutory partner groups feed up through the Local Service Board 

structure, known as the Cardiff Partnership Board. 

 

 

25. The What Matters Partnership Strategy is implemented via a series of 

Programmes, with the ‘Safer and Cohesive Communities Programme’ 

Page 23



 

 

covering the work underway with regards to the Night Time Economy. This 

work includes planning, operational, coordination and implementation work 

and is data driven, with resources deployed based on intelligence. There is 

across the board recognition that this is a key strength to Cardiff’s 

partnership working, which relies on the senior partnership analyst’s work 

of collating data from a range of sources and using these to identify hot 

spots and trends. 

 

26. There are also business partner groups, including the Business 

Improvement District task group, Business Crime Reduction Partnership, 

Cardiff Taxi Forum and the Cardiff Licensee Forum. Whilst these groups 

have separate aims and objectives, their overlapping memberships help 

build knowledge and relationships. The Business Crime Reduction 

Partnership has recently appointed a new manager; several witnesses 

highlighted that there was an opportunity for this manager to strengthen 

working on tackling crime and disorder in the city centre. Members heard 

from Councillor Bale, Leader of Cardiff Council, that ‘Cardiff Council plays 

its part by supporting businesses in the development of the BID. This is a 

key part of being a cooperative council – enabling and supporting those 

affected to develop solutions that they want.’ 

 
 

27.  The Inquiry heard clear evidence that there is widespread recognition of 

the benefits of partnership working, in terms of understanding issues, 

finding solutions and utilising resources effectively. Members heard that 

partnership working has helped to increase the level of available resources 

and use of resources and led to initiatives which otherwise would not have 

happened e.g. Professor Shepherd’s initiatives to use plastic rather than 

glass, to record and share A&E admissions data in a way that provides 

useful intelligence etc. South Wales Police highlighted that partnership 

resources support the work of the Police by enabling the Police to focus on 

its core role and helping Police to focus their activities. The representative 

from Cardiff Street Pastors highlighted that the ‘partnership approach is 

vital to making the difference – we all play a part and so it is hard to 

distinguish one partner from another in determining how improved safety in 

Cardiff’. 

Page 24



 

 

 

CROSS COUNCIL WORKING 
 

28. The Corporate Plan 2015-17 reflects What Matters and includes the 

following outcomes: Cardiff has a Prosperous Economy; People in Cardiff 

are Safe and Feel Safe; and People in Cardiff are Healthy. There are no 

specific actions relating the Night Time Economy in the Corporate Plan 

2015-17. Of the Directorate Delivery Plans, that sit beneath the Corporate 

Plan and set out how the Corporate Plan will be delivered, the Economic 

Development Directorate Plan contains one action relating to the Night 

Time Economy, namely: ‘Progress proposals for a city centre Business 

Improvement District’.  

 

29. The Inquiry heard that managing the Night Time Economy cuts across 

several Cabinet portfolios and Directorates due to the breadth and depth of 

services required. With regard to crime and disorder, this includes: Cllr 

Bale, Cllr Bradbury and Cllr De’Ath. Councillor De’Ath reassured the 

Inquiry that, as three Cabinet Members have responsibility for areas to do 

with the Night Time Economy, all three of them discuss the issues and 

then take them to the whole of Cabinet for a discussion and to agree a 

Cabinet view of issues which are cross-portfolio. 

 

30. At an officer level, work to manage the Night Time Economy falls mainly 

into the Economic Development Directorate, Shared Regulatory Services 

and Resources, where officers with responsibility for Community Safety 

are based. Members heard from the Economic Development Director that 

quarterly meetings are held with the Chief Executive and relevant 

Directors, along with their equivalents from Health and the Police to 

discuss fundamental issues and ensure a regular dialogue with public 

sector partners. 

 
31.  The Inquiry was able to see evidence of the effectiveness of existing cross 

council working and partnership working in responding operationally to 

issues arising, by looking at the Civic Summit held in September 2015, 

following three sex assaults in the city centre. Representatives from Cardiff 

Council, South Wales Police, Cardiff Universities, public services and night 
Page 25



 

 

time economy businesses met to review work to keep people safe on a 

night out and ask what more could be done. Members heard that a number 

of key actions resulted, as set out below.  

 

Key Actions from Civic Summit 
 
- Expansion of student bus coverage 
- Street Pastors every night for 10 days following attacks 
- Taxis ‘credit cards’ 
- Taxis mystery shoppers 
- Expansion of Alcohol Treatment Centre safe zone 
- Greater engagement with universities and partners involved in managing 

Night Time Economy. 
- The radio issues were resolved  
- Increased awareness of universities resources for students 
- Increased awareness of PCC  vulnerability training 
- More door staff receiving PCC vulnerability training. 

 
 
 

ISSUES IDENTIFIED WITH PARTNERSHIP AND CROSS COUNCIL 

WORKING 
 
 

32. Members were struck by the lack of mention of the Night Time Economy 

per se in key strategic documents. Without prompting, most witnesses 

identified the value of the Night Time Economy to Cardiff, both in terms of 

jobs, income generation and attracting inward investment as well as 

increasing the cultural offer of Cardiff and boosting our reputation as a safe 

place to enjoy oneself. At the same time it is clear that there are specific 

issues flowing from the Night Time Economy and the need for specific 

solutions to address these issues. The effective management of the Night 

Time Economy is therefore not only a matter of concern for local residents 

and those involved in the Night Time Economy from a community and 

social well-being perspective but also for the overall economic well-being 

of Cardiff. 

 

33. Despite this, Members could find no evidence of a strategic, proactive 

approach to drive the effective management of the Night Time Economy. 

There is effective operational management, to respond to specific events 

and to respond to emerging issues, as the Civic Summit demonstrates. 

Page 26



 

 

Much of this rests on the good work undertaken several years ago to 

establish Cardiff After Dark, Operation Mistletoe and the Violence 

Prevention Group. It seems to Members that much of the success of the 

current arrangements relies on the goodwill of hard working officers and 

volunteers across the statutory, business and voluntary sectors, a group of 

key individuals who use their experience to ensure that events are planned 

for and managed.  

 
34.  Members believe that the lack of a strategic, proactive approach has 

resulted in the situation now facing partners, of resources being salami 

sliced without an overall framework for reduction. Whilst the partnership 

strategy, What Matters, and the Council’s Corporate Plan focus on broad 

outcomes and the aim to be a Liveable City, there is no strategy or action 

plan for the Night Time Economy. There are a plethora of groups and 

meetings that take place, but no mechanism that pulls all the strands 

together and no joining up of resource planning. In this landscape, it is 

easy to see how the situation has arisen whereby individual partners can 

put forward savings proposals which have a profound impact on other 

partners and on the overall ability to effectively manage the Night Time 

Economy. 

 
35. Members were also concerned that there was a lack of read-across 

between the groups working under the What Matters ‘Safer and Cohesive 

Communities’ Programme and the more recent work to develop and 

establish a Business Improvement District in Cardiff. Whilst all witnesses 

were aware of the BID, this did not work in reverse as not all witnesses 

were aware of the Council’s community safety responsibilities and duties. 

It seemed to Members that, in terms of planning for the future, the BID 

work had taken over somewhat from the Safer and Cohesive Communities 

Programme work, to the detriment of planning to ensure sustainable and 

secure resources are available to manage the Night Time Economy. 

 
36. During the life of this Inquiry, the Welsh Government issued a consultation 

paper on ‘A Framework for Managing the Night Time Economy in Wales’. 

Tellingly, Cardiff Council did not submit a response to this consultation. 

When Members enquired as to the reason for this, the response from each 

Page 27



 

 

area involved in managing the Night Time Economy was that they thought 

another section was responding. No one had taken the lead to check this 

or to ensure that a response was coordinated and delivered. Indeed, 

Members had the distinct impression that several senior witnesses were 

only aware of the consultation document once the Inquiry had brought it to 

their attention.  

 

OPERATIONAL MECHANISMS 

 

37. The Inquiry heard evidence of a range of operational mechanisms in place 

in Cardiff that assist in the effective management of the Night Time 

Economy. These include: Cardiff After Dark, which brings together Council 

resources, (such as street cleansing, road closures, taxi marshals, events 

and city centre management), with South Wales Police and Health 

resources alongside third sector partners; Operational Mistletoe which 

runs throughout the Christmas period and is an enhanced version of 

Cardiff After Dark; and operations held at specific times of the year, such 

as Hallowe’en, which is now the second busiest time of year for the Night 

Time Economy in Cardiff, after Christmas and New Year. 

 

Operation Mistletoe 
(Extract taken from What Matters Annual Review 2014/15) 

 

Page 28



 

 

38. South Wales Police highlighted that Operation Mistletoe works to prevent 

crime and disorder by increasing the amount of officers on duty, resulting 

in high visibility and resources to enable early intervention. This high 

visibility included an extra 6 Police Officers per day patrolling between the 

hours of 11am – 2am throughout December. On Bleak Friday, 70 officers 

worked in the City Centre - 35 of these were on cancelled rest days. On 

the following day 49 officer worked in the City Centre, of whom 35 were on 

cancelled rest days.  

 

39. As well as the increased police presence, South Wales Police highlighted 

that the following elements helped make Operation Mistletoe 2015/16 a 

success: 

 Licensing Officers visiting Licenced Premises throughout December;  

 The promotion of the ‘Know the score campaign’, with staff actively 

visiting licensed premises; 

 Early intervention from Security Industry Authority staff with use of 

Evidential Breath Devices and the wearing of Body Worn Cameras;  

 Vulnerability Training for Security Industry Authority staff.   

 

40. There are a number of resources available that are utilised during the 

above initiatives, including the following: 

 

Resources Available to manage Cardiff’s Night Time Economy 

• South Wales Police 

• Taxi Marshals 

• Street Pastors 

• Alcohol Treatment Centre 

• Radio Communications 

• Disc Database 

• Real time CCTV 

• Door and Security Staff at Licensed Premises 

• Extra Street Cleansing 

 
 

41.  Members heard that Cardiff has a good reputation for effectively 

managing the Night Time Economy and for pioneering successful 

Page 29



 

 

approaches and techniques, such as the use of plastic rather than glass. 

South Wales Police and the Cardiff Licensee Forum both explained that, 

because Cardiff is seen as effective at managing the Night Time Economy, 

major chains are willing to trial operational mechanisms in Cardiff to see 

how they could best be rolled out elsewhere.  

 

42. The Inquiry heard that operational mechanisms used in Cardiff are 

working, as evidenced by the reduction in violent crime, despite the growth 

in footfall and increase in events. Members heard that operational 

mechanisms work together – having a clean, well-lit environment helps to 

improve behaviours, as does having visible presence of street pastors, taxi 

marshals and police and support resources such as ATC, CCTV and radio 

net. Operational mechanisms are cost effective – prevention is less costly 

than dealing with incidents. 

 
 

Taxi Marshals 

43. With regard to Taxi Marshals, Members heard across the board 

recognition and support for the work of taxi marshals and consequent road 

closures. 

 

Support for Taxi Marshals 

‘Taxi Marshals - help to ensure fewer problems at taxi ranks’  

 

‘Taxi marshals – really help and act as ambassadors – capable guardians re taxi queues, 

so cost money but the benefit is worth it’ 

 

‘Taxi marshals – absolutely critical – have done street pastor nights when no taxi 

marshals and roads therefore not closed – absolutely hideous and dangerous beyond 

belief - drunks and cars do not mix.  There would be no queuing system without taxi 

marshals – there would be U-turns all the time and people parking where they wanted 

to.’ 

 

‘Taxi marshals – most positive influence - do a fantastic job and get involved physically 

when there are no Police or Police just on their way.’ 

 

44. The Inquiry took place at the time of consultation on possible budget 

savings for 2016/17. The consultation literature included proposed savings 

Page 30



 

 

from the Council withdrawing £122,000 funding for the taxi marshal service 

and the service being funded by non-Council sources of funding. Members 

sought assurance that the taxi marshal service would not be cut and 

Council funding would not cease until alternative sources of funding were 

secured, so that the existing level of taxi marshal service could be 

maintained in 2016/17. Members received an absolute commitment that 

the Council would continue to meet the costs of the existing level of taxi 

marshal service, (with the same number of staff covering the current 

number of hours on the current agreed days and events) if alternative 

sources of funding cannot be found. Members note that these alternative 

sources of funding potentially include the Business Improvement District, a 

Late Night Levy and sponsorship, all of which are being explored.  

 

Street Pastors 

45. The Inquiry heard that Cardiff Street Pastors  started in 2008 to help deal 

with alcohol related violence; pastors would move from one incident to 

another, to help stop them escalating, by encouraging bystanders not to 

get involved in incident. Over the last seven years street pastors have built 

up good partnerships across the Night Time Economy, with businesses, 

taxi marshals, door staff etc. Now, the role focuses more on looking out for 

people who are vulnerable and helping to promote Cardiff as a safe place 

to come. 

  

46. The Inquiry heard across the board support for the work of the Street 

Pastors, as set out below: 

 

Support for Street Pastors 

‘Street Pastors help to reduce burden on statutory provision’  

‘Street Pastors are critical – we know what the NTE was like before they were in place 

and can see that they are needed to manage the NTE’ 

‘Street Pastors – are capable guardians for the vulnerable and help to dissipate tensions, 

are cost effective because volunteers so virtually no cost to the tax payer. Their shift 

reports provide useful picture of problems we face.’ 

‘Street Pastors – vital role identifying vulnerable people who can then be helped by ATC 

or by Police’ 

 

Page 31



 

 

47.  Members heard that the Street Pastors service has no long term financial 

stability – if the money runs out, the service will cease and it will be hard to 

start up again as people involved will have moved on to volunteer on other 

schemes they can help with and the trust will have gone. Members heard 

that there is a need for more than one funding source to decrease the 

service’s vulnerability to cutbacks; preferably there would be a patchwork 

of funding across partners – Police, Health, Council etc. – supplemented 

by the fundraising that already takes place with pubs and clubs such as 

the Christmas Dinner. Without this, there are real concerns about the long 

term viability of the street pastor service. 

 

 

Alcohol Treatment Centre 

48. Members heard that the Alcohol Treatment Centre (ATC) is seen as a 

useful resource helping to manage demand on A&E, support health 

promotion and provide a safe space for people identified as vulnerable.  

 

49. The ATC8 is a unique nurse led centre working with partners from across 

Cardiff and the Vale to address alcohol related injury and disorder in the 

City Centre of Cardiff on a Friday and Saturday night and other nights 

identified by partners as potentially busy for A&E and Police via Night Time 

Economy coordinators. It is funded by the Welsh Government’s Regional 

Collaboration Fund.  

 

50. The Inquiry heard widespread support for the ATC which is seen to have 

made the following differences: 

 
 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
8
 Information taken from Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Region - Regional Collaboration Programme 

Board -End of 2014/15 Project Report  
 

Page 32



 

 

Key Benefits of ATC 

 Police staff able to remain in city centre, without transporting clients to UHW for 

A&E - increased police presence provides public reassurance and calms tension.  

 Ambulance staff reduced hand over times, freeing up resources  

 Street pastors resource freed up as patients can be transferred to ATC  

 Staff in the Emergency Unit have reported how much the improved atmosphere in 

the Emergency Unit has benefited their working environment and made the unit a 

less stressful place to work.  

 

Radio Communications and Disc Database 

51. The Inquiry heard that radio communication enables early intervention to 

resolve problems before they escalate and that the disc database enables 

sharing of information of known criminals to help prevent and tackle 

business crime. Cardiff Business Safe explained that they have over 200 

radios attached to their network and the CCTV control room, which 

provides an invaluable mechanism in fight re crime and terrorism. Cardiff 

Business Safe highlighted the following: 

 

Cardiff Business Safe Radio Net 

o All security staff with radios are trained in how to use them and how to share 

information and spot issues. 

o Organisations pay subscription for radios and disc database – this provides 

monies to pay off loan, subsidise free radios for services such as Street 

Pastors, and  pay for other initiatives such as the new Business Crime 

Reduction Partnership manager. 

o Currently, in the NTE, the following use Radio Net: most pubs/ clubs, the 

Alcohol Treatment Centre, Street Pastors, Ambulance, Probation, Youth 

Offending Team, some council areas such as Taxi Marshals and the CCTV 

control room. 

o Currently, in Day Time Economy, also used by St John’s Ambulance medics, 

store detectives, security staff, fast food outlets, and store control rooms such 

as John Lewis, M&S, TKMaxx etc. 

o Hoping that British Transport Police will shortly join and share information on 

identified travelling offenders travelling to Cardiff 

o CBS provides pro bono radios to NTE welfare workers, including Alcohol 

Treatment Centre, and Street Pastors; this is a key NTE resource provided free 

by Radio Net. 

 

Page 33



 

 

52. The Inquiry heard that radio communications is similar to real time CCTV 

is that it enables interventions to be made at an early stage before a 

situation deteriorates into serious assault. 

 

Real Time CCTV  

53. Members heard that real time CCTV is a key tool to manage the Night 

Time Economy effectively as it allows targeted interventions to prevent 

problems escalating: 

 

‘CCTV is the jewel in the crown of community safety in Cardiff – it is one of best 

mechanisms as 365days / 24 hours and good coverage across Cardiff city centre 

– enables early alert to Police to get to incidents before they escalate to violence. 

They do not work as a deterrent as people are too drunk to notice but they do act 

by spotting trouble early on and allowing this to be dissipated. Research shows 

that cities with CCTV have significantly lower A&E violence rates. Essential that 

we keep the CCTV as it currently is – same levels and same staffing, so that can 

respond in real time – research by the Violence Research Group (Cardiff 

University) evaluated CCTV usage and found evidence that it gets police officers 

to incidents earlier and more frequently than is the case without CCTV. CCTV 

staff can direct police on the ground…. Important lesson from the sexual attacks 

in September is the importance of CCTV in real time – some cities only have 

CCTV that records – not much use in stopping attacks.’  

Professor John Shepherd, Chair, Cardiff Violence Prevention Group 

 

54. Members heard concerns from several witnesses about the consequence 

of previous year’s cuts in CCTV leading to staff operating the system who 

were either unfamiliar with the CCTV and/or the city centre street layout. 

This had caused problems when seeking CCTV coverage or seeking 

instructions of where to direct resources.  

 

Door and Security Staff 

55. Members heard that door and security staff in Cardiff’s Night Time 

Economy contribute to the effective management of the Night Time 

Economy: 

Page 34



 

 

Door and Security Staff 

 South Wales Police - supporting work by ensuring door and bar staff are properly 

registered, trained and contribute , for example via radio communications and by 

stepping in to assist appropriately … Some pubs and clubs now use bodycams e.g. 

Weatherspoons piloted this in Cardiff and have now rolled it out across their chain as 

they led to a reduction in violence.  

 Cardiff Licensee Forum - door staff and security staff – they are properly trained and 

have ID – their role is not just on the door but inside, for example  near toilets, so can 

spot those using drugs and shepherd them out without causing commotion in the 

premises. 

 

 

Street Cleansing 

56. The Inquiry heard that effective street cleansing is needed to remove 

potential weapons, such as bottles and broken glass. Councillor De’Ath 

highlighted the important role street cleansing teams play, with the figures 

showing that from 1 September- 30 October 2015 there were 635 empty 

bottles and glasses left on the street in Cardiff’s city centre. 

 

57. Witnesses from the Park Plaza, in Greyfriars Road, highlighted that there 

is a need to think about how street cleansing teams are deployed, as ‘after 

the Ireland v France rugby match, Greyfriars Road was not cleaned early 

enough – they focused on St Mary’s Street first but didn’t clean Greyfriars 

Road till later on in the morning. This meant we had guests leaving in all 

the rubbish.’ 

 

 

LICENSING 

58. The Licensing Act 2003 means that there has to be a presumption to grant 

a licence unless there is evidence that doing so will have a negative 

impact on the licensing objectives, as set out in the Council’s Licensing 

Statement. Cardiff Council’s Licensing Statement was revised November 

2015 and sets out that Cardiff Council is aiming to establish more mixed 

venues rather than vertical drinking establishments. 

Page 35



 

 

 

59. If no relevant representations are received, a licence is automatically 

granted, by officers, without application going to Committee. The Local 

Authority cannot set a target to reduce the number of licensed premises in 

the City as this is not allowed under the Licensing Act 2003 but it can use 

Licensing to improve the standards of public protection in licensed 

premises, via licensing conditions. 

 

60. Licence conditions take 3 forms – those which are mandatory and 

therefore set out in legislation (such as door staff qualifications), those that 

are proposed by the applicant, and those that are imposed following 

relevant representations. Often, applicants speak to Police and Licensing 

officers prior to submitting an application and so have already included 

conditions in their proposals and therefore there are no reasons to impose 

conditions as the applicant’s operating schedule covers all that is required. 

Members heard that it is possible to use licensing conditions to require 

premises not to hold ‘carnage’ events or drinking games. 

 
61. Members heard that effective licensing is a key tool in managing the Night 

Time Economy. There is recognition amongst statutory partners of the 

need to proactively use licensing to encourage a more mixed Night Time 

Economy and of the need to work together to share evidence to support 

objections where partners believe a licence would have a negative impact 

on licensing objectives. There is an opportunity for Police, Public Health 

and Cardiff & Vale University Health Board to work together to share 

evidence, with the local authority, to ensure licensing objectives are met 

and that Licensing Committee receive clear evidence regarding those 

applications that will have a negative impact on the licensing objectives. 

Members heard that there are examples of where partners have worked 

together to undertake licensing enforcement and review, which has led to 

suspension and removal of licences. 

 
62. Members heard debate about the usefulness of a Cumulative Impact 

Policy, known colloquially as a Saturation Zone. This requires applicants to 

demonstrate that there will be no negative cumulative impact on the 

Council’s licensing objectives if their licensing application is granted. 

Page 36



 

 

Contrary to popular belief, where an applicant is able to demonstrate this, 

a licence has to be granted even though the application is within the 

Cumulative Impact Policy area.  

 
 

Traffic Light System  

63. Members heard that a Traffic Light system is used for licensed premises, 

with properties rated Red, Amber or Green. Green is used if there is no 

history of disorder or problems, Amber where there are some incidences of 

disorder or violence or problems with licensing requirements and Red is 

used for higher levels of disorder, violence and problems with licensing 

conditions not being met. Where a licensed premise is marked as Red, the 

manager has to have an Action Plan to address all the points of concern 

and show that the Action Plan is being implemented. If the Action Plan is 

not successfully implemented, the Police will issue written warning and if 

there is no improvement, the Police will take the case to the Licensing 

Committee and ask for the license to be removed. Members heard that, 

used this way, the Traffic Light System helps to ensure effective use of 

licensing powers to ensure safety in hot spot areas.  

 

64. Currently there are 5 Red premises, 3 in the City Centre, out of 

approximately 780 licensed premises (including supermarkets and corner 

shops etc.). 

  

Page 37



 

 

RESOURCES 

65. Currently, resourcing the management of the Night Time Economy relies 

on a patchwork of funding from Cardiff Council, South Wales Police and 

Crime Commissioner, Cardiff and Vale University Health Board, private 

sector resources, third sector and volunteer resources. Historically, there 

has been a flexible approach taken to resource use, with the focus being 

on problem-solving, for example by using slippage to pay for additional 

police officer cover on events nights. 

 

Resources Currently Available 

- Council provides funding for taxi marshals, street cleansing and towards 

Operation Mistletoe. 

- PCC provides funding for South Wales Police, Know the Score campaign and 

Vulnerability training. 

- Cardiff & Vale University Health Board provides A&E and Alcohol Treatment 

Centre, using Regional Regulatory Funding. 

- Cardiff & Vale University Health Board provides office and secretarial support 

for Violence Prevention Group. 

- Private sector resources are used to support the Cardiff Licensee Forum, the 

Cardiff Business Reduction Partnership, Radio Net and Street Pastors. 

- Volunteer resources are used to run the Street Pastor service. 

 

 
 

66.  Members heard that, as there are often no separate budget lines for 

specific aspects of the Night Time Economy management, these elements 

are vulnerable in a time of austerity when overall cutbacks mean that there 

is less slippage available to be used. In addition, there is no secure 

funding in place for key operational tools including: Operation Mistletoe; 

Street Pastors; and the Alcohol Treatment Centre. During the life of the 

Inquiry, there was debate about the future funding of the taxi marshals, as 

set out at Point 44 above.  

 
67. Members heard from several witnesses that the reduction in resources by 

any one actor will increase the pressures on all the other actors involved in 

Cardiff’s Night Time Economy management. For example, a reduction in 
Page 38



 

 

the local authority contributions increases the need for extra police 

resources and increases pressure on other agencies involved in Night 

Time Economy management. Likewise, if the Alcohol Treatment Centre 

was no longer available, pressures would increase consequentially on 

A&E, the Police and Street Pastors etc. Members also heard witnesses 

raise concerns about the unintended consequence of cuts, which could 

lead to declining behaviours and an increase in violent crime. 

 

68. At the same time, Members heard that pressure on resources is 

increasing, with growing and changing demand in Cardiff’s Night Time 

Economy. The overall footfall has increased, the number of events has 

increased and these are causing increased resource pressures. In 

addition, Members heard concerns expressed that the area of the Night 

Time Economy is widening with the Bierkeller, Tramshed and other venues 

outside the traditional Night Time Economy zone.  South Wales Police 

expressed their concerns that this causes pressures on their resources, as 

they have the same number of officers to cover a wider geographical area. 

 

69. Members heard that the successful partnership approach taken historically 

in Cardiff is under threat because of austerity, with partners retreating into 

their own silos rather than working together collectively to design solutions 

to austerity. Members recognise that there has to be constructive 

conversations between all partners about how to deal with the cutbacks in 

a collective way, to enable provision to shrink together not shrink apart. 

Members heard time and again of the need for long term sustainable 

resource funding and the need to be open about the cuts partners are 

facing and the consequences of these cuts. Councillor Bale, Leader Cardiff 

Council, also highlighted that there is a need to look at how we can do 

things better to secure the agreed outcomes. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 39



 

 

POSSIBLE RESOURCE SOURCES 

70. Members heard that Cardiff Council has employed Mosaic Consultancy to 

explore the viability of establishing a Business Improvement District (BID) 

and to compare this with the Late Night Levy option. Theoretically, both of 

these can raise income that can be used towards meeting the costs of the 

Night Time Economy. In addition, this Inquiry looked at schemes 

undertaken elsewhere to tackle crime and disorder in the Night Time 

Economy, including in the other U.K. Core Cities and Local Alcohol Action 

Areas in England, and reviewed the Welsh Government consultation 

document, ‘A Framework for Managing the Night Time Economy in Wales’. 

 

BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT (BID) 

71. This Inquiry heard strong interest in a Cardiff BID, from both Cardiff 

Council witnesses and from external witnesses, all of whom are either 

actively involved in work to develop a Cardiff BID or are aware of the work 

underway. Members heard that a BID would provide a focus and venue for 

discussions to take place on the aspirations for Cardiff city centre, with a 

mechanism to engage city centre businesses in one go and a clear 

framework for going forward. As part of this, a BID would cover 

discussions on community safety issues, including those associated with 

the Night Time Economy. 

 

72. Members heard that a BID is led by the businesses located within the BID, 

with clear frameworks for governance, as these businesses pay for the 

BID via contributions based on the rateable value of their business. Most 

Night Time Economy companies will be exempt from BID as their 

businesses rateable value is lower than the rate set for BID payment of 

£25,000. 

 
73. A Cardiff BID working group has been established and has prepared a 

draft business case which will be voted on by relevant businesses in June 

2016. These businesses will decide whether or not a BID will go ahead 

and will decide how the monies generated by a BID will be spent. It is 

Page 40



 

 

anticipated that a Cardiff city centre BID will generate between £1 million 

and £1.5 million per annum. 

 

74. The Inquiry heard explicit evidence that a Cardiff BID would not be used to 

fund services already provided within the city centre but could choose to 

add to and enhance existing services. Baseline Service Statements must 

be set out by all public bodies providing statutory services. Members were 

informed that ‘Legally, a BID can only deliver over and above these 

existing services and part of the BID’s role will be to make sure local public 

agencies are delivering against these statements.’9  

 
75. Members were informed that the draft business case for the Cardiff city 

centre BID aims to make Cardiff city centre more welcoming, vibrant and 

influential. As part of this, there are commitments to add to and enhance 

service provision as follows: work to invest in city centre entertainment; 

fund a dedicated cleansing and waste team to deal directly with business 

concerns; support a team of uniformed Cardiff Ambassadors; invest in the 

management of the evening and night time economy; strengthen business 

participation with crime reduction partnerships; support any new or 

improved business crime management initiatives; and add value to 

existing night time economy schemes, for example the Street Pastors and 

Taxi Marshalls.   

 
76. The Inquiry clarified that the final business case will be determined by the 

businesses that are developing the BID; Cardiff Council cannot insist on 

the inclusion of community safety issues or any other issues. However, the 

Director for Economic Development highlighted that the Council would use 

its influence to persuade the Cardiff BID to address crime and disorder 

issues.  

 

LATE NIGHT LEVY 

77. The Inquiry heard that conversations on a Late Night Levy are happening 

alongside work on the BID – neither are ruled out albeit that a BID is seen 

                                                           
9
 Email from Jonathan Day dated 16  February 2016, citing responses received from Mosaic 

Consultancy to queries raised by the Inquiry task group 

Page 41



 

 

as preferable as it raises more money and has a wider remit, covering the 

Day Time Economy as well as the Night Time Economy and issues such 

as marketing and promoting Cardiff city centre. 

 

78. Members heard that, whilst a Late Night Levy would not raise as much 

money as a BID, at between £200,000 - 250,00010, the monies have to be 

ring-fenced to tackling crime and disorder issues related to the Night Time 

Economy. Legally, the Late Night Levy is split 70:30 between the relevant 

Police and Crime Commissioner and the relevant Local Authority, leading 

to between £140,000 and £175,000 being available to be spent on 

meeting the costs of managing crime and disorder in the Night Time 

Economy, with £60,000 - £75,000 available to the local authority to meet 

administrative costs of collecting the Levy.  

 
79. Members heard concerns from some witnesses that all the Police and 

Crime Commissioner’s monies may not be spent within Cardiff. However, 

Members heard that a legal agreement, such as a Memorandum of 

Understanding or a Service Level Agreement, could be used to ensure that 

monies raised by a Cardiff Late Night Levy were spent on Cardiff Night 

Time Economy crime and disorder mechanism; this has happened 

successfully elsewhere, such as in Newcastle.  

 
80. Some witnesses told the Inquiry that the introduction of a Late Night Levy 

in other cities in England had led to some premises closing early, to avoid 

having to pay the Levy. There were concerns that the introduction of a 

Late Night Levy would damage the reputation of Cardiff and the existing 

good relationship with the licensee trade. There were also concerns that 

the Levy would apply across the whole of Cardiff, which would mean 

licensed premises operating late at night in suburban areas of Cardiff 

would be subject to the Levy. Some witnesses felt that this would not be 

fair as there are limited crime and disorder offences associated with these 

premises and it is likely that the majority of the monies raised by the Levy 

would be spent in the city centre; so suburban premises would pay a Levy 

but not receive a subsequent service. 

                                                           
10

 Based on a conservative estimate, using payment patterns from existing LNL schemes elsewhere in 

the U.K.  

Page 42



 

 

81. However, Members were not convinced that the introduction of a Late 

Night Levy would harm the reputation of Cardiff as Late Night Levies have 

been introduced in places such as Cheltenham, Islington, the City of 

London and Southampton without damaging their reputations. Experience 

from other cities that have introduced a Late Night Levy shows that there 

would still be an array of premises that would choose to operate after a 

Levy is put in place. 

 
82. Members also heard evidence that it was not necessarily a bad thing if 

some premises closed early to avoid paying the levy as this would be likely 

to lead to a reduction in alcohol consumption, with a consequent likely 

reduction in crime and disorder. It would also lead to more staggered 

closing times, helping frontline services deal with those needing 

assistance, and reducing the volume of people at peak closing times.  

 

83. Members also heard that Late Night Levy schemes can be used to 

encourage best practice self-regulation schemes, such as Best Bar None, 

Pubwatch and Reducing the Strength of alcohol schemes, by offering a 

reduction in the Levy for those premises that sign up and implement these 

schemes. 

 

84. Members heard that it is possible to have both a BID and Late Night Levy 

in operation for the same area at the same time, as happens in Newcastle 

and Nottingham. However, witnesses explained that, in Cardiff, the aim is 

to achieve a BID first as it meets a wider range of Cardiff’s needs. The 

draft Business Case for the BID references the Late Night Levy, 

highlighting that, whilst many Night Time Economy businesses will be 

exempt from paying the BID as their rateable value falls below the 

threshold, these businesses may choose to take out voluntary membership 

of the BID and the BID will then pay any Late Night Levy if one is 

introduced, as a benefit of the business choosing to become a BID 

member. In this way, businesses would not have to pay both a BID levy 

and a Late Night Levy. 

 
 

Page 43



 

 

OTHER SOURCES OF FUNDING 

85.  As part of the Inquiry, Members were keen to learn how other areas find 

resources to meet the costs of tackling crime and disorder caused by the 

Night Time Economy. Desk based research identified a range of sources, 

including BIDs, Late Night Levies, Community Safety Partnerships, 

individual partners such as local authorities, Police and Crime 

Commissioners, and local businesses. A summary of these are set out 

below, with further details provided in Appendix A. 

 

Business Improvement Districts - there are over 200 BIDS across Great Britain – 
all the other 9 Core Cities have a city centre BID. There are lots of examples of 
BIDS directly contributing towards Night Time Economy activities such as taxi 
marshals and street pastors (e.g. Bedford, Ipswich, Weston Super Mare and 
Wolverhampton as well as Nottingham and Sheffield) 
 
Late Night Levy - 2 Core Cities have a Late Night Levy (Newcastle and 
Nottingham), with Liverpool consulting on LNL at time of Inquiry. Other LNL are 
Cheltenham, Islington, City of London, Nottingham, Chelmsford and 
Southampton. Camden is considering whether or not to introduce a levy. Leeds 
and Bristol considered and decided not to introduce a levy. 
 
Taxi Marshals - funding 
Taxi firm - provides taxi marshal - Glasgow 
Taxi users - self funding approach to taxi marshals- Norwich 
Community Safety Partnership – Birmingham, Bristol, Glasgow 
Council – Manchester, Ipswich (partial funding)  
Businesses - fund taxi marshals – Leeds - via Businesses Against Crime in Leeds 
Late Night Levy- Newcastle, Cheltenham 
BID – Nottingham, Bedford, Ipswich (partial funding), Wolverhampton 
Police – Brighton & Hove (not sure if still the case), Maidstone 
PCC – Ipswich (partial funding) 
 
Street Pastors – funding 
Police - partially fund in Liverpool 
Council – partially fund in Liverpool 
Businesses fund street marshals – Leeds - via Businesses Against Crime in Leeds 
Late Night Levy – Newcastle 
BID - Nottingham 
Volunteers – Manchester 

 

 

  

Page 44



 

 

 

86. In addition, desk based research identified a range of other solutions used 

elsewhere; further details on the local alcohol action areas are provided at 

Appendix B. 

 

Student volunteers - University of Gloucestershire -  in Cheltenham – uses 
student volunteers as student community patrols – Late Night Levy is used to 
fund recruitment and training. 

Local Alcohol Action Areas – range of ideas including: 

- Responsible retailing - Liverpool – develop a voluntary code for off licenses 
and supermarkets, Gravesham – reducing the strength campaign, Hastings 
reduce the strength. 

- Licensing – Manchester – strong use of licensing/ regulatory tools and 
enforcement. 

- Enforcement – Weston Super Mare -.high profile joint enforcement visits 
with Police, local authority, trading standards, food safety, licensing and 
environmental protection.  

 

Other city centre schemes such as Purple Flag 

Use of other legal powers – Public Space Protection Order to prevent public 

drinking (considered in Blackpool), Alcohol Exclusion Zones (Slough) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

Page 45



 

 

 

INQUIRY METHODOLOGY 

 

 

M1. The Community and Adult Services Scrutiny Committee applies 

a project management approach to its inquiries; including mechanisms to 

consistently prioritise topics suggested for scrutiny, scoping reports and 

project plans. The aim of these is to ensure there is a dialogue with the 

services involved in the scrutiny process with the ultimate aim of improving 

overall service delivery and enabling effective scrutiny. 

 

M2. Members held three meetings to hear from the following Council 

officer witnesses: 

 Councillor Phil Bale – Leader, Economic Development and 

Partnerships 

 Councillor Peter Bradbury – Cabinet Member (Community 

Development, Co-operatives & Social Enterprise) 

 Councillor Dan De’Ath – Cabinet Member (Skills, Safety, 

Engagement and Democracy) 

 Cllr Jacqueline Parry (Chair – Licensing Committee) 

 Neil Hanratty- Director of Economic Development 

 Jonathan Day – Economic Policy Manager 

 Claire Hartrey – Licensing Group Leader 

 Dave Holland – Head of Shared Regulatory Services 

 Peter King – Senior Partnership Analyst Officer. 

 Paul Williams – City Centre Manager 

 

M3. Members also held two meetings to hear from the following 

external witnesses: 

 Chief Inspector Dan Howe – South Wales Police (Partnerships) 

 Inspector Chris Owen – South Wales Police (City Centre) 

 Conrad Eydmann – Head of Partnership Strategy and 

Commissioning, Cardiff & Vale University Health Board 

 Dr Sharon Hopkins – Director of Public Health 

Page 46



 

 

 Wayne Parsons – Senior Nurse, Alcohol Treatment Centre and 

A&E, Cardiff & Vale University Health Board 

 Professor John Shepherd - Chair, Violence Prevention Group, 

Cardiff & Vale University Health Board  

 Ashley Hopkins – Director, Cardiff Business Safe 

 Keith Kimber – Cardiff Radio Net 

 Nick Newman – Chair Cardiff Licensee Forum 

 Gary Smith – Street Pastors. 

 Margaret Waters - General Manager, Park Plaza, Greyfriars 

Road + Chair Cardiff Hoteliers Association 

 Stephen Docking - Night Manager, Park Plaza, Greyfriars Road. 

 

 

M4. Members also received a written submission from Simon 

Phillips, Chair of Cardiff Business Improvement District Task Group. 

 

 

M5. In order to inform the Inquiry, desk-based research was 

undertaken into Late Night Levies and Business Improvement Districts 

operating elsewhere in England and Wales, as well as other mechanisms 

being used with regards to tackling crime and disorder in the Night Time 

Economy, including a review of Local Alcohol Action Areas in England. A 

review of the Welsh Government draft Framework for Managing the Night 

Time Economy was also undertaken and used to identify areas to explore 

with witnesses and via desk based research. The desk based research, 

coupled with evidence from internal and external witnesses, was used to 

identify suitable findings from the Inquiry. 
  

Page 47



 

 

 

BIBLIOGRAPHY 

 
 

Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Region - Regional Collaboration Programme 

Board -End of 2014/15 Project Report 

Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Region - Regional Collaboration Programme 

Board –Quarter Two 2015 Project Report 

Cardiff Council - What Matters Integrated Partnership Strategy 2010-2020 

Cardiff Council - What Matters Annual Review 2014/15 

Cardiff Council – Corporate Plan 2015-17 

Cardiff Council – Local Development Plan 2006-2026 

Cardiff Council – Statement of Licensing Policy 2016-2021 (November 2015) 

Cardiff Council – Budget Consultation Proposals (December 2015) 

Cardiff Council – Budgetary Proposals (February 2016) 

Cardiff Council - Licensing Committee: 6 August 2013  - Late Night Levy & 
Early Morning Restriction Orders 
 
Cardiff Council – Scrutiny – Desk based Research Report ‘Night Time 

Economy – What Can Cardiff Learn from the LAAA Pilot Areas/Good 

Practice?’ (December 2015) 

Cardiff Council – Scrutiny – Desk based Research Report ‘Examples of 

schemes elsewhere in England to tackle NTE crime & disorder’ (January 

2016) 

Dr Phil Hadfield - Night-Time Economy Management: International Research 
and Practice - A Review for the City of Sydney, September 2011 
 
Home Office - Additional Guidance for health bodies on exercising functions 

under the Licensing Act 2003 

Home Office - Amended guidance on the late night levy March 2015 
 
House of Commons Library – The Late Night Levy 26 March 2015 
 
Leeds City Council - Scrutiny Inquiry Report: Late Night Levy Scrutiny Board 
(Resources and Council Services )November 2013 
 
Liverpool John Moores University – An Evaluation of the South Wales 
Know the Score Intervention (July 2015) 
 

Page 48



 

 

Mosaic Partnership – Cardiff BID General Introduction Presentation 

Norwich City Council – Cabinet Report 26 March 2014: Night Time 
Economy 
 
Police Foundation - Policing the night-time economy, Stuart Lister, Centre 
for Criminal Justice Studies, University of Leeds 
 
Sydney – Open Sydney – Future direction for Sydney at night – Strategy and 

Action Plan 2013-2030 

Sydney - Sydney Night Time Economy: Cost Benefit Analysis A Report for 
the City of Sydney Council 
 
What Matters Safer and Cohesive Programme Board – Programme 

Intelligence Report – Night Time Economy 

What Matters Safer and Cohesive Programme Board – Programme 

Intelligence Report – A Report on Community Safety Issues within the City of 

Cardiff April 2015- June 2015 

What Matters Safer and Cohesive Programme Board – Minutes 20.05.15 

What Matters Healthy Living Programme Board - Programme Intelligence 
Report (Updated 7th September 2015) 
 
Welsh Government - ‘A Framework for Managing the Night Time Economy in 

Wales’ 

  

Page 49



 

 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 

 

The Scrutiny Committee is empowered to enquire, consider, review and 

recommend but not to make policy decisions. As the recommendations in this 

report are to consider and review matters there are no direct financial 

implications at this stage in relation to any of the work programme. However, 

financial implications may arise if and when the matters under review are 

implemented with or without any modifications.  

 
 
 
 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 

 

The Scrutiny Committee is empowered to enquire, consider, review and 

recommend but not to make policy decisions.  As the recommendations in this 

report are to consider and review matters there are no direct legal 

implications.  However, legal implications may arise if and when the matters 

under review are implemented with or without modification.  Any report with 

recommendations for decision that goes to Cabinet / Council will set out any 

legal implications arising from those recommendations.  All decisions taken by 

or on behalf of the Council must (a) be within the legal power of the Council; 

(b) comply with any procedural requirement imposed by law; (c) be within the 

powers of the body or person exercising powers on behalf of the Council; (d) 

be undertaken in accordance with the procedural requirements imposed by 

the Council e.g. standing orders and financial regulations; (e) be fully and 

properly informed; (f) be properly motivated; (g) be taken having regard to the 

Council's fiduciary duty to its taxpayers; and (h) be reasonable and proper in 

all the circumstances. 
  

Page 50



 

 

COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 

To scrutinise, measure and actively promote improvement in the Council’s 

performance in the provision of services and compliance with Council policies, 

aims and objectives in the area of community and adult services, including: 

 

 Public and Private Housing 

 Adult Social Care 

 Disabled Facilities Grants 

 Community Care Services 

 Community Safety 

 Mental Health & Physical Disabilities 

 Neighbourhood Renewal and Communities Next 

 Commissioning Strategy  

 Health Partnership 

 Advice & Benefit 

 Consumer Protection 

 Older Persons Strategy 

 

To assess the impact of partnerships with and resources and services 

provided by external organisations, including the Welsh Government, Welsh 

Government-sponsored public bodies, quasi- departmental non-

governmental bodies and health services on the effectiveness of Council 

service delivery. 

 

To report to an appropriate Cabinet or Council meeting on its findings and to 

make recommendations on measures which may enhance the Authority’s 

performance in this area.  

 

To be the Council’s Crime and Disorder Committee as required by the 

Police and Justice Act 2006 and any re-enactment or modification thereof, 

and as full delegate of the Council to exercise all the powers and functions 

permitted under that Act. 
 

 
 

 

 

Page 51



 

 

 

 

APPENDIX A 

Examples of schemes elsewhere in 

England to tackle NTE crime & disorder 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 52



 

 

 

Core Cities:  

City BID Late Night Levy Other 

Birmingham Yes - 
several11 

No Purple Flag 
Community Safety Partnership fund taxi marshals etc.12 
 

Bristol Yes - 
several13 

Considered 2013/14 but not 
introduced 

Community Safety Partnership fund taxi marshals etc.14 
Purple Flag 

Cardiff Considering Considering  

Glasgow Considering No Community Safety Partnership fund taxi marshals and 
Glasgow Taxis also provide a marshal.15 

Leeds Yes16 Considered 2013/14 but not 
introduced 

Taxi marshals and street marshals funded voluntarily by 
businesses and partners17 who work via BACIL – 
Businesses Against Crime In Leeds.18 
 

Liverpool Yes19 Considering – undertaken 
consultation 

No information available re taxi marshals. 
Street pastors funded by Police and City Council. 
Purple Flag 
 

                                                           
11

 http://retailbirmingham.co.uk/projects/facewatch/ 
12

 http://birminghamcsp.org.uk/admin/resources/bcsp-annual-report-2014-15-final.pdf 
13

 http://www.bristolshoppingquarter.co.uk/bid 
14

 https://www2.bristol.gov.uk/committee/2015/sc/sc046/0416_8.pdf 
15

 http://www.communitysafetyglasgow.org/what-we-do/improving-community-safety/city-centre-team/best-bar-none/nitezones/ 
16

 http://www.leedsbid.co.uk/ 
17

 Information taken from Leeds City Council Scrutiny Board Resources & Council Services – Late Night Levy report November 2013 
18

 http://www.yorkshireeveningpost.co.uk/news/latest-news/top-stories/street-marshals-help-lower-leeds-city-centre-crime-rate-1-5342074 
19

 http://www.liverpoolbidcompany.com/ 

P
age 53



 

 

Manchester Yes20 Not in city centre Consulting on LNL in Greater Manchester area of Stockport. 
Council fund taxi marshals 
Volunteer Street Angels 
Developing safe haven. 
Purple Flag 
 

Newcastle Yes21 Yes – since 201322 Used LNL to pay for thermal cameras, smart cameras, safe 
haven with St John’s, bar and nightclub scanners, taxi 
marshals, CCTV, street pastors and street cleansing. 
 

Nottingham Yes23 Yes – since 201424 BID pays for street pastors, taxi marshals and street 
ambassadors. Provide funding of approx. £46,500 per 
annum for taxi marshals25  
Purple Flag 

Sheffield Yes26 No BID pays for Safer City Centre team, additional PCSOs, 
additional ambassadors,  
Purple Flag 

 

 

 

                                                           
20

 http://cityco.com/heartofmanchester/ 
21

 http://www.newcastlene1ltd.com/ 
22

 http://www.newcastle.gov.uk/news-story/late-night-levy-introduced-friday 
23

 http://nottinghambid.com/ 
24

 http://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/article/28324/Late-Night-Levy 
25

 Information taken from: http://www.itsinnottingham.com/news/141/NOTTINGHAMS-TAXI-MARSHALS-HELPING-THE-LATE-NIGHT-ECONOMY/ 
26

 http://www.sheffieldbid.com/ 

P
age 54



 

 

Bedford27  

‘As part of its mission to keep Bedford town centre safe during the day and night, BedfordBID is the main funding partner for the High Street 
Taxi marshall scheme. Operating in partnership with Bedford Borough Council this scheme provides an important and valued service for both 
residents and visitors to the town.  
Two marshalls are on duty each Friday night, and three marshalls on Saturday night, from 11.30pm to 4.00am. Their role is to ensure that 
only legal and registered hackney carriages and private hire vehicles are operating within the town centre, as well as maintaining an orderly 
queue for the taxis throughout the night.’  

Brighton & Hove28 

Taxi Marshals paid for by Sussex Police, following temporary gap when council withdrew funding. 

Ipswich29 

Taxi Marshal scheme funded by PCC, BID and local authority. 

Maidstone30 

Taxi marshals paid for by Police 

Norwich31 

First self-supporting scheme in England when launched in 2011. Those using taxi rank supervised by taxi marshalls asked to contribute £1 

towards costs, then given a ticket which they can use in participating venues to receive £1 off drinks/ entry fee. 

Weston-Super-Mare32 

One of the BID priorities is community safety and a team of wardens have been employed to promote safety. A recent decision has been 
taken to change the wardens’ shift patterns to provide more support during the night time economy.” 
Wolverhampton33 

Recently extended taxi marshal scheme to cover payday weekends, paid for by Wolverhampton BID extending support by £95,000. 

                                                           
27

 Information taken from http://www.lovebedford.co.uk/taxi-marshals.php 
28

 Information taken from: http://www.theargus.co.uk/news/10594071.Marshals_return_to_Brighton_and_Hove_taxi_ranks/ 
29

 Information taken from: http://www.suffolk-pcc.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/11/37-2014-Taxi-Marshals.pdf 
30

 Information taken from: http://www.kentonline.co.uk/maidstone/news/police-have-been-praised-for-11449/ 
31

 Information taken from: http://www.eveningnews24.co.uk/motoring/relaunch_of_norwich_taxi_marshal_scheme_in_tombland_1_834942 
32

 Information taken from: http://apps.n-somerset.gov.uk/cairo/docs/doc25533.htm 
33

 Information taken from: http://www.expressandstar.com/news/2015/07/02/taxi-marshals-in-wolverhampton-for-paydays-weekends/ 

P
age 55



 

56 

 

APPENDIX B 

NIGHT TIME ECONOMY – WHAT CAN CARDIFF LEARN FROM THE LAAA PILOT AREAS/GOOD 

PRACTICE? 

 

BACKGROUND 

1. In February 2014, the Home Office awarded 20 areas Local Alcohol Action Area (LAAA) 
status.  The project was set up to tackle the harmful effects of irresponsible drinking, 
particularly alcohol-related crime and disorder, and health harms.  

 
2. These were areas in which local agencies, including licensing authorities, health bodies and 

the police came together with businesses and other organisations to address problems being 
caused by alcohol in their area. The project was funded up to the end of March 2015. 

 
3. Work in the local alcohol action areas was focused on the key aims of: 

 

 Reducing alcohol-related crime and disorder; and  

 Reducing the negative health impacts caused by alcohol.  
 
4. Underpinning both of these was the goal of promoting diverse and vibrant night-time 

economies.  The areas were: 
 
 

 Blackpool   

 Croydon    

 Doncaster  

 Gloucester City    

 Gravesham    

 Greater Manchester  

 Halton   

 Hastings   

 Liverpool   

 Middlesbrough   
 

 Newham   

 Northamptonshire  

 Nottinghamshire county  

 Pembrokeshire   

 Scarborough    

 Slough Borough   

 Southend on Sea  

 Stoke on Trent  

 Swansea    

 Weston super Mare 
 

5. The Home Office had stated that a report on the outputs and outcomes arising from this pilot in 

June 2015, but, to date, this has not been available.  Therefore , this briefing aims to give 

Members an overview of what was achieved in each of these areas during the Pilot period and 

beyond.  It is true to say that some information and data was easier to source than others and 

this is reflected in the amount of information presented on each LAAA pilot (see Appendix 1 for 

details).  In areas such as Gloucester City, Pembrokeshire and Southend-on-Sea, no information 

was available, bar the launch publicity.   

 

  

Page 56



 

57 

 

OVERVIEW 

6. Much progress has been made by all of the LAAA areas, much of which was already in place or 

being worked towards prior to being awarded LAAA status. On the evidence that was available, 

areas such as Manchester and Liverpool have a wealth of experience and information in this 

area, with comprehensive strategic and operational plans in place.   

 

7. Information was available on a wide range of topics in relation to this issue.  The following aims 

to give Members an insight into some of the most popular themes arose across the LAAA 

information. They have been split into “operational” and “strategic” headings: 

 

8. Operational 

 

a) Town/City Centre Physical Improvements  

934 of the LAAA areas made specific references to “designing- out” crime in their City/Town 

Centre, including improvements made to the infrastructure of the area, including better 

street lighting, engaging in “In Bloom” competitions etc – all of which were aimed at 

improving the look and attitude towards the area.  Cleanliness of the area was also was a 

key operation required to improve perceptions of the area. Monitoring and surveillance 

equipment (such as CCTV) was also a key tool used.   

 

b) Tackling Alcohol Related Crime , including Anti Social Behaviour 

Operationally, dealing with crime and ASB was a key issue that initially needed to be put in 

place by all of the LAAAs.  Targeted police operations to deal with street drinkers, pre-

loaders and alcohol related ASB generally were in place, supported by a range of other key 

personnel. 

 

c) Presence of key personnel  

All of the LAAAs used a range of staff in their areas, all of which were there to assist in a 

range of roles.  Street Pastors, Taxi Marshalls, ATC staff Police were all seen as key to 

ensuring that the area and people within it were safe.  

 

d) Alcohol Treatment Centres 

Liverpool, Manchester, Northamptonshire, Middlesborough, Slough and Swansea all stated 

that they had dedicated ATCs in place at key times – including events, at Christmas etc.  Not 

all of these were in a central location, and this had an impact on the ambulance service, but 

whether in the Centre or at a hospital, a dedicated team were in place to take the pressure 

off A&E admissions. 

 

e) Use of Innovative Measures 

Northamptonshire stated that the use of breathalysers and cocaine torches were in place.  

Scarborough also used breathalysers, and is currently exploring the use of a drugs dog for 

random checks. 

                                                           
34

 Croydon, Liverpool, Manchester, Gravesham, Weston Super Mare, Blackpool, Middlesborough, 

Scarborough, Swansea 

Page 57



 

58 

 

Strategic  

There were a wide range of key themes that arose at strategic level.  Liverpool and Manchester had 

detailed drug and alcohol strategies that linked closely with other key policies and strategies across a 

range of partners and stakeholders’ plans.  A summary of these documents are attached in Appendix 

1.  A full copy can be made available on request.  In relation to broader key issues, these included: 

a) Increases in Licensing and Enforcement Powers 

835 of the LAAAs made specific references to changes they had made to increase their 

licensing and enforcement powers.  Many had introduced a “traffic light” system to identify 

and deal with premises that were known “hot spots” for an array of issues in the area – 

ranging from underage sales, illegal activities (drugs, human trafficking etc) to those 

premises that continued to engage in practices such as selling to drunken customers etc.  In 

Newham, they had particular problems with gun crime and drug use in a range of premises, 

and through increasing powers were able to close these premises quickly and no longer 

allow them to be used as clubs and pubs.  

In addition, many of the areas had implemented a Saturation Policy as part of their Licencing 

Policy. 

b) Multi- Agency Working Groups 

Key to all of the LAAAs was the establishment of multi-agency working Groups.  During the 

pilot period, many of the groups established smaller multi-disciplinary working groups to 

target particular areas of concern or focus.  Within this sphere, the following were achieved 

by key partners and agencies working together: 

 Mapping/Zoning of areas 

 Data/Intelligence gathering and sharing 

 Development of Awareness Campaigns, including dedicated websites & education 

materials for schools 

 Workforce Development/Training 

Further work that some LAAAs had undertaken included: 

 Prevention and Early Intervention processes (Liverpool, Manchester, Halton, 

Northamptonshire) 

 Strategies for Treatment and Recovery longer-term (Liverpool, Manchester, 

Gravesham, Halton, Scarborough) 

 Support for Children, young people and families (Liverpool, Manchester, Halton) 

 

c) Schemes/Awards/Initiatives 

In addition to working towards the criteria set out by the Home Office, many of the LAAAs 

had also sought accreditation to best practice/nationwide schemes to further their 

commitment to working in this area.  This included: 

  

                                                           
35

 Liverpool, Manchester, Gravesham, Halton, Northamptonshire, Weston Super Mare, Newham, Slough  

Page 58



 

59 

 

 Doncaster (Best Bar None) 

 Halton (PubWatch, Best Bar 

None) 

 Northamptonshire (Purple Flag, 

Best Bar None) 

 Weston Super Mare (Pub Watch) 

 Middlesborough (Best Bar None) 

 Slough (PubWatch) 

 Swansea (Purple Flag)  

Page 59



 

 

   

d) BIDS v Late Night Levy 

There was very little information available from LAAAs on whether they had 

implemented either a Late Night Levy or had decided on the BID approach.   

o Liverpool  – future objective to “consider the use of available tools such as 

the possible introduction of Late Night Levy and Early Morning Restriction 

Orders”. 

o Blackpool – “increased police presence do require funds. One possibility for 
funding is the late night levy”. 

 
o Weston-super-Mare - Business Improvement District. “One of the BID 

priorities is community safety and a team of wardens have been employed to 
promote safety. A recent decision has been taken to change the wardens’ 
shift patterns to provide more support during the night time economy.” 

 

 

  

Page 60



 

61 

 

APPENDIX 1 

 

LAAA PILOTS: 

LIVERPOOL 

Source: Draft Alcohol Strategy 2015-2020 – June 2015 

Five key strategic aims. These are:  
 

 Encouraging and supporting responsible attitudes and behaviours towards alcohol 
consumption (Prevention & Early Intervention);  

 Delivering evidenced based, recovery focused treatment support to meet individual 
needs and reduce the effects on health caused by excessive alcohol 
consumption(Treatment & Recovery);  

 Reducing the number of people who experience crime and disorder related to 
alcohol misuse (Community Safety);  

 Protecting children, young people and their families from harm related to alcohol 
misuse (Protection);  

 Ensuring via local licensing decisions and influencing of government policy that 
accessibility of alcohol is responsibly controlled (Control).  

 
Key themes of activity have been identified and the Draft Strategy highlights key areas of 

improvement and achievements to date. This document is 40 pages long, and it is suggested 

that Members study this document for further information. The top line headings are as 

follows: 

Changing attitudes towards alcohol (Prevention & Early Intervention) 

Achievements include Behavioural insight research; Social marketing programmes; Website 

development; Student Fayres and Workshops; Identification & Brief Advice 

Future Objectives:  
Continue to develop systems to ensure robust and timely information and intelligence;  
Implement consistent and evidenced based social marketing programmes;  
Provide self -help information for individuals; Groups at risk of alcohol misuse and harm 
must receive targeted brief information, advice and support as the norm; promote and 
support the development and implementation of workplace alcohol policies and 
interventions; age appropriate, evidence based alcohol education is made available for 
children, young people and parents in a range of setting; Work in partnership with a range of 
educational establishments  
 
Treatment & Sustainable Recovery 

Achievements include A new community based treatment system; Hospital Alcohol Liaison 

Service; Alcohol pathway development; Establishment of improved screening and 

assessment; Embedding of robust protocols; Innovative recovery approaches 

Page 61



 

62 

 

Future Objectives -  
Regularly carry out an assessment of need for alcohol treatment and care interventions;  
Work to continue to deliver a community alcohol service; Continue to develop Hospital 
Alcohol Liaison Service; Define services for people with dual diagnosis; Strengthen detection 
of early liver disease and its treatment; Ensure integrated treatment pathways are in place 
throughout the treatment system; Ensure effective responses to vulnerable 
groups/individuals and those with complex needs; Provide high quality treatment for those 
within the Criminal Justice System; Ensure high quality aftercare is available; Continue to 
build an effective recovery community; Consider the option of including an Alcohol Recovery 
Centre within the Night Time Economy; 
 
Addressing alcohol related crime (Community Safety) 

Achievements include: Designing out crime; High visibility policing; Taxi marshalling; Safer 

pubs and clubs; Say no to drunks; Seizure of illicit alcohol; Alcohol Treatment Requirement; 

Street drinking; ‘There’s No Excuse’ campaign; Domestic Homicide Reviews. 

Future Objectives:  
Continue to proactively manage the night time economy of the city centre utilising high 
visibility and early intervention policing; Explore options to reduce the number of vertical 
drinking establishments;  Address the impacts of preloading in the night time economy;  
Continue to work with the Business Improvement District and with successful schemes such 
as Purple Flag; Examine options for developing further night time venues /events which are 
non-alcohol based; Ensure that interventions are available across all areas of the Criminal 
Justice System to support offenders; Continue to fund prevention services for young people; 
Enhance data collection and sharing; Consolidate partnerships with communities and 
existing neighbourhood infrastructure; Ensure there is a robust communication plan in place; 
Achieve a reduction in the number of families who experience domestic violence related to 
the misuse of alcohol; Increase referral of alcohol misusers who are also victims of domestic 
violence. 
  
Supporting Children, Young People & Families (Protection) 

Achievements include: Families Agenda focus; Families Programme; Young person focused 

alcohol treatment support; Improved local evidence base; Addressing of underage sales of 

alcohol 

Future Objectives - Increase awareness and improve guidance relating to the harm of alcohol 
to the unborn child; Continue to provide alcohol and substance misuse education; Develop 
insight driven social marketing interventions; Develop parents understanding of the impact 
of their own alcohol use on their own children; Ensure that universal and targeted services 
working with children, young people and vulnerable adults are able to identify alcohol 
misuse; Provide access to high quality specialist treatment; Tackle the link between alcohol 
and sexual risk taking behaviour; Ensure robust links between young people, adult, 
community and criminal justice alcohol treatment pathways; Develop increased 
understanding and identification of parental alcohol misuse amongst staff working directly 
with children, young people and parents;  
Ensure young people and adult alcohol treatment services identify and respond to 
safeguarding issues for children; Work with retailers to implement the Challenge 25 
intervention; Develop a targeted proxy purchasing approach; Develop a restorative justice 
approach to deal with under18s who attempt to buy alcohol.  
 

Page 62



 

63 

 

Influencing the accessibility of alcohol (Control) 
 
Achievements include: Lobbying for changes to the pricing of alcohol products; Raising 
awareness of the impacts of alcohol advertising; Use of Cumulative Impact Policy (CIP); 
Responsible Authority liaison meetings; Working with the licence trade; Voluntary removal of 
super strength products 
 
Objectives: Review the Liverpool Statement of Licensing Policy in line with best practice;  
Consider the use of available tools such as the possible introduction of Late Night Levy and 
Early Morning Restriction Orders; review current Cumulative Impact Policies (CIP’s);  
Continue to proactively manage new license applications of concern; Explore how health 
bodies and other responsible authorities can influence licensing under the Licensing Act.; 
ensure that licensed premises have information about the law, their responsibilities and 
good practice in the sale of alcohol; Identify irresponsible retail practice; Develop a voluntary 
code for off licenses and supermarkets; Continue to work with off and on licensed premises 
to prevent the selling of alcohol to drunks taking proactive action when necessary; Work 
with central government to develop clearer rules around knowingly selling alcohol to drunks; 
Work to influence government policy on the introduction of an appropriate Minimum Unit 
Price for Alcohol, more robust and transparent restrictions on alcohol advertising and the 
introduction of public health consideration as a 5th Licensing Objective.  

 
  
  

Page 63



 

64 

 

MANCHESTER 
 
Source: Alcohol Strategy 2014-2017 
 
Headline outcomes 
 
The Greater Manchester Alcohol Strategy has an overarching purpose to reduce demand on 
public services and address complex dependency issues through early intervention and 
prevention activity.  In order to achieve this, it will seek to deliver three interlinked 
outcomes: 
 

 reducing alcohol-related crime, antisocial behaviour and domestic abuse 

 reducing alcohol-related health harms  

 establishing diverse, vibrant and safe night-time economies. 
 
Underpinning the above outcomes, the Strategy sets out a number of priorities, under broad 
headings.  These are: 
 
A platform for growth and reform 
 

 Priority 1: Promoting the effective and consistent use of licensing/regulatory tools 
and powers to reduce demand, including through enforcement-based activities and 
wider voluntary agreements with the alcohol trade. 

 Priority 2: Promoting consistent, appropriate and effective use of tools to address 
alcohol-related antisocial behaviour, including new measures within the Anti-Social 
Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014. 

 Priority 3: Ensuring that Greater Manchester leads the way on best practice alcohol 
marketing. 

 Priority 4: Continuing to lobby government for national implementation of a 
minimum unit price. 

 
Supporting Greater Manchester’s growth 
 

 Priority 5: Defining and supporting implementation of best practice approaches to 
reduce alcohol-related harm in Greater Manchester’s night-time economies (NTEs). 

 
Supporting public service reform and reducing demand 
 

 Priority 6: Supporting the prioritisation of domestic abuse victims, promoting data 
sharing and new approaches as a part of Greater Manchester’s programme to 
address complex dependency. 

 Priority 7: Developing and evaluating interventions to address alcohol and wider 
substance misuse by offenders at the point of arrest, sentence and release. 

 Priority 8: Prioritising activity that supports attitude and behaviour change among 
young people and their families, and challenges social norms. 

 Priority 9: Ensuring consistency of best practice in the delivery/uptake of alcohol 
identification and brief advice. 

 Priority 10: Supporting the development of local recovery organisations and 
networks, creating the conditions to maximise their role as community assets for 
reducing alcohol harm. 

Page 64



 

65 

 

 Priority 11: Ensuring a collaborative and evidence-based approach to commissioning 
interventions that address alcohol dependence effectively. 

Page 65



 

66 

 

CROYDON 

Source: Report to Health And Wellbeing Board (Croydon) - 10 June 2015  
 
In early 2014, a multi-agency LAAA Programme Board, led by public health, was set up in 
Croydon to oversee the local programme. It reported to both the Safer Croydon Partnership 
(SCP) and the Drug and Alcohol Action Team (DAAT) Board.  
 
Through consultation with stakeholders in June 2014, Croydon identified the following three 
priorities for the LAAA programme; 
 

 Prevention. To encourage sensible drinking habits in the estimated 50,000 adults 
who drink at increasing and higher risk levels through developing Croydon’s alcohol 
IBA (Identification and Brief Advice) programme.  

 Partnership and communication. To develop a multi-faceted partnership approach 
to reduced alcohol harms.  

 Data sharing. To prevent alcohol related violent crime through sharing anonymized 
data between A&E (accident and emergency) services and the Safer Croydon 
Partnership.  

 
Work stream sub groups were established for both the ‘Prevention’ and ‘Partnership and 
Communication’ themes, which will run to oversee the work programmes until April 2016.  
 
The Croydon programme, so far, has achieved the following:  
 

 Taken forward recommendations of Croydon’s alcohol JSNA  

 Built strong partnership and engagement  

 Mapped Croydon’s alcohol harm reduction initiatives  

 Established multidisciplinary working groups  

 Evidence based alcohol website tailored for Croydon established 

 Coordinated multi-agency alcohol awareness campaigns 

 Launch of pharmacy based alcohol IBA pilot   

 Discussions underway for an alcohol IBA service in general practice  

 Promoting workforce development 

 Emerging Partnership for data sharing  
 
  

Page 66



 

67 

 

 

GRAVESHAM 
 
Source:  Gravesham Borough Council, Licensing Committee, 4 March 2015 
 
The Gravesham LAAA Delivery Plan took a holistic approach and recognised that whilst a 
fundamental part of the project was to address alcohol-related crime and anti-social 
behaviour (ASB), there were a number of other factors that contribute to both improving 
community safety more generally as well as how safe people feel. The Delivery Plan was 
formulated to ensure that as many of these factors were addressed as possible and took a 
staged and structured approach by concentrating efforts within 5 areas of focus: 
 

 Prevention  

 Control  

 Treatment  

 Public Perception and  

 Communication  
 
Actions and achievements arising from the project were: 
 
Prevention 

 Reducing the Strength Campaign  

 Promotion of the G-Safe Safer Socialising Award  

 Responsible Retailing training opportunity. 

 Seasonal work (included initiatives such as campaigns to raise awareness of the dangers 
of drink-driving, promoting responsible drinking, the use of taxi marshalls on key dates 
over the Christmas and New Year period;  the trialling of ‘taxi hailing points; and working 
with Gravesend Street Pastors to provide support and assistance to potentially 
vulnerable people. 

 
Control 

 Enforcement Operation  

 Review of Alcohol Control Zone signage  

 Use of G-Safe (Town Centre Crime Reduction Initiative) Exclusions  
 
Treatment 

 Joint work with Crime Reduction Initiatives (CRI)  

 Dealing with complex alcohol misuse clients 
 
Public Perception and Diversification 

 Enhancing the physical environment - Street lighting improvements; Gravesham in 
Bloom; • Repairing damage; Improving cleanliness 

 Diversification – affordable cinema; Food trails; Promotion/marketing of evening and 
night-time venues; Encouraging business investment; Night-time economy meetings; 
Christmas events – Living Advent  

 
Communication 

 Work with Munroe and Fraser in developing a positive reputation as places to visit and 
in which to socialise. Good practice from other areas has been shared with Gravesham’s 
Communications Team that took the lead on this aspect of the project. 

 

Page 67



 

68 

 

HALTON 

 

Halton developed 9 objectives for its Pilot scheme.  Whilst Halton had presented its 

objectives clearly, it was true to say that some of the activities had (at the time of reporting) 

were still in development / to be implemented.  Below are a list of the objectives and 

associated activities – where they have been completed, this will be stated. 

 
Objective 1 - To transform the relationship the people of Halton have with alcohol 

 Start a community conversation around alcohol – using an inquiry approach based on 
the citizen's jury model of community engagement – completed. 

 Development of a coordinated alcohol awareness campaign plan that covers all ages and 
supports the local promotion of national alcohol awareness campaigns 

 

Objective 2 - Increase awareness of the effects of alcohol on the unborn child 

 Develop a social marketing campaign aimed at women of childbearing age to raise 
awareness of alcohol abstinence in pregnancy and foetal alcohol spectrum disorders 
(FASD) – completed. 

 
Objective 3 - Support young people within Halton to delay onset of drinking, and reduce 
binge drinking 

 Development of a school based social norms campaign around alcohol – completed 
 
Objective 4: Develop alcohol treatment referral pathways 

 Development of alcohol treatment pathways (in line with NICE guidance) 
 
Objective 5: Ensure local licensing policy supports alcohol harm reduction agenda 

 Review Halton Statement of Licensing Policy (SOLP) – completed. 
 
Objective 6: Reduction in underage drinking and associated anti-social behaviour 

 Development of joint alcohol reduction messages aimed at young people - completed 

 Ensure the effective implementation of Operation Stay Safe - completed 

 Explore the added value of Community Alcohol Partnerships (CAP) 

 Prevention of under-age sales – completed & review ongoing 
 
Objective 7: Work with licensed premises to adopt more responsible approaches to the 
sale of alcohol 

 Further development and strengthening of local Pub Watch scheme - completed 

 Further strengthening of Arc Angel Scheme (Cheshire Police scheme similar to Best Bar 
None) - completed 

 Explore the possibility of voluntary agreements related to sales of high strength alcohol 
 
Objective 8: Prevention of alcohol related domestic violence 

 Prevention of alcohol-related domestic violence – completed 
 
Objective 9: Create a more diverse and vibrant night-time economy 

 Create a more diverse and vibrant night time economy - Local action plan developed; 
overnight self-assessment planned to assess current state of play in local area and 
priority areas for action 

 Explore possibility of developing night  time events/ venues in Halton which are non-
alcohol based 

Page 68



 

69 

 

 

NORTHAMPTONSHIRE 
 
Source: Police and Crime Commissioner for Northamptonshire Report 2014/15 
 
Five strands of activity are detailed below and were coordinated through the County Alcohol 
Harm Reduction group.  
 
Alcohol Abstinence - The OPCC and Force led a 12 month voluntary sobriety bracelet pilot 
with the aim to tackle alcohol-related offending and gain evidence for a full application to 
the Ministry of Justice for Alcohol Abstinence and Monitoring Requirement status. The pilot 
has now concluded and a final evaluation is currently underway from the Institute of Public 
Safety Crime and Justice.  
 
Purple Flag Kettering – Kettering Borough Council have led an initiative to improve the town 
centre and night time economy environment. Kettering Borough Council is currently 
awaiting the final decision from Purple Flag on if it has achieved Purple Flag status.  
 
Frontline training to impact on health harms to the over-45s – Public Health have enabled 
over 800 professionals to be trained and 200 frontline police of-ficers have also received 
training.  
 
Positive Licensing Action – Working with National Best Bar None, the Portman Group and 
local licensees we have launched a refreshed Best Bar None Scheme which now partners 
with the Northamptonshire Food and Drink Awards. The schemes aims to promote and 
reward responsible retailing within our counties pubs and clubs and enables the public to 
see a tangible measure of all that is good within our night time economy.  
 
Alcohol Treatment Centre – Work has been taking place as part of the LAAA this year to pilot 
the application of an Alcohol Treatment Centre with health colleagues at EMAS to elevate 
the pressure alcohol-related injury and vulnerability has on public services on Friday and 
Saturday nights. The pilot aims to begin this summer and run for six months every pay day 
weekend in Northampton. The pilot will be evaluated before any further decisions are taken 
on the application of the treatment centre long term. 

 
Source: Police & Crime Panel - Date of Meeting: April 20th 2015 
 
Working together and Sharing Intelligence 
An action plan has been in place in the City to deliver data sharing, based on the Cardiff 
Model, and a version of this model has been fully implemented since March 2015. This 
allows data to be used to analyse activity around licensed premises and in the longer term to 
target resources more effectively. In the County, similar progress has been made in relation 
to improvements in data sharing. Data is now received from EMAS, Kings Mill Hospital and 
Bassetlaw, and is used to map problems and visit venues. A long-term objective is to 
continue to improve the quality of data received, and to improve its use to target problem 
areas more specifically. 
 
Community Alcohol Partnerships (CAP) 
CAPs bring together a range of stakeholders and agencies to tackle the problem of underage 
drinking and associated anti-social behaviour. .CAPS have become successfully established in 
Mansfield and Ashfield, work is currently underway to establish similar multi agency 
networks in Newark and Worksop. The work of CAP includes developing best practice 

Page 69



 

70 

 

concerning under-age drinking. The ‘PASS - Proof of Age Scheme’ is an initiative promoted by 
the PCC and Nottinghamshire Police. The focus of this work is currently on increasing 
awareness and acceptance of the scheme with Licensees unfamiliar with the project. ‘PASS’ 
is now ACPO endorsed, so opportunity exists to advance assurance with the license and 
security trade. 
Also aligned to CAP is a series of free training events offered to the ‘on’ and ‘off’ license 
trade. This work centres on responsible retail trading; delivered by a local legal business, 
sessions are due to take place week commencing 23rd March in Rushcliffe and Broxtowe 
before moving across the County. 
 
Best Bar None 
Best Bar None is a national scheme which aims to reduce alcohol related crime by raising the 
standards of the licensed premises. Businesses which meet all of the essential criteria are 
awarded the Best Bar None status. The scheme is well-established in the City, and is 
becoming successfully embedded in the County. Current reporting indicates in excess of 150 
County and City premises benefitting from the scheme, raising standards in licensing 
management. A Best Bar None awards ceremony was held in December 2014, to mark the 
progress of the scheme and the contributions made by individual venues. This was a positive 
and well attended event, during which the Commissioner took part in the award ceremony. 
 
Ending Alcohol Harm 
The Drinkaware Campaign, “You wouldn’t do it sober, you shouldn’t do it drunk” which was 
launched in December 2014, focused on inappropriate sexual behavior while under the 
influence of alcohol. Using poster and film media within license premises and cinemas, the 
campaign brought in focus the issues affecting men and women whose judgment was 
affected by alcohol. Ending Alcohol Harm also included the pilot initiative of ‘Club Hosts’ at 
four venues across the City and County. The role of the Host was to identify and support 
customers at risk of acute signs of vulnerability from factors including alcohol. The 
evaluation of the campaign is due to be published later in the Spring 2015. The support 
provided by the PCC ensured the campaign was implemented across the whole of 
Nottinghamshire. The key focus of the Drinkaware campaign is to achieve behaviour change, 
and pending the outcome of the evaluation, this work may be extended to targeting alcohol 
related violence in the night-time economy. 
 
Vulnerability Training 
Following the above campaigns, a series of training programs has been delivered to the door 
staff across Nottinghamshire. This work involved use of video resources raising issues of 
vulnerability among those affected by alcohol. Learning from this work highlights further 
opportunity to improve the level of awareness in helping door staff broaden attitudes to 
vulnerability. It is the police intention to involve the Security Industry Association (SIA) 
locally in order to strengthen training on vulnerability in SIA accreditation. 
 
Diversion and Prevention - Innovative Measures 
The PCC’s strategic action plan includes a number of innovative measures to support early 
intervention within the night time economy. This includes the use of cocaine torches and 
breathalysers in both the City and Mansfield. This practice has become embedded at a 
number of venues and received positive feedback from door staff who regard it as a 
legitimate tool on which to engage customers. When complimented by police powers such 
as the Section 35 Direction to Leave (Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2014), these tools support 
the strategic intent for early intervention to prevent harm from alcohol. Signposting is an 
important part of this work, and materials have been produced to provide information to 
customers to signpost to relevant alcohol support agencies.

Page 70



 

71 

 

WESTON-SUPER-MARE 
 
SOURCE: REPORT TO THE COMMUNITY AND CORPORATE ORGANISATION POLICY AND 
SCRUTINY PANEL -  25 MARCH 2014 
 
In 2013, violent crime in Weston-super-Mare town centre was at its lowest for 11 years. 

 
However, despite accounting for only 3% of the North Somerset population, Weston-super-
Mare town centre accounted for 37% of violent crime in North Somerset in 2013/13. Over 
half of this violent crime in Weston-super-Mare town centre could be attributed to the 
night-time economy. 30% of all violent crime in the town centre occurs between midnight 
and 4am on a Saturday and Sunday. 

 
Equally, a quarter of all anti-social behaviour in North Somerset occurs in the town centre 
and has increased each year since 2010. By the end of February 2014 there had been a 4% 
increase in ASB incidents in the town centre financial year to date which followed on from a 
3.5% increase in 2012/13.  

 
A range of partnership initiatives have contributed to the downward trend in violent crime 
over the last 10 years. This has included closer working between CCTV and the Police and 
joint work between the Council and Police Licensing Teams. 

 
Currently, the key activities which are in place in relation to the night-time economy are: 

 
A night-time economy multi-agency problem solving group informed by regular detailed 
analysis of partnership data on the night time economy brings together officers from the 
Council, Police, Health, Fire Service who manage an action plan to identify and tackle issues 
within the night-time economy. 
 
Licensing ‘Responsible Authorities’ are proactive in bringing premises to license review 

 

A licensed premises ‘traffic light’ system has been developed which reflects the positive and 

negative impact of individual licensed premises within the local community. Factors which 

will be taken into account include premises links to police recorded incidents and hospital 

attendances. Where negative factors are identified and premises achieve a ‘red’ traffic light 

rating, multi-agency intervention to improve the management of that premises will intensify, 

including through a review of license conditions.  

 

High-profile joint premises checks are undertaken by the Local Authority and the Police and 

include Trading Standards, Food Safety, Licensing and Environmental Protection teams. 

CCTV have direct radio links to premises in the Pubwatch scheme and to the Police to 

identify issues before they develop and help ensure resources are deployed effectively.  

 
Weston-super-Mare is a Business Improvement District. One of the BID priorities is 
community safety and a team of wardens have been employed to promote safety. A recent 
decision has been taken to change the wardens’ shift patterns to provide more support 
during the night time economy.  
 
‘Pinch points’ have been identified and tackled including through targeting of resources and 
communications campaigns. 

Page 71



 

72 

 

 
Weston-super-Mare has also recently been chosen by the Home Office as one of 20 Local 
Alcohol Action areas in the country. This means that our work to date has been recognised 
and we will be part of a network of Local Authority areas sharing best practice. It also means 
we will have Home Office support in implementing an action plan over the next 12 months 
which will help address persistent crime and disorder issues in the night time economy and 
promote a vibrant night-time economy. 

 
Key elements of our plan for 2014/15 currently include: 

 

 Review of the Licensing Policy – this will provide an opportunity to consider 
measures which ensure well-managed premises as well as measures which will help 
to promote a more family orientated town centre in the evening 

 Development and roll out of the ‘traffic light’ scheme. This will bring together 
additional information about premises which will allow more intense work to ensure 
good management 

 Dolphin Square re-development – this provides an opportunity to re-shape the 
night-time economy with new family-orientated leisure facilities in the town centre 

 CCTV – extension of coverage to include the new Dolphin Square development 

 Development of the Pubwatch scheme 
  

Page 72



 

73 

 

BLACKPOOL 

Source: Night Time Economy Working Group Report - August 2015 
 
During the meetings to consider representations from interested parties, the working group 
identified the following: 
 
1. High quality, well managed venues were a key factor in improving the perception of 

Blackpool and encouraging people to enjoy the night time economy in a responsible 
manner 

2. Zones – Blackpool aims to have a mixed and vibrant nightlife and for this to work 
effectively there needs to be a quieter zone where families can eat and socialise 
separate from a more lively adult orientated area. 

3. CCTV – a monitored CCTV system has a dual purpose. It assists the police in preventing 
and detecting crime and it also makes people feel safe  

4. Street lighting 
5. Taxi marshalls 
6. First aiders in licensed premises – to reduce the burden on the ambulance service 
7. Marketing 
8. Funding 
 
Zones 
The working group identified in its interim report the need for effective zoning to provide a 
quieter area where families and groups could meet to socialise and a more lively area with 
late night bars. This is supported by the perceptions survey which highlights the need for 
quality family friendly establishments away from the lively late night drinking areas. To a 
certain extent this is already starting to happen with a café/eating area emerging around St 
John’s, Cedar Square and Victoria Street with higher quality branded restaurants opening. 
 
The creation of zones is not a simple process when you are dealing with an already 
established town centre as there are bound to be existing venues in the wrong area, 
however this is not a reason to start the process. Over time as the different zones become 
established and well known residents and visitors for example wanting to go to the late night 
bars will automatically go to that area. Any late night business in the incorrect zone will want 
to be where all of the trade is therefore there will be an incentive for it to move or to change 
its business model to adapt to the area it is in.  
 
Quality of venues 
Whilst there are a number of brewery led and national brands in Blackpool, there are a high 
number of businesses that are suffering from a lack of investment and appear to be being 
run on a shoestring.  All venues need to be encouraged to operate to the same high 
standards 
 
There is also the concern that the town centre saturation area may be stifling investment 
rather than encouraging it. 
 
Anti-Social Behaviour 
Many of the responses to the survey highlight the concerns about anti-social behaviour 
specifically arising from drunkenness, drug taking, street beggars and people trying to sell 
rag mags and similar publications. The Council are currently consulting on the creation of a 
Public Space Protection Order which can have the effect of prohibiting certain conduct for 
example drinking on the street. This order is aimed at trying to prevent the behaviour from 

Page 73



 

74 

 

taking place to start with, but it also gives officers powers to deal with anti-social behaviour 
if it does occur. 
 
Whilst many of the issues raised during the lifetime of the working group can be actioned by 
changes in policy, some for example CCTV and increased police presence do require funds. 
One possibility for funding is the late night levy. 
 
A licensing authority may decide that a late night levy is to apply in its area. 
 
When making a decision the licensing authority must consider: 

 The costs of policing and other arrangements for the reduction or prevention of 
crime and disorder, in connection with the supply of alcohol between midnight and 
6 am, and 

 Having regard to the costs, the desirability of raising revenue to be applied in 
accordance with section 131. 

 
CCTV 
A manned CCTV system serves two purposes, assisting the police in identifying the 
perpetrators of crime and ant-social behaviour, as well as providing reassurance to members 
of the public. Whilst the system is already in place it is acknowledged that manning the CCTV 
room even on a part-time basis will involve securing sustainable funding either from the late 
night levy or another source. It does appear however to be an important factor in making 
people feel that they are safe when they come into the town centre so monitoring should be 
re-instated if the funding can be secured. 
 
“Visible “Police” presence 
The police are suffering from budget cuts as are local authorities, therefore, although 
desirable, the likelihood of police officers being available to create a visible presence in the 
town centre is low. Nevertheless responses from the survey indicate that a uniformed 
presence would have the effect of making people feel safer in the town centre so it is 
necessary to consider alternative options to the traditional police constable in uniform. 
 
The Night Time Economy Working Group 
Making positive changes can only be done on a multi-agency basis but this will only work if a 
coordinated approach is taken. Taking an overview of the work being done is outside of the 
remit of the Licensing Committee as it covers a variety of Council functions. 
  

Page 74



 

75 

 

HASTINGS 
 
Source:   Safer Hastings Partnership Community Safety Plan 2014-17  
 
A safe and vibrant evening economy remains key to the economic wellbeing and reputation 
of the town and sustaining reductions in public place violence remains a high priority.  
 
In recent years the Taxi Marshall scheme, operating on Friday and Saturday nights in 
Havelock Road, has done much to reduce problems by overseeing and engaging with large 
numbers of intoxicated people queuing for taxi’s.  
 
The work of the Hastings Barwatch scheme was also commented on very favourably by the 
Home Secretary Teresa May on a recent visit to the town. The banning of those who have 
engaged in violent, disorderly or criminal behaviour in licensed premises continues to be a 
credible deterrent to such behaviour. We will therefore continue to seek funding to support 
these initiatives.  
 
Following the successful application for Hastings to become one of only twenty Local Alcohol 
Action Areas nationally local partners will undertake a range of actions designed to reduced 
alcohol related crime & disorder. This will include targeted Police operations, alcohol 
education in schools and a range of measures to reduce the availability and supply of alcohol 
to young people.  
 
Antisocial behaviour by street drinkers has been identified as a particular area of concern in 
certain parts of the town. We recognise that the behaviour of a relatively small group of 
individuals can have a disproportionate impact on the quality of life of the local community 
and the viability of businesses.  
 
It is important to tackle the underlying causes of such behaviour and several new services to 
support those with substance misuse and mental health problems are starting in the first 
half of 2014. The SHP will seek to ensure that these services are coordinated and effectively 
work together.  
The ‘Reduce the Strength’ scheme introduced in January 2014 limiting sales of beers, lagers 
and ciders to below 6.5 % Alcohol by Volume (ABV) will be reviewed In July 2014 and 
extended to other parts of the town if there is the evidence to support this.  
 
Sussex Police plan to locate their Neighbourhood Officers in a base in the heart of Central St 
Leonards. This is intended to provide a more sustained presence in the area and enable 
them to work more closely with other front line services to increase public confidence and 
tackle those who are causing the most harm to themselves and the wider community.  
  

Page 75



 

76 

 

MIDDLESBOROUGH 
 
Source: Middlesborough Moving Forward Statement of Licensing Policy 2016 to 2021 
 
 
In relation to the night time economy, the LAAA work established that:  
 

 Footfall has decreased significantly over the last decade resulting in many licensees 
reducing staff numbers and seeing profit margins reduce.  

 Drinking habits have changed, with many young people arriving in Middlesbrough 
Town Centre as late as midnight already intoxicated through cheaply purchased 
alcohol from off licensed premises.  

 There is clear evidence of diversification of offer, which has had the effect of 
splitting the town centre, with the Southfield Road area attracting the ‘older’ 
clientele and Exchange Place remaining the domain of the ‘younger’ clientele.  

 There is a distinct separation between the day and night time economies, very few 
people remain in the town after work or shopping, resulting in near empty streets 
between 6.30pm and 9.00pm.  

 There is a lot of good work already taking place within the NTE. Boro Angels provide 
an exceptional service to the town and are highly regarded by professionals and 
those using the centre socially. Taxi Marshalls likewise play a vital role in reducing 
crime and disorder and promoting safe egress from the town.  

 Perception is a key issue, with some people choosing not to socialise in 
Middlesbrough citing a fear of crime issues and a perception that there is a 
prevalence of youth dominated vertical drinking establishments. Interestingly those 
who work and socialise within Middlesbrough see the town differently. Boro Angels, 
who have walked the NTE for four years and whose volunteers cover the age range 
21-60yrs, describe the town as being “a great place to be.” Members of the 
University Student Union described the town as being a vibrant and friendly place.  

 
Three Task Groups were established around three theme areas; Crime and Disorder, Health 
and Diversification and Perception, and key progress has been made in tackling crime and 
disorder, reducing the harm caused by alcohol and the public perception of the town.  
There are some clear links between the LAAA work and some licensing matters, primarily in 
relation to upholding the licensing objectives. Licensing Authority and Responsible 
Authorities have been key partners in establishing the work programmes of the task groups.  
 
Crime and Disorder Task Group:  
Review of crime within the NTE, focussing on 8 key areas, namely sexual offences, violence 
against the person, possession of offensive weapons, drug offences, criminal damage, theft, 
public order offences and ASB and to target resources, identify problem premises, hot spots 
and emerging crime issues.  

Review of the way in which the Police manage the NTE by developing a closer working 
relationship with Door Supervisors, Licensees, the CCTV Control Room and Boro Angels to 
create a cohesive and better informed partnership and to influence a review of the 
resourcing of officers from the NTE to other areas of business without degrading existing 
service.  

 Provision of Vulnerability Training to the NTE via a national training package which 
raises awareness of the duty of care to those at risk within the NTE.  

Page 76



 

77 

 

 Provision of Police support to the CCTV Control Room to identify vulnerability and 
those who may become involved in crime or disorder and to direct the appropriate 
resources.  

 The creation of a Community Messaging System to allow Police to send text 
messages to all those agencies operating within the NTE including the CCTV Control 
Room, Door Supervisors, Licensees and Boro Angels.  

 Monthly meetings between Police and Door Supervisors, to share intelligence and 
increase awareness of issues that are occurring within Middlesbrough.  

 Working closely with Teesside University in support of their Student Safety Group 
and helping to create the Safe Student Spaces and Safe Transport Schemes.  

 Refreshment of the Best Bar None scheme which has received a very positive 
response from the trade, with a number of licensed premises demonstrating 
exceptional policies and procedures in relation to vulnerability, drugs, crime 
reduction, underage sales, counter terrorism awareness and responsible sale of 
alcohol.  

 
Work Programme of the Health Task Group:  

 Creation of an Alcohol Data Map, drawing upon the partners of the LAAA to data 
share which has enabled the Hospital Information Liaison Team (HILT) to create a 
number of “Health Maps” showing layers of data.  

 Maximising the powers under the Licensing Act including utilising Cumulative Impact 
Policies. A Responsible Authorities Group shares intelligence and data to 
coordination of multi-agency reviews/representations.  

 Provision of a Safe Haven facility operating within the NTE, staffed by Paramedics, 
Substance Misuse Nurses, Door Supervisor and supported by the Boro Angels, 
aiming to relieve peak time pressure on A&E, NEAS and Police.  

 
Diversification and Perception Task Group:  
The Licensing Policy makes a significant contribution to the development of a safe and 
successful night time economy which improves the public’s perception about the 
Middlesbrough as a night time venue. In particular, by ensuring that licences are only 
granted to responsibly managed premises which uphold the licensing objectives, utilising the 
Cumulative Impact Policies to prevent the negative impact of high number of licensed 
premises and support diversification, all contribute positively to the public perception of 
Middlesbrough.  
 
The development of the Safe Haven which is what provides reassurance on the support 
available for “vulnerable” adults, together with the support from the Boro Angels, Door 
Supervisors and other NTE workers. 

  

Page 77



 

78 

 

SCARBOROUGH 
 
Source: Scarborough, Whitby and Filey Night Time Economy Strategy and Action Plan 2013 - 
2016 
 
Castle/North Bay Wards 
Castle Ward includes the Night Time Economy area and has the highest crime levels of any 
ward in North Yorkshire. During 2013/14 we have developed an integrated plan to address 
crime, disorder and ASB in the Castle/North bay wards. This has been a catalyst for 
significant levels of multiagency activity including the development of a co-located multi-
agency prevention and enforcement team consisting of both voluntary and statutory 
agencies. 
 
The joint prevention and enforcement team was created to enable more focus on creatively 
resolving issues in partnership, rather than as single organisations shifting responsibility 
between agencies. In particular to build better relationships with residents, proactively 
tackle anti-social behaviour and crime; improve the visible appearance of the area and to 
better safeguard and protect the vulnerable. The team works in partnership with local 
residents and the work of the team is part of a wider regeneration plan, being developed 
through the PSE, including improving the quality and management of housing in the area. 
 
Two members of the team, the Community Safety and Safeguarding Manger and Police 
Sergeant started informally in August and the current multi agency team have been 
operational since 1 October 2013, the core team includes:  

 North Yorkshire Police (dedicated Sergeant) 

 Scarborough Borough Council: Community Safety Officers 

 Scarborough Borough Council : Environmental Health Officer (Housing) 

 Yorkshire Coast Homes 

 North Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Safety Officer 

 Yorkshire Ambulance Service 

 Cambridge Centre (substance misuse treatment agency) 

 Foundation Housing, including domestic abuse services 
 
In addition a range of organisations have close links with the team and attend the twice 
weekly “briefings”, including the Family Intervention Team, Children’s Services, RSLs, the 
local primary school, Child Protection Midwife/designated nurses and the Domestic Abuse 
Co-ordinator. The multi-agency team includes the new joint initiative by North Yorkshire 
Police and the NY Fire and Rescue Service, which delivers in partnership a targeted early 
intervention advice and guidance for safety in and around the home. 
 
The team take an evidence based approach, information and intelligence is shared and 
mapped and the team use a decision making model to inform actions. As with any proactive 
approach we would expect to see an increase in detection and positive disposals of crime 
and in the long term we would expect to see crime reduced in the area, but we believe it is 
too early for the impact of the team to be seen yet in the crime figures. 

 
  

Page 78



 

79 

 

SLOUGH BOROUGH 
 
Source:  SLOUGH ALCOHOL STRATEGY 2015-2019 
 
VISION  

 Empowering people to make informed decisions about their alcohol consumption  

 Working with local communities to prevent alcohol related crime and disorder  

 Enabling a diverse and responsible local economy  

 Protecting families from alcohol-related harms  

 Improving the health of those who struggle with alcohol misuse  
 
 
SLOUGH DRUG AND ALCOHOL TEAM  
Slough’s Drug And Alcohol Team (DAAT) provide a partnership based service for those with 
drug and alcohol related problems. The DAAT commissions several alcohol specific services, 
including an alcohol liaison team at Wexham Park Hospital and residential rehabilitation 
services. The DAAT have been heavily involved in a number of projects, including developing 
a smart-phone application (see Figure 6) to allow users to monitor and address their drinking 
behaviour, peer education sessions aimed at younger people and the distribution of ‘What’s 
in my glass?’ merchandise in the borough.  
 
COMMUNITY ALCOHOL PARTNERSHIP (CAP)  
The Community Alcohol Partnership scheme is a scheme designed to bring together 
retailers, police, health, local authorities and other local stakeholders to address problems 
with underage drinking and associated anti-social behaviour. Currently Slough has a CAP 
scheme in place in the Langley area with plans in place to extend this across the borough. As 
part of this scheme school and retailer surveys are also being undertaken to assess the 
perceptions around alcohol use in the area. Retail staff are also receiving training under the 
scheme to improve their confidence in dealing with underage sales.  
 
ALCOHOL EXCLUSION ZONES  

Slough has several designated alcohol exclusion zones in force across the borough. These 
give local police the power to confiscate alcohol and intervene directly with problematic 
drinking.  
PUB-WATCH  
A ‘Pubwatch’ scheme is in place in Slough, established by licensees and supported by both 
police and the Council.26,27 The aim of Pubwatch is to promote best practice and establish 
a safer drinking environment in licensed premises across the country. There are four 
Pubwatch areas in the borough, each holding a monthly meeting.  
STREET ANGELS  
Slough Street Angels is a charity organisation which offers practical help and support to 
people in the town centre on Friday nights. This service is provided by trained volunteers 
from Slough’s Christian community.  
 
LOCAL ALCOHOL ACTION AREA  
The aim of the Local Alcohol Action Area (LAAA) scheme is to address the effects of 
irresponsible drinking, specifically crime & disorder and health harms. A third objective is the 
diversification of the night-time economy. The scheme is government run and involves 20 
local authorities across the country.  
  

Page 79



 

80 

 

AIMS AND OBJECTIVES  
The aims of this strategy are closely related to the Government’s Alcohol Strategy, informed 
by local issues. Where possible, aims have been developed with reference to available 
evidence on effectiveness and return on investment from NICE and the World Health 
Organisation.28,29. 
 
Ensure the development and implementation of Slough’s Licensing Policy is informed by 
Slough’s Alcohol Strategy and national best practice  

 Work in partnership to develop responses to address the availability and 
affordability of alcohol  

 Work in partnership with stakeholders to assess need, and plan strategies and 
programmes for changing behaviour and attitudes in relation to alcohol use and 
misuse  

 Develop co-ordinated responses to alcohol where it features within situations of 
domestic abuse, crime and health service use (including mental health services)  

 Improve data collection and sharing and use this to inform the development of 
targeted responses to address individuals, groups or areas contributing 
disproportionately to alcohol-related crime and disorder in the borough  

 Review the potential of the ‘Reducing the Strength’ campaign  

 Ensure retailer compliance with licensing legislation and responsible retail practise. 
Continue to use available tools and powers to address the illegal and irresponsible 
sale of alcohol by licensed premises.  

 Ensure that licensed premises have information about the law, their responsibilities, 
and good practice in the sale of alcohol  

 Ensure that licensed premises have training around selling to those heavily under 
the influence of alcohol and underage sales  

 Promote and support responsible retailing through initiatives to recognise and 
reward good practice  

 Improve perceptions of safety within the borough  

 Raise awareness and reduce occurrence of proxy sales in Slough  

 Evaluate the provision for legal appeal to licensing issues  

Page 80



 

81 

 

SWANSEA  

Source: swanseacitycentre.com 

Purple Flag 

The Purple Flag, a national award recognising a city’s vibrant and safe night-time economy, is 

now proudly flying in the City Centre. 

Equivalent to the Blue Flag awarded to top quality beaches, Swansea successfully gained the 

prestigious accolade in February 2015. 

Purple Flag is an international initiative which is independently accredited by the Association 

of Town Centre Management working alongside the Purple Flag Advisory Board – a 

partnership involving central and local government, police, business and consumers. 

It is the new gold standard that recognises great entertainment and hospitality areas at night 

in the same guise as Blue Flag is an indicator of a good beach and Green Flag a good park. 

Swansea is the first city in Wales to achieve the standard, with Aberystwyth the only other 

Welsh location to hoist the flag. 

Judges said Swansea had achieved a consistent rise in the number of people using the pubs, 

restaurants, cinemas and other entertainment venues in the City Centre after dark while at 

the same time enjoying a steady drop in crimes committed in the area. 

As well as the excellent partnership working demonstrated by the Safer Swansea 

Partnership, which coordinated the application, the assessment team said they were 

particularly impressed with the Help Point facility situated in The Strand, which enables the 

public to be treated on site by qualified medical staff for minor injuries, illness or drink-

related concerns. 

They also praised the use of student volunteers from the University of Wales Trinity St David 

to give guidance and assistance to their peers at the Help Point and Drop-Off Point. 

Other initiatives that received a glowing reference were the Swansea Street Pastors scheme 

http://streetpastors.org/locations/swansea/) and Taxi Marshalls 

(http://www.swanseabid.co.uk/safety-and-security.asp) who manage the taxi queues at 

night helping to get people home safely after an enjoyable evening. 

For further information about Purple Flag, visit: 

https://www.atcm.org/programmes/purple_flag/purple_flag_week/purple_flag_places//pro

jects/ 

 
Key Messages for Purple Flag Day 

Castle Square: Saturday 11 April 2015 10am-4pm 

Swansea was awarded a Purple Flag on 10 February 2015. The award is a national 

accreditation scheme run by the Association of Town Centre Management that recognises 

excellent management of city centres at night. It is similar to the Blue Flag for beaches and 

Green Flag for parks and is backed by the government, police and business. Swansea is the 

only city in Wales to hold a Purple Flag and only one of a handful of places in the UK to hold 

all three flags. 

Swansea nightlife isn’t all about drinking! 

The Purple Flag status confirms Swansea as a vibrant place to visit at night time with clean 

and safe environments, great bars and clubs, a variety of arts and cultural attractions and 

Page 81

http://streetpastors.org/locations/swansea/
http://www.swanseabid.co.uk/safety-and-security.asp
https://www.atcm.org/programmes/purple_flag/purple_flag_week/purple_flag_places/projects/
https://www.atcm.org/programmes/purple_flag/purple_flag_week/purple_flag_places/projects/


 

82 

 

excellent transport links. Achieving the Purple Flag status brings positive publicity to the city 

and encourages further diverse activities. 

We would like to persuade more people to come to Swansea in the evenings, not just young 

people, but older people and families with young children. We want to make sure that they 

feel safe and that they are in a city that is clean, attractive and accessible. A city where they 

can have a good night out, not just in the local pubs and clubs, but at a wide range of 

activities including arts and culture, leisure, food and dining, education and events. 

The Purple Flag Award is reassessed every year and all the partners involved are all 

committed to the scheme, so this is just the start of a number of improvements and 

initiatives to make Swansea a better place for its residents and visitors. 

The Purple Flag event in Castle Square on Saturday will work as a taster of how we can work 

together for Purple Flag weekend on October 2/3/4, which will be a much larger, city-wide 

event. 

 The Aims of today’s event are 

To raise public awareness of the diversity of the city centre night time economy, – there 

is so much more on off than you think! 

 To get feedback from the public on what they like to do on a night out in the city centre 

– Thousands of people already enjoy their own favourite Swansea night out – what’s 

yours? 

 To get feedback on what activities the public would like to be able to do on a night out 

in the city centre – what would you like to see more of? 

 To provide a taster of the range of activities currently available in the city centre – 

music, dancing, food, cinema, theatre, activities, give it a go! 

Plan of the Day 

The businesses involved and what they are doing are below: 

Our volunteers will have copies of a short questionnaire we’ve produced about Swansea 

nightlife – it’s your chance to give feedback on your idea of a great night out in Swansea and 

what you think is missing currently. So stop them and tell them what you think! 

CCTV Van Kids – of whatever size – can have a go on the controls of our mobile CCTV van 

and play the Safer Swansea CCTV competition. The race is on to find all the items on the list 

in the fastest time to win a prize from one of the businesses at the event. 

The Safer Swansea vehicle is parked in the square as an information point for everything to 

do with Safer Swansea. Ask them any questions about how the partnership is making 

Swansea a safe place to be on a night out! 

The Big Heart of Swansea will be there all day with details of the discounts available with the 

card in the city centre. 

Swansea’s Fluellen Theatre is doing three free mini Dylan Thomas Trails around Castle 

Square, an important place in Dylan’s early life. The tours will Dylan’s old haunts: the castle 

(site of the Evening Post, Dylan’s first job), the fountain on Castle Square, the green by The 

Office (old Three Lamps) and the site of the original Kardomah Café near Monkey Bar. The 

tours are free – just congregate by the Castle and the guide will collect you from there. The 

tour guide is Fluellen`s Artistic Director, Swansea-born Peter Richards. 

Times: 

 10.45am 

 11.10am 

 11.35am 

Page 82



 

83 

 

The full Dylan Thomas Trail visits many more places round Swansea and usually takes 

approximately 2 hours and costs £10 so these free mini tasters are great value. 

Revolution, like a growing number of bars on Wind Street, have dance nights, DJs and offer a 

full menu. Next Tuesday Revolution is launching a new menu and will be in the Square from 

11am – 2pm providing tasters from this menu free of charge. 

Like Revolution, Bambu have dance and music nights and their very own private karaoke 

booths. For the Purple Flag event they are setting up a mobile bar in the Square for the day, 

serving all kinds of delicious “mocktails” such as Pina Coladas, Strawberry Daiquiri, 

Hurricanes – all just as delicious but with no hangover! 

We all know Las Iguanas are opening on May 11 right on Castle Square and although it’s too 

early to be giving out tasters (no working kitchens yet!) manager Dean and some of the staff 

will be in the Square giving out vouchers and menus to whet your taste buds for when they 

open their doors. 

Swansea Market will have a stall with information about all the businesses there and 

delicious fresh Welsh cakes will be available all day. 

  

Page 83



 

84 

 

STOKE ON TRENT 

Source: Stoke Sentinel website –June 2012 

ANTI-SOCIAL behaviour and street drinking has fallen in areas where alcohol restriction 
zones have been imposed. 

Stoke-on-Trent City Council has reviewed the number of incidents reported to police in 12 of 
the areas across the city. 

The figures show that, overall, anti-social behaviour calls to police in places covered by the 
bans fell last year. 

But despite the success of the alcohol restriction zones (ARZs), budget cuts mean the 
authority can only afford to create one new zone in 2012/13. 

There are 13 ARZs in Stoke-on-Trent, the first of which was introduced in the city centre in 
2004. 

Only 12 were included in the council's review, as the most recent – in Tunstall – only came 
into effect in March. 

The council report reveals the number of anti-social behaviour reports made to Staffordshire 
Police in neighbourhoods with an ARZ from November 2010 to October 2011, compared to 
the same period the previous year. 

It also compares the number of reports specifically about street drinking and rowdy 
behaviour over the same periods. 

The review found that anti-social behaviour reports had fallen in nine of the 12 ARZs with 
748 fewer incidents, a reduction of 21 per cent. 

There were also 516 fewer incidents of rowdy behaviour and street drinking – also a 21 per 
cent fall. 

The zone with the largest drop in both categories was Albert Square in Fenton. 

There were 62 fewer anti-social behaviour reports – a 51 per cent reduction – and street 
drinking and rowdy behaviour fell by 34 incidents, or 48 per cent. 

Alan Gerrard, pictured, aged 44, who runs Theartbay gallery in Albert Square, and also lives 
in Fenton, said: "There used to be a lot of drinking around the magistrates' court, which did 
put off potential customers. 

"That doesn't happen as much now, and anything that can be done to minimise alcohol 
abuse in the public domain is worth doing." 

An ARZ does not make it illegal to drink alcohol within the zone boundary, but gives police 
greater powers to confiscate alcohol and arrest people causing problems. 

Prosecutions could result in a fine of up to £500. 

Page 84



 

85 

 

In the period analysed, police have not issued any fixed penalty notices or made any arrests 
for breaching ARZs. 

However, officers do not record when people are challenged and asked to hand over alcohol 
within the zones, so there are no statistics available on this. 

In three ARZs – Bucknall and Townsend; Baddeley Green and Milton Park; and The Grum in 
Hartshill – anti-social behaviour reports increased. 

But the only zone where street drinking and rowdy behaviour incidents increased was 
Baddeley Green and Milton Park. 

Shaun Pender, Labour city councillor for Hartshill and Basford, said despite the figures the 
situation at The Grum had improved. 

"The residents' association has held a number of events to get people involved in the park 
which has had a good effect." 

It costs about £7,500 to create an ARZ, including paying for public notices, signs and printing. 

The report, which will be considered by the city council's Licensing and General Purposes 
Committee today, indicates the authority has only budgeted for one new zone this financial 
year. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 7 

CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL  
CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD 
 
CABINET MEETING: 21 MARCH 2016 
 
 
WALES AUDIT OFFICE CORPORATE ASSESSMENT FOLLOW 
ON REPORT – STATEMENT OF ACTION 
 
REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

AGENDA ITEM: 2  
 
 
PORTFOLIO: LEADER (ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND PARTNERSHIPS) 
 
Reason for this Report 
 
1. To enable the Cabinet to consider a proposed Statement of Action in 

response to the recommendations made in the Wales Audit Office 
Corporate Assessment Follow On report of the City of Cardiff Council. 

 
Background 
 
2. The Auditor General for Wales must report an annual basis on how well 

Welsh councils, fire and rescue authorities, and national parks are 
planning for improvement in delivering their services. In addition, the 
Audit General must conduct a Corporate Assessment of every local 
authority in Wales once every 4 years. The Auditor General for Wales 
has powers to: 

 
• make proposals for improvement; 
• make formal recommendations for improvement; 
• conduct a special inspection and publish a report and make 

recommendations; 
• recommend to Ministers of the Welsh Government that they 

intervene in some way. 
 
3. In March 2014, the Wales Audit Office undertook a Corporate 

Assessment of the Council which sought to assess if the Council was 
capable of delivering its priorities and improved outcomes for citizens. 
This assessment, which focused on performance in 2013/14, entailed 
reviews of key documents, interviews with Members and officers, focus 
groups, and observation at a broad range of meetings. The assessment 
also drew on the work of other Welsh inspectorates, such as CSSIW and 
Estyn. 

 
4. On 1 September 2014, the Wales Audit Office published its findings in 

the form of a Corporate Assessment report, which was received formally 
by the Cabinet on 18 September 2014. 

 

 

Page 87

Agenda Item 2



Page 2 of 7 

5. This report provided a critical assessment of the Council's performance. 
In summary, it concluded that: 

 
"Fragmented leadership and management have meant that weak 
performance in key service areas has not improved". 

 
6. In addition, the report identified a series of shortcomings, encompassing 

leadership behaviours, performance management, basic governance 
processes, and core organisational systems. The report echoed the 
critique of the previous Welsh Local Government Association- (WLGA-) 
led Corporate Peer Review, which concluded that an ‘overhaul of the 
“business machine” of the Council’ was required. 

 
7. In May 2014 the Cabinet established a comprehensive Organisational 

Development Programme (ODP) which was designed to reshape the 
Council in response to a range of critical challenges, including the 
marked deterioration of the Council’s financial position, demand-led 
pressures on services, and the inadequate performance of a number of 
statutory services.   

 
8. The ODP brought together the key change projects that will help deliver 

more efficient council services and improve performance outcomes. The 
scope and scale of the programme reflected the absolute requirement for 
the Council to continue to move rapidly to new models service delivery 
that enables the effective management of current and future demand 
with vastly reduced resources. In doing so, it sought to address issues 
identified by the Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA)-led 
Corporate Peer Review and anticipated many of the observations of the 
Wales Audit Office’s Corporate Assessment. 

 
9. As a result, the Wales Audit Office report of September 2014 made one 

proposal for improvement:  
 

“The Council ensures the implementation of its Organisation 
Development Plan resolves the range of issues identified in this 
assessment”. 

 
The report also committed the Wales Audit Office to carry out a follow-up 
visit in 2015 to determine whether the issues identified in the Corporate 
Assessment report had been satisfactorily resolved. 

 
10. In July 2015, the Council’s Organisational Development Programme was 

re-orientated to focus on a smaller number of priorities, and to ensure 
that the Council's transition to new ways of working proceeded at pace. It 
was also framed as the central component of the ‘Make the Difference’ 
staff engagement campaign to secure staff ownership of the drive to 
improve the organisation. 

 
11. A follow-on visit to assess progress was undertaken by the Wales Audit 

Office in September 2015. In addition, two ‘tracer reviews’ were 
undertaken prior to the visit, which examined the decision making 
processes in relation to revisions to the Council’s leisure services and its 
progress in taking forward alternative delivery models, and to revisions to 
the Council’s waste strategy and associated arrangements. Page 88



Page 3 of 7 

 
12. The Wales Audit Office published its Corporate Assessment Follow On 

report on 26 February 2016. The report was received formally by the 
Cabinet on the 10 March 2016 and was considered by the Council’s 
Policy Review and Performance Scrutiny Committee on 8 March 2016. It 
is also due to be considered by the Council’s Audit Committee on 22 
March 2016. 

 
Issues 
 
Report Findings 
 
13. The Follow-On report concludes that: 

 
“The Council has put in place better arrangements to support 
improvement and to address longstanding issues, but is now 
at a critical point in embedding them if it is to achieve a step 
change in delivering improved outcomes.” 

 
14. The Wales Audit Office (WAO) reached this conclusion on the basis that: 

 
“overall, the Council has responded positively to the 
Corporate Assessment findings, and put better arrangements 
in place to support improvement and address longstanding 
issues; and 
 
the Council is now at a critical point in ensuring that 
improved arrangements are embedded and implemented 
consistently and constructively across the organisation in 
order to achieve a step change in delivering improved 
outcomes.” 

 
15. The report also identifies improved arrangements in financial planning, 

HR management, performance management, asset management, IT, 
and governance with the latter helping to promote a better culture of 
accountability and risk management. 

 
16. The WAO report references the Estyn conclusion that overall, 

improvements in partnership working are contributing to better outcomes 
in schools, with key statutory performance indicators improving.  
However, the report notes, the Council has been less effective in working 
with partners to reduce exclusions and increase the proportion of young 
people who are engaged in education, employment or training. 

 
17. The report also references the CSSIW Annual Review and Evaluation of 

the Council’s Performance 2014-2015 in October 2015 which reported 
that: 

 
a. The director for social services presents a clear picture of 

the challenges and areas of progress made within the 
directorate over the past year. The director also sets clear 
aims to deliver improvements over the coming year. 

 
Page 89



Page 4 of 7 

b. The Council is undertaking a strategic overview of services 
which is enabling the Council to begin to plan for changes 
within the department. 

 
18. The report contains one statutory recommendation and 14 proposals for 

improvement, which relate specifically to the following key areas: 
 

• leadership & management;  
• governance;  
• performance reporting; and 
• corporate enablers (including human resources, use of assets, 

financial planning processes; IT arrangements and information 
governance arrangements). 

 
19. The single recommendation of the Wales Audit Office is that the Council 

must ensure that it addresses these proposals for improvement to deliver 
improved outcomes within the next 12 months.  

 
Achieving the Step Change: the Council’s Response 
 
20. The Council strongly welcomes the WAO’s assessment of progress over 

the last two years.  
 
21. Organisational development work has focused on addressing 

fundamental issues: for example, setting the Council’s strategic direction 
for the next three years; improving the governance of the organisation; 
reshaping council services to reflect severe financial pressures; placing 
alternative delivery mechanisms clearly on the Council’s agenda; 
developing and implementing strategies for key corporate enablers, such 
as technology, land and property; bringing about a step change in staff 
engagement; and accelerating improvement in key services, such as 
education and social services. 

 
22. While progress has been made, it is important to ensure that momentum 

is maintained. A comprehensive review of the ODP is being undertaken 
with a view to ensuring that key projects and initiatives reinforce the need 
to achieve a step change in delivering improved outcomes for citizens. 
Specifically, the review will: 

 
• Provide an update on the Programme and map out the next steps 

for key projects and initiatives that are essential to improving the 
Council’s financial resilience and service delivery performance in 
the medium term; 

• Ensure all projects within the ODP have effective financial and 
performance management plans and measures in place; and 

• Ensure that saving plans included in the medium term financial 
plan are directly linked to the ODP. 

 
23. This will further reinforce the Council’s ability to respond positively to the 

WAO’s Proposals for Improvement. In this context, a brief overview of 
the areas highlighted by the WAO makes clear the extent to which there 
remains scope for improvement. 

 
 Page 90



Page 5 of 7 

Leadership and Management 
 
24. The report recognises that the Council’s leadership and management 

have improved the culture of the organisation by promoting better 
engagement with members and staff and encouraging greater openness 
and self-awareness of the Council’s weaknesses and strengths. 

 
25. The recent staff and members’ survey results highlight the potential for 

further engagement opportunities to be rolled out in the next twelve 
months. 

 
26. In terms of staff, this will involve the roll out of the programme for 

engagement for 2016/17 with a strong emphasis on increased activity at 
directorate and team levels. Senior management roadshows; ‘Have Your 
Say’ sessions; back to the floor meetings for managers; staff briefings; 
and the Make the Difference social media campaign will continue to raise 
the profile of staff engagement and provide staff with a platform for 
engaging with management about the key issues facing the Council. 

 
27. In terms of members, feedback from a survey conducted by the 

Communications team is being used to focus improvements in priority 
areas, such as the dedicated intranet pages, consolidated weekly 
updates and improving technology. This improvement will inform a 
continued programme of engagement with members for the next 12 
months. 

 
Governance 
 
28. While the WAO acknowledges improvements to the governance of the 

Council, further steps will include a review of roles and responsibilities to 
ensure clear accountabilities in decision-making, a strengthening of the 
Member Development programme, a review of member support 
arrangements, and work between the Cabinet and scrutiny to further 
develop the Council’s use of cross-cutting scrutiny. The work plan of the 
Standards and Ethics Committee includes actions to raise proactively the 
profile of the Cardiff Undertaking for Councillors and a concerted strategy 
to highlight the importance of appropriate Member conduct and 
behaviour.  

 
Performance Reporting 
 
29. While acknowledging the progress made, the application of performance 

management systems remains inconsistent across the Council with 
greater challenge and rigour yet to translate consistently into improved 
outcomes for citizens. 

 
30. The Council recognises that the strengthening of performance reporting 

arrangements is of fundamental importance. Draft directorate delivery 
plans will be reviewed and challenged where it is considered that there 
are not enough SMART performance measures. Steps will be taken to 
standardise service planning arrangements, with a consistent approach 
being taken to the use of a balanced scorecard methodology across the 
Council. 

 Page 91



Page 6 of 7 

31. More widely, the recommendations of the WAO report set a clear agenda 
for performance management-related initiatives that the Council needs to 
implement in the first three quarters of 2016/17. However, the 
implementation of these initiatives should not be seen in isolation from 
the wider needs of the organisation. In summary, there needs to be an 
integrated approach to the way in which the Council manages 
performance that recognises the interdependence of a variety of service 
management data. 

 
Corporate Enablers 
 
32. While recognising that the Council’s corporate enabler functions have 

been strengthened the report finds that they are not yet working in a 
sufficiently cohesive way to provide the necessary strong core of support 
and challenge to help the Council drive service improvement. 

 
33. The aim is therefore to adopt a joined up approach to financial and non-

financial service performance, including the triangulation of budgetary, 
contract and cost driver information, with managers understanding the 
importance of managing this information in a proactive way to ensure 
services are effective, efficient and on track to meet the Council’s 
strategic objectives. 

 
34. This will require a much greater level of coordination between corporate 

support services, including the improvement and information governance 
teams, HR, finance, estates and ICT. In addition, the wider performance 
management community of the Council, including managers and 
directorate performance management leads, need to be working 
collaboratively in accordance with a clearly defined Cardiff approach to 
performance management. 

 
35. With this in mind, the Performance Management Strategy of the Council 

will be reviewed and refreshed to ensure clarity around the Council’s 
current processes for measuring, reporting and using performance 
information. Guidance on Personal Performance and Development 
Reviews (PPDRs) will also be strengthened with an emphasis on 
behaviours, as well as the achievement of objectives, and a strong 
emphasis on managers and supervisors conducting appropriate and 
supportive conversations with staff on a regular basis. 

 
36. The revised Performance Management Strategy will be launched 

proactively to staff and will form a core theme of forthcoming staff 
engagement activity. 

 
Next Steps 
 
37. The Council will address as a matter of urgency the points identified by 

the WAO. 
 
38. In response to the Corporate Assessment Follow On report, the Council 

must prepare a statement of action and proposed timetable within 30 
days. The proposed Statement of Action is attached as Appendix A to 
this report. 

 Page 92



Page 7 of 7 

39. Furthermore, the Council’s Organisational Development Programme 
work will be reviewed and reshaped towards addressing the proposals 
for improvement contained within the WAO report. A report on this issue 
will be brought forward for consideration by the Cabinet in June 2016. 

 
Reason for Recommendations 
 
40. To enable the Cabinet to respond to the Wales Audit Office Corporate 

Assessment Follow On report within 30 days. 
 
Financial Implications 
 
41. There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. Any 

resource requirements resulting from the implementation of improvement 
actions will be found from within existing budgets. 

 
Legal Implications 
 
42. Relevant legal implications, deriving from the Local Government (Wales) 

Measure 2009, are referred to in the text of this report. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Cabinet is recommended to approve the Statement of Action in response to the 
recommendations made in the Wales Audit Office Corporate Assessment 
Follow On report. 
 
 
PAUL ORDERS 
Chief Executive 
15 March 2016 
 
 
The following appendix is attached:  
 
Appendix A – Statement of Action 
 
 
The following background paper has been taken into account: 
 
Wales Audit Office Corporate Assessment Follow On Report, 26 February 2016 
http://www.audit.wales/system/files/publications/Cardiff-CA-2016-English.pdf 
 

Page 93

http://www.audit.wales/system/files/publications/Cardiff-CA-2016-English.pdf


1 
 

APPENDIX A: 
 
WALES AUDIT OFFICE CORPORATE ASSESSMENT FOLLOW ON REPORT – 
STATEMENT OF ACTION 
 
The Council welcomes the Wales Audit Office’s assessment of progress over the last two years, 
and recognises that, while progress has been made, momentum must be maintained to enable the 
Council to deliver improved services and better outcomes for the citizens of Cardiff.  
 
R1: Recommendation 
 
The Council must ensure that it addresses the proposals for improvement as set out in this 
report to deliver improved outcomes within the next 12 months 
 
 
This Statement of Action has been developed in response to the single statutory recommendation 
of the Corporate Assessment Follow On report and addresses each of the 14 Proposals for 
Improvement identified by the Wales Audit Office. In addition, the Council will bring forward a 
report on the review and reshaping of the Council’s Organisational Development Programme 
(ODP) for consideration by the Cabinet in June 2016. 
 
Ref Action Timescale 

 
Lead 
Officer(s) 

R1 
 

Undertake a review of the Council’s Organisational 
Development Plan (ODP) 
 

June 2016 Chief 
Executive 
 

 
LEADERSHIP & MANAGEMENT 
 
P1: Proposal for Improvement 
 
Develop further engagement opportunities with staff and Members to consistently embed a 
constructive performance management culture across the organisation to help deliver improved 
outcomes. 
 
The recent staff and members’ survey results highlight the potential for further engagement 
opportunities to be rolled out in the next twelve months.  
 
In terms of staff, this will involve implementation of the Programme for Engagement for 2016/17 
with a strong emphasis on increased activity at directorate and team levels. Senior management 
roadshows; Have Your Say sessions; back to the floor meetings for managers; staff briefings; the 
work of staff ambassadors; and the Make the Difference social media campaign will continue to 
raise the profile of staff engagement and provide staff with a platform for engaging with 
management about the key issues facing the Council.  
 
In relation to members, the results of a recent survey of members undertaken by the 
communication team is being used to focus improvements in priority areas, such as the dedicated 
intranet pages, consolidated weekly updates and improving technology. This will be consolidated 
into a Programme for Member Communications and Engagement.  
  

Page 94



2 
 

 
The Council’s Performance Management Strategy will be revised (see Proposal for Improvement 6) 
and launched proactively to staff and members, and represent a core theme of forthcoming 
engagement activity.  Furthermore, the revised Strategy will focus specifically on engaging with 
and developing the Council’s wider performance management community and with all 
Operational Managers. The workforce strategy strand of the Organisational Development 
Programme (ODP) will further ensure that engagement activities are integrated with ongoing work 
dealing with performance development reviews, learning and development, and workforce 
planning. 
 
Ref Action Timescale 

 
Lead 
Officer(s) 

P1 
 

Review and refresh of the Council’s programme of staff 
engagement 
 

April 2016 
 

Chief 
Executive 
 

Development of a new programme for member 
communications and engagement 
 

June 2016 Monitoring 
Officer 

 

Page 95



3 
 

GOVERNANCE 

P2: Proposal for Improvement 
 
Clarify the roles and responsibilities within the Council’s decision making framework. In 
particular: 
 
a ensuring that meetings of the Informal Cabinet meetings are recorded appropriately; 
b ensuring that the title and roles of Assistants to Cabinet Members’ are applied 

consistently ensuring that their limited roles and responsibilities do not cloud any 
accountabilities; 

c review the role and membership of Cabinet Advisory Groups to ensure that those 
members involved do not sit on any Scrutiny Committee responsible for scrutinising the 
same/similar issues; and 

d ensure that a decision is made on the issue about whether to delegate executive 
decision-making to individual Cabinet Members. 

 
 
The governance and engagement work-stream of the ODP will be reviewed and geared towards 
addressing areas of improvement identified by the Wales Audit Office (WAO), supporting further 
improvements in decision making, scrutiny, and public engagement.   
 
A key focus will be on ensuring that roles and responsibilities are clarified to ensure clear 
accountabilities in decision-making.  
 
Ref Action Timescale Lead 

Officer(s) 
P2a 
 

Key action points from informal meetings of the Cabinet will 
be recorded by the Cabinet Office 
 

May 2016 Monitoring 
Officer 

P2b 
 

Role description for Assistants to Cabinet Members will be 
included within the Council’s Constitution and provided to all 
post-holders to assist in clarifying roles and responsibilities 
 

July 2016 Monitoring 
Officer 

P2c 
 

Terms of Reference for Cabinet Advisory Groups will be agreed 
 

July 2016 Monitoring 
Officer 

P2d 
 

Constitution Committee to undertake a further review of the 
volume and category of decisions taken by the Cabinet over 
the last 12 months and consider making provision within the 
Council’s Constitution for executive decision-making to be 
delegated to individual Cabinet Members 
 

September 
2016 

Monitoring 
Officer  

 
  

Page 96



4 
 

 
P3: Proposal for Improvement 
 
Further strengthen the Council’s scrutiny function by: 
 
a developing an approach to scrutinising cross cutting issues; and 
b ensuring that any vacancies on scrutiny committees are filled quickly. 
 
 
The Council’s Improving Scrutiny report, which was jointly commissioned by scrutiny committee 
chairs and supported by the Centre of Public Scrutiny, proposed a range of improvement actions 
that are currently being implemented.  
 
Arrangements to scrutinise cross-cutting issues have been developed by the Council, including: 
 

• Joint meetings to scrutinise cross-cutting issues including: Social Services Reporting 
Framework; Community Hubs; Alternative Delivery Mechanisms; and Human Trafficking. 

• Joint task and finish groups, for example to consider Community Infrastructure Levy. 
• Joint scrutiny with neighbouring authorities on issues including Regulatory Services and the 

Central South Consortium Joint Education Service. 
 
In September 2015 it was agreed that the Policy Review and Performance Scrutiny Committee 
would take lead overview role for scrutinising the work of Cardiff Partnership Board, with the 
other four Committees undertaking detailed scrutiny of Partnership Board work streams. The 
Policy Review and Performance Scrutiny Committee undertook a review of the What Matters 
strategy in January 2016. 
 
Vacancies are allocated to political groups under political proportionality rules, are discussed on a 
monthly basis with Party Group Whips, and have been offered to other political groups and 
independent councillors.  
 
Ref Action Timescale Responsible 

Officer(s) 
P3a 
 

Implementation of the recommendations of the Improving 
Scrutiny Report 
 

May 2017 Monitoring 
Officer 

Review of Scrutiny to be undertaken, with recommendations 
to be implemented from the start of the next political term 
 

December 
2016 

Monitoring 
Officer 

P3b Appointments to vacancies on committees to be considered as 
a standing item on all council meeting agendas 
 

May 2016 Monitoring 
Officer 

Examine reasons why vacancies exist on committees as part of 
the Annual Member Survey 
 

May 2016 Monitoring 
Officer  

 
 
  

Page 97



5 
 

 
 
 
P4: Proposal for Improvement 
 
Ensure that all committee agendas, minutes and decision-logs are published in a timely manner 
on the Council’s website, and increase the number of committees that are webcast. 
 
The deployment of modern.gov has significantly improved the Council’s publication arrangements. 
However, it is essential that the timeliness of publication of agendas, minutes and decision logs 
are reviewed frequently to address any areas of outstanding concern.  
 
Webcasting facilities are in place in County Hall and in the City Hall Chamber, allowing some 
Scrutiny committee meetings and Full Council meetings to be webcast.  Additional cameras and 
equipment will be provided in City Hall to allow Cabinet and other committees to be webcast. 
 
Ref Action Timescale Responsible 

Officer(s) 
P4 All committee agenda, minutes and decision logs to be 

published in a timely manner 
 

April 2016   Monitoring 
Officer 

Extend the webcasting of committee meetings to include one 
scrutiny committee meeting per month 
 

December 
2016 

Monitoring 
Officer 

 
 
P5: Proposal for Improvement 
 
Enhance Member accountability by: 
 
a ensuring that the Standards and Ethics Committee plays a more proactive role in 

promoting and enforcing the Cardiff Undertaking for Councillors and supporting policies 
in relation to Member conduct and behaviour; and 

b strengthening member development and learning programmes based on competency 
assessments to improve skills and understanding to enable them to undertake their roles 
more effectively; and 

c determining what training should be considered essential for Members to discharge their 
role effectively. 

 
The Chair of Standards and Ethics Committee is committed to taking steps to raising proactively 
the profile of the Cardiff Undertaking for Councillors and to highlighting the importance of 
appropriate Member conduct and behaviour. 
 
New Hearing Panel Rules will be adopted by the Standards & Ethics Committee for dealing with 
consideration of complaints made under the Council’s Local Resolution Protocol.  Training is in 
place for members of quasi-judicial Public Protection; Licensing and Planning Committees, which 
members must have attended before they can participate in these committees. Annual refresher 
training on the Code of Conduct and Information Governance has also been provided. 
  

Page 98



6 
 

Democratic Services Officers will review Member training provision and agree a new programme 
to commence at the start of the new Council term in May 2017 and will also work with the WLGA 
on the development of new member induction information and training for 2017/18. 
 
Ref Action Timescale Responsible 

Officer(s) 
P5a 
 

Standards & Ethics Committee to publish biannual Member 
Briefings on the work of the committee, underlining the 
importance of the Cardiff Undertaking and member conduct 
and behaviour 
 

August 
2016 

Monitoring 
Officer 

P5b 
 

Democratic Services Committee to review Member 
Development & Training and agree new approach and 
programme to commence in May 2017 
 

December 
2016 

Monitoring 
Officer 

P5c 
 

Democratic Services Committee to agree essential training 
and frequency of training prior to start of new council term in 
May 2017 
 

December 
2016 
 

Monitoring 
Officer 

 

Page 99



7 
 

PERFORMANCE REPORTING 
 
P6: Proposal for Improvement 
 
Further strengthen performance reporting arrangements to support decision making by: 
a including SMART performance measures within directorate delivery plans, and ensure 

that these are reported to Cabinet and scrutiny to demonstrate progress; 
b consistently using and reporting on a Red/Amber/Green rating for Corporate Plan 

commitment actions and Directorate Plan actions in quarterly reports provided to 
Scrutiny; 

c mandating consistent service level plans; and 
d prioritising key performance indicators (KPIs) where the Council will seek to demonstrate 

improved performance and outcomes. 
 
The Council accepts the WAO analysis that, despite the additional challenge and rigour introduced, 
the application of performance management systems remains inconsistent across the Council. This 
will be reflected in a refresh of the Council’s Performance Management Strategy, which will be 
launched proactively to staff and members. 
 
To further strengthen performance reporting arrangements draft directorate delivery plans will be 
reviewed and challenged where it is considered that there are not enough SMART performance 
measures, and steps will be taken to standardise service planning arrangements, with a consistent 
approach being taken to the use of a balanced scorecard methodology across the Council.  The 
Directorate Delivery Plans should then be considered ‘live’ documents that the performance 
management community can work to support throughout the year, meaning further changes can 
be made as necessary. 
 
 

Ref Action Timescale Responsible 
Officer(s) 

P6a 
 

All Directorate Delivery Plans to include SMART 
objectives 

April 2016 Head of 
Performance & 
Partnerships 
 

P6b 
 

Guidance on how actions should be Red/Amber/Green 
rated to be communicated to Improvement community 

May 2016 Head of 
Performance & 
Partnerships 
 

P6c 
 

Service planning framework to be developed focusing 
on providing a robust and proportionate approach to 
collating, analysing and using performance information 
data not captured within Directorate Delivery Plans 
 

October 2016 Head of 
Performance & 
Partnerships 

P6d 
 

A Balanced Scorecard approach that focuses on those 
KPIs which best measure the Council’s performance 
and outcomes will be developed and implemented 
consistently across the Council 
 

June 2016 Head of 
Performance & 
Partnerships 

  

Page 100



8 
 

CORPORATE ENABLERS 
 
P7: Proposal for Improvement 
 
Adopt a more cohesive and co-ordinated approach to corporate enabler functions to better help 
the Council drive improvement. 
 
The Council recognises the need to adopt a more cohesive and co-ordinated approach to 
corporate enabler functions to better help deliver improved outcomes.  This will include a joined 
up approach to financial and non-financial service performance, including the triangulation of 
budgetary, contract and cost driver information, with managers understanding the importance of 
managing this information in a proactive way to ensure  services are effective, efficient and on 
track to meet the Council’s strategic objectives. This will require a much greater level of 
coordination between corporate support services, including the improvement and information 
governance teams, HR, finance, estates and ICT.  Furthermore, the development of the refreshed 
Performance Management Strategy will not be seen in isolation from the wider needs of the 
organisation.  An integrated approach to the way in which the Council manages performance will 
be introduced.  
 
Ref Action Timescale Responsible 

Officer(s) 
P7 
 

Refreshed Performance Management Strategy to focus 
on role of Corporate Enablers and make 
recommendations for improvement 
 

September 
2016 

Head of 
Performance & 
Partnerships 

 
 
P8: Proposal for Improvement 
 
Further develop the Council’s performance management arrangements by: 
 
a enhancing the Council’s performance management strategy to include guidelines 

timescales, processes and procedures to support a consistent approach; and 
b increasing the level of performance management and challenge undertaken by the 

central performance team. 
 
 

The Performance Management Strategy of the Council will be reviewed and refreshed to ensure 
clarity around the Council’s current process for measuring, reporting and using performance 
information to drive improvement.  In the delivery of the strategy (and before) the Improvement 
team will be supported to increase the level of challenge to Directorates. 
 

Ref Action Timescale Responsible 
Officer(s) 

P8a 
 

Update the framework element of the Performance 
Management Strategy to reinforce these areas before 
further development of the overall strategy 
 

May 2016 Head of 
Performance & 
Partnerships  

Review and refresh the Performance Management 
Strategy 

September 
2016 

Head of 
Performance & 
Partnerships 
 

Page 101



9 
 

P8b 
 

Improvement team to increase level of performance 
management and challenge 

March 2016 
onwards 

Head of 
Performance & 
Partnerships 
 

 
 
P9: Proposal for Improvement 
 
Further develop the Council’s Human Resource processes and strategies by: 
 
a strengthening the Council’s staff appraisal process by including explicitly measureable 

objectives, capturing information on training on a corporate basis, and developing links 
to staff’s future career aspirations to support workforce and succession planning; and 

b further embedding the Council’s workforce strategy and integrating this with financial 
and service planning. 

 
 
Cabinet agreed the Council’s Workforce Strategy during 2015 which integrates workforce planning 
with financial and service delivery planning. In order to implement this strategy a 3-year 
Workforce Strategy programme is being taken forward as part of the ODP. This programme is 
divided into 5 Project areas: Performance Management; Learning and Development; Health and 
Wellbeing; Employee Voice; and Workforce Planning. 
 
To support the ‘Performance Management Project’ guidance around Personal Performance and 
Development Reviews (PPDRs) will be strengthened with an emphasis on behaviours, as well as 
the achievement of objectives, with a strong emphasis on managers and supervisors conducting 
appropriate and supportive conversations with staff on a regular basis.  Setting SMART objectives 
will be a Corporate Objective for all managers 2016/17, and an e-learning module will be 
developed on SMART Objective setting to support this shift.   
 
Under the ‘Learning & Development Project’ the Council ‘Academy Board’ will oversee prioritises 
for workforce training corporately, including digital skills and the Cardiff Manager Programme will 
be extended to all managers at Grade 7 and below. 
 
The ‘Workforce Planning Project’ will focus on development of a process for succession planning 
across the Council, including development of Workforce Planning guidelines and toolkit including a 
technology based solution; development of profile information for service area use in financial and 
service planning; skills audit including essential skills; and the development of a strategy for the 
temporary, casual and agency workforce taking account of social inclusion and youth engagement. 
  

Page 102



10 
 

 
Ref Action Timescale Responsible 

Officer(s) 
P9a 
 

Deliver the Performance Management Project, including: 
• Development of e-learning module on SMART objective 

Setting 
• Setting SMART objectives is to be a Corporate Objective 

for all managers 2016/17 
 

 
March 2017  
 
March 2017  
 

Chief HR 
Officer 
 

 Deliver Learning & Development Project, including: 
• City of Cardiff Council Academy Board to oversee 

priorities for workforce training corporately 
• Cardiff Manager programme extended to all managers 

Grade 7 and below 
 

 
March 2017  
 
March 2017 

Chief HR 
Officer 
 

P9b 
 

Deliver the Workforce Planning Project, including: 
• Development of process for succession planning across 

the Council 
• Development of Workforce Planning guidelines and 

toolkit including a technology based solution 
• Develop profile information for service area use in 

financial and service planning 
• Develop a strategy for the temporary, casual and agency 

workforce taking account of social inclusion and youth 
engagement 

 

 
March 2018 
 
January 2017 
 
September 
2016 
March 2017 

Chief HR 
Officer 

 
 
 
P10: Proposal for Improvement 
 
Complete the data capture exercise relating to the use of assets and develop a single system to 
hold appropriate asset management information. 
 
An internal business case for new Corporate Asset Data Management (CADM) system has been 
developed including detailed business process mapping. Subject to approval of the business case, 
a new system will be implemented through the OD team, which could take up to 2 years to fully 
deliver. 
 
Ref Action Timescale Responsible 

Officer(s) 
P10 
 

Submit detailed business case to Investment Review Board 
for final approval  

May 2016 Director – 
Economic 
Development 
 

Subject to approval from Investment Review Board, 
implement the new Corporate Asset Data Management 
system 
 

May 2018 Director – 
Economic 
Development 

  

Page 103



11 
 

 
 
P11: Proposal for Improvement 
 
Ensure all outstanding actions from the Construction Excellence Wales review of the Council’s 
building maintenance framework are completed. 
 
 
An officer board was set up in May 2015 to take responsibility for monitoring and improving the 
performance of the building maintenance framework following the Construction Excellence Wales 
review recommendations.  An action plan has been developed and a number of actions have 
already been completed. 
 
Ref Action Timescale Responsible 

Officer(s) 
P11 
 

Complete all outstanding actions from the Construction 
Excellence Wales review of the Council’s building 
maintenance framework 
 

March 
2017 

Corporate 
Director, 
Resources 

 
 
P12: Proposal for Improvement 
 
Further strengthen the Council’s financial planning processes by: 
 
a developing more explicit links between the Medium Term Financial Plan and the 

Council’s improvement planning arrangements; 
b strengthening links between the Medium Term Financial Plan and service plans; 
c ensuring that savings proposals owned by Directorates are linked to the Organisational 

Development Programme where relevant, are fully costed, and that delivery is driven by 
the Organisational Development Programme Board; and 

d ensuring all budget savings plans are fully developed as appropriate with realistic 
timescales when the annual budget is set. 

 
 
The Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) identifies a budget reduction requirement 
arising from funding reductions, inflationary and demand pressures. The 2016/17 Budget Report 
marks an improvement to the Medium Term Planning Process in that it identifies a draft solution 
to the budget gap for 2017/18 and 2018/19 with a clear direction of travel targeted for 2019/20.   
 
The savings identified as part of this solution were identified as part of an exercise aimed at 
reshaping the Council’s base budget in a way that considered statutory minimum levels of service, 
the Council’s Reshaping Services Programme and Target Operating Model. 
 
The Council’s corporate plan, budget and MTFP are developed concurrently, and work is 
undertaken to ensure their compatibility and consistency.  This will be further strengthened.   
 
At a directorate level, as noted above, the Council’s approach to identifying a solution for 
addressing the Medium Term budget gap was based on an exercise that was underpinned by the 
Council’s Target Operating Model.  The proposed solution for the medium term should therefore 
have close synergies with service plans. 

Page 104



12 
 

Steps have also been taken to ensure that there are clear links between directorates’ medium 
term savings proposals and the Organisation Development Programme’s focus on accelerating the 
shift to online services, facilitating alternative delivery models, increasing revenue from 
commercial activity and reducing the Council’s asset base. Issues arising from both the 
Organisational Development Programme and the development of budget strategy are considered 
at Senior Management Team (SMT) on a recurring basis. 
 
In order to ensure that budget savings plans are fully developed with realistic timescales, a series 
of officer challenge session are held following submission of proposals in September.  Due 
diligence considerations are continued throughout the budget setting process. Furthermore, in 
identifying savings proposals, directorates are required to indicate their planning status, residual 
and achievability risk along with mitigating actions, and to outline the next steps and key 
milestones to achieving the saving. They are also asked to outline impacts on capital programme, 
employee implications and severance costs to give a rounded view of the proposal’s implications. 
 
Enhancements have been made to this process as part of 2016/17 budget setting and directorates 
were requested by Finance to undertake regular review of the planning status of their proposals, 
with continued emphasis on moving towards a detailed planning stage. Regular updates on the 
planning status of proposals were supplied into SMT and Informal Cabinet to ensure ongoing 
momentum. This is evident in the increase in the percentage of budget proposals that were at 
detailed planning stage at the time of the 2016/17 Budget Report. A total of 90.5% were realised 
or at detailed planning stage, compared to 82.4% in the 2015/16 budget report.  
 
A further improvement for 2016/17 is the inclusion within the Budget Report of proposals to fully 
address the Medium Term budget gap for 2017/18 and 2018/19, with a direction of travel set for 
2019/20. Post budget setting, this will enable focus to move directly to development and 
challenge of  proposals for 2017/18, with less time and effort during the early part of the year 
expended on a detailed target-setting exercise. This should enable directorates to move to a 
detailed planning stage much earlier in the process. 
 
Ref Action Timescale Responsible 

Officer(s) 
P12a 
 

Develop more explicit links between the MTFP and 
improvement planning arrangements as part of the 2017/18 
budget process 
 

December 
2016 

Corporate 
Director, 
Resources 

P12b 
 

Strengthen the link between the MTFP and service plans as 
part of 2017/18 budget preparation work 

December 
2016 

Corporate 
Director, 
Resources 
 

P12c 
 

Review, as part of Budget Strategy, the opportunities to 
enhance linkages between savings proposals from 
Directorates and the ODP 
 

July 2016 Corporate 
Director, 
Resources 

P12d 
 

Continue - and build upon - approach adopted for 2016/17 
budget 

March 
2017 

Corporate 
Director, 
Resources 
 

 
 
  

Page 105



13 
 

 
P13: Proposal for Improvement 
 
Further strengthen the Council’s IT arrangements by: 
 
a further developing the draft Digital ICT strategy and formally agreeing this strategic 

vision for delivering digitally enabled services; 
b deploying the Customer Relationship Management system fully to appropriate services 

across the Council; 
c implementing the mobile scheduling and flexible working technologies where 

appropriate; and 
d expanding the number and depth of ICT KPIs measured and reported, to cover the whole 

ICT service, and benchmark against public service comparators. 
 
The Council has made significant advances in shifting towards a ‘digital first’ model, and the Digital 
Strategy 2016-21 is due to be considered by the Cabinet on 19 May 2016.  Mobile & Scheduling 
deployment to Care Workers is already live and flexible working technologies for Social Workers 
will soon be rolled out.  Phase 1 of CRM is live in the contact centre with portal elements to be 
completed by April 2016. 
 
Following a CIPFA benchmarking exercise on ICT KPIs an all-Wales SOCITM benchmarking package 
will commence in the new financial year, with a focus on reviewing ICT cost and quality 
performance over the previous year. Commencing in April 2016, a number of benchmarking 
exercises will be conducted through the course of the financial year.   
 
Ref Action Timescale Responsible 

Officer(s) 
P13a 
 

Digital Strategy 2016-21 to be considered by Cabinet 
 

May 2016 Corporate 
Director, 
Resources 
 

P13b 
 

Initiate project to deliver phase 2 of the CRM 
 

June 2016  Corporate 
Director, 
Resources 
 

P13c 
 

Roll out flexible working across the council for those 
workers who would benefit from delivering their services in 
a range of locations 
 

December 
2016 

Corporate 
Director, 
Resources 

P13d 
 

Review the ICT additional performance reporting 
requirements and establish a revised basket of KPIs 
 

March 2017 Corporate 
Director, 
Resources 
 

 
  

Page 106



14 
 

 
 
P14: Proposal for Improvement 
 
Further strengthen the Council’s information governance arrangements by: 
 
a completing the outstanding actions from the Information Commissioner’s Office audit on 

data protection and information confidentiality; 
b increasing the level of staff completion of the Council’s information confidentiality and 

data protection e-learning training programme; 
c fully implementing the Electronic Records Management System across the Council; 
d improving the Council’s response rates against statutory targets in respect of data 

protection subject access requests and Freedom of Information Act requests; and 
e completing a Caldicott principles into practice self-assessment. 
 
 
An Action Plan in response to previous Improvement Commissioner’s Office audit is in place and 
progress is monitored by the Information Security Board on a quarterly basis.   
 
An Electronic Document and Records Management System (ERDMS) has been established and a 
project is in place for delivery with 8 service areas.   
 
Compliance with statutory timescales in respect of requests for information under the Subject 
Access provisions of the Data Protection Act (SARs) and Freedom of Information (FOI) requests has 
improved to 86%.  A streamlined process and case management system has been introduced.  
Compliance where this is used is 89%, compared to 67% where it is not used. Compliance reports 
are presented as part of the Council’s Quarterly Performance & Delivery Reports and to the 
Information Security Board. 
 

Ref Action Timescale Responsible 
Officer(s) 

P14a 
 

Continue to implement the Action Plan following most 
recent audit by the Information Commissioner’s Office 

March 
2017 

Corporate 
Director, 
Resources 
 

P14b 
 

Implement new Information Governance e-learning training 
programme 

May  
2016 

Corporate 
Director, 
Resources 
 

P14c 
 

Rollout EDRMS to remaining users (circa 4000) April 
2017 

Corporate 
Director, 
Resources 
 

P14d 
 

Seek approval to bring all SARs and FOI requests within the 
corporate responsibility of the Improvement and 
Information Team 
 

September 
2016 

Corporate 
Director, 
Resources 

P14e 
 

Undertake a review of existing information governance 
monitoring arrangements to provide assurance that they 
appropriately reflect Caldicott principles 

March 
2017 

Corporate 
Director, 
Resources 

 

Page 107



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 12 

CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL  
CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD 
 
CABINET MEETING: 21 MARCH 2016 
 
 
CARDIFF CAPITAL REGION CITY DEAL  
 
REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTVE 

AGENDA ITEM: 3   
 
 
PORTFOLIO: LEADER (ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT & PARTNERSHIPS) 
 
Reason for this Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to update Cabinet on the progress of the 

City Deal with the recent signing of a “Heads of Terms” document that 
outlines the principles for the detailed development of the deal. 
 

2. The document was signed by local authority Leaders, Welsh Government 
Ministers and UK Government Ministers, on the 15 March, with a 
commitment to full implementation of the deal subject to appropriate 
approvals from participating Councils.  

 
3. The Heads of Terms outlined in high level terms the financial aspects of 

the City Deal as well as other arrangements with regard to governance 
and scope. The detailed development of the deal will be the subject of 
further reports to the Cabinet and Council.  

 
Background 
 
4. Following the Glasgow announcement in the summer of 2014 it was clear 

that there was an opportunity for devolved nations to develop City Deals. 
The Council subsequently engaged with Glasgow and other members of 
the UK Core Cities network to discuss how Cardiff could explore the 
potential for its own City Deal. This in turn led to initial discussions with 
the UK Government to discuss proposals for developing a Cardiff City 
Deal.   

 
5. As a result of these initial discussions the Council engaged Specialist 

Advisors to explore the potential to develop a proposition for Cardiff. As 
part of this work it was identified that there was a particular opportunity 
available to work with partners across the Cardiff Capital Region to 
develop a City Deal proposal based upon the city-region boundary that 
would provide a greater size and scope for the proposed City Deal. 

 
6. On 18 March 2015 the Chancellor of the Exchequer announced in his 

Budget Statement that: ‘We’re giving more power to Wales. We’re 
working on a Cardiff City Deal’. The announcement effectively moved the 

 

Page 109

Agenda Item 3



Page 2 of 12 

discussion about a potential City Deal for Cardiff on to the next stage with 
the Government offering to begin the formal process of negotiation. 

 
7. Subsequently a City Deal Implications and Next Steps report was 

considered on 2 April 2015 where the Cabinet agreed: 
 
a)  that officers proceed with the negotiation of a City Deal for Cardiff 

with UK Government, Welsh Government and surrounding 
authorities and return to Cabinet with a further report before 
submitting a final proposal. 

 
b)  that engagement with surrounding authorities in SE Wales take 

place to develop an appropriate local governance structure to 
support delivery of a City Deal for Cardiff. 

 
c)  that authority be delegated to the Chief Executive to:  
 

• identify a budget and to appoint Specialist Advisors to 
support delivery of a detailed City Deal proposal for Cardiff 

• commission a review of the Cardiff Business Council model 
to put in place appropriate arrangements to support a 
successful City Deal proposal.  

 
8. Following the April meeting regional partners were engaged as part of 

City Deal discussions. Through these discussions all nine additional local 
authorities in the Cardiff Capital Region made a commitment to 
contribute, on a pro-rata basis, towards a £500,000 fund to support the 
development of a City Deal proposal. 

 
9. Local authorities then formed a City Deal Project Board consisting of the 

ten local authority Leaders to oversee the development of the proposal, 
with a Welsh Government observer also invited.  

 
10. On 4 September 2015 the 10 Local Authority Leaders submitted a 

Position Statement to the Chancellor of the Exchequer outlining the 
vision for a City Deal for the Cardiff Capital Region, as well as providing 
further detail regarding proposed areas of intervention. 

 
11. On 11 November 2015 the Cardiff Capital City Region made a headline 

submission for a £1.28bn City Deal to the UK Treasury, along with a 
letter of support from the First Minister, committing to principles and 
outlining plans for the development of a possible City Deal. 

 
12. A further announcement was then made on the 25 November by the 

Chancellor of the Exchequer who said “The Government is working with 
the Cardiff Capital Region and the Welsh Government to deliver an 
ambitious City Deal for Cardiff. The Spending Review announces an in 
principle commitment to contribute to an infrastructure fund for the Cardiff 
region.”  
 

13. The Cardiff Capital Region City Deal Update report taken to Cabinet on 
the 10 December 2015 identified an outline schedule for the development 
of the City Deal as:   

Page 110



Page 3 of 12 

 
• Week commencing 9 November 2015 - Letters to UK 

Government from CCR partner authorities and Welsh 
Government, committing to principles and outlining plans for 
development of deal details 

• 25 November 2015 – Chancellor’s Autumn Statement and 
Comprehensive Spending Review 

• December 2015 – March 2016 – Project identification and 
development 

• January – March 2016 – Further development of funding and 
financing principles 

• Spring 2016 – Chancellor’s Budget Statement 
• Spring 2016 – Agreement of CCR City Deal Document 

 
14. This timescale identified the critical point in the development of the City 

Deal as the signing of an agreement in spring 2016 in line with the 
Chancellor’s Budget Statement.  
 

15. In the Budget Proposals 2016/17 report that was agreed by Council on 
25 February 2016, it was resolved that: 
 
“the City Deal Document referred to in paragraph 235 to 239 of the report 
be signed on behalf of the Council (on the understanding that the 
document will provide that it will be subject to the agreement of  the Full 
Council). Pursuant to the City Deal Document the Council continues to 
work with the Cardiff Capital Region partner local authorities, UK and the 
Welsh Government to develop the final City Deal Agreements, and 
further reports on this matter be submitted to Council as appropriate to 
keep members appraised of developments.” 
 
The report also noted that “In developing the overall City Deal 
governance and investment programme it is also anticipated that a 
dedicated team will be put in place. It is proposed that local authorities 
make a contribution to the costs of putting this team in place.” 
 

16. A negotiating team including the Leader of the Council, Councillor 
Andrew Morgan (Leader of Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough 
Council) and Councillor Peter Fox (Leader of Monmouthshire County 
Council) have been acting on behalf of the region to refine the City Deal 
proposition. This has resulted in the City Deal that has been tabled.  
 

17. The City Deal was subsequently signed in Cardiff on 15 March 2016 by 
the ten local authority Leaders, the First Minister of Wales, the Minister 
for Finance, the Secretary of State for Wales and the Chief Secretary to 
the Treasury. 
 

Issues 
 
18. The ‘Heads of Terms’ document outlines the parameters for the detailed 

development of the City Deal. The document outlines how the ten local 
authorities will work in partnership with the Welsh Government and UK 
Government to support economic growth. The key principles include:  

Page 111



Page 4 of 12 

 
• Establishing strong governance across the region through a 

Cardiff Capital Region Cabinet. Through this, the ten local 
authority Leaders will join up decision making, pool resources, and 
partner with business.  

• A £1.229 billion investment in the Cardiff Capital Region’s 
infrastructure through a 20-year Investment Fund. A key priority 
for investment will be the delivery of the South East Wales Metro, 
including the Valley Lines Electrification programme. 

• The creation of a non-statutory Regional Transport Authority to co-
ordinate transport planning and investment, in partnership with the 
Welsh Government. 

• The development of capabilities in Compound Semiconductor 
Applications. The UK Government will invest £50 million to 
establish a new Catapult Centre in Wales. The CCR will also 
prioritise investment in research and development, and provide 
support for high value, innovative businesses. 

• The creation of Cardiff Capital Region Skills and Employment 
Board (building on existing arrangements) to ensure skills and 
employment provision is responsive to the needs of local 
businesses and communities.  

• A partnership between the Cardiff Capital Region and the Welsh 
Government to work with Department of Work and Pensions to co-
design the future employment support from 2017 for people with a 
health condition or disability and/or who are long term 
unemployed.  

• A Cardiff Capital Region Business Organisation to be established 
to ensure that there is a single voice for business to work with 
local authority leaders.  

• A new partnership approach to housing development and 
regeneration between the Welsh Government and the Cardiff 
Capital Region. This will ensure the delivery of sustainable 
communities, through the use and re-use of property and sites.  

 
19. Details are provided in the City Deal document that is attached to this 

report as Appendix A. 
 
Cardiff Capital Region Governance 
 
20. In order to progress enhanced regional working, and support the delivery 

of the investment fund, the City Deal document outlines proposals to 
establish a Cardiff Capital Region governance model that: 
 
• complies with the existing statutory framework that exists in Wales 

to deliver this City Deal; 
• strengthens and streamlines the existing governance and 

partnership arrangements across the Capital Region; 
• improves business involvement in local decision making; 
• provides confidence and assurance to both the UK and Welsh 

Government that the local authority leaders are making decisions 
which will drive economic growth across the Capital Region; and 

Page 112



Page 5 of 12 

• enables local authorities to explore with the Welsh Government 
alternative governance arrangements in the medium term. 

 
21. Utilising the existing statutory framework the ten local authorities will 

establish a joint committee, to be referred to as the Cardiff Capital 
Region Cabinet. The authorities would delegate certain functions (a 
specified range of activities relevant to delivering the City Deal) to the 
joint committee to be carried out jointly by the authorities and on a 
collaborative basis. The joint committee would be underpinned by a 
comprehensive agreement between the authorities, which inter alia 
would set out the functions to be delegated to the committee and those 
matters which would be reserved to each authority for decision. This 
agreement will be subject to the Authority’s approval. 
 

22. The Cardiff Capital Region Cabinet, which will comprise of the ten 
participating local authorities, will provide the basis for initial decision 
making regarding the Investment Fund. In addition the Cardiff Capital 
Region Cabinet will be responsible for: 

 
• management of the Cardiff Capital Region Investment Fund; 
• additional devolved funding provided to the Capital Region; 
• the Cardiff Capital Region Transport Authority; 
• contracting with Transport for Wales on prioritised Metro projects; 
• control over devolved business rate income above an agreed 

growth forecast, subject to Welsh Government agreement; 
• strategic planning including housing, transport planning and land 

use; 
• influencing skills and worklessness programmes; 
• an inward investment and marketing strategy; and 
• considering the scope for strengthening Capital Region 

governance further. 
 
23. The Cardiff Capital Region will also establish proposals for an integrated 

Strategic Development Plan that incorporates housing and employment 
land-use with wider transport plans. The strategic plan will provide the 
underpinning blue-print for development across the city-region. 
 

24. The Strategic Development Plan will form part of a hierarchy of land use 
plans comprising the National Development Framework prepared by the 
Welsh Government (due to be published in 2019), the Strategic 
Development Plan and the Council’s Local Development Plan (LDP). The 
recently adopted LDP forms the statutory development plan for Cardiff 
and will inform the preparation of the first Strategic Development Plan.   

 
 
25. To support the Cardiff Capital Region a Cardiff Capital Region Economic 

Growth Partnership will be established comprising business, higher 
education and local government. The partnership will be responsible for 
setting an overarching city-region economic development strategy, as 
well as monitoring and making recommendations to the Cabinet with 
regard to City Deal implementation. The partnership will have a specific 
role to provide advice on investment decisions. This will ensure the City 

Page 113



Page 6 of 12 

Deal and other interventions make an impact on economic growth and 
increase employment. 

 
26. In addition an Independent Growth and Competitiveness Commission will 

be established, with a remit to examine the challenges and opportunities 
for economic growth and competitiveness and make recommendations 
for how the Cardiff Capital Region can achieve its full growth potential. 
The Commission will be jointly established by the ten local authorities 
that comprise the Cardiff Capital Region in consultation with the Welsh 
and UK Governments. 
 

27. The document also outlines further regional governance arrangements 
relating to the transport and skills agendas. 

 
Infrastructure Fund 
 
28. The £1.229bn investment fund is one of the largest per capita individual 

City Deals to date. The UK and Welsh Governments are contributing 
£500 million and £503 million to this fund respectively, with the Welsh 
Government funding to be provided over the first seven years of the 
Investment Fund  
 

29. In addition, £106 million has been committed from the European 
Regional Development Fund and the balance of £120 million will be the 
collective responsibility of the ten local authorities forming the Cardiff 
Capital Region. 
 

30. The investment fund will comprise of £734 million allocated to South East 
Wales Metro (SEWM), with the balance (£495 million) allocated to other 
city-region schemes.  The latter will be used to take forward a wide range 
of projects and schemes that support economic growth across the Cardiff 
Capital Region. Decisions on the prioritisation of these schemes will be 
taken by the Cardiff Capital Region Cabinet. Schemes taken forward 
could include: further transport schemes; investment to unlock housing 
and employment sites; and development of research and innovation 
facilities. 
 

31. As part of this, the ten local authorities across the Cardiff Capital Region 
will develop and adopt an assurance framework for this Investment Fund. 
This will also need to be agreed by the UK and Welsh Government. By 
adopting the assurance framework prior to the commencement of the 
Investment Fund, the Cardiff Capital Region will ensure that schemes 
that are taken forward represent value for money and are underpinned by 
a robust business case development process.  The funding allocated to 
the SEWM will be subject to a separate but equally robust assurance 
framework that will cover the wider Metro project.     

 
32. The grant funding for the investment fund will be profiled over a 20 year 

period. Local authorities will be responsible for financing any capital 
investment in advance of receipt of the grant funding. 
 

33. The Cardiff Capital Region will also be required to evaluate the impact of 
the Investment Fund in order to unlock funding that has not been pre-

Page 114



Page 7 of 12 

allocated to the SEWM programme. This will be comprised of gateway 
assessments every five years. To underpin these gateway assessments, 
an independent review will be commissioned to evaluate the economic 
benefits and economic impact of the investments made under the 
scheme, including whether the projects have been delivered on time and 
to budget. This assessment will be funded by the Cardiff Capital Region, 
but agreed at the outset with the UK Government. The next five year 
tranche of funding will be unlocked if the UK and Welsh Governments are 
satisfied that the independent assessment shows the investments to 
have met key objectives and contributed to national growth.  

 
34. In a scenario where a future Investment Fund Gateway is not achieved, 

leading to any reduction or cessation of City Deal grant, then it will be the 
responsibility of individual local authorities within the Cardiff Capital 
Region to manage the financial impact of this within their local authority 
budget, utilising reserves or surpluses as required.  

 
35. To support borrowing costs, as well as to provide appropriate 

incentivisation and resource for greater regional collaboration, the Welsh 
Government has agreed to explore with the Cardiff Capital Region: 

 
• the devolution of business rate income above an agreed growth 

baseline to provide funding for the City Deal programme; 
• providing the ability to levy an infrastructure supplement; 
• creating the option for the local authorities to use alternative 

finance sources; and 
• removing conditions around some specific Welsh Government 

grants, to allow funding to be pooled at the regional level in areas 
such as school support and interventions that seek to address 
poverty. 

 
Next Steps 
 
36. Further work will need to be undertaken over forthcoming months to 

develop a comprehensive City Deal Agreement that will provide detail on 
how the Deal will operate and set out the steps for implementation. This 
will be subject to the agreement of each participating Council. 
 

37. As part of these more detailed discussions there will be a need to ensure 
that governance arrangements that are put in place are supported by all 
participating local authorities.  
 

38. Furthermore there will need to be agreement on areas of finance relating 
to the infrastructure fund. In particular there is a need to develop an 
agreement relating to how the local contribution to the Infrastructure 
Investment Fund will be allocated. Any capital costs incurred ahead of 
incoming grant as part of the City Deal will also require local financing to 
support the investment. Other City Deals have split these costs either by 
population, a ‘project on patch’ basis or a mixture of the two. Advice from 
specialist support suggests that if the share is decided by projects on 
patch, a decision must be made with regard to whether any funding 
agreed from central government is ‘top-sliced’ or not – i.e. central funds 
are earmarked first and foremost for truly regional projects. 

Page 115



Page 8 of 12 

 
39. Detailed agreement will also be required on the development of the 

prioritisation and assurance framework for the identification of projects as 
part of the investment programme. All projects proposed will also require 
a detailed business case to be produced. 
 

40. Based on experience from other City Deals it is expected that it will take 
between 6 and 18 months for the full programme to be agreed and 
finalised. 
 

41. In developing the overall City Deal governance and investment 
programme it is anticipated that a dedicated team will be put in place. It is 
proposed that local authorities make a contribution to the costs of putting 
this team in place.  
 

42. Any final agreement on governance and financial implications of the City 
Deal will be brought to Council for approval. 

 
Reason for Recommendations 
 
43. To update Cabinet on the progress on City Deal, and to outline next 

steps in the process.  
 
Financial Implications 
 
44. The Heads of Terms document signed by the Council in conjunction with 

nine other participating local authorities, Welsh and UK Governments is 
intended to provide certainty and signals the commencement of more 
detailed work to develop a final programme of investment and to agree 
the governance arrangements that will oversee the approval and delivery 
of the investment fund. 
 

45. Based on experience from other City Deals it is anticipated that the next 
phase of detailed work could take between 6-18 months to complete and 
will be funded by the ten local authority partners via contributions to the 
City Deal Partnership Budget.  An initial budget of £500,000 was 
established earlier in the year and around £200,000 of this regional 
budget remains uncommitted at this time. 
 
 

46. As outlined in the report a dedicated team will now need to be put in 
place to complete the next phase of works.  The team will be 
supplemented by specialist external advice as required and therefore, it 
is anticipated that a further contribution will be required in 2016/17 
subject to the agreement of partners. Cardiff’s share will be met from 
revenue resources approved in the 2016/17 budget for this purpose.  Any 
unused contributions will be returned to the Council. 
 

47. The Heads of Term document outlines in high-level terms the overall size 
of the investment fund and provides an indication of the amount that will 
need to be met by the ten local authorities. The Heads of Terms 
document suggests that CCR partners will only be required to contribute 
towards the ‘Other City-Region Schemes’ element of the fund and will be 

Page 116



Page 9 of 12 

responsible for meeting the financial commitment associated with (i) 
‘Cost of Carry’ (interest costs arising from timing differences associated 
with UK Government funding) and (ii) ‘Local Authority Funding Share’ 
(minimum of £120 million). 
 

48. It addition, it should be noted that the continuation of UK Government’s 
funding is subject to securing satisfactory ‘Gateway Reviews’ as part of 
the Investment Fund Assurance Framework adopted.  Reviews are likely 
to be structured to occur at Years 5, 10 and 15.   Therefore, funding from 
Year 6 onwards represents ‘risk capital’ as it will be subject to the agreed 
performance objectives being achieved at each of the Gateway stages. 
 

49. A deal structured on this basis introduces a level of uncertainty, as CCR 
partners will be required to borrow risk capital upfront and meet the 
associated interest costs.  Therefore, in the event that the agreed 
performance targets are not fully achieved, there is a risk that UK 
Government funding may be reduced or even cease.  Under these 
circumstances any reduction will represent a further cost to CCR 
partners.  In order to mitigate this risk, the projects selected will go 
through a detailed economic modelling assessment to inform the key 
discussions that will take place around performance measures.  The final 
performance targets agreed will include a ‘margin of safety’, which will 
further reduce the risk of targets not being achieved. 
 

50. The Investment Fund Assurance Framework will be developed by CCR 
Partners and approved by UK and Welsh Government.  An independent 
panel is to be established to monitor compliance with the agreed 
framework.           
 

51. As part of the work done to-date, Cardiff Capital Region (CCR) partners 
have carried out some high-level modelling to get an indication of the 
overall cost and profile associated with two elements described above 
(Cost of Carry and Local Authority Funding Share).  However, detailed 
work on the ‘Other City-Region Schemes’ is yet to be completed, in 
advance of the final investment fund being agreed.  Therefore the 
modelling carried out at this time is indicative and could change.  
Furthermore, the report outlines that CCR Partners are yet to agree the 
basis on which its financial commitment will be met by individual local 
authorities.  This represents a key issue to be resolved as the different 
approaches e.g. basis of ‘population’, ‘projects on patch’ or a ‘hybrid’ of 
the two, could represent financial commitments that are significantly 
different at individual local authority level. 
 

52. Other key variables that will impact on the overall cost and profile to be 
met by CCR Partners include; the profile of UK Government funding 
flowing into the fund, the annual net borrowing requirement, the 
borrowing term e.g. 20 years, interest rate at the time of borrowing and 
wider inflation assumptions. 
 

53. For indicative modelling purposes only it has been assumed that CCR 
Partners share their financial commitment on the basis of population.  On 
this basis Cardiff would be required to meet 23.5% of the overall CCR 
Partner cost.  In addition, the modelling assumes a 10 year investment 

Page 117



Page 10 of 12 

programme, with UK funding and borrowing costs spread over a period of 
over 20 years.  On this basis the financial commitment that CCR Partners 
would be required to meet totals around £279million over a 20 year 
period.  Cardiff’s share would amount to circa £65million.  The indicative 
modelling is predicated on the investment fund commencing in 2016/17, 
on this basis annual debt peaks at around £25 million in financial year 
2026/27 (Year 11), with Cardiff‘s debt peaking at around £6 million in that 
year.  Cardiff’s indicative commitment in 2020/21 (the final year of the 
Capital Programme approved in February) amounts to around £1.7 
million.  Furthermore, changes due to population growth would impact on 
the apportionment calculation if this was the agreed basis taken forward. 
 

54. These are significant sums, therefore as key variables are agreed and 
the base case position established, other modelling techniques such as 
sensitivity analysis, scenario analysis, optimism bias etc. will also need to 
be introduced to provide an overview of the wider risk envelope 
associated with any base case established.     
 

55. The Council’s Capital Programme currently does not include any 
allocations in respect of a City Deal initiative and therefore any amounts 
required will represent a new commitment over and above the existing 
programme.  Given the significance of the amounts likely to be involved 
at local authority partner level, ‘affordability’ and ‘choices’ will be key 
considerations for Cabinet in-light of other commitments being 
progressed by the council and the limited resources available, providing 
always that amounts approved remain prudent, sustainable and 
affordable.                 
 

56. As the City Deal proposal develops a further report will need to be 
presented to Cabinet on the emerging financial commitment as well as 
the associated risks and issues.  The report will need to consider the any 
budget framework issues and as well as the impact on the council’s 
Treasury Management Strategy.  In this regard, matters will need to be 
reported to Full Council.    

 
Legal Implications 
 
57. The Cardiff Capital Region City Deal document outlines the proposed 

terms for the City Deal. As set out in the body of the report, further work 
will need to be undertaken over forthcoming months to develop the 
comprehensive legal documentation required to set out the detailed 
provisions in terms of how the City Deal will operate, the obligations that 
fall to each party and the detailed governance arrangements.  A 
comprehensive agreement will be drawn up between the participating 
authorities and the final form of such agreement is subject to the 
agreement of each participating authority (‘The Agreement’).  
 

58. In terms of the governance arrangements as between the 10 local 
authorities, the City Deal Document is premised on the authorities 
establishing a joint committee, to which the authorities would delegate 
certain powers. The joint committee would be referred to as the Cardiff 
Capital Region Cabinet. It is important to note that the City Deal 
document provides that the establishment of a Cardiff Capital Region 

Page 118



Page 11 of 12 

Cabinet will be the first step in the development of greater city-region 
governance across the Cardiff Capital City Region.  The Agreement is 
intended to be structured such that it will enable the local authorities to 
explore with the Welsh Government alternative governance 
arrangements in the medium term. It is proposed that the Agreement will 
also allow for the possibility of additional functions and powers to be 
devolved to the Cardiff Capital Region Cabinet in the future. Accordingly, 
it will be important to ensure that the Agreement contains suitable 
provision for the Authority’s approval to be sought to any alternative 
governance arrangement that may be proposed during the term of the 
City Deal.  
 

59. The City Deal document refers to the establishment of a number of 
bodies (by way of example only, a Cardiff Capital  Region Business 
Organisation) and as part of the detailed work over the forthcoming 
months, terms of reference for such bodies will need to be developed so 
that all are clear as to the roles and responsibilities of such bodies.   

 
60. The City Deal document refers to the authorities seeking greater financial 

autonomy and flexibility and exploring with Welsh Government the 
potential for ‘additional flexibilities’.  Detailed legal advice will be required 
on this and the potential implications for the authority in obtaining such 
additional flexibilities. 

 
61. As will be appreciated, a considerable amount of work will be required in 

terms of developing the Agreement and other legal documentation 
required to facilitate the City Deal.  
 

62. In developing the detailed City Deal arrangements regard should be had 
to the carrying out of appropriate consultation and the Council’s statutory 
equality duty. 

 
63. The Council has to satisfy its public sector duties under the Equalities Act 

2010 (including specific Welsh public sector duties) – the Public Sector 
Equality Duties (PSED). These duties require the Council to have due 
regard to the need to (1) eliminate unlawful discrimination, (2) advance 
equality of opportunity and (3) foster good relations on the basis of 
‘protected characteristics’. The ‘Protected characteristics’ are: Age, 
Gender reassignment, Sex, Race – including ethnic or national origin, 
colour or nationality, Disability, Pregnancy and maternity, Marriage and 
civil partnership, Sexual orientation and Religion or belief – including lack 
of belief. 

 
64. All decisions taken by or on behalf of the Authority must: 
 

• Be within the legal powers of the Authority and of the body or person 
exercising powers on behalf of the Authority. 

• Comply with any procedural requirement imposed by law. 
• Be undertaken in accordance with procedural requirements imposed 

by the Authority e.g. Authority procedure rules. 
• Be fully and properly informed. 
• Be properly motivated (i.e. for an appropriate, good and relevant 

reason). 
Page 119



Page 12 of 12 

• Be taken having regard to the Authority’s fiduciary duty to its tax 
payers as elected members are trustees of the public interest and of 
its statutory purposes for which public powers are conferred on them. 
This general duty requires the Authority to act prudently and in good 
faith in the interests of those to whom the duty is owed. 

• Otherwise be reasonable and proper in all the circumstances.  
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
The Cabinet is recommended to:  
 
1) note the content of the report and the City Deal document, which is 

attached as Appendix A to the report;  
 
2) agree to receive further update reports as the detail of the City Deal is 

further developed; 
 
3) recommend to Council that the report be noted and authority be 

delegated to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader of the 
Council, the Corporate Director Resources and Monitoring Officer to 
conclude any interim arrangements necessary to facilitate the 
development of the final City Deal (including without limitation to the 
generality of the foregoing appointment of external consultants and any 
interim appointments that may be required), provided the requisite 
budget provision is available. 

 
 
PAUL ORDERS 
Chief Executive 
18 March 2016 
 
 
The following Appendix is attached: 
 
Appendix A: Cardiff Capital Region City Deal 
 

Page 120



 
 

 

Cardiff Capital Region 

City Deal 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

  

 

 

 
 

  

Page 121

http://www.bing.com/images/search?q=logo+blaenau+gwent+county+borough+council&view=detailv2&&id=F0FC0DBBF19998AC611670FAEA9A0E0C7268AEEC&selectedIndex=0&ccid=O4ojzzFL&simid=608030446472792762&thid=OIP.M3b8a23cf314b185073247f68bc8253c7o0
http://www.bing.com/images/search?q=logo+Bridgend+County+Borough+Council&view=detailv2&&id=E772A11BC53BF0092EC4BC7C5AB1B69775D8165C&selectedIndex=0&ccid=U3tAsbc1&simid=607996275714558141&thid=OIP.M537b40b1b7355e8ac09a16ff6a47bd71H0
http://www.bing.com/images/search?q=logo+Caerphilly+County+Borough+Council&view=detailv2&&id=6322E0C7EBA72A2612F15CF1069160CE9139C2EE&selectedIndex=8&ccid=ik2FnU4w&simid=607990975726027206&thid=OIP.M8a4d859d4e30603cd61dc98e808606c1o0
http://www.bing.com/images/search?q=logo+Merthyr+Tydfil+County+Borough+Council&view=detailv2&&id=66B8545F086184F4A2D6CA2B0398FC3F762EF01C&selectedIndex=0&ccid=z3r6PhiK&simid=608042386480435156&thid=OIP.Mcf7afa3e188adc92c062534d49e9c521o0
http://www.bing.com/images/search?q=logo+Monmouthshire+County+Council&view=detailv2&&id=E6865D27E1162A8C25AED3DBCC8977C98BECA457&selectedIndex=3&ccid=YxKMsdy/&simid=608003564274061011&thid=OIP.M63128cb1dcbf635b0e72a972aab23d86o0
http://www.bing.com/images/search?q=logo+Newport+City+Council&view=detailv2&&id=1D49C0B5E9B33FDBBADB35F012DDC10DF73ED6FD&selectedIndex=4&ccid=1C3/WNK4&simid=608053437432923379&thid=OIP.Md42dff58d2b86a3961a712daf9017bb0o0
http://www.bing.com/images/search?q=logo+Rhondda+Cynon+Taff+County+Borough+Council&view=detailv2&&id=618E9250869564858FB99B28844FE4101BAD4997&selectedIndex=1&ccid=cTQ3%2bfuT&simid=608021354029646570&thid=OIP.M713437f9fb93d4d013fa80b7d64adda0o0
http://www.bing.com/images/search?q=logo+Torfaen+County+Borough+Council&view=detailv2&&id=A358CD42A68D1BC75722450868B7E72B2D985FB9&selectedIndex=5&ccid=puNl7UAy&simid=608025726313040137&thid=OIP.Ma6e365ed403269e14b0ade6ffd2bb995H0
http://www.bing.com/images/search?q=logo+Vale+of+Glamorgan+Council&view=detailv2&&id=E7EE0A323A4CD004AC350B19876420AEA1AEC03F&selectedIndex=0&ccid=EWnNC0X5&simid=607988274191336985&thid=OIP.M1169cd0b45f9f1eda7dde61189563528H0


 
 

Executive Summary  

1. Cardiff Capital Region has secured a deal worth £1.2 billion. Over its lifetime, local 
partners expect the City Deal to deliver up to 25,000 new jobs and leverage an 
additional £4 billion of private sector investment.   
 

2. This City Deal will provide local partners with the powers and the resources to unlock 
significant economic growth across the Cardiff Capital Region. It is a deal that builds 
on the region’s sectoral strengths, its high skill base and three successful universities. 
The City Deal also provides an opportunity to continue tackling the area’s barriers to 
economic growth by: improving transport connectivity; increasing skill levels still 
further; supporting people into work; and giving businesses the support they need to 
innovate and grow.  

 
3. This deal will also develop stronger and more effective leadership across the Cardiff 

Capital Region, enabling ten local authority leaders to join up decision making, pool 
resources and work more effectively with local businesses.  

 
4. The Cardiff Capital Region City Deal includes:   
 

 £1.2 billion investment in the Cardiff Capital Region’s infrastructure. A key priority for 
investment will be the delivery of the South East Wales Metro, including the Valley 
Lines Electrification programme. 
 

 Connecting the region. The Cardiff Capital Region will establish a new non-statutory 
Regional Transport Authority to co-ordinate transport planning and investment, in 
partnership with the Welsh Government. 

 

 Support for innovation and improving the digital network. To develop capabilities in 
Compound Semiconductor Applications the UK Government will invest £50 million to 
establish a new Catapult Centre in Wales. The Cardiff Capital region will also prioritise 
investment in research and development and provide support for high value 
innovative businesses. 

 

 Developing a skilled workforce and tackling unemployment. The Cardiff Capital 
Region Skills and Employment Board will be created (building on existing 
arrangements) to ensure skills and employment provision is responsive to the needs 
of local businesses and communities. The Cardiff Capital Region and the Welsh 
Government will work with the Department of Work and Pensions to co-design the 
future employment support from 2017, for people with a health condition or 
disability and/or long term unemployed.  

 

 Supporting enterprise and business growth. A Cardiff Capital Region Business 
Organisation will be established to ensure that there is a single voice for business to 
work with local authority leaders.  
 

 Housing development and regeneration. The Welsh Government and the Cardiff 
Capital Region commit to a new partnership approach to strategic planning. This will 
ensure the delivery of sustainable communities, through the use and re-use of 
property and sites.  

 

Page 122



 
 

Our signing of this document, subject to relevant council approvals, confirms our joint 
commitment to ensure full implementation of the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal 
proposed by: City of Cardiff Council; Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council; Bridgend 
County Borough Council; Caerphilly County Borough Council; Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council; Monmouthshire County Council; Newport City Council; Rhondda Cynon 
Taff County Borough Council; Torfaen County Borough Council; and Vale of Glamorgan 
Council.  
 
 
 
 
 
…………………………… 

 
 
 
 
…………………………… 

 
 
 
 

…………………………… 
The Rt Hon Stephen Crabb 
Secretary of State for Wales 

The Rt Hon Carwyn Jones 
First Minister of Wales 

Cllr. Phil Bale 
Leader of City of Cardiff 

Council 
 
 
 
…………………………… 

 
 
 

…………………………… 

 
 
 

…………………………… 
The Rt Hon Greg Hands 
Chief Secretary to the 

Treasury 

Jane Hutt 
Minister for Finance and 

Government Business 
Welsh Government 

Cllr. Steve Thomas 
Leader of Blaenau Gwent 
County Borough Council 

 
 
 
 

…………………………… 

 
 
 
 

…………………………… 

 
 
 
 

…………………………… 
Cllr. M E J Nott OBE 

Leader of Bridgend County 
Borough Council 

Cllr. Keith Reynolds 
Leader of Caerphilly County 

Borough Council 

Cllr. Brendan Toomey 
Leader of Merthyr Tydfil 
County Borough Council 

 
 
 
 

…………………………… 

 
 
 
 

…………………………… 

 
 
 
 

…………………………… 
Cllr. Peter Fox 

Leader of Monmouthshire 
County Council 

Cllr Bob Bright 
Leader of Newport City 

Council 

Cllr. Andrew Morgan 
Leader of Rhondda Cynon 

Taff County Borough 
Council 

 
 
 
 

……………………………... 

 
 
 
 

………………………….. 
Cllr. Robert Wellington CBE 
Leader of Torfaen County 

Borough Council 

Cllr. Neil Moore 
Leader of Vale of 

Glamorgan Council 

Page 123



 
 

Introduction  
 
5. The Cardiff Capital Region is comprised of ten local authorities: Blaenau Gwent; 

Bridgend; Caerphilly; Cardiff; Merthyr Tydfil; Monmouthshire; Newport; Rhondda 
Cynon Taff; Torfaen; and Vale of Glamorgan. It is the largest city-region in Wales and 
accounts for approximately 50% of the total economic output of the Welsh economy, 
49% of total employment and has over 38,000 active businesses. 

 
6. The Cardiff Capital Region is an area where people want to live and work. With two 

cities (Cardiff and Newport) at its core, the region has seen significant regeneration 
and investment over recent decades. Cardiff, as the capital city, is now dynamic, fast 
growing and forecast to have a higher population growth rate over the next 20 years 
than any other city in the UK.  
 

7. The area is home to a range of competitive business clusters with significant 
international and indigenous businesses across sectors such as: financial services; 
creative and digital industries; advanced manufacturing; life sciences; energy; and 
energy supply. These business clusters are serviced through a wide and supportive 
ecosystem. This ecosystem contains a thriving higher education sector which includes 
Cardiff University, Cardiff Metropolitan University and the University of South Wales..  

 
8. However, despite these strengths, numerous challenges remain. Gross Value Added, 

which is a measure of goods and services produced in an area, is lower than all but 
one of the English Core City Regions. There are also connectivity issues across the 
region which makes it more difficult for people in Valley’s communities to access 
economic opportunities.  

 
9. Recognising these opportunities and challenges all the signatories to this deal are 

working together to realise the vision for the Cardiff Capital Region, which is to: 
“work together to improve the lives of people in all our communities.  We will 
maximise opportunity for all and ensure we secure sustainable economic growth for 
future generations”. This City Deal provides local partners with further powers and 
tools to realise this vision.  

 

  

Page 124



 
 

Key Elements of the Deal 

Cardiff Capital Region Investment Fund 
 

10. This City Deal sets out a transformative approach in how the Cardiff Capital Region 
will deliver the scale and nature of investment needed to support the area’s growth 
plans. Central to this will be the development of a 20 year £1.2 billion Investment 
Fund, which the Cardiff Capital Region will use to invest in a wide range of projects.   
 

11. Both the UK and Welsh Government are contributing £500 million to this fund 
respectively. The Welsh Government funding will be provided over the first seven years 
of the Investment Fund, from 2016/17 to 2022/23. The ten local authorities in the 
Cardiff Capital Region will contribute a minimum of £120 million over the 20 year 
period of the Fund. In addition, over £100m from the European Regional 
Development Fund has been committed to delivering the City Deal. 
 

12. The Cardiff Capital Region believes investments in these areas will deliver up to 25,000 
new jobs and bring forward at least £4 billion of additional investment from local 
partners and the private sector by 2036.  

 

South East Wales Metro 
 

13. A key priority, which the City Deal Investment Fund will support, is the delivery of the 
South East Wales Metro. The scheme has the potential to provide a significantly 
improved public transport system that will transform the way people travel around 
the region. 
 

14. Given the importance of the Metro to the UK Government, Welsh Government and 
Cardiff Capital Region, a proportion of the Investment Fund will be pre-allocated to 
the delivery of this scheme. This pre-allocation focuses on both phases of the wider 
Metro scheme. These are:  

 
 The delivery of the Valley Lines Electrification programme. This City Deal re-

confirms the continued shared ambition of both Government’s and the Cardiff 
Capital Region to deliver this element of the wider Metro scheme. £325 million 
of the £1.2 billion Investment Fund has already been committed to the delivery 
of this scheme (£125 million from the UK Government, £94 million from the 
Welsh Government and £106 million from the European Regional Development 
Fund). 
 

 The delivery of the wider South East Wales Metro scheme. The Welsh 
Government will pre-allocate over £400m further funding from the Investment 
Fund to deliver the wider ambitions around the Metro scheme, which is the 
subject of ongoing design work. As part of this City Deal the Welsh Government 
commits to involving the Cardiff Capital Region in the co-design of the wider 
Metro scheme and in the procurement of a delivery organisation. 

 
15. The Department for Transport will agree the arrangements for making the agreed 

contribution to the Valley Lines Electrification project with the Welsh Government. The 

Page 125



 
 

Welsh Government will agree with the local authorities the arrangements for 
managing the funding of the Metro scheme, and how it interacts with funding for 
additional Metro investments delivered through this City Deal. 

 
Wider Investment Priorities  

 
16. The remaining element of the Investment Fund will be used to take forward a wide 

range of projects and schemes that support economic growth across the Cardiff 
Capital Region. Decisions on the prioritisation of these schemes will be taken by the 
Cardiff Capital Region Cabinet. Schemes taken forward could include: further 
transport schemes; investment to unlock housing and employment sites; and 
development of research and innovation facilities.   

 
Investment Fund Assurance Framework  
 

17. The ten local authorities across the Cardiff Capital Region commit to writing and 
adopting an assurance framework for this Investment Fund. This will be agreed by the 
UK and Welsh Government. By adopting the assurance framework prior to the 
commencement of the Investment Fund, the Cardiff Capital Region will ensure that 
schemes that are taken forward (outside of the South East Wales Metro which will be 
subject to a separate assessment against an assurance framework) represent good 
value for money and are underpinned by a robust business case. 

 
18. This assurance framework will be based on existing best practice from the UK 

Government and Welsh Government. In addition the framework will also draw upon 
any local best practice for managing investment decisions across the Capital Region. 
Key elements that the assurance framework will include are:  

 
 purpose, structure and operating principles of the framework;  
 arrangements to ensure value for money and effective delivery through strong 

project development, project and options appraisal, prioritisation, and business 
case development; 

 a description of the arrangements for supporting the effective delivery and 
implementation of projects and schemes, including relationships with delivery 
bodies; and 

 arrangements which enable effective and meaningful engagement of local 
partners and the public in the investment decisions taken and subsequent 
scrutiny of these decisions.   

 
Investment Fund Gateway Assessments  
 

19. Cardiff Capital Region will be required to evaluate the impact of the Investment Fund 
in order to unlock funding that has not been pre-allocated to the South East Wales 
Metro programme. This will be comprised of gateway assessments every five years. To 
underpin these gateway assessments, an independent review will be commissioned to 
evaluate the economic benefits and economic impact of the investments made under 
the scheme, including whether the projects have been delivered on time and to 
budget. This assessment will be funded by the Cardiff Capital Region, but agreed at 
the outset with the UK Government. The next five year tranche of funding will be 

Page 126



 
 

unlocked if the UK and Welsh Governments are satisfied that the independent 
assessment shows the investments to have met key objectives and contributed to 
national growth. 

 
Local Authority Borrowing  

 
20. Throughout the course of the City Deal programme the ten Cardiff Capital Region 

local authorities will be responsible for financing the capital investment programme. 
The difference in the profile between the proposed investment and the capital grant 
funding may require a local authority or authorities to borrow to fund any difference 
in expenditure and grant. The cost of any external borrowing is the responsibility of 
the relevant local authority or local authorities and is to be managed in accordance 
with prudential principles – it must be prudent, affordable and sustainable.  

 
21. In a scenario where a future Investment Fund Gateway is not achieved, leading to any 

reduction or cessation of City Deal grant, then it will be the responsibility of individual 
local authorities within the Cardiff Capital Region to manage the financial impact of 
this within their local authority budget, utilising reserves or surpluses as required.  

 
Additional Flexibilities  

 
22. In order to deliver the Cardiff Capital Region‘s City Deal commitments and a longer-

term economic strategy, the ten local authorities have requested greater financial 
autonomy and flexibility. As part of this City Deal the Welsh Government will explore 
with the Cardiff Capital Region:  
 
 the devolution of business rate income above an agreed growth baseline to 

provide funding for the City Deal programme; 
 providing the ability to levy an infrastructure supplement; 
 creating the option for the local authorities to use alternative finance sources; 

and 
 removing conditions around some specific Welsh Government grants, to allow 

funding to be pooled at the regional level in areas such as school support and 
interventions that seek to address poverty. 

 
 
  

Page 127



 
 

Connecting the Cardiff Capital Region   
 

23. Transport has a key role in delivering economic growth and improving outcomes for 
people by connecting communities, business, jobs, facilities and services. However 
across the Capital Region there are significant congestion and transport capacity 
issues that need to be addressed. The City Deal Investment Fund and South East 
Wales Metro will make a significant contribution to improving transport connectivity. 

 
24. In addition to this investment the Cardiff Capital Region will establish a new non-

statutory Regional Transport Authority to co-ordinate transport planning and 
investment, in partnership with the Welsh Government. The Cardiff Capital Region 
Transport Authority will be responsible for: 

 
 pooled local transport resources; 
 regional planning for the local transport network;   
 working with Transport for Wales to ensure objectives for transport investment 

are aligned;  
 exploring the creation of a single integrated ticketing platform for public 

transport across the Cardiff Capital Region; 
 working in partnership with the Welsh Government to define the priorities of the 

South East Wales Metro concept and to support its delivery; and 
 working in partnership with the Welsh Government to promote the development 

of integrated aviation routes from Cardiff Airport and St Athan Enterprise Zone, 
to deliver economic benefit. 

 
 

 

  

Page 128



 
 

Investing in Innovation and the Digital Network  
 

25. The Cardiff Capital Region has an aspiration to extend the “arc of innovation” that 
runs along the M4 corridor into the Cardiff Capital Region.  Capitalising on the 
research strengths of the Region’s three universities, the Cardiff Capital Region will 
designate an “Innovation District” that helps to: create and nurture new high growth 
businesses; increases investment in research and development; and provides the skills 
that businesses need now and in the future. 

 
Developing the Compound Semiconductor Sector   
 

26. To transform the UK’s capability, and help position Cardiff as the European leader in 
Compound Semiconductor applications, the UK Government will invest £50 million to 
establish a new Catapult in Wales. This new Catapult will complement the work of 
other organisations in Wales who are already working in this important area, 
including the Compound Semiconductor Institute at Cardiff University and the 
Compound Semiconductor Centre, a joint venture between Cardiff University and IQE. 
 

27. Recognising this opportunity, the Cardiff Capital Region will prioritise interventions 
that support the development of an internationally-competitive Compound Semi-
Conductor cluster. Local partners believe that this will put the UK at the heart of an 
emerging global growth technology. 

 
Innovation Investment  
 

28. To accelerate the growth of innovation and facilitate investment in research and 
development, the Cardiff Capital Region will seek to prioritise: 

 
 mechanisms to support high growth sectors; 
 the development of new facilities and employments sites; 
 new approaches to public service delivery; 
 the Software Academy in Newport and related programmes across the Capital 

Region; 
 investment in intellectual property creation and commercialisation; 
 adding value and complimenting existing innovation support; and 
 developing a cyber-security academy with the University of South Wales. 

 
Innovate UK  
 

29. Innovate UK is now planning to increase its footprint and presence in Wales, in order 
to: raise the awareness and engagement in Innovate UK programmes and activities; to 
strengthen its links with business, universities and other key partners; and to work 
with the Welsh Government to promote and support innovation. 

 
Data 
 

30. Cardiff Capital Region commits to developing proposals for how better and more 
flexible use of data could be used to drive innovation across the public sector and 
within the wider economy. The Cardiff Capital Region will present a clear case to the 

Page 129



 
 

UK Government for how a different approach to the use of specific data would 
improve service delivery and would benefit particular groups. 

 
The Digital Network   
 

31. Innovation will also be a central theme within the Cardiff Capital Region’s ambition to 
deliver an outstanding digital infrastructure and wider ecosystem to support economic 
growth. To continue to build on investments in next generation broadband, and the 
Region’s reputation as one of the fastest growing tech hubs in the UK, the Cardiff 
Capital Region will prioritise: 

 
 exploring the case for direct international connectivity; 
 the mobile infrastructure across 4G and 5G technologies that add value to 

existing provision; 
 increasing Wi-Fi services across public transport; 
 digital solutions to solve the big problems, such as smart housing, citizen 

payments and open data challenges; and 
 facilitating collaboration between stakeholders to identify and exploit 

opportunities.  

Page 130



 
 

Developing a Skilled Workforce and Tackling Unemployment  
 

32. This City Deal will improve the co-ordination and delivery of skills and employment 
support across the Capital Region.  It will help to increase the number of people 
moving into work (including those that have been out of work for a long time), 
increase the number of people undertaking an apprenticeship or other relevant skills 
provision and give people the skills they need to compete in a global employment 
market. 

 
The Cardiff Capital Region Skills and Employment Board  
 

33. To ensure skills provision is adapted to local economic and social needs and provides 
the best value for money, the Cardiff Capital Region will strengthen the existing 
Learning, Skills and Innovation Partnership. This will be re-launched in 2016 as the 
Cardiff Capital Region Skills and Employment Board.  
 

34. The Partnership will represent a wide range of stakeholders, including: business 
bodies; higher and further education; local authorities and the Welsh Government. It 
will be responsible for: 

 
 Cardiff Capital Region’s skills and worklessness strategy; 
 pooled local authority skills resource; 
 producing an annual regional plan for employment and skills. This annual plan, 

led by industry, will set out how both the existing skills needs of businesses and 
the Capital Region’s future skills challenges will be addressed; 

 influencing and monitoring the delivery and impact of employment and skills 
programmes across the Region; 

 ensuring an industry led approach to the design and delivery of apprenticeship 
programmes meets the needs of both business and apprentices; 

 supporting the Welsh Government’s “Curriculum for Wales, Curriculum for Life” 
plan, by encouraging closer alignment between future employer skills needs and 
education provision across the region; and 

 ensuring European Union funding investments in skills and employment add 
value and align with other programmes.  

 
Work and Health Programme  
 

35. Cardiff Capital Region and the Welsh Government will work with Department for 
Work and Pensions to co-design future employment support from 2017, for people 
with a health condition or disability and/or long term unemployed1, many of whom 
are currently referred to the Work Programme and Work Choice. 
 

36. The respective roles of the Department for Work and Pensions and Cardiff Capital 
Region in the co-design include: 

 

                                                           
1 Long term unemployed is defined as claiming benefits for 24 months. 

Page 131



 
 

 Department for Work and Pensions setting the funding envelope; however 
Cardiff Capital Region and the Welsh Government can top up this if they wish, 
but are not required to. 

 Cardiff Capital Region and the Welsh Government setting out how they will join 
up local public services in order to improve outcomes for this group. 

 Department for Work and Pensions setting the high level performance 
framework, ensuring support appropriately reflects labour market issues. The 
primary aim will be to reduce unemployment and move people into sustained 
employment.  

 Cardiff Capital Region (working with the Welsh Government) will have input into 
determining specific local outcomes that reflect their labour market priorities, 
however these outcomes should be complementary to the ultimate employment 
outcome. In determining any local outcome(s) Cardiff Capital Region and the 
Welsh Government will work with the Department for Work and Pensions to take 
account of the labour market evidence base and articulate how these will both fit 
within the wider strategic and economic context and deliver value for money. 

 
37. Before delivery commences the Department for Work and Pensions, Cardiff Capital 

Region and the Welsh Government will set out an agreement covering the respective 
roles of each party in the delivery and monitoring of the support. This will include a 
mechanism by which each party can raise and resolve any concerns that arise. 
 

38. The Department for Work and Pensions sets the contracting arrangements, including 
contract package areas, but should consider any proposals from Cardiff Capital 
Region on contract package area geography. 
 

39. Providers will be solely accountable to the Department for Work and Pensions, 
although Cardiff Capital Region and the Welsh Government will be involved in the 
tender evaluation.  
 

40. The Department for Work and Pensions and Cardiff Capital Region will develop a 
mechanism by which Cardiff Capital Region (working with the Welsh Government) 
can escalate to the Department for Work and Pensions any concerns about provider 
performance/reaching local agreements and require the Department for Work and 
Pensions to take formal contract action where appropriate. 

  

Page 132



 
 

Supporting Enterprise and Business Growth  
 

41. The Cardiff Capital Region is committed to improving the co-ordination of local and 
national business support arrangements. This includes working in partnership with the 
Welsh Government to address identified barriers to growth, support spatial and 
sectoral priorities and to target emerging opportunities for driving economic 
performance. 

 
The Cardiff Capital Region Business Organisation  
 

42. Local partners recognise that ensuring there is a strong business voice to guide both 
the design and delivery of business support across the region will be critical.  
 

43. Therefore working with public sector partners, the business community, and 
representative bodies, Cardiff Capital Region will establish a Cardiff Capital Regional 
Business Organisation. This organisation will provide a clear business voice that will 
influence and shape business support programmes. In creating the Board, a mapping 
and consultation process will be undertaken with existing advisory Boards operating 
within the Region. This will ensure roles and remits are complimentary and add value. 
The Board will be responsible for:  

 
 articulating the regional needs of business; 
 identifying regional priorities for existing business support services; and 
 designing future business support programmes. 
 

44. Membership will be drawn from across a range of sectors and interests, including 
social enterprises and mutuals. A joint Confederation of British Industry, Federation of 
Small Business, Institute of Directors and South Wales Chamber of Commerce 
statement outlined the underlying principles for the Business Organisation. The final 
structure will be designed by the Cardiff Capital Region business community.   

 
Integration of Local Business Support Services and Resources  

45. To ensure that relevant business support and promotional activities are delivered at 
the Capital Region level, local resources will be aligned to create an Integrated Delivery 
Unit. This unit will deliver regionally significant aspects of economic development. This 
includes: business development; marketing; tourism; and inward investment.  
 

46. The Integrated Delivery Unit, working in collaboration with the Welsh Government 
and the proposed Regional Business Organisation, will ensure that any new business 
support provision complements existing national initiatives. In addition, through this 
collaborative approach, the Welsh Government is committed to working with the 
Cardiff Capital Region to explore where existing business support provision can be 
built on or expanded, whilst avoiding duplication.  A number of existing programmes 
(for example Business Wales, which offers a one stop shop advice and referral service 
to SMEs and Entrepreneurs) have already been designed through consultation with 
industry and have the potential to be aligned with identified regional needs and 
priorities.   
 

Page 133



 
 

47. Further to this, the Welsh Government is also committed to working in partnership 
with the Cardiff Capital Region to promote the area at a global level. As part of this, 
the Welsh Government will ensure greater levels of visibility with the Welsh 
Government’s own overseas offices. In addition the Welsh Government will continue 
to work closely with UK Trade and Investment to ensure that its propositions are 
promoted and co-ordinated across the UK Trade and Investment overseas post 
network. 

 
 

 
  

Page 134



 
 

Housing Development and Regeneration  
 

48. Delivering an increase in house building across the Cardiff Capital Region will help to 
address critical housing shortages especially for first time buyers and those unable to 
join the ‘housing ladder’.  House building is also a critical element of the economy as 
it: stimulates demand within the supply chain during construction and through 
purchases by the eventual occupiers; contributes to a more balanced regional 
planning framework; and is a major employer in its own right.   
 

49. The City Deal presents a unique opportunity for the ten local authority areas to come 
together to develop and deliver a strategic approach to housing, regeneration and 
economic growth which will create an accessible, liveable, ‘work-life integrated’ and 
highly connected Capital Region. To support this ambition the Cardiff Capital Region 
will: 

 
 Commit to the development of a partnership between the Cardiff Capital Region 

and the Welsh Government to take a strategic and balanced approach to 
housing and regeneration, focussing development on where it is most needed – 
in a regional and coordinated way. 

 Ensure that new housing is linked to the delivery of sustainable and balanced 
communities, through the re-use of property and sites. Further, both the Welsh 
Government and Cardiff Capital Region will ensure that proposals to improve the 
efficiency and quality of the housing stock are aligned with other regeneration 
outcomes.  

 Establish a collective way of working, for example, through an asset development 
vehicle to progress speculative opportunities for potential Cardiff Capital Region 
regeneration ventures. 

 Develop an integrated public-private housing offer, with clarity over tenure, mix 
type, design and affordability with prototyping for ‘settlements of the future’.  

 Utilise innovation in local procurement to secure supply chain benefits, local 
labour and other social clauses to maximise value.  

 Establish the delivery of renewable energy-led regeneration and housing 
programmes and ensure the principles of ‘clean-tech’ are anchored within 
physical development initiatives. This will contribute to ensuring ‘future-proofing’ 
and creation of new supply chain networks. 

 Engage the affordable housing sector providers in the region as one network. 
Working with Cardiff Capital Region this network will develop a regional 
“Housing Plus” strategy in which added value benefits such as training 
construction apprenticeships, energy resilience and job creation are clearly set out 
and adopted. This will provide a framework against which site regeneration 
schemes can be prioritised for investment. 

 
50. In both the planning and delivery of new housing and regeneration projects, the 

Cardiff Capital Region will ensure that there is alignment to current Welsh 
Government programmes including Creating Vibrant and Viable Places – the Welsh 
Government’s regeneration framework and increasing the supply and standards of 
housing.

Page 135



 
 

Cardiff Capital Region Governance  
 

51. The ten local authority partners of the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal have agreed 
to establish a governance model that: 

 
 complies with the existing statutory framework that exists in Wales to deliver this 

City Deal; 
 strengthens and streamlines the existing governance and partnership 

arrangements across the Capital Region; 
 improves business involvement in local decision making; 
 provides confidence and assurance to both the UK and Welsh Government that 

the local authority leaders are making decisions which will drive economic 
growth across the Capital Region; and 

 enables local authorities to explore with the Welsh Government alternative 
governance arrangements in the medium term. 

 
Cardiff Capital Region Cabinet 

52. Utilising the existing statutory framework, the ten local authorities will establish a 
Cardiff Capital Region Cabinet. The Cabinet will have the status of a Joint Committee 
and will be the ultimate decision making body in the governance structure. 
 

53. The establishment of a Capital Region Cabinet will be the first step in the 
development of greater city-region governance across the Cardiff Capital Region. 
The Cabinet, which will comprise the ten participating local authorities, will provide 
the basis for initial decision making regarding the Investment Fund. In addition the 
Cardiff Capital Region Cabinet will be responsible for: 

 
 management of the Cardiff Capital Region Investment Fund; 
 additional devolved funding provided to the Capital Region;  
 the Cardiff Capital Region Transport Authority; 
 contracting with Transport for Wales on prioritised Metro projects; 
 control over devolved business rate income above an agreed growth forecast, 

subject to Welsh Government agreement; 
 strategic planning including housing, transport planning and land use; 
 influencing skills and worklessness programmes; 
 an Inward investment and marketing strategy; and 
 considering the scope for strengthening Capital Region governance further. 

 
54. A comprehensive agreement will be drawn up between the participating authorities 

which will bind and commit each individual local authority and any successor 
authority (in the event of local government re-organisation) for such duration as is 
necessary to deliver the City Deal. The agreement will also allow for the possibility of 
additional functions and powers to be devolved to the Cabinet in the future. 
 

55. The Cardiff Capital Region commit to reviewing the City Deal governance and 
exploring the future options for moving to even stronger and effective governance 
that is legally binding. The review will include consulting the Welsh Government and 

Page 136



 
 

the UK Government to identify actions needed to take forward future governance 
options.  

 
Strategic Regional Planning 

 
56. The Cardiff Capital Region, in partnership with the Welsh Government, will commit 

to the creation of an integrated strategic development plan that incorporates 
housing and employment land-use with wider transport plans. The strategic plan 
will provide the underpinning blue-print for development across the city-region.   

 
Cardiff Capital Region Economic Growth Partnership 

57. A Cardiff Capital Region Economic Growth Partnership will be established to bring 
together business, higher education and local government. The partnership would 
be responsible for setting the overarching city-region economic development 
strategy, as well as monitoring and making recommendations to the Cabinet with 
regard to City Deal implementation. The partnership will have a specific role to 
provide advice on investment decisions. This will ensure the City Deal and other 
interventions make an impact on economic growth and increase employment. 

 
58. The Partnership’s membership and terms of reference will be established using the 

best international practice such as the Danish Growth Forums, as well as the Local 
Enterprise Partnership model in England and the Economic Leadership Board 
established in Glasgow.  

 
Independent Growth and Competitiveness Commission 

 
59. The Cardiff Capital Region will establish an independent Growth and 

Competitiveness Commission to support the city region’s economic and investment 
strategy.  It will review activities related to the City Deal as well as wider economic 
and growth interventions.   
 

60. The Commission’s first task will be to review the evidence about the functional 
economic area and advise how best to generate Gross Value Added growth and 
support the ambitions of a dynamic capital region.   
 

61. The Commission will be jointly established by the ten local authorities that comprise 
the Cardiff Capital Region in consultation with the Welsh and UK Governments. 
 

62. The Commission will examine the challenges and opportunities for economic growth 
and competitiveness and make recommendations for how the Cardiff Capital Region 
can achieve its full growth potential. 

 
Delivery, Monitoring and Evaluation 
 

63. Cardiff Capital region will work with the UK Government and the Welsh Government 
to develop an agreed implementation, monitoring and evaluation plan in advance of 
implementation, which sets out the proposed approach delivery and evaluating the 
impact of delivery.  

Page 137



 
 

 
64. The Cardiff Capital Region City Deal will be monitored by the Joint Cabinet. The joint 

programme management team will provide the Cabinet, the UK Government and 
the Welsh Government with quarterly performance report that will: 

 
 highlight City Deal successes; 
 provide a performance narrative for each element of the City Deal against agreed 

implementation plan timescales; 
 provide information on outputs and outcomes agreed;  
 identify mitigating actions for projects and programmes that are not being 

delivered to agreed timescales. 
 

65. The UK Government and Welsh Government will work with the Cardiff Capital 
Region to agree a timetable for the production of these reports and will convene 
regular progress meetings.  
 

66. The Cardiff Capital Region commit to recognising the “City Deal” in promoting and 
branding investments made as a result of this Deal. This includes acknowledging the 
UK Government equally alongside other funding partners. The Cardiff Capital Region 
may wish to explore a single unique brand identity that represents the whole Capital 
Region area and all the partners involved in delivering the City Deal. 

 

Page 138



Page 1 of 4 

CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL  
CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD 
 
CABINET MEETING: 21 MARCH 2016 

 
 
CREATIVE EDUCATION PARTNERSHIP  
 
REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF EDUCATION AND LIFELONG 
LEARNING  

AGENDA ITEM: 4    
 
  
PORTFOLIO: EDUCATION (COUNCILLOR SARAH MERRY) 
 
Reason for this Report 
 
1. To update Cabinet about the development of partnership between Cardiff 

Council, schools and the creative industries in Cardiff 
 

Background 
 
2. Cardiff is well placed to develop innovative partnerships between 

schools, businesses, universities and other bodies in the city. Such 
partnerships are already strengthening and there is considerable 
potential for further impact.  In particular, the ‘creative economy' is a 
priority area for the Welsh Government and is now one of Wales' fastest 
growing sectors. Recent statistics show the number of people working in 
this industry in Wales increased by 52% between 2005 and 2014, with 
nearly 50,000 people now employed by the sector; with much of the 
sector based in and around Cardiff. 

 
2. The rationale for a partnership between education and the creative 

economy in Cardiff assumes: 
 

• Some of our communities need support to raise aspirations and 
create a culture of achievement and success, underpinned by a high 
quality education. 

• There is a need to develop the relationship between business and 
education so that young people leave education with the skills and 
competences to be work ready. 

• The growth in the creative economy in Cardiff presents an exciting 
opportunity to connect young people and their communities to a 
vibrant, dynamic and innovative sector. 

 
3. Initial meetings have taken place between Cardiff Council and potential 

partners. The partnership is not exclusive. Other bodies will be 
encouraged to join as members. The partnership is first and foremost 
about partnering between any school in Cardiff and the sector. The 

 

Page 139

Agenda Item 4



Page 2 of 4 

proposed "Founding Partners" are listed below and would commit to the 
Partnership Agreement. (see App 1) subject to Cabinet agreement to 
progress: 

 
• BBC Wales 
• Cardiff Council - Education and Economic Development 
• Cardiff and Vale College 
• Creative & Cultural Skills UK 
•  Amgueddfa Cymru / National Museum Wales 
• Wales Millennium Centre 
• University of South Wales 

 
Issues 
 
4. One ‘pathfinder school' will be identified to promote and pilot the 

partnership model. It is proposed this will be the new High School in the 
West, scheduled to open in September 2017 and moving to new purpose 
built premises in 2018. 

 
5. This way of working is by no way exclusive to the pathfinder school, and 

is a model of partnership which could be replicated if successful, with 
other sectors in the regional economy eg Science, technology 
engineering. 
 

Reasons for Recommendations 
 
6. To create a partnership between Cardiff schools and the creative and 

cultural sector in the city that will enrich the curriculum and learning. 
 
7. The partnership seeks to: 

 
• Put creativity at the heart of learning, developing problem solving, 

tenacity, resilience and innovation, and promoting creativity through 
links between schools and the creative economy. 

 
• Broaden horizons so all young people have the opportunity to fully 

engage in the cultural, social and economic life of Cardiff. 
 
• Ensure business and cultural activity fully reflects the changing face 

of Wales. 
 

8. Young People will be inspired by opportunities designed to foster their 
creativity and develop their skills to be resilient, innovative and problem 
solving learners. 
 

9. Communities will be empowered through meaningful projects and 
activities with employers and partners in the creative sector.  

 
10. The city will be enhanced by a dynamic, creative economy underpinned 

by a vibrant education system. 
 

Page 140



Page 3 of 4 

11. Partners seek to develop a model which could be extended beyond 
Cardiff to the city region and wider across Wales. 

 
12. The partnership will coordinate and promote a programme of education 

links available to schools in all phases across Cardiff. Employers from 
across the creative and cultural sector will be encouraged to become 
associate partners contributing to the education-creative economy 
programme and benefitting from the alignment and profile that the 
partnership will bring. 

 
13. Learners in Cardiff will benefit from a rich curriculum which delivers ‘real 

world' learning opportunities. There will be a strong focus on 
competencies which will ensure young people are work ready, e.g. focus 
on communication; team working; flexibility; adaptability; and 
entrepreneurialism. Students will benefit from an improved understanding 
of the careers available within the sector to make more informed choices. 
There will be a bias towards innovation and problem solving, 
encouraging students to take managed risks and developing their 
confidence to enter a fast changing employment market. Partnership will 
promote awareness of the distinctiveness of Welsh identity, including the 
Welsh language, linked to Cardiff's past, current and future role as an 
international city. 

 
Financial Implications 
 
14. The Cultural Broker post will be funded via the Schools Organisation 

Financial Model, revenue stream. This will be temporary for two years 
and there will be no impact on the school's delegated budget.  
 

Legal Implications 
 
15. Chapter 1 of the Education Act 2002 facilitates the implementation by 

local authorities of innovative projects, such as this, that may contribute 
to the raising of standards in schools in Wales. This enables local 
authorities to apply for an exemption for any requirements of education 
legislation if necessary. No such application has been made for the 
purposes of the pilot as this project does not require it. 

 
16. The report sets out proposals to set up a partnership with other bodies 

for the reasons set out in the report. Legal services are instructed that the 
partnership body is not intended to be a legal entity in its own right and is 
intended to be an informal partnership group and other members can 
join. 

 
17. It is also understood that this is not a contract for services and apart from 

officer time, there will be no direct financial commitment associated with 
the partnership arrangements. 

 
18. As part of those partnership arrangements the parties intend to enter into 

an informal agreement setting out how the arrangements will operate. In 
line with the recommendation this will be agree with the Director under 
delegated authority set out in this report. 

Page 141



Page 4 of 4 

 
19. In respect of the power to enter into the partnership agreement the client 

department should satisfy itself that it has the necessary powers to do so. 
 
20. In respect of the West pilot scheme, legal services have been instructed 

that any further specific requirements will be subject to a separate 
decision report.  

 
HR Implications 
 
21. This report recommends the recruitment of a ‘cultural broker', who will be 

appointed  to broker links between the pathfinder school and the 
businesses on the creative sector as part of the development programme 
for the new school within the Council's Schools Organisation team.  

 
22. In line with Cardiff Council policies and procedures there will be a 

requirement for Trade Union consultation on the establishment of this 
post, for this post to be job evaluated and advertised internally in the first 
instance, in line with normal Council procedures. 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Cabinet is recommended to;  
 
1. approve in principle the setting up of partnership arrangements as 

detailed in this report.  
 

2. Authorise the Director of Education and Lifelong Learning in consultation 
with the Interim Monitoring Officer to finalise the partnership 
arrangements including agreement of any terms of such partnership, 
members of the partnership and all ancillary matters. 

 
 
Nick Batchelar 
Director 
15 March 2016 
 
The following appendix is attached:  
 
Appendix 1 - Draft Partnership Agreement 
 
 

Page 142



 

 

Appendix 1 
 

PARTNERIAETH ADDYSG GREADIGOL: CAERDYDD 
CREATIVE EDUCATION PARTNERSHIP: CARDIFF 

 
 

Partnership Agreement 
 
 

The Partnership aims to enthuse and inspire young people, 
supporting their educational achievement through rich and 

meaningful engagement with the creative economy. 
 
It will: 
 

• Put creativity at the heart of learning, developing problem solving, 
tenacity, resilience and innovation. Promoting creativity through links with 
the school and creative economy. 
 

• Broaden horizons so all young people have the opportunity to fully 
engage in the cultural, social and economic life of Cardiff. 
 

• Ensure business and cultural activity fully reflects the changing face of 
Wales. 
 

Young People will be inspired by opportunities designed to foster their creativity 
and develop their skills to be resilient, innovative and problem solving learners. 
Communities will be empowered through meaningful projects and activities with 
employers and partners in the creative sector.  
 
The City will be enhanced by a dynamic, creative economy underpinned by a 
vibrant education system. 
 
Partners seek to develop a model which could be extended beyond Cardiff to 
the city region and wider across Wales. 
 
[Signed/Organisational Logos] 
 
  

Page 143



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 33 

CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL  
CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD 
 
CABINET MEETING: 21 MARCH 2016 

 
 
SCHOOL ORGANISATION PLANNING: SCHOOLS CATCHMENT 
AREA CONSULTATION 
 
REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF EDUCATION AND LIFELONG 
LEARNING 

ITEM: 5    
 
  
PORTFOLIO: EDUCATION (COUNCILLOR SARAH MERRY) 
 
Reason for this Report 
 
1. To inform the Cabinet of responses received following consultation on 

catchment area arrangements relating to English-medium and Welsh-
medium primary and secondary school provision, to present an 
evaluation of the responses and to request that the Cabinet considers 
the recommendation to make changes to some catchment boundaries. 

 
Background 
 
2. The supply of and demand for school places, is under continual review 

within the context of school organisation planning to ensure a good 
match between the supply of and demand for places in each part of the 
Local Authority. 

 
3. Catchment areas need to be of a size and geographical area that can 

sustain schools at their proposed pupil capacities and are sufficiently 
convenient for the majority of pupils and parents in the locality. 

 
4. The Welsh Government School Admissions Code guidance includes 

the requirement to consult on school catchment areas where this is 
appropriate. 

 
Catchment area consultations 

 
5. As part of this review public consultation was undertaken between 02 

February and 01 March on revising catchment area arrangements for 
the following schools: 

 
6. English-medium Primary and Secondary Schools Catchment Area 

Consultation: Revised catchment area arrangements for: 
 
Cantonian High School  Fitzalan High School  

 

Page 145

Agenda Item 5



Page 2 of 33 

Kitchener Primary School  Lansdowne Primary School 
Radnor Primary School  Severn Primary School 
 

7. Welsh-medium Primary and Secondary Schools Catchment Area 
Consultation; Revised catchment area arrangements for: 

 
 Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf 
 Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Plasmawr 

Ysgol Pencae 
 

Consultation 
 
8. Public consultations on the proposed catchment area changes were 

held between 02 February and 01 March 2016.  Headteachers, 
Governors, parents and others in the local community were invited to 
respond to the consultations. 

 
9. The consultation process involved the distribution of a letter and 

proposed catchment area map.  Documents have been distributed to all 
relevant stakeholders.  The document offered consultees the 
opportunity to comment on the proposals by post or e-mail. 

 
10. Views expressed on paper or electronically, through the appropriate 

channels, have been recorded. 
 
English-medium Primary and Secondary Schools Catchment Areas 
 
11. At present Kitchener, Lansdowne, Radnor and Severn primary schools 

serve catchment areas that include parts of Canton, Llandaff and 
Riverside.  The catchment area of these four primary school currently 
fall within the secondary school catchment area of Fitzalan High School.  

 
12. Projections indicate that the demand for English-medium places from 

within the existing catchment area of Fitzalan High School will exceed 
the number of places available at entry to the school, whilst demand 
from within the existing catchment area of Cantonian High School is 
less than the school is able to accommodate. 

 
13. The proposed changes to catchment areas seek to achieve a balance 

between the revised catchment areas of these high schools, and also 
between the catchment areas of Kitchener, Lansdowne, Radnor and 
Severn primary schools. 

 
14. The proposal was that the boundary between the catchment areas of 

Lansdowne, Kitchener and Severn primary schools be amended such 
that: 

 
• part of the existing Lansdowne catchment transfers to the 

catchment of Kitchener Primary School. 
• part of the existing Kitchener catchment transfers to the catchment 

of Severn Primary School. 
 

Page 146



Page 3 of 33 

15. The remaining catchment areas of Lansdowne Primary School and 
Radnor Primary School would also transfer from the secondary school 
catchment area of Fitzalan High School to Cantonian High School. 

 
16. A copy of the catchment area map details in the proposed catchment 

areas that would be implemented in September 2017 can be seen at 
Appendix 1. 

 
Background  
 
Demand for English-medium community secondary school places – 
existing catchment areas 
 
17. The catchment areas of Cantonian High School and Fitzalan High 

School are, like other Community secondary schools in Cardiff, made 
up of a number of community primary school catchment areas. 

 
Cantonian High School 
 
18. The catchment area of Cantonian High School is made up of the 

primary school catchment areas of: 
 

• Fairwater Primary School 
• Pentrebane Primary School 
• Peter Lea Primary School 

19. The total number of places available at entry to Cantonian High School 
(the Published Admission Number) is 181. The combined number of 
places available at entry to the three community primary schools within 
Cantonian High School (the Published Admission Number) total 119.  

 
20. The most recent verified Pupil Level Annual School Census (PLASC) 

data collated in 2015 indicated that the pupil population of primary 
school age within the catchment area of Cantonian High School totalled 
1,297 pupils of which 733 pupils (56.5%) were attending English-
medium community primary schools. 

 
21. Table 1 below details the number of pupils resident in each of the 

primary school catchment areas within the Cantonian High School 
catchment area that are enrolled in English-medium community primary 
education. 

 
Table 1: Number of pupils resident in each of the primary school catchment areas within the Cantonian 
High School catchment area that are enrolled in English-medium community primary education (PLASC 
2015) 
Year 
Group: 

6 5 4 3 2 1 Reception  

(Enters Sec 
Education) 

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

Catchment        
Fairwater  20 29 40 30 39 34 37 
Pentrebane  26 32 23 38 48 34 44 
Peter Lea  27 37 29 38 39 41 48 
Total 73 98 92 106 126 109 129 
 

Page 147



Page 4 of 33 

22. Table 2 below sets out the projected demand for places at a community 
secondary school within each of the primary school catchment areas 
within the Cantonian High School catchment areas. These take account 
of the number of pupils enrolled in English-medium, Welsh-medium and 
faith education in each of the primary school catchment areas, and of 
the percentage of pupils transferring to community education in recent 
years.  

 
23. For the purpose of clarity, the net loss of pupils to other sectors (e.g. to 

Faith schools, private education, schools in other Local Authorities) is 
also detailed. 

 
Table 2: Number of pupils resident in each of the primary school catchment areas within the Cantonian 

High School catchment area projected to promote to an English-medium community school 
Enters Sec 
Ed 

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

Catchment:        
Fairwater  17 23 31 21 29 23 26 
Pentrebane  23 28 20 33 43 28 36 
Peter Lea  26 38 28 35 36 39 49 
Total 66 89 79 89 108 90 111 
Catchment 
surplus 

115 92 102 92 73 91 70 

Projected 
net loss – 
Faith, 
private etc 

7 9 13 17 18 19 18 

As % of 
primary 
cohort 
promoting 

90% 91% 86% 84% 86% 83% 86% 

 
Fitzalan High School 
 
24. The catchment area of Fitzalan High School is made up of the primary 

school catchment areas of: 
 
• Grangetown Primary School 
• Kitchener Primary School 
• Lansdowne Primary School 
• Mount Stuart Primary School 
• Ninian Park Primary School 
• Radnor Primary School 
• Severn Primary School 
• St Mary The Virgin Church  in Wales Primary School 

25. There is also an additional ‘shared area’ in Canton within which pupils 
are considered to live within the catchment areas of both Lansdowne 
and Radnor. 

 
26. The total number of places available at entry to Fitzalan High School 

(the Published Admission Number) is currently 286. This will (subject to 
the approval of separate admission arrangements) increase to 300 
places from September 2017 to reflect extension of the school. 

 
27. The combined number of places available at entry to the seven 

community primary schools within Fitzalan High School (the Published 
Admission Number) currently total 405.  

Page 148



Page 5 of 33 

 
28. The most recent PLASC census data indicated that the pupil population 

of primary school age within the catchment area of Fitzalan High School 
totalled 4,745 pupils of which 2736 pupils (57.7%) were attending 
English-medium community primary schools  

 
29. Table 3 below details the number of pupils resident in each of the 

primary school catchment areas within the Fitzalan High School 
catchment area that are enrolled in English-medium community primary 
education. 
 

Table 3: Number of pupils resident in each of the primary school catchment areas within the 
Fitzalan High School catchment area that are enrolled in English-medium community primary 
education (PLASC 2015) 
Year 
Group: 

6 5 4 3 2 1 Reception   

Enters Sec 
Ed 

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021  

Catchment:         
Grangetown  85 87 93 84 112 103 100  
Kitchener  80 86 74 69 103 87 77  
Lansdowne  37 42 36 43 35 33 40  
Mount 
Stuart  

21 25 20 32 26 39 29  

Ninian Park 78 74 80 71 29 67 74  
Radnor 19 20 17 25 24 23 20  
Severn 32 47 28 38 45 44 47  
St Mary The 
Virgin* 

9 11 10 12 10 17 4  

Shared area 0 5 4 5 2 5 2  
Total 361 397 362 379 396 418 393  
 
30. * Whilst St Mary The Virgin School has a discrete catchment area, 

pupils attending the school are enrolled in a Faith school and are 
therefore not included in the above data. The above data therefore 
reflects pupils resident within that geographical area but attending 
English-medium community schools e.g. Mount Stuart Primary, 
Grangetown Primary etc. 

 
31. It is evident from the above table that the total number of pupils resident 

in each of the primary school catchment areas enrolled in English-
medium community primary education exceeds the number of places 
available at entry to Fitzalan High School. 

 
32. Table 4 overleaf sets out the projected demand for places at a 

community secondary school within each of the primary school 
catchment areas within the Fitzalan High School catchment area that 
are enrolled in English-medium community primary education. These 
take account of the number of pupils enrolled in English-medium, 
Welsh-medium and faith education in each of the primary school 
catchment areas and take account of the percentage of pupils 
transferring to community education in recent years. 

 

Page 149



Page 6 of 33 

 
Table 4: Number of pupils resident in each of the primary school catchment areas within the 
Fitzalan High School catchment area projected to promote to an English-medium community 
school 
Enters Sec 
Ed 

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

Catchment:        
Grangetown  71 74 79 77 108 107 110 
Kitchener  65 72 62 57 81 72 65 
Lansdowne  37 38 34 41 34 33 39 
Mount 
Stuart  

20 25 19 38 32 46 40 

Ninian Park 63 61 66 59 58 54 64 
Radnor 13 16 14 19 18 18 15 
Severn 27 40 24 32 36 36 36 
St Mary The 
Virgin* 

19 21 19 20 14 26 6 

Shared area 0 2 1 2 1 1 0 
Total 315 349 318 345 382 393 375 
Catchment 
deficit 

-29 -63 -18 -45 -82 -93 -75 

Projected 
Net loss 

46 48 44 44 14 25 18 

As % of 
primary 
cohort 
promoting 

87% 88% 88% 91% 96% 94% 95% 

 
33. It is evident when comparing PLASC pupil data that similar proportions 

of pupils in the Cantonian and Fitzalan catchment areas attend English-
medium community primary schools (56.5% and 57.7% respectively) , 
and projections indicate that broadly similar proportions of pupils are 
expected to promote to English-medium community secondary schools. 

 
34. However, the difference in size of the eligible population in the 

Cantonian and Fitzalan catchment areas (1,297 and 4,745 
respectively), and in turn the numbers of pupils expected to promote to 
English-medium secondary schools is significant.  

 
35. Taking into account the Published Admission Numbers (PANs) at each 

school, projections indicate: 
 

• Approximately 3.4FE surplus capacity in September 2017, falling 
to 2.4FE surplus capacity in September 2019 at entry to Year 7 at 
Cantonian High School 

• Approximately 0.6FE excess demand in September 2017, rising to 
2.7FE excess demand in September 2019 at entry to Year 7 at 
Fitzalan High School. 

36. Projections take account of pupils enrolled in schools and changes to 
populations over recent years and use a cohort survival model. The 
above projections do not include the additional demand for English-
medium places (of up to 3FE) from proposed housing developments 
within the Fitzalan High School catchment area 

 
37. Recent consultation on proposals for the Four Wards noted the 

projected shortfall of primary school places in Grangetown and to meet 
the expected yield from planned housing developments in the 
Butetown, Grangetown, Canton and Riverside areas including: 

 

Page 150



Page 7 of 33 

•  Prospect Place, Grangetown 
•  International Sports Village, Grangetown 
•  Ely Mill (former Arjo Wiggins site), Canton 
•  West of Dumballs Road, Butetown 
•  Bessemer Fruit Market, Grangetown 
•  Gas Works site, Ferry Road, Grangetown 
•  Porth Teigr (Roath Basin), Butetown 

 
38. Building works have resumed on the Prospect Place site and works 

have commenced on the ISV site. The timing of the commencement, 
completion and composition/ size of the dwellings in other 
developments remains unclear at this stage; however, based on 
information currently available the combined projected yield of these 
developments when completed amounts to a further 111 pupils per year 
group of which up to 83 pupils may wish to attend English-medium 
schools. 

 
Entry to Secondary Education - September 2016  
 
39. For entry to Year 7 to Fitzalan High School in September 2015, the 

Council received a total of 381 preferences by the published closing 
date of Monday, 30 November 2015. Following consideration of all the 
preferences received approval was given for the admission of the 
following 286 pupils in accordance with the Council’s published 
admission arrangements: - 
 
• 1 pupil who is looked after/previously looked after by a Local 

Authority (as defined by section 22 of the Children Act 1989) 
• 5 pupils who are subject of a statement of Special Educational 

Needs 
• 280 pupils who are resident within the catchment area on grounds 

of closest proximity of home address Fitzalan High School. 

40. The Council has a duty to admit those children who are looked 
after/previously looked after by a Local Authority and those who are the 
subject of a statement of SEN.  

 
41. The Council was not able to admit all children from within the catchment 

area that requested a place. In the first round of admissions, 47 children 
resident in the catchment area of the school, who applied by the closing 
date for preferences, were refused admission to the school. 

 
Summary 
 
42. Implementation of the proposed change would provide a closer match 

of the supply of and demand for places from 2017/18.  
 
43. It is clear that from the above that if the status quo is retained and the 

proposal is not implemented that the number of children in the Fitzalan 
catchment who will not be able to gain a place at their catchment school 

Page 151



Page 8 of 33 

will increase over the coming years with those pupils furthest from the 
catchment from the school being most likely to be adversely affected.   

 
44. This will result in an increased number of children being required to 

access high school provision in neighbouring English-medium 
catchments with many children required to travel  in excess of 3 miles to 
their nearest local high school and therefore eligible for free home to 
school transport.  This will have associated transport costs over an 
extended period to be met by the Council until the children concerned 
have left statutory education which will increase year on year until 
catchment areas change. 

 
Responses received during the consultation period 
 
45. In total 451 responses were received. Of these 14 were in support and 

437 were in opposition. In addition a petition with 460 signatories was 
also received in opposition to the proposal. Formal responses received 
can be seen at Appendix 5. 

 
46. A summary of the main views expressed and the Council’s response 

are set out below. Views expressed by respondents are in bold 
italicised font with the Council’s response following. 

 
Consultation process and length 

 
47. The time allowed for the consultation is too short and does not 

allow adequate time for people to make their views known given 
the amount of information that requires consideration by 
stakeholders.  

 
48. The consultation was undertaken in accordance with the requirements 

of the School Admissions Code, the School Standards and Framework 
Act 1998 and the Education (Determination of Admission 
Arrangements) (Wales) Regulations 2006 as it is a proposed change to 
the admission arrangements (rather than an alteration to a School 
which would be under the School Organisation Code and the School 
Standards and Organisation Act 2013.)  

 
49. The School Admissions Code is not as detailed as the School 

Organisation Code in relation to consultation and although the 
principles are similar, the timescales are different and there is no 
requirement within the School Admissions Code to publish proposals or 
to consult parents. In line with the requirement of the School 
Admissions Code, admission arrangements must be consulted upon 
between 1 September and 1 March (and set by 15 April each year) in 
relation to the school year two years later – in this case 2017/18. There 
is no minimum consultation period, which there is in the School 
Organisation Code (42 days which is to include 20 school days.) 

 
50. Reference in the School Admissions Code is made under paragraph 2.6 

to bodies that the Admission Authority should consult where a 
significant change is proposed; this includes the Admissions Forum and 

Page 152



Page 9 of 33 

parents of children likely to be affected. This is made in the context of 
consulting on admission arrangements prior to their determination.  

 
51. Parents of Pupils attending primary schools subject to catchment 

boundary changes (namely Radnor, Lansdowne, Severn and Kitchener) 
and parents of pupils in Years 7-11 at Cantonian and Fitzalan have 
each received hard copies of the document (sent out through schools).  

 
52. Parents of children of primary school age, who are resident in the 

primary school catchment areas of Radnor, Lansdowne, Severn and 
Kitchener but attending other schools in Cardiff, have also received 
hard copies of the document (sent via post). 

 
53. Parents of children of pre-school age, who are resident in the affected 

primary school catchment areas of Radnor, Lansdowne, Severn and 
Kitchener have also received hard copies of the document (sent via 
post). 

 
54. Admission arrangements for other schools are unaffected by the 

proposed changes, however the Headteacher and Chair of Governors 
all schools in Cardiff were also advised of the consultation and e-mailed 
the weblink to the consultation document.  

 
55. The material for consultation was not supplied in minority 

languages and therefore not all families would be able to engage 
meaningfully as not all would be able to understand the proposal 
put forward. 

 
56. The principle of consultation involves publishing full, clear details of the 

proposals and inviting responses from interested parties. The 
consultation showing the proposed changes to catchment areas was 
published on the website on 2 February 2016 in compliance with the 
School Admissions Code. The headteachers of schools directly affected 
by the proposed changes were informed on 1 February.  

 
57. Hard copies of the map and address for views to be sent to, were sent 

to all children at these schools the following week, as well as parents of 
children not yet of school age, and parents of families who were 
resident in the areas but whose children attend other English 
Community schools. The proposal was also publicised on the Council’s 
social media forums as is standard on Council consultations of this 
type.  It has therefore been publicised by the Council consistent with 
established publicity methods.  

 
58. The School Admissions Code refers to the use of catchment areas and 

in particular, states that they should be designed so that the boundary is 
reasonable and clearly defined, and states that admission authorities 
must make maps of the specified areas available. The proposals were 
supported by a clear map with colour coded clear boundaries. 

 
59. Written material for the purpose of consultation meets the statutory 

requirements of being provided bilingually. The issue of providing this 

Page 153



Page 10 of 33 

information has been discussed with schools. The standard community 
languages form used by the service to support school organisation 
proposals was sent out as requested by specific schools.  This form has 
enabled parents to state whether they wished to receive the catchment 
consultation information in their home language and translated 
responses were issued accordingly. 

 
Quality of Education 
 
60. Concerns were raised regarding the standard of education offered 

at Cantonian High School which is banded as a ‘Red’ school by 
comparison with that offered at Fitzalan High School which is 
banded as a ‘Green’ school. 

 
61. Concerns were raised with regard to the facilities at Cantonian 

High School and that they are not on par with those available at 
Fitzalan High School which means the schools cannot make the 
same offer. 

 
Welsh Government School Categorisation  
 
62. It is recognised that the National School Categorisation banding for 

Fitzalan High School are currently higher than for Cantonian High 
School. However, both provide comprehensive education for their pupils 
and appropriate measures are in place to support each in the areas 
identified for their improvement.  

 
63. The main purpose of the WG School Categorisation is to identify which 

schools are in the most need of support.  The system ensures that, in 
partnership with local authorities and consortia direct support and 
resources are directed to improve the school system and as a result 
raise standards and performance in Wales. 

 
64. The system is about providing support and encouraging collaborative 

improvement by putting schools into a position that enables them to 
identify the factors that contribute to their progress and achievement, or 
what areas to focus on to achieve further development.  

 
65. The categorisation colour shows the level of support a school needs – 

green, yellow, amber or red (with the schools in the green category 
needing the least support and those in the red category needing the 
most intensive support). Each school will receive a tailored programme 
of support, challenge and intervention based on their category to 
develop their strategies for leadership and teaching and learning.  

 
66. Cantonian High School is receiving support from the Central South 

Consortium (CSC) and is making significant and continued progress 
under this support.  

 
67. Additionally, Cantonian High School is part of the Welsh Government 

Challenge Cymru initiative under which the school is receiving 
additional resources and expertise over and above the CSC support to 

Page 154



Page 11 of 33 

undertake a programme of swift, sustainable improvement. The school 
is judged to be making good progress to date. 

 
Estyn 
 
68. Cantonian High School was last inspected in February 2015.  The 

school’s performance was judged to be adequate with prospects for 
improvement judged to be unsatisfactory. 

 
69. Fitzlan High School was last inspected in September 2010.  The 

school’s performance was judged to be good with prospects for 
improvement judged to be good. 

 
70. Following the Estyn inspection of Cantonian High School, the Local 

Authority took action to strengthen governance at the school and to 
secure improvement in the quality of education provided. 

 
71. Cantonian High School has made improvements against all 

recommendations as set out in the Estyn inspection in February 2015.  
It is the view of the Local Authority and the CSC this progress made is 
expected to continue and this will be recognised in future inspections 
and bandings.  

 
72. It is recognised that at this stage the view of the professional advisors 

involved with the school is yet to be endorsed by external inspectorate 
bodies.  An Estyn revisit is expected to take place in coming months 
and the LA is confident the improvements made at the school in terms 
of standards of leadership, quality of teaching and the outcomes of 
children will be recognised. 

 
73. The view with regard to the facilities at the respective schools is 

acknowledged.  Both schools are being considered for reorganisation 
and investment as part of the Band B 21st Century Schools programme 
as it is recognised that in order to support the continued improvement at 
both schools they will need enhanced facilities.  The prioritisation with 
regard to which schools the LA would invest in has been discussed with 
Welsh Government Officers.  However the programme has not yet been 
confirmed with regard to value and borrowing mechanisms. 

 
74. If a Band B submission were to be agreed in the future concerning 

Cantonian and Fitzalan High, facilities would be equitable between the 
two schools enabling enhanced provision for both their learners. 

 
Community Cohesion 

 
75. Concerns have been raised that changes to the catchment area 

would have an adverse impact on the community cohesion 
because the diversity of pupils attending Fitzalan High School 
would be reduced.  It is argued that to date children have had the 
experience of a multi-cultural, multi-lingual, multi-faith and socially 
diverse education that is reflective of their community and that 

Page 155



Page 12 of 33 

this proposal would be detrimental to the affected schools, the 
communities and the children if it were to be implemented. 

 
76. Populations do not remain static and residential areas can change over 

time, often relatively quickly.  In Cardiff there are high levels of in 
migration and established migration networks with people from a 
diverse range of different ethnicities, religions, faiths, social 
backgrounds and cultures coexisting in a relatively compact 
geographical area.  Parts of the city have greater densities of particular 
minority ethnic and/or socio-economic groups than others. Each school 
is required to take account of these differences and educate their pupils 
effectively in line with their needs. 

 
77. Fitzalan High School is one that benefits from a pupil intake which 

covers a range of different ethnic groups (57) (PLASC 2016) and has a 
spectrum of socio-economic areas within its local catchment area. It has 
demonstrated its ability to improve standards and provide a good 
standard of education and pastoral care for the wide range of pupils 
attending the school.   

 
78. Cantonian High School has also demonstrated its ability to cater to a 

wide spectrum of learners and in recent years the school has seen a 
rapid increase in the number of minority ethnic learners including those 
with English as an additional language. Pupils access a diverse range 
of education experiences based on a multi faith multi-cultural and multi-
language curriculum.  In addition Cantonian caters effectively for a 
range of pupils with additional learning needs and provision for pupils 
with Special Educational Needs (SEN) is recognised as astrength of the 
school. 

 
79. In its document ‘Getting Along Together: A Community Cohesion 

Strategy for Wales’ the term “community cohesion”, is used by the 
Welsh Government to describe ‘how everyone in a geographical area 
lives alongside each other with mutual understanding and respect, 
where every person has the equal chance to participate and has equal 
access to services. It is about integration, valuing difference and 
focusing on the shared values that join people together. It conveys a 
sense of acceptance and integration and of developing shared values. It 
is also concerned with supporting communities to be resilient when 
problems and tensions arise”, (Welsh Assembly Government 2009 
Getting Along Together: A Community Cohesion Strategy for Wales). 

 
80. Potentially more important than the ethnic mix of pupils is the way the 

school provides for its pupils and supports their understanding of 
themselves and each other as part of wider society.   Much research 
has been done in the area of ‘community cohesion’ and how schools 
foster positive relations amongst their different pupil populations with 
guidance produced in both Wales and other parts of the UK designed to 
support this. As set out in the aforementioned document ‘Schools 
directly support local community cohesion by providing children and 
young people with strong and positive messages to encourage mutual 
understanding and respect…Schools can promote respect for local 

Page 156



Page 13 of 33 

cultural history and work to build respect for cultural, ethnic, religious 
and linguistic diversity amongst the school community’ (Ibid). 

 
81. In Wales, the curriculum for all maintained schools promotes the 

spiritual, moral, cultural, development of pupils at the school and of 
society, and prepares pupils at the school for the opportunities, 
responsibilities and experiences of later life.  Furthermore all schools 
have a duty to eliminate all forms of discrimination and to promote 
equality of opportunity and good relations between people of different 
groups. 

 
82. Taking all factors into account there would be a full expectation that 

both Cantonian and Fitzalan High Schools would provide effective and 
appropriate education to all children and young people attending.   

 
Health and Safety, logistics and ‘local schools for local children’ 

 
83. A range of stakeholders have raised concern regarding the safe 

routes to school for children travelling from Canton to Fairwater to 
attend Cantonian (particularly with regard to crossing the A48), 
along with the increased travel distance for some pupils to get to 
school.   

 
84. Furthermore some also suggested that the proposal would result 

in increased vehicular use and/or polluting modes of transport.   
 
85. Respondents have raised that as part of its 21st Century Schools 

Programme Cardiff Council has consistently committed to 
providing ‘local schools for local children’ with respondents 
stating that this proposed change to catchment areas is 
inconsistent with this aim.   

 
86. Should the proposal be implemented projections indicate that the 

number of pupils in the Lansdowne and Radnor catchments attending 
English-medium secondary schools amounts to c2FE (60 pupils per 
year group). 

 
87. The majority of pupils affected by the change would remain within 1 

mile of Cantonian High School, and a significant proportion would be 
resident within 0.5 miles of the school. 

 
88. Over half of the secondary school pupils in this area presently commute 

to Welsh medium schools or faith schools, the majority of which attend 
Ysgol Plasmawr (Fairwater) or The Bishop of Llandaff CW High School 
(Llandaff). Ysgol Plasmawr is significantly further for any pupils in the 
affected area and The Bishop of Llandaff CW High School would also 
be further for all but a small proportion of addresses within the affected 
area. Many pupils attending these schools walk to school and it is 
expected that the number of pupils that are affected by the proposal 
and who are both further from their local secondary school and also 
opting to use more polluting forms of transport would be few. 

 

Page 157



Page 14 of 33 

 
 
89. Should the proposal be implemented, pupils in Llandaff, Grangetown 

and Butetown would likely continue using existing forms of travel. 
Should the proposal not be implemented, pupils in the Canton, North 
Grangetown and Llandaff would likely continue using existing forms of 
travel. 

 
90. Projections indicate that many pupils in South Grangetown and 

Butetown (i.e. those resident within the Fitzalan High School catchment 
area, but furthest from the school) would be unable to gain admission to 
the school. Those pupils would reside more than 2 miles from the next 
nearest English-medium secondary school (Willows High School). 
Some pupils would reside in excess of 3 miles from a local English-
medium secondary school and would therefore also qualify for free 
home to school transport. 

 
91. Siblings of children already in Fitzalan would continue to get priority to 

attend the school and all parents and therefore families with more than 
one child on high school would not be in a position of transporting 
children to two separate schools as a direct result of this proposal. 

 
92. Traffic and transport officers have been consulted as part of this 

process and confirmed that the road crossings are suitable for the 
increased number of children that would potential walk to school if this 
proposal were to be implemented.  The School Transport Team are 
able to advise regarding safe routes to school for families from their 
residence to their school. 

 
Summary 

 
93. The LA is confident that standards of education at Cantonian High 

School have improved and will continue to do so. It is recognised this 
view is yet to be endorsed by external inspectorate bodies and because 
of this there remains a public perception that there is a difference in the 
quality of education between the two schools.  This perception is 
expected to change once there is published information available 
publically regarding the improvements made and standards being 
realised at Cantonian High School. 

 
94. Whilst both schools are being considered for reorganisation and 

investment as part of the Band B 21st Century Schools programme, the 
programme has not yet been confirmed and therefore it is recognised 
that a greater measure of certainty over future investment strategy for 
both schools is not currently available. 

 
95. Were changes to catchment areas not to be made, there would remain 

significant concerns regarding the increasing numbers of children that 
will not be able to access their catchment school along with increased 
transport costs over a sustained period to enable them to access 
secondary education. 

Page 158



Page 15 of 33 

 
96. In the event of catchment area applications exceeding the number of 

places available, it is those children living furthest from the school that 
are least likely to secure a place.  In the case of Fitzalan High School, 
the current secondary school catchment area arrangements 
disadvantage those families applying for secondary school places for 
their children in the parts of the catchment area furthest from the school 
(including South Grangetown and Butetown) where the distance to 
alternative English-medium high school provision would be greatest.  

 
97. The next nearest secondary schools to pupils in these areas, namely 

Cathays High School and Willows High School are each more than 2.5 
miles from addresses in Grangetown and Butetown. Demand for places 
from within the catchment area of each of these schools is also 
projected to rise in future, which is evidenced by the expansion of 
primary school provision serving these areas in recent years.  

 
98. However, in view of the above factors, it is on balance deemed 

advisable to defer consideration of changes to catchment relating to 
Cantonian and Fitzalan High Schools until the impact of improvement at 
Cantonian is evidenced in annual performance results and there is 
greater certainty about the future investment strategy for both schools. 

 
Welsh-medium Primary and Secondary Schools Catchment Areas 

 
99. At present Ysgol Pencae serves a catchment area that includes parts of 

Canton, Fairwater, Llandaff and Riverside.  The catchment area of 
Ysgol Pencae falls entirely within the secondary school catchment area 
of Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Plasmawr. 

 
100. At present Ysgol Pencae serves a catchment area that includes parts of 

Canton, Fairwater, Llandaff and Riverside.  The catchment area of 
Ysgol Pencae falls entirely within the secondary school catchment area 
of Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Plasmawr. 

 
101. Projections indicate that the demand for Welsh-medium places from 

within the existing catchment area of Ysgol Gyfun Plasmawr will exceed 
the number of places available at entry to the school from September 
2017, whilst demand from within the existing catchment area of Ysgol 
Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf will be less that the school is able to 
accommodate. 

 
102. It is therefore proposed that the catchment area of Ysgol Pencae 

transfers from the catchment area of Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Plasmawr 
to the catchment area of Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf.  The proposed 
changes seek to achieve a balance between the revised catchment 
areas of each of the schools. 

 
103. A copy of the catchment area map detailing the proposed catchment 

areas that would be implemented in September 2017 can be seen at 
Appendix 2. 

 

Page 159



Page 16 of 33 

Background 
 

Demand for Welsh-medium community secondary school places – 
existing catchment areas 
 
104. The catchment areas of Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf and Ysgol Gyfun 

Gymraeg Glantaf are, like other Community secondary schools in 
Cardiff, made up of a number of community primary school catchment 
areas. 

 
Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf 

 
105. The catchment area of Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf is made up of the 

primary school catchment areas of: 
 

•  Ysgol Glan Ceubal 
•  Ysgol Glan Morfa 
•  Ysgol Melin Gruffydd 
•  Ysgol Mynydd Bychan 
•  Ysgol Gymraeg Pwll Coch 
•  Ysgol Y Wern 

 
106. The total number of places available at entry to Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg 

Glantaf (the Published Admission Number) is 240. The combined 
number of places available at entry to the six community primary 
schools within Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf (the Published Admission 
Number) total 283. 

 
107. Table 5 below details the number of pupils resident in each of the 

primary school catchment areas within the Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg 
Glantaf catchment area that are enrolled in Welsh-medium community 
primary education. 
 

 
108. Table 6 overleaf sets out the projected demand for places at a Welsh-

medium community secondary school within each of the primary school 
catchment areas within the Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf catchment 
areas. These take account of the number of pupils enrolled in English-
medium, Welsh-medium and faith education in each of the primary 

Table 5: Number of pupils resident in each of the primary school catchment areas within the Ysgol 
Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf catchment area that are enrolled in Welsh-medium community primary 
education (PLASC 2015) 
Year 
Group: 

6 5 4 3 2 1 Reception  

(Enters Sec 
Education) 

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

Catchment:        
Glan 
Ceubal 

23 18 16 26 21 25 30 

Glan Morfa 21 18 27 30 36 28 32 
Melin 
Gruffydd 

44 45 51 48 50 42 51 

Mynydd 
Bychan 

25 18 24 21 31 31 25 

Pwll Coch 24 50 41 51 57 54 60 
Y Wern 53 57 54 50 66 68 70 
Total 190 206 213 226 261 249 268 

Page 160



Page 17 of 33 

school catchment areas, and of the percentage of pupils transferring to 
community education in recent years. 

 
*Catchment area changes prevent CSR being calculated; projection assumes 100% pupils 
retained 
**2 Year Weighted Average Cohort Survival Model used, as recent catchment area changes 
prevent 3 Year CSR being calculated 

 
109. For the purpose of clarity, the net loss of pupils to other sectors (e.g. to 

English-medium schools, Faith schools, private education, schools in 
other Local Authorities) is also detailed. 

 
Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Plasmawr 
 

110. The catchment area of Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Plasmawr is made up of 
the primary school catchment areas of: 
 
• Ysgol Coed-y-Gof 
• Ysgol Creigiau 
• Ysgol Gwaelod Y Garth 
• Ysgol Gymraeg Nant Caerau 
• Ysgol Pencae 
• Ysgol Gymraeg Treganna 
 

111. The Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Plasmawr catchment also includes an 
additional area including parts of Taffs Well and Nantgarw which was 
part of the Ysgol Gwaelod Y Garth catchment area until September 
2015. 

 
112. The total number of places available at entry to Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg 

Plasmawr (the Published Admission Number) is currently 180. The 
combined number of places available at entry to the six community 

Table 6: Number of pupils resident in each of the primary school catchment areas within the Ysgol 
Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf catchment area projected to promote to a Welsh-medium community 
school 
Enters Sec 
Ed 

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

Catchment:        
Glan 
Ceubal* 

23 18 16 26 21 25 30 

Glan Morfa 19 16 22 25 28 21 22 
Melin 
Gruffydd 

42 43 49 45 46 39 47 

Mynydd 
Bychan* 

25 18 24 21 31 31 25 

Pwll Coch** 25 48 38 47 51 48 52 
Y Wern 50 54 52 48 63 65 65 
Total 184 197 201 212 240 229 241 
Catchment 
surplus/ 
deficit 

56 43 39 28 0 11 -1 

As % of 
primary 
cohort 
promoting 

97 96 94 94 92 92 90 

Projected 
net loss – 
EM, Faith, 
private etc 

6 9 12 14 21 20 27 

Page 161



Page 18 of 33 

primary schools within Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Plasmawr (the Published 
Admission Number) currently total 265. 

 
113. Table 7 below table details the number of pupils resident in each of the 

primary school catchment areas within the Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg 
Plasmawr catchment area that are enrolled in Welsh-medium 
community primary education. 

 
114. Table 8 below sets out the projected demand for places at a Welsh-

medium community secondary school within each of the primary school 
catchment areas within the Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Plasmawr catchment 
area that are enrolled in Welsh-medium community primary education. 
These take account of the number of pupils enrolled in English-medium, 
Welsh-medium and faith education in each of the primary school 
catchment areas and take account of the percentage of pupils 
transferring to community education in recent years. 
 

 
*Catchment area changes prevent CSR being calculated; projection assumes 100% pupils retained 
**2 Year Weighted Average Cohort Survival Model used, as recent catchment area changes prevent 3 
Year CSR being calculated 

Table 7: Number of pupils resident in each of the primary school catchment areas within the Ysgol 
Gyfun Gymraeg Plasmawr catchment area that are enrolled in Welsh-medium community primary 
education (PLASC 2015) 
Year 
Group: 

6 5 4 3 2 1 Reception  

Enters Sec 
Ed 

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

Catchment:        
Coed Y Gof 58 53 61 62 74 80 67 
Creigiau 19 18 20 18 19 15 17 
Gwaelod Y 
Garth 

17 9 11 10 14 21 17 

Nant 
Caerau 

17 18 40 30 36 42 36 

Pencae 29 26 24 25 29 25 35 
Treganna 51 52 70 68 65 74 83 
Total 191 176 226 213 237 257 255 

Table 8: Number of pupils resident in each of the primary school catchment areas within the Ysgol 
Gyfun Gymraeg Plasmawr catchment area projected to promote to a Welsh-medium community 

school 
Enters Sec 
Ed 

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

Catchment:        
Coed Y Gof 54 47 53 50 58 61 49 
Creigiau 19 18 20 18 19 15 17 
Gwaelod Y 
Garth 

17 9 11 10 14 21 17 

Nant 
Caerau 

16 16 37 26 31 34 30 

Pencae* 29 26 24 25 29 25 35 
Treganna** 50 51 65 64 60 68 80 
Total (in 
County 
only) 

185 161 210 193 211 224 228 

Catchment 
surplus/ 
deficit 

-5 19 -30 -13 -31 -44 -48 

Projected 
Net loss 

6 15 16 20 26 33 37 

As % of 
primary 
cohort 
promoting 

97 91 93 91 89 87 89 

Page 162



Page 19 of 33 

 
Combined Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf and Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg 
Plasmawr demand 
 
115. Table 9 below sets out the projected demand for places at a Welsh-

medium community secondary school in the existing catchment areas 
of Ysgol Glantaf and Ysgol Plasmawr. 

 
 

116. Table 10 overleaf sets out the projected demand for places at a Welsh-
medium community secondary school in the existing catchment areas 
of Ysgol Glantaf and Ysgol Plasmawr. 

 

 
Summary 

 
117. Implementation of the proposed change would provide an improved 

balance in the supply of and demand for places from 2017/18. 
 
118. It is acknowledged that the combined projected demand for places from 

within the Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf and Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg 
Plasmawr catchment areas exceeds the combined number of places 
available at entry from September 2019; however, the admission 
arrangements that may be required beyond the 2017/18 intake can not 
be consulted on at this time. 

 
119. Projections indicate that the city-wide demand for places at entry to 

Year 7 will in time exceed the overall supply between the three Welsh-
medium secondary school Ysgol Glantaf, Ysgol Plasmawr and Ysgol 
Bro Edern and detailed proposals to meet this growing demand will be 
brought forward at the appropriate time. The timing of this will be 
determined in part by the progress of planning applications for housing 
sites including the strategic sites planned for North West Cardiff (each 
within the existing catchment area of Ysgol Plasmawr) and North East 

Table 9: Number of pupils resident in within the existing Ysgol Glantaf and Ysgol Plasmawr 
catchment areas projected to promote to a Welsh-medium community school 
Enters Sec 
Ed 

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

Catchment:        
Glantaf 184 197 201 212 240 229 241 
Plasmawr 185 161 210 193 211 224 228 
Combined 
demand 

369 358 411 405 451 453 469 

Combined 
Catchment 
surplus/ 
deficit 

51 62 9 15 -31 -33 -49 

Table 10: Number of pupils resident in within the proposed Ysgol Glantaf and Ysgol Plasmawr 
catchment areas projected to promote to a Welsh-medium community school 
Enters Sec 
Ed 

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

Catchment:        
Glantaf 184 197 225 237 269 254 276 
Plasmawr 185 161 186 168 182 199 193 
Combined 
demand 

369 358 411 405 451 453 469 

Combined 
Catchment 
surplus/ 
deficit 

51 62 9 15 -31 -33 -49 

Page 163



Page 20 of 33 

Cardiff (partially within existing catchment area of Ysgol Glantaf, and 
largely within the catchment area of Ysgol Bro Edern). 

 
Responses received during the consultation period 
 
120. In total 368 responses were received.  Of which 87 were in support and 

281 were in opposition to the proposal, whilst in addition a pupil petition 
with 471 signatories was received objecting to the proposal. Formal 
responses received can be seen at Appendix 6. 

 
121. A summary of the main views expressed and the Council’s response 

are set out below. Views expressed by respondents are in bold 
italicised font with the Council’s response following. 

 
122. Concern expressed as to whether projected growth of pupil 

numbers at Glantaf (particularly in relation to two of its feeder 
schools – Glan Ceubal and Pwll Coch) has been taken fully into 
account and that the authority is planning places in the secondary 
sector in a strategic way which looks beyond the short-term 
scenario forecast for 2017. 

 
123. The proposed change to the catchment areas of Ysgol Plasmawr and 

Ysgol Glantaf has been drawn up to provide each with a sufficient pupil 
population, whilst retaining sufficient space to allow for the projected 
pupil numbers within its catchment area that would be admitted to the 
school in future years. 

 
124. Concern expressed that moving Ysgol Pencae to the Glantaf 

catchment area would have an adverse effect on the socio-
economic fabric of Plasmawr and would also have far-reaching 
implications for the wider demographic of Welsh-medium 
secondary provision in Cardiff.  The proposal to move the high 
performing and affluent catchment of Ysgol Pencae out of Ysgol 
Plasmawr would run the risk of reinforcing the status of Ysgol 
Glantaf, as a centre of excellence for aspirational parents, to the 
detriment of both Ysgol Plasmawr and Ysgol Bro Edern. 

 
125. The commonly used benchmark dataset employed to compare the 

relative deprivation of the pupils enrolled at schools is that of pupil in 
receipt of Free School Meals (FSM). 

 
126. There are 5 national benchmarking groups for secondary schools based 

on the proportion of pupils in receipt of FSM; <8%, 8-16%, 16-24%, 24-
32% and >32%. 

 
127. The Wales and Cardiff averages for proportion of pupils in receipt of 

free school meals in the secondary sector are 17.5% and 20.5% 
respectively. 

 
128. The below table indicates that the proportion of pupils of statutory 

school age attending Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Plasmawr who are in 
receipt of FSM has fallen in recent years to 6.9% (benchmark group 1). 

Page 164



Page 21 of 33 

Ysgol Plasmawr – pupils in receipt of FSM 
 

 
 
129. The proportion of pupils of statutory school age attending Ysgol Gyfun 

Gymraeg Glantaf who are in receipt of FSM has increased in recent 
years to 9.8% (benchmark group 2). 

 
Ysgol Glantaf – pupils in receipt of FSM: 
 

 
 

130. The proportion of pupils who are currently in receipt of FSM is lower 
than that expected to promote to Ysgol Glantaf and Ysgol Plasmawr in 
the future.  

 
131. Table 11 overleaf indicates the proportions of pupils in receipt of FSM 

attending each of the Welsh-medium or bilingual schools that are 
located within the secondary school catchment areas, which is 
considered by schools as indicative of the future ‘feed’ of pupils to each 
of the secondary schools. 

Page 165



Page 22 of 33 

 

*NOR reduced to reflect proportionate WM cohort in dual stream school; FSM 
% not adjusted (i.e. retained at % recorded in PLASC) 
 
132. Table 11 above table indicates that, when considering the combined 

totals of pupils attending Welsh-medium primary school in receipt of 
FSM, the proportion of primary age pupils in receipt of FSM in the 
Plasmawr catchment would increase from 11.0% (existing 
configuration) to 12.2% (if Ysgol Pencae were removed).  The 
proportion of primary age pupils in receipt of FSM in the Glantaf 
catchment would reduce from 9.4% (existing configuration) to 8.8% (if 
Ysgol Pencae were removed). 

 
133. Table 12 below indicates the proportions of pupils in receipt of FSM 

attending any Welsh-medium or bilingual school residing within each of 
the primary and secondary school catchment areas. 

 

Table 11: Number of pupils enrolled and percentage of pupils in receipt of free school 
meals in primary schools that fall within the catchments of Ysgol Glantaf and Ysgol 
Plasmawr 

School attended  NOR 
Percentage in 
receipt of FSM 

Creigiau Primary School* 189 3.6% 
Ysgol Gymraeg Coed-Y-Gof 351 25.4% 
Ysgol Gymraeg Nant Caerau 160 26.9% 
Ysgol Gymraeg Treganna 451 3.5% 
Ysgol Gynradd Gwaelod Y Garth Primary School* 194 4.8% 
Ysgol Pencae 207 3.4% 
Existing Ysgol Plasmawr catchment schools 1552 11.0% 
  

  Ysgol Glan Ceubal 62 37.1% 
Ysgol Glan Morfa 168 28.6% 
Ysgol Gymraeg Melin Gruffydd 411 4.1% 
Ysgol Gymraeg Pwll Coch 449 8.5% 
Ysgol Mynydd Bychan 200 7.5% 
Ysgol Y Wern 446 5.2% 
Existing Ysgol Glantaf catchment schools 1736 9.4% 
  

  Ysgol Plasmawr catchment schools - removing Y.Pencae 1345 12.2% 
Ysgol Glantaf catchment schools - adding Y.Pencae 1943 8.8% 

Table 12: Number of pupils attending Welsh-medium or bilingual primary schools in each primary 
catchment area that fall within the catchments of Ysgol Glantaf and Ysgol Plasmawr, and 
percentage of pupils in receipt of free school meals 
Catchment area – pupils attending any WM or bilingual 
school NOR  Percentage 
Creigiau Primary School 248 4.8% 
Gwaelod Y Garth Primary School 99 6.1% 
Ysgol Gymraeg Coed-Y-Gof 455 18.9% 
Ysgol Gymraeg Nant Caerau 219 25.6% 
Ysgol Gymraeg Treganna 463 2.6% 

Page 166



Page 23 of 33 

 
134. Table 12 indicates that, when considering the combined totals of pupils 

attending any Welsh-medium primary school who are in receipt of FSM, 
the proportion of primary age pupils in receipt of FSM in the Plasmawr 
catchment would increase from 10.6% (existing configuration) to 11.0% 
(if Ysgol Pencae were removed).  The proportion of primary age pupils 
in receipt of FSM in the Glantaf catchment would reduce from 10.2% 
(existing configuration) to 9.4% (if Ysgol Pencae were removed). 

 
135. The above data takes account of all pupils in the primary sector in 2015. 

It is possible to conclude that the proportion of pupils in receipt of free 
school meals is very similar under the existing configuration and the 
proposed configuration; each data set for Ysgol Glantaf and Ysgol 
Plasmawr falling at the lower end of the 8-16% FSM benchmark. 

 
136. It is likely that each school will admit an increased proportion of pupils in 

receipt of FSM in future years whether or not the proposed change is 
implemented, and each data set would remain significantly below the 
Wales and Cardiff averages. 

 
137. Catchment areas should take account of the medium to long term 

rather than seeking an easy short term, taking account of the 
growth in Welsh medium education and the Local Development 
Plan. 

138. The proposal is only a short term solution, as pupil numbers will 
grow with the implementation of the Local Development Plan 
(LDP). 

 
139. Please see paragraphs 117 and 121 above. 

 
140. The socio-economic mix of the schools would be affected. 

Transferring Pencae from the Plasmawr catchment to the Glantaf 
catchment would be to the detriment of Plasmawr because Glantaf 
would have a much higher proportion of affluent catchment 
schools and Plasmawr would have more struggling catchment 
schools leading to polarised schools. 

 

Ysgol Pencae 193 3.1% 
Existing Ysgol Plasmawr catchment 1677 10.6% 
      
Ysgol Glan Ceubal 159 20.1% 
Ysgol Glan Morfa 192 29.7% 
Ysgol Gymraeg Melin Gruffydd 331 2.1% 
Ysgol Gymraeg Pwll Coch 337 11.0% 
Ysgol Mynydd Bychan 175 5.7% 
Ysgol Y Wern 418 5.0% 
Existing Ysgol Glantaf catchment 1612 10.2% 
      
Ysgol Plasmawr catchment - removing Y.Pencae 1484 11.6% 
Ysgol Glantaf catchment - adding Y.Pencae 1805 9.4% 

Page 167



Page 24 of 33 

141. The ability of Ysgol Plasmawr to market Welsh-medium education 
to parents will be reduced if the proposal goes ahead. 

 
142. Please see paras 123 – 134 above 
 
143. Exam standards at Plasmawr will fall due to having pupils from 

more deprived areas. There could be a long term detrimental effect 
on Plasmawr which could have a negative effect on sixth form 
provision in the long term. 

 
144. Figures for the percentage of pupils who have reached the expected 

level in the Key Stage 2 Core Subject Indicator demonstrate the 
outcomes for Year 6 pupils in each primary school. Within the Ysgol 
Plasmawr catchment area, the school with the highest percentage of 
FSM pupils is Ysgol Nant Caerau, which has 100% of pupils attaining 
the expected level. Across the two Welsh-medium secondary 
catchment areas, the school with the lowest attainment in the Core 
Subject Indicator is Ysgol Glan Morfa, which has 78.9%. Ysgol Glan 
Morfa is within the Ysgol Glantaf catchment area. 

 
145. Ysgol Plasmawr’s budget will be affected and this could lead to 

redundancies. 
 

146. School budgets are primarily funded by formula funding mechanism 
which uses pupil numbers as its main driver.  Any increase or decrease 
in pupil numbers at individual schools would need to be reflected in the 
revenue budget of the school.  

 
147. The proposals will ensure a fairer and more equitable distribution of 

funding between mainstream schools within the Cardiff area.  It is 
anticipated that the numbers of pupils at Plasmawr will remain at 
present levels therefore it is not expected that there will be any negative 
impact on the school’s budget. 

 
148. Ysgol Pencae parents have been committed to Ysgol Plasmawr 

over the years and have provided vital parental involvement, which 
would be lost were the school to transfer to the Ysgol Glantaf 
catchment area. 

 
149. The Council acknowledges and values the positive contribution that 

parents and families make to their children’s schools.  It is anticipated 
that the parents and families of children attending Ysgol Plasmawr and 
its catchment primary schools will continue to contribute toward the 
success of the school and support the ongoing development of Welsh-
medium education as part of the wider school community. 

 
Siblings 
 
150. Pupils that currently have siblings in Ysgol Plasmawr may end up 

having to attend a different school to their siblings.  
 

Page 168



Page 25 of 33 

151. Some pupils may have to make a decision about whether to attend 
high school with their siblings or with their friends. 

 
152. Pupils with older siblings at Ysgol Plasmawr will be able to state a 

preference for a place at the school in line with the Council’s 
Admissions Policy. A parental preference will be complied with 
wherever possible. However, should a school be fully subscribed, the 
Council’s oversubscription criteria takes account of older siblings being 
in attendance during the academic year to which the application relates. 

 
153. Furthermore, the Council’s school admissions policy includes the 

following criterion, which in fact gives priority over pupils who would 
remain resident in the reduced Ysgol Plasmawr catchment area: 

 
154. “Where an older sibling was directed by the Council to an alternative 

school because the alternative school was previously the catchment 
area school, if the parent desires, the Council will admit younger 
siblings to the alternative school. This applies only where the older 
sibling is in attendance at the alternative school during the academic 
year to which the application relates. In addition the younger sibling 
must be residing in the same address (or an address within the 
catchment area that was the subject of the change before it was 
implemented) in the City of Cardiff that the older sibling was living at the 
time of the original application.” 

 
155. This criterion would assist such parents with siblings already in 

attendance at Ysgol Plasmawr. 
 

Safe routes to schools 
 

156. Some parents expressed concern about the safety of the route 
their child would have to take to school were they to attend Ysgol 
Glantaf rather than Ysgol Plasmawr. 

 
157. Travelling to Ysgol Glantaf would be more dangerous for children 

currently living close to Ysgol Plasmawr, as they would have to 
cross several busy roads. 

 
158. Consideration has been given to the routes that pupils would be 

required to use when travelling to and from school.  
 
159. The most distant residential addresses within the Ysgol Pencae 

catchment area would 1.1 miles from Ysgol Glantaf. The proposed 
catchment area changes would, in the majority of cases, reduce the 
walking distances for the pupils to their catchment area school. 

 
160. Children who are resident within the Ysgol Plasmawr catchment area 

but outside of the Ysgol Pencae catchment area and who currently 
attend Ysgol Pencae will remain residing within the Ysgol Plasmawr 
catchment area. 

Page 169



Page 26 of 33 

 
Consultation process/information 

 
161. The consultation document did not provide enough information to 

make such an important decision. 
 
162. The principle of consultation involves publishing full, clear details of the 

proposals and inviting responses from interested parties. The 
consultation showing the proposed changes to catchment areas was 
published on the website on 2 February 2016 in compliance with the 
School Admissions Code. The schools who were directly affected by 
the proposed changes were informed on 1 February and they informed 
the children/parents at their schools.  

 
163. Hard copies of the map and address for views to be sent to, were sent 

to all children at these schools the following week, as well as parents of 
children not yet of school age, and parents of families who were 
resident in the areas but whose children attend other Welsh-medium 
Community schools. The proposal was also publicised on social media, 
It has therefore been widely publicised.  

 
164. The School Admissions Code refers to the use of catchment areas and 

in particular, states that they should be designed so that the boundary is 
reasonable and clearly defined, and states that admission authorities 
must make maps of the specified areas available. The proposals were 
supported by a clear map with colour coded clear boundaries. 

 
Impact on Welsh Language 

 
165. The proposed changes could significantly reduce the percentage 

of children from Welsh speaking families transferring to Ysgol 
Plasmawr.  This could affect the school’s ‘language landscape’ 
potentially creating a situation which will impact on the wider use 
of the language making it harder for the children who want to, to 
use Welsh in the yard and socially within the school and with co-
pupils outside of school. 

 
166. The Council has considered the future development of Welsh medium 

education in its Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017.  The 
continued growth in demand for Welsh-medium education will continue 
to impact positively on the development of the language in the wider 
community 

 
167. It is not anticipated that the proposed changes will impact on pupils’ 

ability to engage socially through the medium of Welsh.   
 
168. The Welsh Government Welsh Medium Strategy 083/2010 sets out a 

strategic aim of ensuring that all learners develop their Welsh-language 
skills to their full potential and encourages sound linguistic progression 
from one phase of education and training to the next. 

 

Page 170



Page 27 of 33 

169. The majority of the pupils transferring to Ysgol Plasmawr from its 
partner primary schools have levels of Welsh language fluency that 
allow them to access both the full curriculum and social opportunities in 
and out of school.   

 
170. The Strategy document notes that “Analysis of the linguistic data 

following through cohorts of learners over the last ten years clearly 
indicates that there is a discontinuity in linguistic progression between 
Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 3. Currently 15% of learners across Wales 
do not progress in their study of Welsh (first language) from Key Stage 
2 to Key Stage 3.” 

 
171. Were the proposal not to be implemented some children currently 

resident within the catchment area of Ysgol Plasmawr, would be unable 
to attend their Welsh-medium secondary catchment school.  A clear risk 
of not providing a balance in the supply of and demand for Welsh-
medium places is that the proportion of pupils not progressing from KS2 
to KS3 could potentially increase and were this to be the case 
potentially have a negative impact on the wider use of the language.  

 
Reasons for Recommendations   
 
172. To approve changes to English-medium and Welsh-medium primary 

and secondary school catchment areas in order to achieve a balance 
between the supply of and demand for school places. 

 
Legal Implications  
 

173. A catchment area is part of a school’s admissions arrangements.  
Where a Local Education Authority (LEA) propose to revise the 
catchment areas for an existing school the LEA must publish and 
consult on those proposals in the same way as any other admission 
arrangements.   The Local Education Authority must have regard to 
Section 89 of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998, the 
Education (Determination of Admission Arrangements) (Wales) 
Regulations 2006, and the Education (Relevant Area for Consultation 
on Admission Arrangements) Regulations 1999 which  requires 
Admission Authorities to consult and determine school admission 
arrangements annually. The regulations set a timescale for the 
consultation and determination of admission arrangements.   Where a 
local authority plan to establish a catchment area for a new school they 
must also have regard to the New School (Admissions) (Wales) 
Regulations 2006.    

 
174. Any proposals must be the subject of full and fair consultation and 

regard must be had by the Executive to the responses before a final 
decision is taken.  

 
175. The Council has to satisfy its public sector duties under the Equalities 

Act 2010 (including specific Welsh public sector duties).  Pursuant to 
these legal duties Councils must in making decisions have due regard 
to the need to (1) eliminate unlawful discrimination, (2) advance equality 

Page 171



Page 28 of 33 

of opportunity and (3) foster good relations on the basis of protected 
characteristics. 
 

176. Protected characteristics are: 
 
• Age 
• Gender reassignment 
• Sex 
• Race – including ethnic or national origin, colour or nationality 
• Disability 
• Pregnancy and maternity 
• Marriage and civil partnership 
• Sexual orientation 
• Religion or belief – including a lack of belief 
 

177. As such the decision on whether to proceed to publish intention to 
implement the proposal has to be made in the context of the Council’s 
equality act public sector duties. 

 
178. The report identifies that an Equality Impact Assessment has been 

carried out and is included in the Statutory Screening Tool at 
Appendices 3 and 4.  The purpose of the Equality Impact Assessment 
is to ensure that the Council has understood the potential impacts of the 
proposal in terms of equality so that it can ensure that it is making 
proportionate and rational decisions having due regard to is public 
sector equality duty. The decision maker must have due regard to the 
Equality Impact Assessment in making its decision. 

 
179. The Council also has to comply with the relevant legislation in relation 

to the Welsh language. The Council was issued with a Compliance 
Notice on 30 September 2015 with the Welsh Language standards it 
must comply with under the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2015, 
the date for compliance with these standards is 30 March 2015. Until 
that date, the Council’s Welsh Language Scheme 2014 (which was 
agreed under the Welsh Language Act 1993) and which states “The 
council is committed to mainstreaming Welsh into key policies and will 
assess the linguistic consequences of all new policies and initiatives, by 
using the Policy Integration Toolkit and/or Equality Impact Assessments 
(Appendix C), and will make sure that those new or updated policies 
and initiatives conform to the commitments given in this scheme.” This 
report considers the Welsh language impact and complies with this 
requirement. The Council has also considered Welsh in Education and 
formed the Welsh in Education Strategic Plan for April 2014 to March 
2017 which compiles with the Welsh Government guidelines. 

 
Financial Implications  
 
180. School budgets are primarily funded by formula funding mechanism 

which uses as its main driver pupil numbers.  Any increase/reduction in 
pupil numbers will increase/reduce the budget share of that individual 
school. 

 

Page 172



Page 29 of 33 

181. Any financial implications of changing transport provision would need to 
be identified and considered though the Medium Term Financial Plan, 
as appropriate. 

 
Human Resources Implications  
 
182. The changes to the catchment area of Ysgol Plasmawr should not 

impact greatly on staffing as pupil numbers are expected to remain at 
similar levels. However, the enlarged catchment area for Ysgol Glantaf 
along with the projected increased pupil numbers may require additional 
staff to be recruited to the school. 

 
183. A requirement to recruit additional staff will create new employment 

opportunities and HR People Services will support the school and the 
Governing Body with this process. Where the school has adopted the 
Council’s Redeployment and Redundancy Policy, new employment 
opportunities would need to be considered as redeployment 
opportunities for staff on the school redeployment register.  

 
184. A Human Resources Framework is in place for school reorganisations 

which provides the basis for managing the human resources issues 
associated with School Organisation Planning. In line with this, HR 
People Services will encourage the leadership and Governing Bodies of 
both schools to consider their staffing requirement and structure in 
advance of any change being implemented. 

 
Traffic and Transport  
 
Proposed English-medium secondary school catchment area changes: 
Cantonian/Fitzalan  
 
185. There is currently an existing 20mph speed limit on Fairwater Road, 

which includes speed cushions.  It is recommended that these are 
replaced with full width speed tables, enhanced signage and a tabled 
zebra crossing as part of a School Safety Zone.   

 
186. An initial assessment suggests that in order to improve the pedestrian 

access from the Canton area to Cantonian High school the following 
improvements will be required. 

 
• New pedestrian school gates required on Doyle Avenue and on 

Kenilworth Court 
• New controlled pedestrian crossing facilities on St Fagans Road 
• Existing crossing facilities on Western Avenue to be reviewed and 

upgraded if necessary. 
• As part of the new development on the Ely Paper Mill site, a new 

controlled crossing will be provided on Cowbridge Road West. 
 
187. All addresses within the catchment areas of Cantonian High School are 

within 3 miles of the site, and therefore no pupils resident in the 
catchment area of the school wishing to attend an English-medium 
community secondary school would qualify for free home to school 

Page 173



Page 30 of 33 

transport. This is only provided for secondary age pupils who live three 
or more miles from the nearest appropriate catchment area school. 

 
188. In the event the proposals were to proceed, discussion would be held 

with the Commercial bus operators in the area to review current 
commercial services. 

 
189. The reduction of the Fitzalan High School catchment area is expected 

to reduce the Council’s overall liability towards providing school 
transport in the short to medium term. This would enable increased 
numbers of pupils in south Grangetown and Butetown to attend the 
school; this would not happen without implementing the proposed 
catchment change.   

 
190. Cardiff Council School Transport section would be able to provide 

families with advice on safe walking routes to school based on 
individual home addresses. 

 
191. In the event the proposed catchment area changes are not 

implemented there is an expectation that there will be increased 
eligibility for free home to school transport and therefore greater costs 
for the Council to provide this service.  Projected costs associated with 
transporting pupils from Grangetown to the next nearest secondary 
school, assuming that all pupils are able to be admitted to one school. 
These are set out in the table below. 

 

 
 
Proposed English-medium primary school catchment area changes 

 
192. The proposed catchment area changes to the Kitchener, Lansdowne 

and Severn Primary School catchment areas will increase the walking 
distances for some pupils, and decrease distance for some others; 
however, the increases or decreases would be minimal (less than 0.4 
miles).  

 
193. In summary, it is likely there would be no change to school transport 

costs should the proposed changes be implemented or not 
implemented. 

Table 13: Cumulative transport costs in the event no catchment area change is made. 
  Year of entry  
  2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 
Qualifying pupils 10 24 33 55 71 93 
Transport 
required 

1 x 
Minibus 

1 x 
coach 

1 x 
coach 

1 x 
coach 1 x coach, 

2 x 
coach 

          
 + 1 x 

minibus   
Cumulative 
cost (academic 
years) £17,100 £45,600 £74,100 £102,600 £148,200 £205,200 

Page 174



Page 31 of 33 

 
Proposed Welsh-medium secondary school catchment area changes: 
Ysgol Plasmawr/ Glantaf 
 

194. The proposed catchment area changes to the Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg 
Plasmawr and Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf catchment areas would  
increase the walking distances for some pupils, and decrease distance 
for some others. The maximum increase in walking distance, for those 
pupils resident in closest proximity to Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Plasmawr, 
would be approximately 1.1 miles. All pupils within the area proposed to 
transfer live within 1.1 miles of Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf. 

 
195. Should the proposed catchment area changes not be implemented it is 

likely pupils in parts of Creigiau and Pentrych would be unable to attend 
Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Plasmawr and would be expected to attend the 
next nearest secondary school, namely Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf.  

 
196. These pupils currently qualify for free home to school transport to Ysgol 

Gyfun Gymraeg Plasmawr and should the proposal be implemented 
would qualify for free home to school transport to Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg 
Plasmawr. In summary, it is likely there would little change to school 
transport costs should the proposed changes be implemented or not 
implemented. 

 
197. Under this proposal there are no plans to change the Council’s policy 

on the transport of children to and from schools. Any pupils affected by 
these proposals will be offered the same support with transport as is 
provided throughout Cardiff and in accordance with the same criteria 
that apply across Cardiff. The Council’s transport policy for school 
children can be viewed on the Council’s website (www.cardiff.gov.uk). 
In order to improve the pedestrian access and reduce vehicle speeds in 
the vicinity of Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf a School Safety Zone is 
required on Gabalfa Road, this will include signage, speed tables and a 
zebra crossing.  

 
198. An initial assessment suggests that pedestrian crossing improvements 

may also be required from the Radyr Court Road area. 
 
199. All addresses within the Ysgol Pencae catchment area,that would 

transfer to the Ysgol Glantaf catchment areas, are within 3 miles of the 
Ysgol Glantaf site, and therefore no pupils resident in the Ysgol Pencae 
catchment area wishing to attend an English-medium community 
secondary school would qualify for free home to school transport. This 
is only provided for secondary age pupils who live three or more miles 
from the nearest appropriate catchment area school. 

 
200. No fee-paying school transport would be provided from the Ysgol 

Pencae catchment area to Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf as all pupils 
living within this area live within three miles walking distance of each 
school.  Discussion will be held with the Commercial bus operators in 
the area to review commercial services although it is unlikely that any 

Page 175



Page 32 of 33 

changes would be made to the existing routes to divert via any of the 
school proposals above. 

 
201. The reduction of the Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Plasmawr catchment area is 

expected to reduce the Council’s overall liability towards providing 
school transport in the short to medium term. This would enable 
increased numbers of pupils in catchment to attend the school; this 
would not happen without implementing the proposed catchment 
change.    

 
202. Cardiff Council School Transport section would be able to provide 

families with advice on safe walking routes to school based on 
individual home addresses. 

 
203. Under this proposal there are no plans to change the Council’s policy 

on the transport of children to and from schools. Any pupils affected by 
these proposals will be offered the same support with transport as is 
provided throughout Cardiff and in accordance with the same criteria 
that apply across Cardiff. The Council’s transport policy for school 
children can be viewed on the Council’s website (www.cardiff.gov.uk). 

 
Statutory Screening Tool/Equality Impact Assessment 

 
204. The Statutory Screening Tool has been completed and includes the 

Equality Impact Assessment for the English medium School proposal as 
at Appendix 3. The Equality Impact Assessment for the Welsh Medium 
school proposals is included as at Appendix 4.  It has been concluded 
that there would be no adverse impact on a particular group in society 
with either proposal. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
The Cabinet is recommended to: 

 
1. authorise Officers to carry out a review of options for secondary 

provision in the area concerned, in order to better match supply and 
demand and to secure consistently high standards of education 
provision. 

 
2. not proceed currently with changes to the English-medium high school 

catchments of Fitzalan High School and Cantonian High School and 
associated English-medium primary school catchment areas. 

 
3. approve the proposed changes to the Welsh-medium high school 

catchment areas of Ysgol Plasmawr and Ysgol Glan Taf through 
transfer of Ysgol Pencae catchment from Ysgol Plasmawr to Ysgol Glan 
Taf catchment to take effect from September 2017. 

 
NICK BATCHELAR 
Director 
15 March 2016 
 

Page 176

http://www.cardiff.gov.uk/


Page 33 of 33 

The following appendices are attached  
 
Appendix 1 – Catchment area map detailing the proposed catchment areas that 
would be implemented in September 2017 (English-medium).  
 
Appendix 2 – Catchment area map detailing the proposed catchment areas that 
would be implemented in September 2017 (Welsh-medium) 
 
Appendix 3 – Statutory Screening tool English-medium Catchment Changes 
 
Appendix 4 - Statutory Screening tool Welsh-medium Catchment Changes 
 
Appendix 5 – Formal responses English-medium Catchment Changes 
 
Appendix 6 – Formal responses Welsh-medium Catchment Changes 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 177



This copy is produced specifically to supply
County Council information.
NO further copies may be made.
Mae'r copi hwn wedi'i gynhyrchu'n benodol i
gyflenwi gwbodaeth y Cyngor Sir.
Ni ellir gwneud copiau pellach.

Proposed revised catchment area arrangements: September 2017
Trefniadau dalgylch diwygiedig arfaethedig: Medi 2017

Proposed Fitzalan
High School
catchment area

Dalgylch arfaethedig
Ysgol Gyfun Fitzalan

Existing Cantonian
High School
catchment area

Dalgylch presennol 
Ysgol Uwchradd
Cantonian

© Crown copyright and database 
rights 2016    Ordnance Survey 100023376
© Hawlfraint y Goron a hawliau cronfa 
ddata 2016      Arolwg Ordnans 100023376

Area proposed to 
transfer from the
Fitzalan High School
 catchment area
to the Cantonian
High School
catchment area

Yr ardal y cynigir ei 
throsglwyddo i 
ddalgylch Ysgol 
Uwchradd Fitzalan
o ddalgylch
presennol Ysgol
Uwchradd Cantonian

Cantonian High School
Ysgol Uwchradd Cantonian

Fitzalan High School
Ysgol Uwchradd Fitzalan

Appendix 1

P
age 178



Proposed revised catchment area arrangements: September 2017
Trefniadau dalgylch diwygiedig arfaethedig: Medi 2017

Area proposed to
transfer from the
Kitchener Primary
school catchment 
area to the Severn
Primary School 
catchment area

Yr ardal y cynigir ei 
throsglwyddoi 
ddalgylch Ysgol
Gynradd Kitchener
o ddalgylch
presennol Ysgol
Gynradd Severn

Existing catchment 
area boundaries of
Kitchener, Lansdowne,
Radnor and Severn
primary schools - 
proposed to be
retained

Ffiniau dalgylchoedd
presennol Ysgolion
Cynradd Kitchener,
Lansdowne, Radnor a
Severn – cynigir 
eu cadw

© Crown copyright and database 
rights 2016    Ordnance Survey 100023376
© Hawlfraint y Goron a hawliau cronfa 
ddata 2016      Arolwg Ordnans 100023376

Area proposed to
transfer from the
Lansdowne Primary
school catchment 
area to the Kitchener
Primary School 
catchment area

Yr ardal y cynigir ei 
throsglwyddoi 
ddalgylch Ysgol
Gynradd Lansdowne
o ddalgylch
presennol Ysgol
Gynradd Kitchener

Radnor Primary School
Ysgol Gynradd Radnor

Severn Primary 
School
Ysgol Gynradd
Severn

Lansdowne 
Primary School
Ysgol Gynradd
Lansdowne

Kitchener Primary School
Ysgol Gynradd Kitchener

Appendix 1

P
age 179



This copy is produced specifically to supply
County Council information.
NO further copies may be made.

Proposed revised catchment area arrangements: September 2017
Trefniadau dalgylch diwygiedig arfaethedig: Medi 2017

Proposed Ysgol
Gyfun Gymraeg
Plasmawr
catchment area

Existing Ysgol
Gyfun Gymraeg
Glantaf 
catchment area

Existing Ysgol Pencae
catchment area - 
proposed to transfer
from the Ysgol Gyfyn 
Gymraeg Plasmawr
catchment area to the 
Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg 
Glantaf catchment
area, from 
September 2017

Existing 
Welsh-medium
secondary school
catchment area
boundaries

© Crown copyright and database rights 2016 
Ordnance Survey 100023376
© Hawlfraint y Goron a hawliau cronfa ddata 2016
Arolwg Ordnans 100023376

Mae'r copi hwn wedi'i gynhyrchu'n benodol i
gyflenwi gwbodaeth y Cyngor Sir.
Ni ellir gwneud copiau pellach.

Dalgylch presennol 
Ysgol Pencae - 
cynigiwyd i’w 
drosglwyddo o 
ddalgylch Ysgol 
Gyfyn Gymraeg 
Plasmawr i ddalgylch 
Ysgol Gyfun 
Gymraeg Glantaf, 
o fis Medi 2017

Dalgylch arfaethedig
Ysgol Gyfun
Gymraeg Plasmawr

Dalgylch presennol 
Ysgol
Gyfun Gymraeg
Glantaf 

Ffiniau presennol
dalgylchoedd
ysgolion uwchradd
Cymraeg

Appendix 2

P
age 180



Cardiff Council  

Statutory Screening Tool Guidance 

If you are developing a strategy, policy or activity that is likely to impact people, communities or 

land use in any way then there are a number of statutory requirements that apply. Failure to 

comply with these requirements, or demonstrate due regard, can expose the Council to legal 

challenge or other forms of reproach. 

For instance, this will apply to strategies (i.e. Housing Strategy or Disabled Play Strategy), 

policies (i.e. Procurement Policy) or activity (i.e. developing new play area).   

Completing the Statutory Screening Tool will ensure that all Cardiff Council strategies, policies 

and activities comply with relevant statutory obligations and responsibilities.  Where a more 

detailed consideration of an issue is required, the Screening Tool will identify if there is a need 

for a full impact assessment, as relevant. 

The main statutory 

requirements that strategies, policies or activities must reflect include: 

• Equality Act 2010 - Equality Impact Assessment

• Welsh Government’s Sustainable Development Bill

• Welsh Government’s Statutory Guidance - Shared Purpose Shared Delivery

• United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child

• United Nations Principles for Older Persons

• Welsh Language Measure 2011

• Health Impact Assessment

• Habitats Regulations Assessment

• Strategic Environmental Assessment

This Statutory Screening Tool allows us to meet all the requirements of all these pieces of 

legislation as part of an integrated screening method that usually taken no longer than an 

hour.

The Screening Tool can be completed as a self assessment or as part of a facilitated session, 

should further support be needed. For further information or if you require a facilitated session 

please contact the Policy, Partnerships and Citizen Focus Team on 2078 8563 e-mail: 

siadavies@cardiff.gov.uk. Please note: 

- The completed Screening Tool must be submitted as an appendix with the Cabinet report. 

- The completed screening tool will be published on the intranet. 

Appendix 3

Page 181



 Issue Status: 02 Date: 23/08/11 Process Owner: D. Owen Authorisation: R. Jones Page 2 of 8 

 

Statutory Screening Tool 

 
Name of Strategy / Policy / Activity:  

English-medium Primary and Secondary Schools Catchment Area Consultation: 

 - Cantonian High School               -Fitzalan High School 

- Kitchener Primary School           - Lansdowne Primary School 

- Radnor Primary School               - Severn Primary School  

 

Date of Screening:  

January 2016 

Service Area/Section: Education  Lead Officer: Janine Nightingale  

Attendees:   

Self assessment 

 

 

What are the objectives of the Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/ 

Service/Function 

Please provide background information on the           

Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function and any research done 

[e.g. service users data against demographic statistics, similar EIAs done etc.] 

 

Proposal: 
Changes to catchment areas are proposed that seek to achieve a 
balance between the revised catchment areas of Fitzalan High School 
and Cantonian High School, and also between the catchment areas of 
Kitchener, Lansdowne, Radnor and Severn primary schools. 
 

 

At present Kitchener, Lansdowne, Radnor and Severn primary schools serve 
catchment areas that include part of Canton, Llandaff and Riverside.  The 
catchment areas of these four primary schools currently fall within the 
secondary school catchment area of Fitzalan High School. 
 
Projections indicate that the demand for English-medium places from within the 
existing catchment area of Fitzalan High School will exceed the number of 
places available at entry to the school, whilst demand from within the existing 
catchment area of Cantonian High School is less that the school is able to 
accommodate. 
 
The impact of this as numbers continue to rise, and in the event no changes 
are made, would be that those children furthest from Fitzalan High School 
would be least likely to succeed in securing a place in their catchment school.  
 
Projections indicate that the demand for English-medium places from within the 
existing catchment area of Kitchener Primary School will exceed the number of 
places available at entry to the school, whilst demand from within the existing 
catchment area of Severn Primary School is less that the school is able to 

P
age 182



 Issue Status: 02 Date: 23/08/11 Process Owner: D. Owen Authorisation: R. Jones Page 3 of 8 

 

accommodate. 
 
The impact of this as numbers continue to rise in the event, and no changes 
are made, would be that those children furthest from Kitchener Primary School 
would be least likely to succeed in securing a place in their catchment school 
 
The Council wishes to reduce this uncertainty in the admission arrangements 
that has caused difficulties both for parents and schools in the area.  
 
The changes proposed therefore seek to achieve a balance between the 
catchment areas of the named primary and secondary schools.  
 
 

P
age 183



 Issue Status: 02 Date: 23/08/11 Process Owner: D. Owen Authorisation: R. Jones Page 4 of 8 

 

Part 1: Impact on outcomes and due regard to Sustainable Development 
 

Please use the following scale when considering what contribution the activity makes: 

+ Positive Positive contribution to the outcome 

 

Negative contribution to the outcome 

Neutral contribution to the outcome 

Uncertain if any contribution is made to the outcome 

- Negative 

ntrl Neutral 

Uncertain Not Sure 

 
 Has the Strategy/Policy/Activity considered how it will 

impact one or more of Cardiff’s 7 Citizen focused Outcomes? 

Please Tick Evidence or suggestion for improvement/mitigation 
+ - Ntrl 

Un-

Crtn 

1.1 People in Cardiff are healthy;  

Consider the potential impact on 

• the promotion of good health, prevention of damaging 

behaviour, promote healthy eating/active lifestyles etc, 

• vulnerable citizens and areas of multiple deprivation 
• Addressing instances of inequality in health 

   

x 

 

  
Secondary catchments: 
Projections indicate that the number of pupils in the Lansdowne 
and Radnor catchments attending English-medium secondary 
schools amounts to c2FE (60 pupils per year group). 
 
Should the proposal be implemented the majority of pupils 
affected by the change would remain within 1 mile of Cantonian 
High School, and a significant proportion would be resident 
within 0.5 miles of the school. There may be a small increase in 
the number of pupils in the Canton area (those in close proximity 
to the Fitzalan site) choosing more polluting forms of travel. 
 
Over half of the total secondary school age pupil population in 
this area presently commute to Welsh medium schools or faith 
schools.  The majority of these attend Ysgol Plasmawr (located 
in Fairwater) or The Bishop of Llandaff CW High School (located 
in Llandaff). Many pupils attending these schools walk to school 
and it is expected that the number of pupils that are affected by 
the proposal and who are both further from their local secondary 
school and also opting to use more polluting forms of transport 
will be few.  
 
Should the proposal be implemented pupils in Llandaff, 
Grangetown and Butetown would likely continue using existing 
forms of travel. 

1.2 People in Cardiff have a clean, attractive and sustainable 

environment; 

Consider the potential impact on 

• the causes and consequences of Climate Change and 

creating a carbon lite city  

   x 

• encouraging walking, cycling, and use of public transport 

and improving access to countryside and open space 
  x  

• reducing environmental pollution (land, air, noise and water)  x    

P
age 184



 Issue Status: 02 Date: 23/08/11 Process Owner: D. Owen Authorisation: R. Jones Page 5 of 8 

 

 Has the Strategy/Policy/Activity considered how it will 

impact one or more of Cardiff’s 7 Citizen focused Outcomes? 

Please Tick Evidence or suggestion for improvement/mitigation 
+ - Ntrl 

Un-

Crtn 

Should the proposal not be implemented, pupils in the 
Canton, North Grangetown and Llandaff would likely continue 
using existing forms of travel. 
 
Projections indicate that, based on the current catchment area 
arrangements, many pupils in South Grangetown and Butetown 
(i.e. those resident within the Fizalan High School catchment 
area, but furthest from the school) are the least likely to gain 
admission to Fitzalan High School. Those pupils would reside 
more than 2 miles from the next nearest English-medium 
secondary school (Willows High School). Some pupils would 
reside in excess of 3 miles from a local English-medium 
secondary school and would therefore also qualify for free home 
to school transport. 
 
In summary, implementing the proposal would most likely have 
a positive effect as a result of a net reduction of pupils using 
polluting modes of travel, compared to not implementing the 
proposal. 
 
Primary catchments: 
The proposed revision of primary catchments to achieve a better 
match between supply and demand should minimise the outflow 
of pupils to schools in other catchment areas and therefore 
encourage walking and cycling to and from school.  
 
All pupils would still retain the right to express a preference for 
admission to any of the schools concerned.  
 

• reducing consumption and encouraging waste reduction, 

reuse, recycling and recovery  
    N/A 

• encouraging biodiversity     N/A 

1.3 People in Cardiff are safe and feel safe;  

Consider the potential impact on 

• reducing crime, fear of crime and increasing safety of 

    N/A 

P
age 185



 Issue Status: 02 Date: 23/08/11 Process Owner: D. Owen Authorisation: R. Jones Page 6 of 8 

 

 Has the Strategy/Policy/Activity considered how it will 

impact one or more of Cardiff’s 7 Citizen focused Outcomes? 

Please Tick Evidence or suggestion for improvement/mitigation 
+ - Ntrl 

Un-

Crtn 

individuals  

• addressing anti-social behaviour 

• protecting vulnerable adults and children  in Cardiff from 

harm or abuse 

1.4 Cardiff has a thriving and prosperous economy; 

Consider the potential impact on 

• economic competitiveness (enterprise activity, social 

enterprises, average earnings, improve productivity) 

• Assisting those Not in Education, Employment or Training 

• attracting and retaining workers (new employment and 

training opportunities, increase the value of employment,) 

• promoting local procurement opportunities or enhancing the 

capacity of local companies to compete 

    N/A 
 

1.5 People in Cardiff achieve their full potential;  

Consider the potential impact on 

• promoting and improving access to life-long learning in 

Cardiff 

• raising levels of skills and qualifications 

• giving children the best start 

• improving the understanding of sustainability 

• addressing child poverty (financial poverty, access poverty, 

participation poverty) 

• the United Nations Convention on the Rights of a Child  and 

Principles for Older persons 

x    Secondary catchments: 
The transfer of catchment areas (Radnor and Lansdowne 
Primary Schools) is not expected to have a detrimental impact 
on the numbers of children attending Fitzalan High School as 
there is significant demand in excess of supply from within 
catchment.  As such the school will continue to benefit from the 
current levels of per pupil funding and therefore the range of 
subjects offered together with the specialisms of staff to offer a 
comprehensive range of subjects would not be affected. 
 
The transfer of catchment areas into the Cantonian catchment 
from Fitzalan will increase the number of children likely to attend 
Cantonian.  An increased number of children will result in 
increased funding for Cantonian High School (based on the per 
pupil funding allocation) thereby allowing for a greater range of 
subjects and staff specialists which would improve the offer to 
existing and future pupils at the school.   
 
Both schools offer a full and comprehensive education to their 
pupils and work together with other schools as part of the 14-19 
partnership offer across Cardiff. 
 

P
age 186



 Issue Status: 02 Date: 23/08/11 Process Owner: D. Owen Authorisation: R. Jones Page 7 of 8 

 

 Has the Strategy/Policy/Activity considered how it will 

impact one or more of Cardiff’s 7 Citizen focused Outcomes? 

Please Tick Evidence or suggestion for improvement/mitigation 
+ - Ntrl 

Un-

Crtn 

Primary catchments: 
Each of the primary schools concerned is highly subscribed or 
fully subscribed. The proposed revision of primary catchments to 
achieve a better match between supply and demand should 
minimise the outflow of pupils to schools in other catchment 
areas, and allow more pupils in the Canton area to attend a local 
school. 
 
 

1.6 Cardiff is a Great Place to Live, Work and Play 

Consider the potential impact on 

• promoting the cultural diversity of Cardiff 

• encouraging participation and access for all to physical 

activity, leisure & culture 

• play opportunities for Children and Young People 

• protecting and enhancing the landscape and historic 

heritage of Cardiff 

• promoting the City’s international links 

  x  In the event the proposal were to proceed to implementation all 
schools concerned would continue to have a mixed intake of 
pupils.  Whilst proportions may change students will continue to 
benefit from the full complement of cultural and education 
experiences they have received to date, the proposed change 
does not impact on the quality of education nor limit the offer 
specific to cultural diversity, physical activity, leisure or culture 
offered by each school. 

1.7 Cardiff is a fair, just and inclusive society. 

Consider the potential impact on 

• the elimination of discrimination, harassment or 

victimisation for equality groups 

  x  All schools have appropriate policies in place to deal with any 
issues that present and have a duty to ensure discrimination of 
any of the equality groups is not tolerated. 
 
 

• has the community or stakeholders been engaged in 

developing the strategy/policy/activity? 

• how will citizen participation be encouraged (encouraging 

actions that consider different forms of consultation, 

through more in depth engagement to full participation in 

service development and delivery)? 

x    The consultation process is compliant with the Welsh 
Government admissions code intended to engage stakeholders 
with the views put forward as part of this intended to inform the 
decision making specific to the proposed change. 
 
 
 
 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

Will this Policy/Strategy/Project have a differential impact on 

any of the following: 

 

 Please give details/consequences of the differential impact (positive 

and negative), and what action(s) can you take to address any 

negative implications? 

P
age 187



 Issue Status: 02 Date: 23/08/11 Process Owner: D. Owen Authorisation: R. Jones Page 8 of 8 

 

 Has the Strategy/Policy/Activity considered how it will 

impact one or more of Cardiff’s 7 Citizen focused Outcomes? 

Please Tick Evidence or suggestion for improvement/mitigation 
+ - Ntrl 

Un-

Crtn 

• Age (including children and young people aged 0-25 and 

older people over 65 in line with the United Nations 

Conventions) 

x 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  
See 1.1. and 1.2 
 
Children with siblings attending a school affected by 
catchment area change: 
There would not be an impact on younger siblings resident 
within Cardiff attending the same school as their older siblings if 
a school were to become part of another catchment area: 
 
Oversubscription criterion 1a: 
“Where an older sibling was directed by the Council to an 
alternative school because the alternative school was previously 
the catchment area school, if the parent desires, the Council will 
admit younger siblings to the alternative school. This applies 
only where the older sibling is in attendance at the alternative 
school during the academic year to which the application 
relates. In addition the younger sibling must be residing in the 
same address (or an address within the catchment area that 
was the subject of the change before it was implemented) in the 
City of Cardiff that the older sibling was living at the time of the 
original application.” 
 
This would not apply to siblings living outside of Cardiff.  
However, pupils resident outside of Cardiff would retain the right 
to express a preference for admission to any school in Cardiff.  
 

• Disability   x  Catchment changes could result in a child living closer or further 
away from their local school.  Pupil transport needs are 
assessed on an individual basis. 
 
Catchment changes do not require a pupil to change schools if 
the school they currently attend becomes part of another 
catchment area.    
 
Reasonable adjustments to adapt school premises are made in 
order to meet the needs of applicants to schools.  Otherwise, 

P
age 188



 Issue Status: 02 Date: 23/08/11 Process Owner: D. Owen Authorisation: R. Jones Page 9 of 8 

 

 Has the Strategy/Policy/Activity considered how it will 

impact one or more of Cardiff’s 7 Citizen focused Outcomes? 

Please Tick Evidence or suggestion for improvement/mitigation 
+ - Ntrl 

Un-

Crtn 

children are directed to attend alternative provision.  
 

• Gender Reassignment     N/A  
• Marriage & Civil Partnership     N/A  
• Pregnancy & Maternity     N/A  

• Race   x  Catchment changes would not have a differential impact upon 
one particular ethnic group as educational provision is available 
to all irrespective of race.   
 

• Religion/Belief   x  Community school catchment proposals do not affect the 
catchments of faith schools.  All schools directly affected by the 
proposed changes are community schools and are taught in line 
with the relevant national curriculum for their age including 
personal, social health education and religious education. 
 

• Sex     N/A  
• Sexual Orientation     N/A  
• Welsh Language     N/A 

1.8 The Council delivers positive outcomes for the city and its 

citizens through strong partnerships 

Consider the potential impact on 

• strengthening partnerships with business and voluntary 

sectors 

• the collaboration agenda and the potential for shared 

services, cross-boundary working and efficiency savings  

    N/A 

 

SUMMARY OF APPRAISAL (highlight positive and negative effects of the policy / plan / project being assessed, demonstrating 

how it contributes to the economic, social and environmental sustainability of the city):  
 
The proposed changes to the catchment areas are intended to have a positive impact by seeking to allow a greater proportion of children to attend their 
local catchment area school, and providing families applying for school places in each catchment area with a reasonable expectation of admission to their 
local catchment area school. 
 

P
age 189



 Issue Status: 02 Date: 23/08/11 Process Owner: D. Owen Authorisation: R. Jones Page 10 of 8 

 

The current secondary school catchment area arrangements are disadvantaging those families applying for secondary school places for their children in 
the parts of the catchment area furthest from Fitzalan High School (including South Grangetown and Butetown) where the distance to alternative English-
medium high school provision would be greatest and where there are high proportions of families on low incomes.   
 
The proposed changes would mean a fairer distribution of secondary school places albeit it is acknowledged that for some children living in very close 
proximity to the Fitzalan High School site there could be increased travel distances to their catchment school. All pupils directly affected by changes would 
be under 2 miles from Cantonian High School and safe walking routes are available, many of which are already used by children accessing the faith and 
Welsh-medium schools serving the locality. 
 
It is recognised that the school bandings for Fitzalan High School are currently higher than for Cantonian High School.  However, both provide 
comprehensive education for their pupils and appropriate measures are in place to support each in the areas identified for their improvement.  Whilst 
noted in the summary, the bandings are not a material factor in the equality impact assessment process as all children impacted by the proposal will have 
equal access to education appropriate to their age and stage of development regardless of all protected characteristics and take into account Cardiff’s 7 
citizen focussed outcomes and therefore are not set out in the Equality Impact Assessment appraisal above. 
 
The current primary school catchment area arrangements are disadvantaging those families applying for primary school places for their children in the 
parts of the catchment area furthest from Kitchener Primary School. 
 
The proposed changes would mean a fairer distribution of primary school places and provide better assurance for parents in being able to attend their 
local catchment area school. 
 

WHAT ACTIONS HAVE BEEN IDENTIFIED OR CHANGES BEEN MADE TO THE POLICY / PLAN / PROJECT AS A RESULT OF THIS 

APPRAISAL: 
The proposed changes to catchment areas are at the point of consultation with stakeholders.  Once the outcome of this process is known and in the event 
any negative impact being substantiated appropriate consideration of mitigation would be undertaken. 
 
 
 

P
age 190



 Issue Status: 02 Date: 23/08/11 Process Owner: D. Owen Authorisation: R. Jones Page 11 of 8 

 

Part 2: Strategic Environmental Assessment Screening 
 

  Yes No 

2.1 Does the plan or programme set the framework for future 

development consent? 

 x 

2.2 Is the plan or programme likely to have significant, positive or 

negative, environmental effects? 

 x 

 

Is a Full Strategic Environmental Assessment Screening 

Needed? 

� If yes has been ticked to both questions 2.1 and 

2.2 then the answer is yes 

� If a full SEA Screening is required then please 

contact the Sustainable Development Unit to 

arrange (details below) 

Yes No 
X 
 

 

 

 

If you have any doubt on your answers to the above questions regarding SEA then please 

consult with the Sustainable Development Unit on 2087 3228 

sustainabledevelopment@cardiff.gov.uk  

 

Part 3: Habitat Regulation Assessment (HRA) 

 
  Yes No Unsure 

 

3.1 Will the plan, project or programme results in an activity 

which is known to affect a European site, such as the Severn 

Estuary or the Cardiff Beech Woods? 

 x  

 

3.2 Will the plan, project or programme which steers 

development towards an area that includes a European site, 

such as the Severn Estuary or the Cardiff Beech Woods or 

may indirectly affect a European site? 

 x  

3.3 Is a full HRA needed?  x  

 
Details of the strategy will be sent to the County Ecologist on completion of the process to determine if a Habitat 

Regulation Assessment is needed.  For further information please phone 2087 3215 or email 

biodiversity@cardiff.gov.uk 

 

Page 191



 Issue Status: 02 Date: 23/08/11 Process Owner: D. Owen Authorisation: R. Jones Page 12 of 8 

 

Appendix 1 – Statutory Requirements 
 

It is possible that the Impact Screening Tool will identify the need to undertake specific statutory 

assessments: 
 

• Equality Impact Assessment: This assessment is required by the Equality Act 2010 and Welsh 

Government’s Equality Regulations 2011.  

• Sustainable Development Bill: The Bill, when it comes into effect, will require sustainable 

development (SD) to be a central organising principle for the organisation. This means that there 

is a duty to consider SD in the strategic decision making processes. 

• Shared Purpose Shared Delivery- The Welsh Government requires local authorities to produce a 

single integrated plan to meet statutory requirements under a range of legislation. Cardiff 

Council must therefore demonstrate its contribution towards Cardiff’s own integrated plan; 

“What Matters”. 

• United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child: The Children Act 2004 guidance for 

Wales requires local authorities and their partners to have regard to the United Nations 

Convention on the Rights of a Child.  

• United Nations Principles for Older Persons: The principles require a consideration of 

independence, participation, care, self-fulfillment and dignity. 

• The Welsh Language Measure 2011: The measure sets out official status for the Welsh 

language, a Welsh language Commissioner, and the freedom to speak Welsh. 

• Health Impact Assessment: (HIA) considers policies, programmes or projects for their potential 

effects on the health of a population 

• Strategic Environmental Impact Assessment: A Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) is an 

European Directive for plans, programmes and policies with land use implications and significant 

environmental effects. 

• Habitats Regulations Assessment: The Conservation (Natural Habitats, &c.) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2007 provides a requirement to undertake Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) 

of land use plans.  

 

 

Page 192



Appendix 4

Page 193



Page 194



Page 195



Page 196



Page 197



Page 198



Page 199



Page 200



Page 201



Page 202



Page 203



Page 204



Appendix 5

Page 205



Page 206



Page 207



Page 208



Page 209



Page 210



Page 211



Page 212



Page 213



Page 214



Page 215



Page 216



Page 217



Page 218



Page 219



Page 220



Page 221



Page 222



Page 223



Page 224



Page 225



Page 226



Page 227



Page 228



Page 229



Page 230



Page 231



Page 232



Page 233



Page 234



Page 235



Page 236



Page 237



Page 238



Page 239



Page 240



Page 241



Page 242



Page 243



Page 244



Page 245



Page 246



Page 247



Page 248



Page 249



Page 250



Page 251



Page 252



Page 253



Page 254



Page 255



Page 256



Page 257



Page 258



Page 259



Page 260



Page 261



Page 262



Page 263



Page 264



Page 265



Page 266



Page 267



Page 268



Appendix 6

Page 269



Page 270



Page 271



Page 272



Page 273



Page 274



Page 275



Page 276



Page 277



Page 278



Page 279



Page 280



Page 281



Page 282



Page 283



Page 284



Page 285



Page 286



Page 287



Page 288



Page 289



Page 290



Page 291



Page 292



Page 293



Page 294



Page 295



Page 296



Page 297



Page 298



Page 299



Page 300



Page 1 of 18 

CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL  
CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD 
 
CABINET MEETING: 21 MARCH 2016 

 
 
SCHOOL ORGANISATION PROPOSALS: THE PROVISION OF 
ENGLISH-MEDIUM AND WELSH-MEDIUM PRIMARY SCHOOL 
PLACES IN THE ADAMSDOWN AND SPLOTT WARDS 
 
REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF EDUCATION AND LIFELONG 
LEARNING 

AGENDA ITEM: 6    
 
  
PORTFOLIO: EDUCATION (COUNCILLOR SARAH MERRY) 
 
Reason for this Report 
 
1. This report is to inform the Cabinet of any objections received to the 

statutory notice to: 
 

•  Increase the capacity of Ysgol Glan Morfa, Moorland Road, Cardiff, 
CF24 2LJ, from 210 places to 420 places with up to 80 part-time 
nursery places serving the age range 3-11 from September 2017.  

 
•  To transfer the enlarged Ysgol Glan Morfa to a new build 420 place 

primary school on a new site at land at the Maltings from September 
2017. 

 
•  Increase the capacity of Moorland Primary School, Moorland Road, 

Cardiff, CF24 2LJ, from 382 places to 630 places with up to 96 part-
time nursery places serving the age range 3-11 utilising the vacated 
Ysgol Glan Morfa buildings from September 2017. 

 
Background 
 
2. At its meeting on 10 December 2015 the Cabinet, in accordance with the 

terms of the Schools Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act, approved a 
recommendation for the publication of the statutory notice detailed in 
paragraph 1.  Copy of the 10 December Cabinet Report School 
Organisation Proposals: The Provision of English-medium and Welsh-
medium Primary School Places in the Adamsdown and Splott Wards can 
be found at Appendix 1. 

 
3. Copies of the consultation document and the statutory notice can be found 

at Appendix 2. 
 

 

Page 301

Agenda Item 6



Page 2 of 18 

4. The notice was published on the Council website and displayed in the 
local area on 05 January 2016.  Additional stakeholders identified in the 
Welsh Government School Organisation Code as needing to receive 
either a hard copy of the notice or be emailed a link to the Council website 
were notified of publication of the notice.  

 
Issues 
 
5. Three objections to the statutory notice were received.   
 
6. The new School Organisation Code came into force in October 2013.  

Following this the Council’s Cabinet now has responsibility for the 
determination of school organisation proposals including those which 
receive objections (save for those that are required to be considered by 
the Welsh Government).   

 
7. In accordance with this the Cabinet must decide whether to approve, 

reject or approve with modifications, the proposals.  The Council must not 
approach the decision with a closed mind and any objections must be 
conscientiously considered. 

 
Objections Received  

 
8. Three objections were received in response to the statutory notice.  
  
9. The first objection was raised by a parent of a pupil at Moorland Primary 

School who expressed the view that Moorland Primary School is already 
overcrowded with some children eating lunch in the classroom everyday 
because there is no room in the dinner hall.  The objection also expressed 
concern over the potential for increased traffic and parking issues at the 
school. 

 
10. The second objection was from a resident who expressed the view that 

that as a map showing the proposed location of the site for a new build 
Ysgol Glan Morfa was not provided with the statutory notice this meant 
that people did not pay much attention to the papers.  Also there is 
“precious little grassy rural green areas in Splott for the public to enjoy” 
and could the school not function within its existing facilities. 

 
11. The third objection was received from the Governing Body of Moorland 

Primary School.  Whilst the Governing Body understand the need for 
increased capacity in the area and are keen to work the Council to find a 
solution they did not feel able to support the proposals in their existing 
format. 

 
12. The objection from the Governing Body included the following points 

shown in italics below: 
 

•  There were concerns around traffic safety at both school entrances, in 
particular inconsiderate parking at school pick up times;  

 

Page 302



Page 3 of 18 

•  There were concerns expressed about the adequacy of the size and 
the condition of accommodate in the Ysgol Glan Morfa buildings; 

 
•  There were concerns expressed in relation to the high levels of social 

need in the area and the schools capacity to support vulnerable pupils 
and their families appropriately if the size of the school increased to 
3FE as proposed;   

 
•  It was suggested that consideration be given to a split site and that 

Moorland's senior staff and governors would be directly responsible for 
the running of the school and the quality of the learning provision.   
 

Council’s response to the objections 
 
School Accommodation 
 
13. The head teacher of Moorland Primary School has confirmed that pupils in 

years 5 and 6 who bring packed lunches are currently eating these in their 
classrooms as the school cannot accommodate all pupils in the lunch hall 
within the 40 minute time slot that the school operates for lunch time.  

 
14. Under this proposal, Moorland Primary School would take over the 

vacated Ysgol Glan Morfa buildings (which are on the same site) when 
Ysgol Glan Morfa transfers to a new site at the Maltings from September 
2017.  This would enable Moorland Primary School to re-configure their 
current lunch time arrangements.  

 
15. The development appraisals undertaken to date demonstrate a sufficiency 

of facilities to accommodate the increased number of children on the site 
utilising a combination of the Moorland and Glan Morfa buildings. Some 
alterations are required.   

 
Traffic and Transport 
 
16. The number of pupils accessing the Moorland site is not planned to 

exceed the number presently accessing the combined Moorland – Glan 
Morfa site.  The school is also expected to serve a smaller catchment area 
than the existing catchment area of Ysgol Glan Morfa and it would 
therefore be reasonable to expect that similar numbers of, or fewer pupils 
would travel to school by car. 

 
17. There are existing parking restrictions outside each pedestrian access 

point to the Moorland Primary site.  The Council is currently delivering the 
Welsh Government funded Splott Safe Routes in the Community project.  
This is a two year project aimed at improving the walking and cycling 
access to the schools within the Splott area of Cardiff.   

 
18. Specific improvements are being made to the walking and cycling routes 

to the Moorland Primary site as follows: 
 

a. New tabled zebra crossing on Singleton Road 

Page 303



Page 4 of 18 

b. Improvements to the zebra crossing on Walker Road near the 
junction with Singleton Road 

c. New tabled crossing facility on Moorland Road near Hinton Street 
d. Improvements to the existing zebra crossing on South Park Road 

near Moorland Road 
e. New shared use path on South Park Road to improve access to the 

Star Hub area. 
 

19. The Council would work with the Governing Body of Moorland Primary 
School to develop a Travel Plan to minimise any potential disruption.  
Traffic and transport implications would be considered as part of the 
Transport Assessment that would be required in order to achieve planning 
consent for any building works. 

   
20. Cardiff’s Supplementary Planning Guidance (Access, Circulation and 

Parking Standards 2010) sets out that all new or expanded schools are 
required to develop a Travel Plan for submission with a planning 
application. A School Travel Plan is specifically designed to address the 
transport needs of pupils and staff and will vary according to the nature of 
the education being provided, any community facilities on site and the 
catchment area of a school.  A Travel Plan is a policy and action plan to: 

 
•  manage transport efficiently 
•  improve access by all means of travel for employees, visitors, 

parents and students 
•  encourage sustainable transport – walking, cycling, public transport 

and car sharing 
•  reduce car use. 

 
21. Cardiff’s transport network is under pressure and experiences congestion 

from commuters driving into the city and people making short local trips by 
car. The City of Cardiff Council’s policy is to encourage and promote the 
increased use of sustainable travel modes and to promote independent 
travel to school wherever possible.  

 
22. Encouraging active travel to school is a very important means of 

increasing levels of physical activity in children and tackling the growing 
problem of childhood obesity. Reducing congestion at the school gate is 
key to ensuring the safety of pupils and to mitigating impacts on the local 
neighbourhood. 

 
The Maltings site 

 
23. The statutory notice was put up at the proposed site and in the local area 

and advised that Indicative layouts showing maps of the school sites/the 
Maltings site and how the sites would look can be viewed on line at 
www.cardiff.gov.uk. If selected for the purpose of building an education 
facility the Maltings site would need to be appropriated to reflect the 
change of use. 

 
24. The use of part of the Maltings site for a new Ysgol Glan Morfa building 

would result in the reduction in the size of the current amenity area 

Page 304

http://www.cardiff.gov.uk/


Page 5 of 18 

available. Those wishing to exercise their dogs, take children to the play 
facilities and use the area for informal recreation could continue to do so.  

 
25. In the event the proposal proceeds to implementation and is constructed 

on the current amenity space off Lewis Road, it is suggested this could be 
compensated by the provision of additional amenity space at the rear of 
the site along with investment in the facilities to mitigate any 
loss/disruption.  This would mean there is no net loss of land and the 
facilities would be repositioned to provide a commensurate offer to the 
community. This would also include provision of a shared pitch as part of a 
community focussed school within the school grounds that would be 
available to the community for use outside normal school opening hours.  

 
26. Any scheme progressed would therefore be subject to planning 

permission and appropriation of part this amenity area of Public Open 
Space, taking into account the existing open space available within the 
ward in open space, and any objections considered. 

 
27. The proposal to establish a school at the Maltings site responds to need 

for additional Welsh-medium primary school places to serve the area.  
Expansion of Ysgol Glan Morfa on its existing site is not an option. 

 
Size of School 
 

28. Moorland Primary School is well located to meet demand for English-
medium places and it is not anticipated that standards at the school would 
be impacted upon were the school to expand to 3FE. 

 
29. Whilst the concerns of the Governing Body and the respective needs of 

the local community in which Moorland operates are acknowledged there 
are many 3FE and larger primary schools with similar levels of FSM and/or 
EAL learners that are demonstrating the capacity to provide education that 
is deemed ‘Good’ and ‘Outstanding’ by the relevant independent 
inspectorate body (Estyn in Wales, Ofsted in England), a sample of 
examples are attached at Appendix 4.    

 
30. Given the strengths identified at Moorland Primary School and the 

demonstrated understanding of the local factors impacting on children’s 
learning and the schools demonstrated ability to respond to these 
effectively, it is anticipated that Moorland Primary School’s very good 
standards would continue.  Appropriate support would be put in place in 
the event the school expands to take the larger intakes, and it is 
acknowledged that this would include an increase in the Leadership 
capacity at the school.   

 
Third form of entry off site 
 
31. As set out in the 10 December 2015 Cabinet report, the primary aim of the 

English-medium aspect of these proposals is to increase the number of 
places available in the locality. Where an existing school is suitably 
located and has scope to increase within the available budget as in this 

Page 305



Page 6 of 18 

case, the Council would not support the retention of the existing 
accommodation and the establishment of a new build school elsewhere.  

 
32. In clarifying the response from the Moorlands Chair of Governors the 

practicality of delivering a third form of entry off site is now not considered 
viable by the Governing Body and they no longer advocate this approach. 

 
Moorland Governing Body 

 
33. Officers sought clarification of the concerns of the Governing Body 

regarding the suitability of the Glan Morfa site for expansion of English 
medium provision.  In discussion and subsequent correspondence the 
Chair of Governors and Head Teacher indicated a modified adaptation of 
the site would address their concerns. This includes the upgrading of the 
existing nursery building to provide an enhanced provision and three 
additional classrooms for the Reception children.  This approach along 
with resolution of some condition issues has addressed the concerns of 
the Chair of Governors and Head Teacher. 

 
Requirements of the School Organisation Code 

 
34. As set out in the School Organisation Code, the following factors should 

be taken into account by relevant bodies when exercising their function of 
approving/determining proposals. The Council must at all times consider 
the interests of the learners. 

 
Quality and standards  

 
35. The Council works closely with the governing bodies of schools to ensure 

that standards in schools are high, that teaching is good and that 
leadership and governance is strong.  The Council works closely with two 
organisations in order to monitor the performance of schools and to 
support school improvement. 

 
36. Estyn is the office of Her Majesty’s Chief Inspector of Education and 

Training in Wales.  It is a Crown body, established under the Education 
Act 1992. Estyn is independent of the National Assembly for Wales but 
receives its funding from the Welsh Government under Section 104 of the 
Government of Wales Act 1998.  Estyn inspects quality and standards in 
education and training providers in Wales. 

 
37. Central South Consortium Joint Education Service (CSCJES) was 

established in September 2012.  The Local Authority has commissioned 
the Consortium to support and challenge schools in Cardiff. 

 
38. When proposing changes of this type to schools Local Authorities are 

required to refer to the most recent Estyn reports, other evidence from 
performance monitoring and any other information available on school 
effectiveness. 

 
39. Local Authorities must also demonstrate the likely impact of the proposals 

on the quality of : 

Page 306



Page 7 of 18 

 
•  outcomes (standards and wellbeing) 
•  provision (learning experiences, teaching, care support and guidance 

and learning environment) 
•  leadership and management (leadership, improving quality, 

partnership working and resource management) 
 
Estyn 
 
40. Schools are inspected as part of a national programme of school 

inspection.  The purpose of an inspection is to identify good features and 
shortcomings in schools in order that they may improve the quality of 
education offered and raise standards achieved by their pupils (Estyn). 

 
41. The relevant Estyn Inspection reports provide grades against Key 

Questions and provide school with recommendations for improvement. 
 
42. For Estyn inspections carried out before September 2010, there were 

seven key questions each with the following grades which could be 
awarded: 

 
Grade 1 good with outstanding features 
Grade 2 good features and no important shortcomings 
Grade 3 good features outweigh shortcomings 
Grade 4 some good features, but shortcomings in important areas 
Grade 5 many important shortcomings 

 
43. In September 2010 a new common inspection framework was introduced 

and Estyn inspections carried out after September 2010 provides 
judgements against three Key Questions. 

 
Each key question is provided with a judgement: 

 
•  Excellent –many strengths, including significant examples of sector-

leading practice 
• Good – many strengths and no important  
• Adequate – strengths outweigh areas for improvement 
• Unsatisfactory – important areas for improvement outweigh strengths 

 
Welsh Government categorisation of schools 
 
44. In January 2015 the Welsh Government introduced a new categorisation 

system that considered each school’s standards alongside the school’s 
capacity to improve so as to understand the level of support that 
organisations such as CSC need to give each other in order that they 
achieve their targets. 

Page 307



Page 8 of 18 

 
45. The categorisation system is described below: 
 
Welsh Government Categorisation System 
Category What the category means 
Green  A highly effective school which is well run, has a strong 

leadership and is clear about its priorities for improvement.   
Yellow An effective school which is already doing well and knows the 

areas it needs to improve.   
Amber A School in need of improvement which needs help to identify 

the steps to improve or to make change happen more quickly.   
Red A school in need of greatest improvement and will receive 

immediate, intensive support.   
 

 
46. To determine the colour coded category as explained in the table above, 

schools are placed in one of four groups for standards (1-4) and for 
bringing about improvement (A-D) with one being the highest grouping for 
standards and A being the highest for improvement capacity. 

 
Moorland Primary School  
 
47. Moorland Primary School was last inspected in September 2012.  The 

school’s performance was judged to be good with prospects for 
improvement judged to be good.  

 
48. The Welsh Government has categorised the school as Green.     
 
Ysgol Glan Morfa   
 
49. Ysgol Glan Morfa was last inspected in January 2009.  It was described by 

inspectors as a caring school with many very positive qualities.  The LA 
recognises that this inspection was undertaken a number of years ago and 
should not be used as an indication of the current standards at the school.  
The school was awarded the following grades: 

 
Key Questions Grade 
How well do learners achieve? 2 
How effective are teaching, training and assessment? 2 
How well do the learning experiences meet the needs and 
interest of learners and wider community? 

2 

How well are learners cared for, guided and supported? 1 
How effective are leadership and strategic management? 2 
How well do learners and managers evaluate and improve 
quality and standards? 

3 

How efficient  2 
 

50. The Welsh Government has categorised the school as Amber. 
 
51. Further information regarding quality and standards at Moorland  Primary 

School and Ysgol Glan Morfa can be seen at Appendix 4. 
 

Page 308



Page 9 of 18 

Standards 
 
52. The Council’s aim is to provide sufficient good quality nursery and primary 

school places in both English-medium and Welsh-medium and Faith 
based education to a 21st Century school standard across the city.  All 
children and young people in Cardiff should be educated in environments 
that are fit for purpose, in the right place and that are the right size to 
enable the effective delivery of first class education, improve the 
sufficiency and suitability of school places across Cardiff and ensure the 
provision of a 21st Century School Standard. 

 
53. The Council has in place policies to support school improvement e.g. ‘High 

Achievement for All’ and ‘Achievement for Inclusion’.  It is working to 
respond to the key principles of the School Effectiveness Framework to 
secure better learning outcomes and well-being for all children including 
those at the existing schools which form part of these proposals. 

 
54. It is no anticipated that there will be any impact on the quality and 

standards of education or the delivery of the Foundation Phase at any of 
the schools.  It is expected that facilities developed to be suited for 
purpose would support more effective teaching and learning. 

 
Provision 
 
55. The number of pupils entering Reception has increased and the expansion 

of existing schools seeks to provide sufficient English-medium and Welsh-
medium community primary school places to serve the local area. 

 
56. The proposals will provide the opportunity to invest in providing high 

quality, modern facilities which would be able to support the delivery of a 
broad and balanced curriculum. 

 
Leadership and Governance 

 
57. The Council will work with the leadership of any new school/existing 

schools to develop a rigorous whole school approach to improvement 
planning and secure good relationships with parents and other partners in 
order to ensure pupils receive a high quality education. 

 
58. Careful planning will take place during the proposed period of change to 

avoid any risk of distraction or disruption to leadership and governance 
that could impact on educational outcomes. 

 
59. The Council has no information to suggest that the Quality and Standards 

of existing school would be negatively affected by the proposals.  The 
expectation would be that investment in new school facilities would add 
value and have potential to better support delivery of relevant curriculums 
and children’s learning experiences. 

 

Page 309



Page 10 of 18 

Need for places and the impact on accessibility of schools 
 
60. Population data supplied by the NHS indicates that the number of pupils 

resident in the Willows High School catchment area entering Reception in 
future years in the area will be at higher levels than at present. 

 
61. There has been a period of sustained growth in the number of pupils 

taking up English-medium community school Reception places in the 
Willows High School catchment area. This numerical growth in take-up 
has been broadly proportionate to the growth in population, the 
proportionate demand fluctuating between 57% and 63% in the period 
January 2007 to January 2013. 

 
62. The proportion of Reception age pupils enrolled in Welsh-medium 

education in the Adamsdown and Splott area fluctuated in the period 
January 2007 to January 2011 but has since grown to 11.4% in January 
2012, and fallen back to 10.4% in January 2013. However, the recent 
trend established indicates an increase in demand of approximately 4.5% 
per year. 

 
63. There has been a period of sustained growth in the take up of Faith school 

Reception places in the Willows High School catchment area. However, as 
the population has grown at a faster rate the proportion of pupils taking up 
Reception places in Faith schools has fallen from 33% in January 2007 to 
28% in January 2013. 

 
64. As there are no proposals to expand Faith school provision, projected 

demand for English-medium and Faith school places therefore take 
account of the projected uplift in demand for Welsh-medium places and 
are reduced accordingly.  

  
65. Forecasts have therefore been prepared based on: 
 

•  Likely demand if take up patterns were to remain consistent with the 
most recent years applying these trends to the relevant populations 
coming through in future years; 

•  Known populations along with a potential 4.5% annual uplift in Welsh-
medium demand by comparison with recent take up patterns between 
2011 – 2013; 

•  Demand for Faith school places in excess of the places available 
added to the demand for English-medium community school places. 

 
Summary forecasts of demand for places at entry to Reception 
 
66. The work undertaken to establish the likely demand across the area 

shows that there will be an overall projected shortfall of approximately 68 
Reception places serving the Adamsdown and Splott areas based on 
existing housing. 

 
67. When compared to the existing supply of places at Reception age, 

projections for September 2015 and 2016 indicate: 
 

Page 310



Page 11 of 18 

•  A deficit of 13 Welsh-medium community school places in September 
2015, rising to a deficit of 19 in September 2016, should the uplift of 
4.5% in the take-up of Welsh-medium places continue as expected; 

•  A deficit of 21 English-medium community school places in 
September 2015, rising to a deficit of 49 in September 2016, should 
faith schools be unable to accommodate the excess projected 
demand and this be added to the projected demand for English-
medium community school places. 

 
68. The addition of 1FE English-medium and 1FE Welsh-medium community 

school places combined with the previous expansion of Adamsdown 
Primary School will meet the projected shortfall. 

 
69. Additional information regarding can be seen in the consultation document 

at Appendix 2. 
 
Resourcing of education  
 
70. School budgets are primarily funded by formula funding mechanism which 

uses pupil numbers as its main driver.  Any increase or decrease in pupil 
numbers at individual schools would need to be reflected in the revenue 
budget of the school.  The proposals will ensure a fairer and more 
equitable distribution of funding between mainstream schools within the 
Cardiff area. 

 
How would nursery provision be affected? 

 
71. Children in Cardiff are entitled to a part-time nursery place from the start of 

the term following their third birthday and must attend for a minimum of 
five half days.  Nursery places are not allocated on a catchment area 
basis.  Wherever possible places are offered in a local community nursery 
school or nursery class within two miles of a child’s place of residence.  If 
places are unavailable in local community nursery schools or nursery 
classes, parents may apply for nursery education place funding with an 
approved provider that has to demonstrate is able to meet with relevant 
quality. 

 
72. The Local Authority has needed to purchase an increasing number of 

nursery education places in recent years following the increased housing 
and the rise in the birth rate. Also, some families have not taken up their 
offered place which means there is potential demand in excess of the 
supply available and any additional places would support a greater uptake 
of the nursery entitlement. 

 
73. It has been difficult to source a sufficiency of places in settings that are 

approved to provide education places in areas that parents have 
requested and/or source new providers willing to enter into the contract 
with the Local Authority in some areas. 

 
74. In the event the proposal is implemented accommodation would need to 

be of sufficient size to provide for the increased numbers and the 
appropriate investment made to realise the appropriate space in 

Page 311



Page 12 of 18 

accordance with the numbers of places offered. As these are potentially 
expansion of existing nursery units the outdoor area would also be taken 
into account to ensure the area is able to offer a range of activities 
relevant to the delivery of the Foundation Phase to this age group. 

 
Cylch Meithrin Glan Morfa 
 
75. There are currently 32 school (maintained) morning nursery places 

available at Ysgol Glan Morfa.  Additionally a cylch meithrin (Cylch 
Meithrin Glan Morfa) operates from the school offering non maintained 
nursery places, Flying Start childcare and wrap round care in the nursery 
facility during the afternoon.  Under these proposals the number of nursery 
places at Ysgol Glan Morfa is proposed to be increased.  Cylch Meithrin 
Glan Morfa have written to express their delight at the expansion of 
Welsh-medium provision in the area, the proposal for a larger school and 
their wish to continue the association with the school in the future.  It is 
expected that the facilities could be developed in a way that would mean 
the potential for the Cylch to continue to operate within the school could be 
retained.   

 
Local Member consultation 
 
76. Local ward members have been consulted as part of these proposals.  

They have indicated their full support for a school at this location and have 
expressed that this would represent a positive investment in the area, 
contribute to regeneration and provide an improved range of facilities for 
the local community. 

 
Reason for Recommendations 
 
77. To address the shortfall of English-medium and Welsh-medium primary 

school places in and around the Adamsdown and Splott wards. 
 
Admission Arrangements including catchment areas 
 
78. Should the proposals be implemented, permanent expansion of both the 

English-medium and Welsh-medium provision would commence from 
September 2017. The Published Admission Number of 60 at Moorland 
Primary School would increase to 90, and at The Published Admission 
Number at Ysgol Glan Morfa would increase from 30 to 60, from 
September 2017. 

 
79. Should the proposed expansion of Moorland Primary School proceed, 

then it would be necessary to review catchment area arrangements in 
Adamsdown and Splott to better match the supply of places to local 
demand. 

 
80. The establishment of each individual school catchment area requires the 

Council to undertake a formal consultation. The Council, in its role as 
admission authority, consults with schools annually in respect of school 
admission arrangements, including school catchment areas. School 

Page 312



Page 13 of 18 

admission arrangements have been set until the end of the 2016-17 
school year. 

 
81. It is expected that, following further analysis of the take-up of Reception 

places in 2015 and 2016, any proposed changes to primary school 
catchment areas would be consulted on in early 2017 or 2018 and the 
arrangements would then be implemented in September 2018 or 2019. 

 
Financial Implications  

 
82. The realigned 21st Century Schools Programme totalling £167.6 million 

was approved by Cabinet in March and submitted to Welsh Government. 
Welsh Government subsequently approved in-principle a slightly reduced 
programme of £164.1 million. Within this re-aligned programme is a 
budget of £6.86 million for a project to deliver increased Primary School 
and Nursery Provision in the Adamsdown and Splott Wards.  

 
83. At this stage this project has SOC / OBC stage business case approval 

from WG as one element of a wider business case which includes other 
primary school SOP projects in the city. Further work is required to 
progress the proposals through to FBC stage and therefore any 
expenditure undertaken to progress these proposals prior to FBC approval 
from WG will be undertaken by the Local Authority at the risk of not 
achieving FBC approval and therefore being unable to access the 
anticipated 50% WG funding contribution to the project costs. 

 
84. The in-principle approved project budget currently allocated to this scheme 

is unlikely to be sufficient to deliver the full scope of the proposed project. 
However an application is being made to WG to transfer additional 
resources from other projects within the 21st Century Schools Programme 
which are either anticipating an underspend against project budget or 
whose in-principle project budget appears to be more than sufficient to 
deliver their respective proposals. This transfer of resources will not 
increase the overall financial envelope for the 21st Century Schools 
programme or the Council’s anticipated overall funding requirement. 

 
85. The report references a requirement to compensate or mitigate for the loss 

of public open space which would occur by the proposed transfer of Ysgol 
Glan Morfa to the Maltings. This will have an additional impact on the 
project budget and also needs to be quantified. Initial estimates of the 
likely impact have been requested from the Authority’s Parks department 
but require discussion to establish the exact requirements and their likely 
financial impact on the project budget.  

 
86. The revenue implications for the impacted Schools’ delegated budgets of 

the proposed additional pupil numbers should be covered by increased 
formula funding which would be received in recognition of the increased 
number of pupils. 

Page 313



Page 14 of 18 

 
Legal Implications 

 
87. Any proposal to establish a new community school or to make a regulated 

alteration to a community school fall to be considered as a regulated 
alteration to a school under Sections 41 and 43 of the School Standards 
and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013. 

 
88. Section 48 of the 2013 Act requires that any proposal in respect of a 

regulated alternation regulated alteration must first be consulted upon and 
then a formal notice published in accordance with the Schools 
Organisation Code for the time being. 

 
89. Those steps have taken place and a formal 28 day notice period was 

allowed for objections.   
 
90. Under the Code the Authority is required to take into account certain 

factors in formulating proposals and those factors are referred to in the 
text of this Report. 

 
91. The Council also has to satisfy its public sector duties under the Equality 

Act 2010 (including specific Welsh public sector duties). Pursuant to these 
legal duties, Councils must in making decisions have due regard to the 
need to (1) eliminate unlawful discrimination, (2) advance equality of 
opportunity and (3) foster good relations on the basis of protected 
characteristics. 

 
92. Protected characteristics are: 

•  Age 
•  Gender reassignment 
•  Sex 
•  Race – including ethnic or national origin, colour or nationality 
•  Disability 
•  Pregnancy and maternity 
•  Marriage and civil partnership 
•  Sexual orientation 
•  Religion or belief – including lack of belief 

 
93. The Council also has to consider whether the proposals will improve 

access for disabled pupils in accordance with the Equality Act 2010. 
 
94. The report identifies that the Equality Impact Assessment has been 

updated and is appended at Appendix 3. The purpose of the Equality 
Impact Assessment is to ensure that the Council has understood the 
potential impacts of the proposal in terms of equality so that it can ensure 
that it is making proportionate and rational decisions having due regard to 
its public sector equality duty. 

 
95. The Cabinet must make a final determination of the proposals within 16 

weeks of the end of the objection period. 
 

Page 314



Page 15 of 18 

96. The Council has power to appropriate land to a different statutory purpose 
if it is no longer needed for its present purpose pursuant to section 122 of 
the Local Government Act 1972.  In the case of open space land, the 
Council is required to publicly advertise the proposed appropriation and to 
conscientiously consider any responses to the advertisement. 

 
HR Implications  
 
97. HR People Services will work with the Governing Body’s of Ysgol Glan 

Morfa and Moorland Primary Schools in readiness for their respective 
expansions to 2FE and 3 FE. The Governing Bodies during this time will 
be encouraged in line with the SOP HR Framework to undertake a review 
of their staffing structure to ensure that they are sufficient for expansion as 
the numbers on roll increase.  

 
98. HR People Services will also provide support regarding planning for the 

additional recruitment and as both schools have adopted the Council’s 
Redeployment and Redundancy Policy any new vacancies arising as a 
consequence of an increase in numbers on the role will provide 
opportunities for staff on the school redeployment register. 

 
Equality Impact Assessment  
 
99. An Equality Impact Assessment on the proposed option has been carried 

out.  The assessment concluded that this proposal would not adversely 
affect a particular group in society.  If the proposal were to proceed, further 
equality impact assessments would be undertaken including as 
assessment on the design for any new build accommodation. (Details of 
the Equality Impact Assessment can be seen at Appendix 5) 

 
Sustainability Assessment  
 
100. A Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) of the proposal has been 

carried out in accordance with European Legislation.  The assessment 
confirms that the proposal is compatible with the environmental objective 
identified the SEA of Cardiff’s 21st Century: A Strategic Framework for a 
School Building Improvement Programme.  If the proposal were to 
proceed, an environmental assessment would be carried out as part of the 
planning application process. (Details of the Sustainability Assessment 
can be seen at Appendix 5). 

 
Transport Matters  
 
101. Traffic and transport implications will be considered as part of the 

Transport Assessment that will be required as part of the formal planning 
application and therefore until this is completed it will not be possible to 
predict the outcomes. The information from this assessment will inform 
any stipulations made as condition of planning consent should this 
proposal be permitted to proceed to implementation. 

 
 
 

Page 315



Page 16 of 18 

Moorland site 
 

102. It is expected that the enlarged Moorland Primary School would serve 
broadly the same area and same number of pupils as the two school 
presently sharing the site, Moorland Primary School and Ysgol Glan 
Morfa. 

 
103. There are existing parking restrictions outside each pedestrian access 

point to the Moorland Primary site.  The Council is currently delivering the 
Welsh Government funded Splott Safe Routes in the Community project.  
This is a two year project aimed at improving the walking and cycling 
access to the schools within the Splott area of Cardiff.  Specific 
improvements are therefore already in the process of being made to 
upgrade the walking and cycling routes to the Moorland Primary site as 
follows: 

 
a. New tabled zebra crossing on Singleton Road 
b. Improvements to the zebra crossing on Walker Road near the 

junction with Singleton Road 
c. New tabled crossing facility on Moorland Road near Hinton Street 
d. Improvements to the existing zebra crossing on South Park Road 

near Moorland Road 
e. New shared use path on South Park Road to improve access to the 

Star Hub area. 
 

Ysgol Glan Morfa at the Maltings 
 

104. The speed limit is currently 30mph on Lewis Road appropriate to the 
layout and use of the surrounding streets and vehicular use/access 
requirements in the area.  Lewis Road provides access to a number of 
Industrial Units and commercial business premises..  Currently, there are 
no parking restrictions in the vicinity of the proposed school site. 

 
105. An initial assessment suggests that a School Safety Zone will be required 

on Lewis Road, which will include traffic calming to reduce the traffic 
speeds to around 20mph and a tabled zebra crossing to provide 
pedestrian access to the school.  In addition, improvements may be 
required to the pedestrian crossing facilities on East Tyndall Street which 
would provided as required as part of the school siting at the site. 

 
106. No fee-paying school transport would be provided to Moorland Primary 

School or Ysgol Glan Morfa as all pupils living within each catchment area 
live within two miles walking distance of each school. Discussions will be 
held with the Commercial bus operators in the area to review commercial 
services. 

 
107. All addresses within the catchment areas of Moorland Primary School or 

Ysgol Glan Morfa are within 2 miles of the each site, and therefore no 
pupils resident in the catchment area of either school wishing to attend an 
English-medium or Welsh-medium community primary school would 
qualify for free home to school transport. This is only provided for primary 

Page 316



Page 17 of 18 

age pupils who live two or more miles from the nearest appropriate 
catchment area school. 

 
108. The increased capacity of Moorland Primary School will reduce the 

requirement for the Council to provide free transport to pupils who move 
into the Butetown, Adamsdown, Tremorfa and Roath areas during an 
academic year.  There is currently very limited space in the local schools 
and the Council is faced with transporting some pupils to schools who 
have spare capacity where these are more than two miles walking 
distance from the areas.  This increased capacity will phase out this 
transport requirement. 

 
109. Cardiff Council School Transport section would be able to provide families 

with advice on safe walking routes to school based on individual home 
addresses. 

 
110. Under this proposal there are no plans to change the Council’s policy on 

the transport of children to and from schools. Any pupils affected by these 
proposals will be offered the same support with transport as is provided 
throughout Cardiff and in accordance with the same criteria that apply 
across Cardiff. The Council’s transport policy for school children can be 
viewed on the Council’s website (www.cardiff.gov.uk). 

 
111. In addition to the above, traffic and transport implications will be 

considered as part of the Transport Assessment that would be prepared 
as part of the detailed design of the school site and appropriate access 
requirements should these proposals proceed to implementation. 

 
Community Impact 
 
112. The following are taken into account when considering a proposal: Public 

Open space, parkland, noise and traffic congestion.  Officers will work with 
school and any community groups to ensure that any proposal(s) brought 
forward would avoid negative impacts wherever possible.  This would 
include the education site functioning as a community focussed school 
with a view to making the facilities  accessible to the community thereby 
providing a greater offer to the residents in the local area to include access 
to the multi-use games area and any pitch provision.  

 
Welsh Language Impact 

 
113. It is anticipated that there will be a positive impact on the Welsh Language 

as a result of these proposals. This proposal seeks to increase the number 
of Welsh-medium primary school places available for the area. 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
  
The Cabinet is recommended to: 
 
1. approve the proposals as set out in paragraph 1 without modification 
 

Page 317



Page 18 of 18 

2. authorise officers to take the appropriate actions to implement the proposals 
as set out in paragraph 1. 

 
3. authorise officers to publish a summary of the statutory objections and the 

Authority’s response to those objections (referred to as the “Objection 
Report”) within 7 days of the determination of the proposal; 

 
4. authorise officers to publish the decision within 7 days of determination of 

the proposal. 
 
5. delegate the approval, only following the respective grant approvals by 

Welsh Government, of any necessary contracts to the Director of Education 
and Lifelong Learning in consultation with the Corporate Director Resources 
& Section 151 Officer, Interim Monitoring Officer and the Cabinet Members 
for Corporate Services & Performance and Education. 

 
 
Nick Batchelar 
Director 
15 March 2016 
 
The following appendices are attached:  
 
Appendix 1- Cabinet Report of 10 December 2015, School Organisation 

Proposals: The Provision of English-medium and Welsh-
medium Primary School Places in the Adamsdown and 
Splott Wards. 
 

Appendix 2- Consultation Document October/November 15 and 
Statutory Notice 
 

Appendix 3- Sample of large UK primary schools in the UK 
 

Appendix 4- Summary of Estyn findings for Moorland Primary School 
and Ysgol Glan Morfa 
 

Appendix 5- Statutory Screening Tool including Equality Impact 
Assessment and Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 

Page 318



Page 1 of 22 

CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL  
CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD 

CABINET MEETING: 10 DECEMBER 2015 

SCHOOL ORGANISATION PROPOSALS: THE PROVISION OF 
ENGLISH-MEDIUM AND WELSH-MEDIUM PRIMARY SCHOOL 
PLACES IN THE ADAMSDOWN AND SPLOTT WARDS 

REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF EDUCATION AND LIFELONG 
LEARNING 

AGENDA ITEM:  7 

PORTFOLIO: EDUCATION (COUNCILLOR SARAH MERRY) 

Reason for this Report 

1. This report is to inform the Cabinet of the responses received following
consultation regarding the provision of English-medium and Welsh-
medium primary school provision in the Adamsdown and Splott Wards.

Background 

2. At its meeting on 28 May 2015 the Cabinet authorised officers to hold a
public consultation on proposals to:

• Provide 30 additional English-medium primary school places per year
group.

• Provide 30 additional Welsh-medium primary school places per year
group.

• Provide additional English-medium part-time nursery places.
• Provide additional Welsh-medium part-time nursery places.

3. Four potential delivery options were identified:

Option 1

• A new *‘standardised build’ 2FE Baden Powell Primary School with
nursery on the Willows High School site serving the age range 3 -11
from September 2017. This would require the transfer of Baden
Powell Primary School to the Willows High School site. Both schools
(Baden Powell Primary School and Willows High School) would
remain as separate establishments with separate staff, management
and governing bodies and be funded accordingly.

• Increase the capacity of Ysgol Glan Morfa from 1FE to 2FE with up
to 80 part-time nursery places (an increase of 48 part-time places)
serving the age range 3 -11 from September 2017. Transfer the

Appendix 1

Page 319



Page 2 of 22 

enlarged Ysgol Glan Morfa to the vacated Baden Powell Primary 
School site from September 2017. 

• Increase the capacity of Moorland Primary School from 2FE to 3FE 
with up to 96 part-time nursery places (an increase of 32 part-time 
places) serving the age range 3 -11 utilising the vacated Ysgol Glan 
Morfa buildings from September 2017. 

• Tremorfa Nursery School to remain at its current capacity on its 
existing site. 

 
Option 1a  
 
• A new ‘standardised build’ 2FE Baden Powell Primary School on the 

Willows High School site serving the age range 4 -11 from September 
2017. This would require the transfer of Baden Powell Primary School 
to the Willows High School site. Both schools (Baden Powell Primary 
School and Willows High School) would remain as separate 
establishments with separate staff, management and governing 
bodies and be funded accordingly. 

• A new build Tremorfa Nursery School on the Willows High School site 
providing up to 176 part-time nursery places serving the age range 3 - 
4 from September 2017. This would require the transfer of Tremorfa 
Nursery School to the Willows High School site. The nursery school 
would remain as a separate establishment with separate staff, 
management and governing body and be funded accordingly. 

• Increase the capacity of Ysgol Glan Morfa from 1FE to 2FE with up to 
80 part-time nursery places (an increase of 48 part-time places) 
serving the age range 3 -11 from September 2017. Transfer the 
enlarged Ysgol Glan Morfa to the vacated Baden Powell Primary 
School site from September 2017. 

• Increase the capacity of Moorland Primary School from 2FE to 3FE 
with up to 96 part-time nursery places (an increase of 32 part-time 
places) serving the age range 3 -11 utilising the vacated Ysgol Glan 
Morfa buildings from September 2017. 

 
Option 2  

 
• Increase the capacity of Ysgol Glan Morfa from 1FE to 2FE with up to 

80 part-time nursery places (an increase of 48 part-time places) 
serving the age range 3 -11 from September 2017. Transfer the 
enlarged Ysgol Glan Morfa to a new *‘standardised build’ 2FE primary 
school on a new site at the Maltings from September 2017. 

• Increase the capacity of Moorland Primary School from 2FE to 3FE 
with up to 96 part-time nursery places (an increase of 32 part-time 
places) serving the age range 3 -11 utilising the vacated Ysgol Glan 
Morfa buildings from September 2017.  

• Baden Powell Primary School to remain at its current capacity on its 
existing site.  

• **Tremorfa Nursery School to remain at its current capacity on its 
existing site. 

 
 
 

Page 320



Page 3 of 22 

Option 2a 
 

• Increase the capacity of Ysgol Glan Morfa from 1FE to 2FE with up to 
80 part-time nursery places (an increase of 48 part-time places) 
serving the age range 3 -11 from September 2017. Transfer the 
enlarged Ysgol Glan Morfa to a new *‘standardised build’ 2FE primary 
school on a new site at the Maltings from September 2017. 

• Increase the capacity of Moorland Primary School from 2FE to 3FE 
with up to 96 part-time nursery places (an increase of 32 part-time 
places) serving the age range 3 -11 utilising the vacated Ysgol Glan 
Morfa buildings from September 2017.  

• The age range of Baden Powell Primary School to be reduced from 3 
-11 to 4 -11 from September 2017.  

• A new build **Tremorfa Nursery School providing up to 176 part-time 
nursery places on the Baden Powell Primary School site serving the 
age range 3 - 4 from September 2017. This would require the transfer 
of Tremorfa Nursery School to the Baden Powell Primary School site. 
The nursery would remain as a separate establishment with separate 
staff, management and governing body and be funded accordingly. 

 
4. * A ‘standardised design’ refers to a pre-determined building form, the 

client (i.e. the Council) effectively buys ‘off plan’ to a pre designed 
solution. Contractors are able to minimise costs by reducing the fees 
spent on design and tendering as they already have a pre-determined 
design and supply chain and also do not have to set aside a significant 
cost for risk due to the early engagement of the contractor. In-house 
design fees are also significantly reduced as it does not require a 
bespoke design. 
 

Issues 
 

5. The consultation ran from 12 October to 23 November 2015. 
 

6. Parents and others in the local community, together with staff and 
Governors of the affected schools were invited to respond to the 
consultation. 

 
7. The consultation process involved: 

 
• Distribution of a Consultation Document outlining background, 

rational and implications.  This document has been distributed to 
parents, local childcare providers, Headteachers and Chairs of 
Governors of nearby schools, all Members of local wards and other 
stakeholders (a copy of the consultation document can be seen at 
Appendix 1);  

• Meetings with Staff and Governors of the schools affected and a 
public meeting at which the proposal was explained and questions 
answered; 

• Five public drop in sessions where officers were available to answer 
questions; 

• Workshop sessions with pupils at the schools affected to provide an 
opportunity for pupils to ask questions, learn more about the proposal 

Page 321



Page 4 of 22 

and give their views.  Details of the pupils meetings are attached at 
Appendix 2. 

• A consultation response slip for return by post or e-mail, attached to 
the consultation document; 

• An online response form at www.cardiff.gov.uk/21st Century Schools 
 

8. The views expressed at Council organised meetings and on paper or 
electronically through the appropriate channels, have been recorded. 

 
Responses received during the consultation period 
(Responses received are summarised below in italicised text) 
 
9. In total 246 responses were received (26 online responses and 220 

paper/e-mail responses). 
 
10. The majority view expressed during the consultation at meetings and in 

written correspondence was one of support for the proposed provision of 
additional English-medium and Welsh-medium primary school places 
within the Adamsdown and Splott Wards. 

 
11. As part of the consultation, respondees were asked to rank the options in 

order of preference, with 1 being the most preferred option and 4 being 
the least preferred options. 
 

12. The results from those who ranked the options were compiled using the 
following methodology:  
 

13. A weighted scoring system was adopted such that the first choice was 
awarded 4 points progressing sequentially down to the fourth choice 
being awarded one point.  
 

14. The total points were then aggregated for each option and these 
represented as shown below. 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

15. Where all preference choices were not indicated, points were only 
awarded to those selected. Hence, following the same criteria, first 
choice would have been awarded 4 points; 2nd,, 3 points ; unselected, 0 
points etc. 
 

Estyn Response 
 

16. A response from Estyn included the following points (for the full 
response, please see Appendix 3) 
 

17. The proposal focuses on meeting the projected increased demand for 
extra English and Welsh-medium places in the Adamsdown and Splott 

Option Points % of total 
Option 1 85 5.44% 
Option 1a 50 3.2% 
Option 2 863 55.21% 
Option 2a 565 36.15% 

Page 322

http://www.cardiff.gov.uk/21st


Page 5 of 22 

Wards. The proposer has demonstrated clearly the proposals should 
meet the forecast demand for extra places in both English and Welsh-
medium schools. 
 

18. The proposals are likely to at least maintain the current standards of 
education and provision in the area. 
 

19. The Council acknowledged the views expressed. 
 

Other Formal Reponses 
 

20. Summaries of the formal written responses from the Governing Body of 
Baden Powell Primary School, the Governing Body of Moorland Primary 
School, the Governing Body and Foundation Phase staff of Ysgol Glan 
Morfa and the Governing Body of Tremorfa Nursery  included the 
following points (for the full responses please see Appendix 4): 
 

Baden Powell Governing Body 
 
21. A response from the Governing Body of Baden Powell Primary School 

included the following points: 
 
22.  The Governors support the proposal to increase English-medium and 

Welsh-medium primary school provision and advocate Option 2, as it 
provides increased pupil numbers within the catchment area, excellent 
access to schools for parents and high levels of personal safety for 
stakeholders using the local roads whilst maintaining high quality nursery 
provision at Baden Powell Primary School. 
 

23. The current location of Baden Powell Primary School is very central and 
provides excellent access to all families and services within the 
catchment. Relocating to the Willows High School site would put the 
school on the edge of the catchment area which would have a negative 
impact upon pupil attendance. 
 

24. In the past Baden Powell Primary School has had to significantly 
reorganise the school day and times due to an increasing number of 
incidents relating to the difficult behaviour and actions of Willows High 
School pupils on the Baden Powell Primary School playground at the 
beginning and end of the day. A shared site would result in increased 
behaviour management issues for both schools. 
 

25. The governing body fully support the idea and principles behind 
upgrading school buildings. However, the Donaldson Report clearly 
states that Welsh education will move towards a Foundation Phase style 
and include a large element of education outside the classroom. There is 
concern that this requirement won’t be satisfied by the proposed new 
buildings. The combination of low staff ratios and no free flow to outside 
areas for pupils located in classrooms above the ground floor will result in 
those children not receiving their entitlement to outdoor education. If the 
proposals do go ahead we would strongly request, if space allows, that a 
single storey school building is built as that future proofs it against the 
curriculum changes. 

Page 323



Page 6 of 22 

 
26. Whilst fully appreciating the requirements to increase nursery provision 

within the catchment area and fully supporting the benefits from 
increased nursery access and the impact that provision has on the pupils’ 
immediate and long term outcomes, the governing body believe that the 
quality of the nursery provision and the impact 3-11 schools have within 
future years can only be fully achieved by the full integration of the 
nursery into the life of the primary school and vice versa and not as add 
on provision to the school site. A relocation of Tremorfa Nursery School 
to the Baden Powell Primary School site will only bring the difficulties 
associated with a shared site without the positive impact upon standards, 
outcomes and school progress that a joint nursery and primary school 
would achieve. 
 

27. There is concern at the suggestion in the consultation that standards at 
Baden Powell Primary School’s nursery may not be of a comparable 
standard to those at other nurseries. The Governors feel that using the 
Estyn inspection reports, which are based upon historical findings, up to 
5 years old, whilst comparing a nursery inspection to a full primary school 
inspection may lead to an inaccurate conclusion.  
 

28. An recent analysis of the Reception pupils’ Foundation Phase Profile 
outcomes indicates that pupils who have experienced a school based 
nursery provision achieve higher outcomes and have a much better start 
to their school based education than pupils that have received a non-
school based nursery provision. 

 
Appraisal of views expressed 
 
29. The Council welcomes the support of the Governing Body for the 

proposal to increase the number of primary places and acknowledges the 
school’s preference for Option 2. 
 

30. The Council acknowledges the concerns raised by the Governing Body 
however officers would work with the school to address any issues 
arising out of the proposal.   
 

31. The Council would work with the Governing Bodies of schools to develop 
a Travel Plan to minimise any potential disruption. Traffic and transport 
implications would be considered as part of the Transport Assessment 
that would be required in order to achieve planning consent for any 
building works. 

 
32. Cardiff’s Supplementary Planning Guidance (Access, Circulation and 

Parking Standards 2010) sets out that all new or expanded schools are 
required to develop a Travel Plan for submission with a planning 
application.  A School Travel Plan is specifically designed to address the 
transport needs of pupils and staff and will vary according to the nature of 
the education being provided, any community facilities on site and the 
catchment area of a school. 

 
  A Travel Plan is a policy and action plan to: 

Page 324



Page 7 of 22 

 
• manage transport efficiently 
• improve access by all means of travel for employees, visitors, parents 
and students 

• encourage sustainable transport – walking, cycling, public transport 
and car sharing 

• reduce car use. 
 
33. Cardiff’s transport network is under pressure and experiences congestion 

from commuters driving into the city and people making short local trips 
be car.  Traffic associated with the school run adds to congestion.  The 
City of Cardiff Council’s policy is to encourage and promote the 
increased use of sustainable travel models and to promote independent 
travel to school wherever possible. 

 
34. Encouraging active travel to school is a very important means of 

increasing levels of physical activity in children and tackling the growing 
problem of childhood obesity.  Reducing congestion at the school gate is 
key to ensuring the safety of pupils and to mitigating impacts on the local 
neighbourhood. 
 

35. Information related to quality and standards in the consultation document 
was in accordance with Welsh Government requirements and was not 
intended to reflect negatively on standards at any of the schools subject 
to the proposals.  It is recognised that the Estyn reports were undertaken 
at different dates and therefore may not reflect the current position 
however it is a requirement of the Welsh Government School 
Organisation Code that this information is included in consultation 
documents. 
  

Tremorfa Nursery School 
 
36. Responses from the Governing Body and Staff of Tremorfa Nursery 

School included the following points: 
 
37. The Governors and staff of Tremorfa Nursery support Option 2. This is 

the least disruptive option for the families and members of the community 
who access the building and would save the Local Authority money that 
would have been spent on a new building. 
 

38. In relation to the Welsh Assembly Government (WAG) poverty agenda 
and the ‘Rewriting the Future’ document, the nursery is meeting many 
WAG aims at our current setting where there is a Community Room 
which is in constant use. In a new building with the strong likelihood of 
shared facilities the community groups that are run in the nursery cannot 
be guaranteed to continue and would likely need to reduce. 
 

39. There is an established Forest School area on the current site. It is 
unlikely that any of the proposed options put forward would enable the 
school to replicate the existing outdoor provision which is an integral part 
of the learning experience of the pupils. 
 

Page 325



Page 8 of 22 

40. The nursey school has been recognised by the Central South 
Consortium as having excellent provision and have recently become a 
Foundation Phase Alliance school providing training to many other 
practitioners across the region. With such large grounds Tremorfa 
Nursery is able to demonstrate excellent outdoor provision and a variety 
of outdoor learning experiences. Outdoor space as part of a new build 
would not be the same as the existing space and the nursery would be 
limited in its ability to demonstrate to other practitioners. 
 

41. One of the four purposes of the New Curriculum for Wales is around 
‘healthy and confident individuals’. In the current grounds children have 
space to run, climb, dance and cycle, which would not be the case in 
smaller grounds. 
 

42. Currently the transition between all local primary schools is well 
established and working well. Children from the nursery go on to attend 
all the local primary schools including Welsh, faith and non-faith based. 
Transition between some local schools will be difficult should the nursery 
be re-located. 
 

43. The nursery currently offers wrap around care in the afternoons. If it were 
to re-locate, any new building would not include additional facilities for 
wrap around care. 
 

Appraisal of views expressed 
 

44. The Council welcomes the support of the Governing Body and Staff for 
the proposal to increase the number of primary places and acknowledges 
the school’s preference for Option 2. 
 

45. The Council acknowledges points raised regarding the quality of the 
provision at the Nursery School and the contribution the existing facilities 
make towards this. 
 

46. Any new accommodation would be able to facilitate commensurate wrap 
round care places as that offered currently. 

 
Ysgol Glan Morfa 
 
47. Responses from the Governing Body and Staff of Ysgol Glan Morfa 

included the following points: 
 
48. The Governors and staff of Ysgol Glan Morfa support the underlying 

decisions to develop an additional 1FE capacity in both English and 
Welsh medium education and support the logic of allowing Moorland 
Primary School to reclaim the buildings currently occupied by Ysgol Glan 
Morfa. They support Option 2. The Chair of Governors believes a new-
build school on the Maltings site would provide the best setting for Ysgol 
Glan Morfa to grow and prosper. 
 

49. A new building would allow people to identify with the school and 
understand that Splott has a Welsh school. 

Page 326



Page 9 of 22 

 
50. The governing body feel that the Maltings location, on the fringe of an 

industrial area, could serve to build strong school-business links. 
 

51. Developing a new school at the Maltings would add to the identity of the 
emerging residential community on the fringe of the Splott, Tremorfa, 
Adamsdown and Roath (STAR) area. A new school at the Maltings site 
has the potential to add community benefits to the area. A new school on 
the Willows site would not add greatly to the community facilities already 
available on that site. 
 

52. As a Welsh Medium school, Ysgol Glan Morfa draws on a larger 
catchment area than Baden Powell. As a consequence it is likely to have 
a greater proportion of children travelling by car to and from school. This 
would be easier to cope with at a new build, rather than the existing 
Baden Powell site, which can already be extremely busy at drop off and 
pick up times.  
 

53. Option 2 would minimise disruption, as only one school would need to 
relocate, rather than two. 
 

54. Irrespective of which option is chosen, money will need to be spent on 
the Baden Powell site. There is concern that the current budget and 
plans do not reflect this adequately. 
 

55. Moving to the Maltings would be an opportunity for Ysgol Glan Morfa to 
grow and prosper in its second decade. It would give the school a clear 
and distinct identity, minimise disruption at other schools in the area and 
offer community benefits to the Maltings area. Option 2 would also be a 
better option in terms of school transport, and would send a powerful 
signal of the Council's support for Welsh medium schooling. 
 

56. The Foundation Phase staff expressed excitement at the prospect of 
widening the opportunity for the community to embrace the Welsh 
language and culture. They would welcome the opportunity to have more 
teacher knowledge and expertise which will enable the children to enjoy 
even more extra-curricular activities. 
 

Appraisal of views expressed 
 
57. The Council welcomes the support of the Governing Body and Staff for 

the proposal to increase the number of primary places and acknowledges 
the school’s preference for Option 2. 
 

58. As set out at paragraph 30 the Council would work with the Governing 
Bodies of schools to develop a Travel Plan to minimise any potential 
disruption. Traffic and transport implications would be considered as part 
of the Transport Assessment that would be required in order to achieve 
planning consent for any building works. 
 

59. The Council acknowledges that there are condition issues at Baden 
Powell Primary School.  It is the intention to work with the School to 
address these as part of the Asset Management Programme. 

Page 327



Page 10 of 22 

Moorland Primary School 
 
60. Responses from the Governing Body and Headteacher of Moorland 

Primary School included the following points: 
 

61. The Governors and Headteacher of Moorland Primary School expressed 
concerns about the substantial increase in pupil population at the school.  
The ethos and success of the school is based on a close knit community 
with high levels of support for individual children and their families. It 
would be difficult to replicate this on a larger scale without a potentially 
negative impact on standards and behaviour. 

 
62. Concerns were expressed about the nature of staff roles changing 

significantly if the school size increases and about the retention of senior 
staff if the nature of their roles change too drastically.   
 

63. The effective pedagogy within the Foundation Phase is based on year 
group pairs of shared classroom spaces, which the building currently 
lends itself to very well.  Due to the design and nature of the buildings, it 
would be very difficult to replicate this across 3 classrooms per year 
group.   
 

64. The volume of traffic at the beginning and end of every day is already a 
grave health and safety concern to Governors.  Potentially increasing this 
by 50% feels very irresponsible.   
 

65. Having seen the plans, it is difficult to envisage how 9 Foundation Phase 
classrooms and a 48 place nursery would fit into the existing Ysgol Glan 
Morfa building without substantial building works. There would be no hall 
space big enough to accommodate the whole school.  
 

66. Staff and Governors are very anxious about the Council's capacity to 
deliver the programme on time and to the standard promised in view of 
previous experiences.   
 

67. Following discussion with staff at the school the following alternative is 
proposed: Ysgol Glan Morfa to move to a 2FE new build; Baden Powell 
Primary School to remain at 2FE on its current site; Moorland Primary 
School to remain on site as 2FE using the Ysgol Glan Morfa building and 
demolishing the existing Early Years building. This would enable us to 
continue our very important family engagement work; Build a new 1FE 
school on Willows site and incorporate flying start provision within this.   

 
Appraisal of Views Expressed 

 
68. The Council acknowledges the views expressed. 

 
69. Moorland Primary School is well located to meet demand for English-

medium places and it is not anticipated that standards at the school 
would be impacted upon were the school to expand to 3FE. 
 

Page 328



Page 11 of 22 

70. The Council has in place policies to support school improvement e.g. 
‘High Achievement for All’ and ‘Achievement for Inclusion’.  It is working 
to respond to the key principles of the School Effectiveness Framework 
to secure better outcomes and well-being for all children including those 
at existing schools. 
 

71. The concerns raised are noted however it is expected that the proposal 
would provide a greater degree of stability at all levels of leadership 
including maintaining a full and stable complement of school governors 
and greater flexibility and opportunities for pupils due to an extended, 
more enhanced and secure financial resource base.  Additionally the 
ability to employ more teaching and support staff would allow the school 
to cover a wider range of curriculum expertise. This has been the 
experience with the other 3FE primaries in the LA. 
 

72. Officers would work with the school regarding the configuration of 
buildings to allow for the needs of the Foundation Phase and Key Stage 
2 accommodation to be met and to reflect the school’s preferred way of 
working as much as possible. 
 

73. As set out at paragraph 30 the Council would work with the Governing 
Bodies of schools to develop a Travel Plan to minimise any potential 
disruption. Traffic and transport implications would be considered as part 
of the Transport Assessment that would be required in order to achieve 
planning consent for any building works. 
 

74. The number of pupils accessing the Moorland site is not planned to 
exceed the number presently accessing the combined Moorland – Glan 
Morfa site. The school is also expected to serve a smaller catchment 
area than the existing catchment area of Ysgol Glan Morfa and it would 
therefore be reasonable to expect that similar numbers of, or fewer, 
pupils would travel to school by car.  
 

75. It is not necessary for a 2FE or 3FE to have a single hall space large 
enough to accommodate the whole school. In many existing school 
buildings this is not possible. The Building Bulletin guidelines upon which 
21st Century Schools are based suggest a range of hall spaces as is 
appropriate for the modern teaching curriculum; a large hall, a small hall 
and ‘studio’. 
 

76. The primary aims of the English-medium aspect of these proposals is to 
increase the number of places available in the locality.  Where an 
existing school is suitably located and has scope to increase within the 
available budget as in this case, the Council would not support the 
retention of the existing accommodation and the establishment of a new 
build school on the Willows High School site. 
 

77. Additionally given the range of benefits of 2FE/3FE when compared with 
smaller schools, the Council would not support the establishment of a 
1FE school on the Willows High School site 

 
 
 

Page 329



Page 12 of 22 

Willows High School 
 
78. A response from the Staff of Willows High School included the following 

points: 
 
79. The staff of Willows High School support Option 1, as transferring Baden 

Powell Primary to the Willows High School Site would provide more 
opportunities to engage families and the community. Local families will 
have more access to support, advice and facilities and professionals can 
work in partnership to put in place strategic intervention strategies in 
order to close the learning gap for disadvantaged pupils. 
 

80. In both Baden Powell Primary School and Willows High School the 
percentage of pupils receiving Free School Meals (FSM) far exceeds the 
national average. In order for these pupils to have the best possible 
chances of achieving, it is imperative that parents are engaged in early 
learning. Parents and professionals working in partnership from the start 
of a child’s education benefits FSM pupils the most. 
 

81. By transferring Baden Powell Primary School to the Willows High School 
Site, there will be more opportunities to engage families and the 
community. Local families will have more access to support, advice and 
facilities and professionals can work in partnership to put in place 
strategic intervention strategies in order to close the learning gap for 
these pupils. 
 

82. Studies show that many parents of FSM pupils have a negative attitude 
towards high schools based on their own experiences. Providing them 
with access to the site on a daily basis can help these barriers to be 
broken down. This should also impact positively on both our attendance 
figures and attainment data. 
 

83. Many FSM pupils lack the confidence of their peers or display poor 
behaviour, especially during times of transition. By having the schools 
closely aligned there would be a fluidity in this process. This option would 
also benefit the social and emotional well-being of many parents. 
 

84. In addition to this, Option 1 allows for the sharing of facilities between the 
schools without pressing time constraints. There would be more scope to 
enhance the cultural capital of the pupils with joint educational trips. 
Similarly, there would be more opportunities for pupil to pupil mentoring 
and buddying between year groups. 

 
Appraisal of Views Expressed 

 
85. The Council acknowledges the views expressed.  

 
86. By transferring Baden Powell Primary to the Willows High School Site, it 

may be possible provide more opportunities to engage families and the 
community than is presently the case. However, retaining the existing 
site arrangements would not prevent the schools continuing development 
that has improved access to support and advice and facilities, nor for the 

Page 330



Page 13 of 22 

local English-medium schools to put in place strategic intervention 
strategies that transfer through the primary and secondary learning 
phases. 
 

87. The location of Flying Start facilities on the Willows High School site, and 
nursery and primary school facilities within close geographical proximity 
is of benefit within the Tremorfa community, and the Council would 
support the continuation of work to develop links between these. 

 
88. Additional points raised in the consultation are set out in italics below and 

have been grouped according to the issues raised where appropriate. 
 

Effect on nursery provision 
 

89. There were a large volume of responses from parents praising the 
facilities and quality of education provided by Tremorfa Nursery School. 
 

90. Tremorfa Nursery School currently has a Sensory Room, which may not 
be included in a new building. All learning is currently accessible and 
inclusive, the staff have a large area of expertise, especially in dealing 
with pupils with Special Educational Needs (SEN), and the layout allows 
for quiet areas and a variety of activities. Disabled children may be 
negatively affected by moving site. 
 

91. Parents of children attending Tremorfa Nursery School rely on the 
breakfast club and affordable wrap around care in the afternoon that the  
school offers. 
 

92. Parents of children attending Tremorfa Nursery School feel that having a 
separate nursery site makes the introduction to education easier and less 
overwhelming for young children. Parents may be reluctant for their child 
to attend nursery on a high school site. 
 

93. The Deputy Manager of Mudiad Meithrin supported Option 2 or 2a and 
stressed the importance of having a Cylch Meithrin on the new Ysgol 
Glan Morfa site as well as the cooperation between Welsh medium 
primary schools and Cylchoedd Meithrin in ensuring growth in demand 
for Welsh medium education. 
 

Appraisal of views expressed 
 

94. The Council acknowledges points raised regarding the retention of 
existing facilities at Tremorfa Nursery School. 
 

95. The Council would work with the Governing Body to address issues 
regarding future wrap around care and SEN should the school be 
relocated to either the Baden Powell Primary School or Willows High 
School sites as these would be intended to remain as part of any 
relocation. 

 

Page 331



Page 14 of 22 

96. The nursery school would remain as a separate establishment should it 
transfer onto another school site (Willows High School in the case of 
Option 1a and Baden Powell Primary School in the case of Option 2a). 
 

97. The Council welcomes the support of Mudiad Meithrin for the proposal to 
increase the number of Welsh medium nursery places and will consider 
the points raised regarding retention of a Cylch Meithrin as part of the 
future provision. 

 
Traffic 

 
98. Concerns have been raised over the safety of the route to the Maltings 

site. There are a large number of commercial vehicles, heavy goods 
vehicles and commuter traffic, a sharp bend in the road, and areas that 
aren't paved.  
 
Once Windsor Road bridge re-opens there will be an increase in traffic. 
 

99. For parents who work, the commuting time will take significantly longer 
making it impossible for some to get to work on time, particularly for 
those parents who have to drop children in different places and who rely 
on public transport. 
 

100. The walking routes are not suitable for high volumes of pedestrian traffic. 
It is too far for younger children to cycle, scoot or walk. 
 

101. Relocating all three schools and the Flying Start provision on the Willows 
High School site will make managing traffic increasingly more difficult and 
will increase the risk of accidents. 
 

102. The current location of Tremorfa Nursery School is away from main 
roads.  
 

Appraisal of views expressed 
 

103. As set out at paragraph 30 the Council would work with the Governing 
Bodies of schools to develop a Travel Plan to minimise any potential 
disruption. Traffic and transport implications would be considered as part 
of the Transport Assessment that would be required in order to achieve 
planning consent for any building works. 
 

Shared Site 
 

104. Sharing a site would expose younger children to bad behaviour and 
language from older (particularly secondary school aged) children. Many 
parents, grandparents and children find this intimidating, it may impact on 
the behaviour of younger children and may affect attendance if parents 
are put off by the behaviour.  
 

105. High school age and nursery school age children have different needs so 
sharing a site would not be appropriate. 
 

Page 332



Page 15 of 22 

106. Transition into education at nursery age would be made more difficult 
with the nursery located on a busy, noisy site with older children, 
particularly if these were secondary school pupils. 
 

Appraisal of views expressed 
 

107. The issue of concern expressed regarding the potential relocation of the 
nursery to the Willows High School site with particular regard to the 
behaviour of secondary age pupils impacting on nursery age children is 
recognised by the Council. Although 3-16 shared site provision is atypical 
in Cardiff, this arrangement can be found between the Ely and Caerau 
Childrens Centre and Michaelston Community College which have been 
co-located for ten years. Furthermore, this model can be found employed 
successfully by many other Welsh Local Authorities 
 

108. Any design would ensure that each school would be able to function as a 
separate entity and officers would work closely with the schools to ensure 
the needs of each school were met. 

 
Location of schools 

 
109. There is no play park next to the Maltings site, which would make it 

difficult for Welsh medium children and English medium children to 
socialise after school. 

 
Appraisal of views expressed 
 
110. There is an existing play area adjacent to the site. 
 
Consultation 
 
111. Concerns were raised that staff at Ysgol Glan Morfa were presenting a 

laminated exemplar form, with Options 1 and 1a crossed out, for parents 
to copy that could have influenced the opinions they expressed in the 
consultation.  
 

Appraisal of views expressed 
 

112. Clarification was sought from Ysgol Glan Morfa with regard to how the 
school had sought to encourage a greater range of responses particularly 
from parents and carers of children at the school.   
 

113. The Council is satisfied that the school’s approach did not prevent any 
stakeholder from expressing views regardless of any discussion with the 
school representatives present.  
 

114. Furthermore it is understood that the school stated its preferred option 
and the rationale for this but did not place any expectation on parents to 
support this. The school’s representatives demonstrated how to complete 
the response regardless of a stakeholder’s view.  Many parents 
requested clarification from the school of information supplied in the 
document and the majority expressed their desire to support a particular 

Page 333



Page 16 of 22 

option. The school provided guidance on how to record this in a number 
of ways but none are deemed to have unduly influenced the consultation 
and all stakeholders had the opportunity to express their individual views 
through a number of mechanisms.  

 
Engagement with children and young people 

 
115. Officers met with pupils from Baden Powell Primary School, Moorland 

Primary School and Ysgol Glan Morfa to explain the proposal and seek 
their views.  
 

Baden Powell Primary School Views  
 
116. The pupils would like Baden Powell Primary School to remain at its 

existing site. The school has lots of history, memories and a tree of 
remembrance. 

 
117. They were concerned about the behaviour of pupils at Willows High 

School and worried about change.  
 

Moorland Primary School Views 
 
118. The pupils thought that it would be good to have more school places to 

serve the local area and a bigger school would have more resources, 
more staff and a good ethnic mix. 

 
119. They would like their school to remain at 2FE and were concerned about 

how Moorland Primary would operate at 3FE, some pupils would have 
further to travel, there would be more traffic, disruption during building 
works and bullying. 
 

Ysgol Glan Morfa Views 
 
120. The pupils thought it would be good to have more school places and 

liked the idea of new facilities. 
 
121. They were concerned about having further to travel and being able to get 

to school, that children may not know all of the teachers and that a larger 
school may be too crowded.  

 
Willows High School 
 
122. The Youth Service devised a presentation, recoding sheet and teacher 

guidance to enable Willows High School to run consultation work with 
secondary age pupils as part of the consultation process. 
 

123. Pupils were asked the following key questions: 
 
• Question 1: Do you support the proposal to build a new primary 

school with a nursery on the Willows High School site serving the 
age range 3-11 from September 2017? 
 

Page 334



Page 17 of 22 

• Question 2: Do you support the proposal to build a new primary 
school on the Willows High School site serving the age range 4-11 
from September 2017 and the proposal to build a new nursery on 
the Willows High School site severing the age range 3-4 from 
September 2017? 

 
124. The pupils thought it would be good to have more school places and new 

facilities and that it would be easier for parents having the schools on one 
site. 
 

125. They thought moving other schools onto the Willows site would lead to 
more traffic, would cause disruption with building work and that the older 
pupils would influence the younger pupils. There was also a reluctance to 
lose more land from the site and a feeling that money would be better 
spent improving poor facilities at Willows High School. 

 
126. Full details of the pupil consultations can be seen at Appendix 2. 

 
Appraisal of views expressed 
 
127. The Council would support any of the schools subject to the proposals to 

enable a smooth transition to a new site/managing a larger intake.   
128. Concerns regarding bullying and anti-social behaviour are school 

management issues and would be dealt with in line with school policies.  
School staff would ensure that pastoral support is put in place so that any 
concerns of bullying raised by pupils can be heard and appropriately 
addressed by school management. 

 
129. The Council acknowledges concerns regarding travelling time.  Cardiff 

Council School Transport section would be able to provide families with 
advice on safe walking routes to school based on individual home 
addresses. 
 

130. Traffic and transport implications would be considered as part of the 
Transport Assessment required in order to achieve planning consent for 
building works should this proposal be implemented. 
 

131. The Council has increased experience in the successful delivery of 
building projects on the sites of occupied schools resulting from the 
progression of a growing school organisation programme.  Any building 
work carried out on the schools sites would be managed effectively in 
consultation with the school management to ensure the full curriculum 
continues to be delivered and that high education standards and safety 
standards are maintained. 
 

Summary 
 

132. There is clear support for the expansion of Ysgol Glan Morfa from 1FE to 
2FE with the majority expressing a preference for a new build school on 
the Maltings site. 
 

133. Both the Baden Powell Primary School and Tremorfa Nursery School 
communities have expressed the desire to remain on their current sites 

Page 335



Page 18 of 22 

as they believe this is the best way in which both schools can continue to 
deliver quality education. 
 

134. Whilst concerns have been expressed about the expansion of Moorland 
Primary School, the school is well paced to meet demand for English-
medium places from the local area and the Council will work with the 
school to ensure standards are maintained. 
 

135. The remaining paragraphs within this report are therefore specific to the 
potential implementation of this option only. 
 

136. Indicative site drawings which represent the approximate footprint of any 
new build can be seen at Appendix 6. 

 
Land Matters 

 
Amenity land/ Public Open Space near the Maltings 

 
137. There is a deficiency of Public Open Space in Splott and the proposed 

transfer of Ysgol Glan Morfa to the Maltings Park site would result in the 
loss of an amenity area of existing Public Open Space. 

 
138. If selected for the purpose of building an education facility the site would 

need to be appropriated to reflect the change of use. 
 

139. Those wishing to exercise their dogs, take children to the play area and 
use the park for informal recreation could continue to do so. However 
due to loss of this amenity area, mitigation would be required such as 
improving the remaining facilities and shared pitch provision within the 
school grounds that would be available to the community for use outside 
normal school opening  hours to mitigate for the loss of the informal 
kickabout space.  
 

140. Any scheme progressed would therefore be subject to planning 
permission and appropriation of this amenity area of Public Open Space, 
taking into account the existing ward deficiencies in open space, and any 
objections considered. 
 

Admission Arrangements including catchment areas 
 
141. Should the proposals be implemented, permanent expansion of both the 

English-medium and Welsh-medium provision would commence from 
September 2017. The Published Admission Number of 60 at Moorland 
Primary School would increase to 90, and at The Published Admission 
Number at Ysgol Glan Morfa would increase from 30 to 60, from 
September 2017. 

 
142. Should the proposed expansion of Moorland Primary school proceed, 

then it would be necessary to review catchment area arrangements in 
Adamsdown and Splott to better match the supply of places to local 
demand. 

 

Page 336



Page 19 of 22 

143. The establishment of each individual school catchment area requires the 
Council to undertake a formal consultation. The Council, in its role as 
admission authority, consults with schools annually in respect of school 
admission arrangements, including school catchment areas. School 
admission arrangements have been set until the end of the 2016-17 
school year. 

 
144. It is expected that, following further analysis of the take-up of Reception 

places in 2015 and 2016, any proposed changes to primary school 
catchment areas would be consulted on in early 2017 or 2018 and the 
arrangements would then be implemented in September 2018 or 2019.  
 

Local Member Consultation 
 
145. Members were consulted as part of the consultation process. 
 
Reasons for Recommendations 
 
146. To address the shortfall of English-medium and Welsh-medium primary 

school places in the Adamsdown and Splott Wards. 
 
Financial Implications  
 
147. The realigned 21st Century Schools Programme totalling £167.6 million 

was approved by Cabinet in March and submitted to Welsh Government. 
Welsh Government subsequently approved in-principle a slightly reduced 
programme of £164.1 million. Within this re-aligned programme is a 
budget of £6.86 million for a project to deliver increased Primary School 
and Nursery Provision in the Adamsdown and Splott Wards.  
 

148. At this stage this project has in-principle approval only and will be subject 
to full Business Case approval as the scheme progresses. Therefore any 
expenditure undertaken to progress these proposals prior to Full 
business case approval from WG will be undertaken by the Local 
Authority at the risk of not achieving Full Business case approval and 
therefore the anticipated 50% WG funding contribution to the project 
costs. 
 

149. The sufficiency of the in-principle approved budget to deliver the 
recommended proposals will become clearer as further work is 
undertaken to progress the project towards Full Business Case approval 
and the specific detail and costs of the works required are clearly 
identified. 
 

150. The revenue implications for the impacted Schools’ delegated budgets of 
the proposed additional pupil numbers should be covered by increased 
formula funding which would be received in recognition of the increased 
number of pupils. 

 
 
 
 

Page 337



Page 20 of 22 

Legal Implications 
 
151. The proposals and proposed delivery options qualify as regulated 

alterations which must comply with the requirements of Part 3 of the 
School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013, which include 
provisions for consultation and publication of statutory notices. Those are 
supplemented by the School Organisation Code issued by the Welsh 
Government. 
 

152. The recommendation in this Report to publish a statutory notice follows a 
period of consultation which ran from 12 October to 23 November 2015. 
This Report (together with the appendices attached to it) represents the 
consultation report which the Code requires to be published. The Cabinet 
must have due regard to the responses received during the consultation 
before it makes a decision upon whether to publish a statutory notice. 
 

153. The Code requires that the statutory notice must be published within 26 
weeks of the end of the consultation period unless an extension of time 
has been granted by the Welsh Ministers. 
 

154. Following publication of the statutory notice there would be a period for 
objections of at least 28 days following which a further Report would 
need to be made to the Cabinet summarising the statutory objections and 
giving responses to those objections. It would then be for the Cabinet to 
review those objections and determine whether to implement the 
proposals. 
 

155. The Council has power to appropriate land to a different statutory 
purpose if it is no longer needed for its present purpose pursuant to 
section 122 of the Local Government Act 1972. In the case of open 
space land, the Council is required to publicly advertise the proposed 
appropriation and to conscientiously consider any responses to the 
advertisement. 

 
HR Implications  
 
156. HR People Services will work with the Governing Bodies of Ysgol Glan 

Morfa and Moorland Primary Schools in readiness for their respective 
expansions to 2FE and 3 FE. The Governing Bodies during this time will 
be encouraged in line with the SOP HR Framework to undertake a 
review of their staffing structure to ensure that they are sufficient for 
expansion as the numbers on roll increase.  
 

157. HR People Services will also provide advice and guidance for the 
additional recruitment.  As both schools have adopted the Council’s 
Redeployment and Redundancy Policy any new vacancies arising as a 
consequence of an increase in numbers on the role will provide 
opportunities for staff on the school redeployment register.  

 
 
 
 

Page 338



Page 21 of 22 

Equality Impact Assessment  
 
158. An Equality Impact Assessment on the proposed option has been carried 

out.  The assessment concluded that this proposal would not adversely 
affect a particular group in society.  If the proposal were to proceed, 
further equality impact assessments would be undertaken including as 
assessment on the design for any new build accommodation. (Details of 
the Equality Impact Assessment can be seen at Appendix 5) 

 
Sustainability Assessment  
 
159. A Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) of the proposal has been 

carried out in accordance with European Legislation.  The assessment 
confirms that the proposal is compatible with the environmental objective 
identified the SEA of Cardiff’s 21st Century: A Strategic Framework for a 
School Building Improvement Programme.  If the proposal were to 
proceed, an environmental assessment would be carried out as part of 
the planning application process. (Details of the Sustainability 
Assessment can be seen at Appendix 5). 

 
Transport Matters  
 
160. Traffic and transport implications will be considered as part of the 

Transport Assessment that would be required in order to achieve 
planning consent for building works should these proposals be 
implemented. 

 
Community Impact 
 
161. The following are taken into account when considering a proposal: Public 

Open space, parkland, noise and traffic congestion.  Officers will work 
with school and any community groups to ensure that any proposal(s) 
brought forward would avoid negative impacts wherever possible. 

 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
  
The Cabinet is recommended to: 
 
1. Delegate authority to the Director of Education and Director of 

Governance and Legal Services to publish a statutory notice to: 
 
• Increase the capacity of Ysgol Glan Morfa from 1FE to 2FE with up to 

80 part-time nursery places serving the age range 3-11 from 
September 2017. Transfer the enlarged Ysgol Glan Morfa to a new 
standardised 2FE primary school on a new site at the Maltings from 
September 2017. 

 
• Increase the capacity of Moorland Primary School from 2FE to 3FE 

with 96 part-time nursery places serving the age range 3-11 utilising 
the vacated Ysgol Glan Morfa buildings from September 2017 

 

Page 339



Page 22 of 22 

2. Authorise the approval of appropriation of the land at the Maltings Park 
site in principle subject to public consultation in accordance with S122 of 
the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

3. Note that prior to implementation of the proposal a further report will be 
provided to the Cabinet providing details of any objections received, the 
proposed responses to those objections and recommendations for 
implementation or otherwise of the proposal. 
 

 
NICK BATCHELAR 
Director 
4 December 2015 
 
The following appendices are attached: 
 
Appendix 1 – Consultation Document 
Appendix 2 – Details of Pupil consultations 
Appendix 3 – Estyn response 
Appendix 4 - Formal responses 
Appendix 5 – Statutory Screening Tool 
Appendix 6 – Indicative site drawings 

Page 340



Appendix 1

Page 341



 
 

Table of Contents  
               
1. Introduction             
2. How can you find out more and give your views? 
3. Your views matter 
4. Explanation of terms used in this document 
5. Why are we proposing the changes? 
6. The proposal 
7. Facilities included in a school 
8. Schools serving the area at present 
9. Primary school provision catchment map 
10. School capacities, condition and suitability of school buildings 
11. Existing English-medium provision 
12. Welsh-medium community schools 
13. Faith based primary schools 
14. Calculating local demand for primary school places 
15. Future demand for places 
16. Meeting projected demand from the increasing population 
17. Proposed new housing 
18. How might demand change? 
19. Summary forecasts of demand for places at entry to Reception 
20. How would nursery provision be affected? 
21. How would other schools be affected? 
22. Interim arrangements 
23. Quality and standards 

• Estyn 
• Welsh Government categorisation of schools 
• Standards 
• Provision 
• Leadership and Governance 

24. How would SEN and EAL provision be affected? 
25. What are the benefits of these proposals? 
26. Potential disadvantages of these proposals 
27. Risks associated with these proposals 
28. Alternatives considered 

• English-medium provision 
• Welsh-medium provision 
• Alternative options 

29. Admissions and catchment area arrangements 
30. Financial matters 
31. Human Resources Matters 
32. Land Matters 
33. Transport Matters 
34. Learner Travel Arrangements 
35. Impact of the proposal on the Welsh Language 
36. Equality Matters 
37. Sustainability Matters 
38. Considering Community Impact 
39. Next Steps, how to make your views known and feedback form 

• What happens next? 
• Key Dates 
• Consultation period 
• Statutory Notice 

Page 342



  

 
 

• Determination of the proposals 
• Decision Notification 

40. Frequently Asked Questions  
41. Consultation Response Form  
 

Page 343



   1 
 

Introduction  
 
This consultation is an opportunity for people to learn about the school organisation proposal put 
forward in your area.  It is your chance to ask questions and make comments that will be 
considered when the Council decides how to proceed. 

 
Our consultation process follows Welsh Government guidelines outlined in the School 
Organisation Code 2013 and therefore a range of individuals and groups are being asked for their 
views about these proposals. 
 
However, before any decisions are made the Council needs to ensure that it offers a number of 
opportunities for individuals and interested groups to make their views and opinions on the 
proposal known. 
 
Table 1 below sets out details of the groups the Council is consulting: 
 
Table 1: Groups the Council is consulting with 
Children and young people Welsh Ministers 
Parents/carers Police & Crime Commissioner 
School staff Central South Consortium Joint Education 

Service (CSCJES) 
School Governing Bodies Welsh Language Commissioner  
Local residents Rhieni dros Addysg Gymraeg (RhAG) 
Local Members/Assembly Members (AMs)/ 
Regional Assembly Members/Member of 
Parliament (MPs) 

Trade Unions 

Diocesan Directors of Education Childcare providers 
Neighbouring Authorities Mudiad Meithrin 
Neighbouring Primary and Secondary schools 
within Cardiff  

Wales Pre-School Providers Association 

Estyn Clybiau Plant Cymru Kids Club 
Communities First Partnership National Day Nurseries Association 
 
How can you find out more and give your views? 
 
Public meetings and drop in sessions have been arranged where the proposals will be explained.  
These are provided so you can ask questions and make comments that will be recorded.  You 
may also provide your views in writing.   
 
Information regarding this proposal will be available to view at, Baden Powell Primary School, 
Ysgol Glan Morfa, Moorland Primary School, Tremorfa Nursery and Willows Community Hub.     
 
Details of the consultation meeting dates are given in Table 2 below:  
 

Table 2 Consultation Meeting Dates 

Nature of Consultation  Date/Time  Venue  

Staff Meeting 13 October 2015 
3:45pm 

Tremorfa Nursery School 

Governors Meeting 13 October 2015 
5:30pm 

Tremorfa Nursery School 

Page 344



  

2 
 

Staff Meeting 14 October 2015 
3pm 

Ysgol Glan Morfa 

Governors Meeting 14 October 2015 
5pm 

Ysgol Glan Morfa 

Staff Meeting 15 October 2015 
3:30pm 

Baden Powell Primary School 

Governors Meeting 15 October 2015 
5:30pm 

Baden Powell Primary School 

Drop in session 19 October 2015 
10am – 12 noon 

Star Centre 

Drop in session 20 October 2015 
1:15pm – 3:15pm 

Tremorfa Nursery School 

Drop in session 22 October 2015 
8:30am – 10:30am 

Baden Powell Primary School  

Staff Meeting 03 November 2015 
3:15pm 

Moorland Primary School 

Governors Meeting 03 November 2015 
5pm 

Moorland Primary School 

Drop in session 05 November 2015 
8:30am – 10:30am 

Moorland Primary School 

Staff Meeting 09 November 2015 
3:30pm 

Willows High School 

Governors Meeting 09 November 2015 
5pm 

Willows High School 

Public Meeting 09 November 2015 
6:30pm – 8:30pm 

Willows High School 

Drop in session 12 November 2015 
8:30am – 10:30am 

Ysgol Glan Morfa  

 
In addition, workshop sessions will be arranged with local primary age children and Willows High 
School pupils to provide an opportunity for pupils to ask questions and learn more about the 
proposal and give their views. 
 
Your Views Matter  
 
Your views matter and we want you to tell us what you think about the proposal. You can do this 
by attending one of the meetings or drop in sessions above, and/or by completing the 
Consultation Response Form which can be found on page 34 of this document or completing the 
online form www.cardiff.gov.uk/21stCenturySchools.   
 
Alternatively contact the School Organisation Planning Team on (029) 2087 2720, by e-mail to 
schoolresponses@cardiff.gov.uk or by post to Room 219, County Hall, Atlantic Wharf, Cardiff, 
CF10 4UW. 
 
The closing date for responses to this consultation is 23 November 2015. 
 
Explanation of terms used in this document  
 
Please note the following terms used throughout this document: 
 
FE - a Form of Entry refers to a class of 30 children in each year group. A 2FE school is therefore 
two classes of 30 children in each year group.   

Page 345



  

3 
 

 
WG – Welsh Government 
 
Number on roll data - the number of pupils attending school excluding nursery age pupils. 
 
PLASC - Pupil Level Annual School Census. In January of every year, verified information is 
collected by schools for submission to the Welsh Government. This includes the number of pupils 
enrolled in each school, their age groups, home addresses, ethnicity, and data on Welsh 
language, Free School Meals eligibility, Special Educational Needs and first language. 
 
CSCJES – Central South Consortium Joint Education Service. The regional School Improvement 
Service for the five local authorities of Bridgend, Cardiff, Merthyr Tydfil, Rhondda Cynon Taff and 
the Vale of Glamorgan. 
 
SEN - Special Educational Needs  
 
FSM - Free School Meals 
 
EAL - English as an Additional Language 
 
School Action - When a class or subject teacher identifies that a pupil has SEN they provide 
interventions that are additional to or different from those provided as part of the school’s usual 
curriculum.  
 
School Action Plus - When the class or subject teacher and the SEN Co-ordinator are provided with 
advice or support from outside specialists, so that alternative interventions additional or different to 
those provided for the pupil through School Action can be put in place.  
 
Statemented - A child has SEN if he or she has learning difficulties which requires special 
educational provision to be made for him or her. A learning difficulty means that the child has 
significantly greater difficulty in learning than most children of the same age, or that the child has a 
disability that needs different educational facilities from those that the school generally provides 
for children. 
 
Statutory Notice – a statutory notice is the formal publication of a finalised proposal, if approved 
by the Council’s Cabinet and will only be considered once the Cabinet have received a report on 
all the responses from the consultation. This is a legal requirement as outlined in the School 
Organisation Code 2013. 
 
Foundation Phase – The first years of school (ages 3-7) 
 
Key Stage 2 – The second phase of primary education (ages 7-11) 
 
Why are we proposing the changes? 
 
In recent years there has been a significant growth in the number of Reception age pupils in the 
Adamsdown and Splott wards. In December 2012 the Cabinet received a report outlining 
recommendations for meeting this growth by increasing the number of English-medium community 
school places in the Adamsdown and Splott wards. 
 
Following public consultation on three options, the Cabinet in June 2013 approved the publication 
of statutory notices to increase the capacity of Adamsdown Primary Schools from 210 places to 
420 places for pupils aged 4-11, and to increase the capacity of Baden Powell Primary School 
from 420 places to 630 places for pupils aged 4-11. 

Page 346



  

4 
 

 
The notices were published on 01 July 2013. A single objection to each notice was received.  
 
This objection and Officers’ comments thereon were forwarded to the Welsh Government as the 
then determining body on 15 August 2013. 
 
Following a change of circumstances it was agreed that the proposal to increase the capacity of 
Baden Powell Primary School would not be progressed and options around increasing Welsh-
medium primary provision in addition to the proposed expansion of English-medium provision in 
the area would be considered.  The proposal has been formally withdrawn. 
 
The Welsh Government notified officers in March 2014 of the Minister’s approval of the proposal to 
increase the capacity of Adamsdown Primary School from September 2015 and the Council 
Cabinet approved implementation of the proposal at its meeting on 15 May 2014. 
 
The Proposal  
 
The Council is now consulting on proposals to: 
 

• Provide 30 additional English-medium primary school places per year group. 
• Provide 30 additional Welsh-medium primary school places per year group. 
• Provide additional English-medium part time nursery places 
• Provide additional Welsh-medium part time nursery places 

 
The following delivery options have been identified, all of which would result in the required 
number of additional English-medium and Welsh-medium primary places being made available. 
 
Table 3 below/overleaf outlines the options being proposed. 

Table 3: Options Summary table 

Option School 
 Language 

Medium/School 
Category 

Proposal 

1 

Baden Powell 
Primary School 

English-medium 
(Community) 

A new *’standardised build’ 2FE Baden Powell Primary School 
with nursery on the Willows High School site serving the age 
range 3 -11 from September 2017.  This would require the 
transfer of Baden Powell Primary School to the Willows High 
School site.  Both schools (Baden Powell Primary School and 
Willows High School) would remain as separate establishments 
with separate staff, management and governing bodies and be 
funded accordingly.    

Ysgol Glan 
Morfa 

Welsh-medium 
(Community) 

Increase the capacity of Ysgol Glan Morfa from 1FE to 2FE with 
80 part-time nursery places (an increase of 48 part-time places) 
serving the age range 3 -11 from September 2017 
 
Transfer the enlarged Ysgol Glan Morfa to the vacated Baden 
Powell Primary School site from September 2017. 
 

Moorland 
Primary School  

 

English-medium 
(Community) 

Increase the capacity of Moorland Primary School from 2FE to 
3FE with 96 part-time time nursery places (an increase of 32 
part-time places)  serving the age range 3 -11 utilising the 
vacated Ysgol Glan Morfa buildings from September 2017. 

**Tremorfa 
Nursery School 

English-medium 
(Community) 

No change. Tremorfa Nursery School to remain at its current  
capacity on its existing site. 

Page 347



  

5 
 

1a 

Baden Powell 
Primary School 

English-medium 
(Community) 

A new *’standardised build’ 2FE Baden Powell Primary School 
on the Willows High School site serving the age range 4 -11 
from September 2017.  This would require the transfer of Baden 
Powell Primary School to the Willows High School site.  Both 
schools (Baden Powell Primary School and Willows High 
School) would remain as separate establishments with separate 
staff, management and governing bodies and be funded 
accordingly.   

**Tremorfa 
Nursery School 

English-medium 
(Community) 

A new build Tremorfa Nursery School providing up to 176 part 
time nursery places on the Willows High School site serving the 
age range 3 - 4 from September 2017. This would require the 
transfer of Tremorfa Nursery School to the Willows High School 
site.   
 
The nursery school would remain as a separate establishment 
with separate staff, management and governing body and be 
funded accordingly 

Ysgol Glan 
Morfa 

Welsh-medium 
(Community) 

Increase the capacity of Ysgol Glan Morfa from 1FE to 2FE with 
up to 80 part-time nursery places (an increase of 48 part-time 
places) serving the age range 3 -11 from September 2017. 
 
Transfer the enlarged Ysgol Glan Morfa to the vacated Baden 
Powell Primary School site from September 2017. 
 

Moorland 
Primary School  

 

English-medium 
(Community) 

Increase the capacity of Moorland Primary School from 2FE to 
3FE with 96 part-time time nursery places (an increase of 32 
part-time places) serving the age range 3 -11 utilising the 
vacated Ysgol Glan Morfa buildings from September 2017. 

2 

Ysgol Glan 
Morfa 

Welsh-medium 
(Community) 

Increase the capacity of Ysgol Glan Morfa from 1FE to 2FE with 
up to 80 part-time nursery places (an increase of 48 part-time 
places) serving the age range 3 -11 from September 2017. 
 
Transfer the enlarged Ysgol Glan Morfa to a new *’standardised 
build’ 2FE primary school on a new site at the Maltings from 
September 2017. 
 

Moorland 
Primary School 

English-medium 
(Community) 

Increase the capacity of Moorland Primary School from 2FE to 
3FE with 96 part-time time nursery places (an increase of 32 
part-time places) serving the age range 3 -11 utilising the 
vacated Ysgol Glan Morfa buildings from September 2017. 

Baden Powell 
Primary School 

English-medium 
(Community) 

No change.  Baden Powell Primary School to remain at its 
current capacity on its existing site. 

**Tremorfa 
Nursery School 

English-medium 
(Community) 

No change.  Tremorfa Nursery School to remain at its current 
capacity on its existing site. 

2a 

Ysgol Glan 
Morfa 

Welsh-medium 
(Community) 

Increase the capacity of Ysgol Glan Morfa from 1FE to 2FE with 
80 part-time nursery places (an increase of 48 part-time places) 
serving the age range 3 -11 from September 2017. 
 
Transfer the enlarged Ysgol Glan Morfa to a new *’standardised 
build’ 2FE primary school on a new site at the Maltings from 
September 2017. 
 

Moorland 
Primary School 

English-medium 
(Community) 

Increase the capacity of Moorland Primary School from 2FE to 
3FE with 96 part-time time nursery places (an increase of 32 
part-time places) serving the age range 3 -11 utilising the 
vacated Ysgol Glan Morfa buildings from September 2017. 

Baden Powell 
Primary School 

English-medium 
(Community) 

The age range of Baden Powell Primary School to be reduced 
from 3 -11 to 4 -11 from September 2017. 
 

**Tremorfa 
Nursery School 

English-medium 
(Community) 

A new build Tremorfa Nursery School providing up to 176 part 
time nursery places on the Baden Powell Primary School site 
serving the age range 3 - 4 from September 2017.  This would 
require the transfer of Tremorfa Nursery School to the Baden 

Page 348



  

6 
 

 
* A ‘standardised design’ refers to a predetermined building form, the client (i.e. the Council) 
effectively buys ‘off plan’ to a pre designed solution.  Contractors are able to minimise costs by 
reducing the fees spent on design and tendering as they already have a predetermined design 
and supply chain and also do not have to set aside a significant cost for risk due to the early 
engagement of the contractor.  In-house design fees are also significantly reduced as it does not 
require a bespoke design. 
 
** The Council previously consulted on a proposal to close Tremorfa Nursery School.  The options 
outlined in Table 3 relate to the potential transfer to Tremorfa Nursery School to an alternative site 
and not closure. The nursery school would remain as a separate establishment with separate staff, 
managmentand governing body and be funded accordingly. Any change proposed relates to 
relocation and potential expansion alongside Baden Powell Primary School. 
 
Facilities included in a school 
  
Any changes to existing school buildings or any new buildings required in the event of any one of 
the options outlined above proceeding to implementation would be equal to/meet Welsh 
Government (WG) funding conditions such as BREEAM and also be designed in accordance with 
The Department of Education: Area guidelines for mainstream schools Building Bulletins which set 
out that the following facilities need to be included in any school: 
 
• Teaching space: internal and external 
• Halls/dining area  
• Learning resource areas 
• Staff and administration  
• Storage 
• Toilets and personal care 
• Kitchen facilities 
• Circulation, plant and internal walls 
• Withdrawal areas to support small group/SEN working 
 
All detailed design of the facilities at any new school buildings/existing school buildings would be 
agreed between the Council, the governing body and the Headteacher if a proposal is progressed 
to implementation.   
 
Indicative layouts showing maps of the school sites/ the Maltings site and how the sites would look 
can be viewed on line at www.cardiff.gov.uk and will be available to view at Baden Powell Primary 
School, Ysgol Glan Morfa, Moorland Primary School, Tremorfa Nursery and Willows Community 
Hub.     

Powell Primary School site.   
 
The nursery school would remain as a separate establishment 
with separate staff, management and governing body and be 
funded accordingly. 

Page 349



  

7 
 

 
Schools serving the area at present  
 
The Adamsdown and Splott areas are currently served by a number of English-medium, Welsh-
medium and Faith-based primary schools. School catchment areas in Cardiff are not coterminous 
with ward boundaries and often serve all or part of several ward areas. 
 
These areas are severed by four English-medium community primary school catchment areas, 
namely: 
 
• Adamsdown Primary School 
• Baden Powell Primary School 
• Moorland Primary School 
• Stacey Primary School 
 
The catchment areas of Adamsdown, Baden Powell, Moorland and Stacey Primary Schools fall 
within the catchment area of Willows High School. 
 
These areas are also served by the Welsh-medium community primary school catchment area of 
Ysgol Glan Morfa which falls within the secondary school catchment area of Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg 
Glantaf.  Ysgol Glan Morfa also serves some parts of Penylan, Rumney and Trowbridge in which 
there is no housing.   
 
Faith based schools serving the Adamsdown and Splott areas include St Albans RC Primary 
School and Tredegarville CW Primary School.  These areas are also served by other Faith-based 
primary schools located outside of the locality.  
 
The combined areas of Adamsdown and Splott are similar to the combined catchment areas of 
Adamsdown, Baden Powell, Moorland and Stacey primary schools.  
 
The combined areas of Adamsdown and Splott are also similar to the catchment area of Ysgol 
Glan Morfa. 
 
The geographical units that are most suitable to analyse the localised increase in demand for 
English-medium primary school places are the Willows High School catchment area and the four 
constituent English-medium primary school catchment areas within it (namely those of Moorland 
Primary, Baden Powell Primary, Stacey Primary and Adamsdown Primary schools) as this allows 
analysis to be focused to smaller areas and comparison of the demand between these areas to be 
undertaken. 
 
In geographical terms the Ysgol Glan Morfa catchment area is the nearest single comparable unit 
that most closely matches for the purpose of calculating demand for Welsh-medium places.  
 
A map showing the Willows High School catchment area primary school catchment areas within 
and school sites within the area can be seen on page 8. A map showing the Ysgol Glan Morfa and 
Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf catchment areas can be seen on page 9. 
 

Page 350



  

8 
 

Primary School provision catchment  

Page 351



  

9 
 

 
Page 352



  

10 
 

School Capacities, Condition and Suitability of School Buildings  
 
This section sets out the capacities, condition and suitability of School Buildings and existing 
demand for primary school places that serve the Adamsdown and Splott areas.  
 
Table 4 below provides details of school capacities and information regarding the condition and 
suitability of school buildings. 
 
Table 4: Capacity, condition and suitability of nursery and primary schools  
 
Name of School Language 

medium / 
Category of 
school 

Condition 
Category as 
identified by 
21st Century 
Schools 
Survey   

Current 
Published 
Capacity 
(age 4-11) 

Published 
Capacity  
(nursery – 
part time 
places) 

Adamsdown Primary 
School 

English-medium 
community 
primary 

Satisfactory* 330** 48 

Baden Powell Primary 
School  

English-medium 
community 
primary 

Satisfactory 403 48 

Moorland Primary 
School  

English-medium 
community 
primary 

Satisfactory 382 64 

Stacey Primary  
School  

English-medium 
community 
primary 

Satisfactory 197 64 

Ysgol Glan Morfa  Welsh-medium 
community 
primary 

Satisfactory 210 32 

St Albans RC Primary 
School   

English-medium 
Voluntary Aided 
primary  

Satisfactory 203 0 

Tredegarville CW 
Primary School  

English-medium 
Voluntary Aided 
primary 

Satisfactory 210 52 

Tremorfa Nursery 
School  

English-medium 
community 
nursery  

Satisfactory N/a 112 

 
*Adamsdown Primary School, including former demountable classrooms, graded as ‘Poor’ in 2010. Main 
building graded as ‘Satisfactory’. Significant investment since 2010 to improve and upgrade main building 
 
**Phased permanent enlargement to 420 places  
 
Existing English-medium provision  
 
English-medium community primary school places to serve the Willows High School catchment 
area are provided at Adamsdown, Baden Powell, Moorland and Stacey Primary Schools.  
 
Additional English-medium primary school places were provided on a temporary basis at 
Adamsdown Primary School in September 2012, 2013 and 2014 and the majority of these places 
have been taken up by pupils from the local area. Following the permanent enlargement of 
Adamsdown Primary School, to provide an additional 30 places at entry to Reception, the number 
of places at entry to Reception serving the Willows High School catchment area now totals 210. 

Page 353



  

11 
 

 
The take up of English-medium community places by pupils resident in the Willows High School 
catchment area has risen from 138 pupils in the Reception age group in 2007 to 210 pupils in 
2013.  
 
Welsh-medium community schools 
 
Welsh-medium community school places to serve the Adamsdown and Splott area are provided at 
Ysgol Glan Morfa. The number of places available at entry to Reception at Ysgol Glan Morfa is 30. 
The take up of Welsh-medium community places by pupils resident in the Willows High School 
catchment area has risen from 22 pupils in the Reception age group in 2007 to 35 pupils in 2013. 
 
Welsh-medium primary school places at alternative schools were offered to meet excess demand 
at entry to Reception in recent years. The demand for places in Welsh-medium primary schools in 
neighbouring catchment areas (including Ysgol Bro Eirwg, Ysgol Y Berllan Deg and Ysgol Mynydd 
Bychan) have also exceeded the number of places available and projections reflect the take up of 
places at schools which had been capped at the number of places available. The total demand for 
Welsh-medium primary school places in the Adamsdown and Splott area is therefore difficult to 
assess.  
 
For the purpose of assessing the supply of Welsh-medium school places serving the Willows High 
School catchment area, an estimate of 30 places at entry to Reception has been used. 
 
Faith-based primary schools 
 
There are two Faith-based primary schools within the Willows High School catchment area. There 
are 30 places available at entry to Reception at St Alban’s RC Primary School and 30 places 
available at Tredegarville CW Primary School. 
 
Pupils resident in this area have also taken up places at a number of other Faith schools in recent 
years. The take up of Faith school places by pupils resident in the Willows High School catchment 
area has risen from 79 pupils in the Reception age group in 2007 to 93 pupils in 2013. On the 
basis of the above take-up of places in recent years it is considered that the local supply of faith 
school places serving the Willows High School area is 92. 
 
Calculating local demand for primary school places 
 
In order to calculate the likely demand from the Adamsdown and Splott areas, historic trends 
specific to the established school catchment areas have been used. 
 
The following paragraphs give details of these catchment areas, the data used and the 
methodology applied. 
 
The number of places available at entry to Reception at the seven primary schools located in the 
Adamsdown and Splott areas totals 300. However, the catchment areas for community schools do 
not precisely match the boundaries of the Adamsdown and Splott wards. Ysgol Glan Morfa is 
located in Splott but serves a catchment area that includes housing in parts of Butetown, and also 
serves some parts of Penylan, Rumney and Trowbridge in which there is no housing. Furthermore 
the admission arrangements for, and areas served by, Faith schools also differ. The approximate 
number of places that serve the overall area is therefore 332. 
 
Table 5 below compares the existing supply of English-medium, Welsh-medium and Faith school 
places with the most recent verified take up of school places in each area.  

Page 354



  

12 
 

 
Table 5:  Existing supply of  places compared to most recent take up of places at entry to 
Reception as at January 2013  
 
 Supply of places at Reception age: 

January 2014 
 Take up of places: January 2013 

Catchment 
area 

English-
medium 

Welsh-
medium 

Faith Total 
places 
by 
area 

English-
medium 

Welsh-
medium 

Faith Total 
demand 
by area 

Combined 
Willows 

High 
School 

catchment 
area 

210 30 92 332 210 35 93 338 

 
Table 6 below sets out the most recent verified PLASC (Pupil Level Annual School Census) data 
as supplied by schools in January 2013, confirming the numbers of pupils in each of the four 
English-medium primary school catchment areas within the Willows High School catchment area, 
enrolled in Reception classes at English-medium, Welsh-medium and Faith schools. 
 

Table 6: Pupils in the Willows High School catchment area enrolled in the Reception class at 
English-medium, Welsh-medium and Faith schools – January 2013 
Catchment area English-medium Welsh-medium Faith schools Total 
Adamsdown 33 (55.9%) 1 (1.7%) 25 (42.4%) 59 (100%) 
Baden Powell 83 (59.7%) 20 (14.4%) 36 (25.9%) 139 (100%) 
Moorland 52 (72.2%) 7 (9.7%) 13 (18.1%) 72 (100%) 
Stacey 42 (61.8%) 7(10.3%) 19 (27.9%) 68 (100%) 
Total 210 (62.1%) 35 (10.4%) 93 (27.5%) 338 (100%) 

 
Future demand for places 
 
Meeting projected demand from the increasing population 
 
Projections based upon NHS data received in 2013 indicate that the number of English-medium 
community pupils entering Reception will continue to increase in future years until at least 
September 2016, the latest year for which verified data are available. In order to calculate the 
likely demand for school places, historic trends specific to the established school catchment areas 
have been used. 
 
Comparison of the population data supplied by the NHS with the number of pupils admitted to 
Cardiff schools from each cohort allows the Council to project both the demand for school places, 
and also the combined proportion of pupils that will opt for school places outside of Cardiff or take 
up places in the private education sector. 
 
When considering likely demand for places across the area a number of factors have been used to 
inform projections and forecasts, including: 
 
• Recent and historic populations known to be living in each area utilising NHS data; 
• Recent and historic numbers on roll taken from verified PLASC (Pupil Level Annual Census) 

for Cardiff schools; 
• Recent and historic percentages of children attending English-medium and Welsh-medium 

community and faith places. 
 

Page 355



  

13 
 

Table 7 below sets out the demand for places at entry to Reception should the proportions of 
pupils in the Willows High School catchment area requiring places in English-medium, Welsh-
medium and faith schools at entry to Reception in future years remain at the same levels as in 
2013. 
 
Table 7: Projected numbers of pupils entering the Reception age group resident within the Willows 
High School catchment area (existing housing only) if there were no changes to proportionate demand 
in each primary school catchment area 

Academic 
Year of 

birth 

Academic 
Year: 

entering 
Reception 

Year 

NHS GP 
registration 
data 2013 

Projected 
pupil 

population 

Projected 
English-
medium 
demand 

Projected 
Welsh-

medium 
demand 

Projected 
Faith 

school 
demand 

Projected 
total 

school 
demand 

2009/2010 2014/2015 407 418 226 36 105 367 
2010/2011 2015/2016 407 406 222 35 104 360 
2011/2012 2016/2017 440 448 247 40 113 400 

 
Initial analysis of 2014 data confirms that the population in the area is broadly consistent with that 
provided in previous datasets, and also that the projected Reception age pupil population in 
2017/18 will be similar to that in 2016/17. 
 
It is notable that projections for demand for places at entry for Reception, which take account of 
annual updates to data supplied by the NHS, indicate a cohort survival ratio (i.e. the proportion of 
the population retained in the area) of below 100% in each cohort.  
 
The sizes of cohorts and projections based on populations in this area are prone to fluctuation as 
pupil mobility (the total movement in and out of schools by pupils other than at the usual times of 
joining and leaving) is very high. This is in part due the level of temporary housing that is/ has 
been available in the area. 
 
The combined projected demand for English-medium, Welsh-medium and Faith school primary 
school places significantly exceeds the overall supply of 332 places at Reception between the 
schools within or serving the area. As each of the seven primary schools in the area have been 
fully subscribed at entry to Reception at a number of recent intakes, projections reflect the take up 
of places at each of these schools which had been capped at the number of places available.  
 
Proposed new housing 
 
A number of small sites in the area are proposed for housing development, some of which have 
planning permission with others at early stages of consideration. Additional pupil yields from these 
developments would further exacerbate the overall shortfall. 
 
In accordance with the Council’s approved Supplementary Planning Guidance, financial 
contributions are sought from housing developers to meet the demand arising from proposed 
additional housing. However, the small sites proposed within the combined Willows High School 
catchment area are not sufficiently large for the Council to be able to request s106 financial 
contributions. Of the dwellings proposed in the Adamsdown and Splott area, the majority of those 
are one bed properties from which no pupil yield is expected, or are apartments from which 
reduced yields (compared to houses) are expected. The nominal yield calculated from proposed 
new housing has not been added to trend projections as these already take account of in-
migration (cohort survival ratio) and the rate of new housing completion is not likely to exceed that 
of the past three years. 
 
 
 

Page 356



  

14 
 

How might demand change? 
 
Population data supplied by the NHS indicates that the number of pupils resident in the Willows 
High School catchment area entering Reception in future years in the area will be at higher levels 
than at present. 
 
There has been a period of sustained growth in the number of pupils taking up English-medium 
community school Reception places in the Willows High School catchment area. This numerical 
growth in take-up has been broadly proportionate to the growth in population, the proportionate 
demand fluctuating between 57% and 63% in the period January 2007 to January 2013. 
 
The proportion of Reception age pupils enrolled in Welsh-medium education in the Adamsdown 
and Splott area fluctuated in the period January 2007 to January 2011 but has since grown to 
11.4% in January 2012, and fallen back to 10.4% in January 2013. However, the recent trend 
established indicates an increase in demand of approximately 4.5% per year. 
 
There has been a period of sustained growth in the take up of Faith school Reception places in the 
Willows High School catchment area, however, as the population has grown at a faster rate the 
proportion of pupils taking up Reception places in Faith schools has fallen from 33% in January 
2007 to 28% in January 2013. 
 
As there are no proposals to expand Faith school provision, projected demand for English-medium 
and Faith school places therefore take account of the projected uplift in demand for Welsh-
medium places and are reduced accordingly.  
  
Forecasts have therefore been prepared based on: 
 
• Likely demand if take up patterns were to remain consistent with the most recent years 

applying these trends to the relevant populations coming through in future years; 
• Known populations along with a potential 4.5% annual uplift in Welsh-medium demand by 

comparison with recent take up patterns between 2011 – 2013; 
• Demand for Faith school places in excess of the places available added to the demand for 

English-medium community school places. 
 
Summary forecasts of demand for places at entry to Reception 
 
The work undertaken to establish the likely demand across the area shows that there will be an 
overall projected shortfall of approximately 68 Reception places serving the Adamsdown and 
Splott areas based on existing housing. 
 
When compared to the existing supply of places at Reception age, projections for September 2015 
and 2016 indicate: 
 
• A deficit of 13 Welsh-medium community school places in September 2015, rising to a deficit 

of 19 in September 2016, should the uplift of 4.5% in the take-up of Welsh-medium places 
continue as expected; 

• A deficit of 21 English-medium community school places in September 2015, rising to a 
deficit of 49 in September 2016, should faith schools be unable to accommodate the excess 
projected demand and this be added to the projected demand for English-medium 
community school places. 

 
In summary, it is proposed that an addition of 1FE English-medium and 1FE Welsh-medium 
community school places are provided to meet the projected shortfall. 

Page 357



  

15 
 

 
The rising population in the area, and demand for English-medium and Welsh-medium community 
school places will be kept under review. 
 
Should demand for English-medium and Welsh-medium places exceed the proposed capacity 
from September 2016, it may be necessary to amend catchment areas of the schools in 
Adamsdown and Splott and also in the neighbouring areas, where a number of families have 
elected to take up places. These changes, if necessary, would seek to balance the supply and 
demand both within Adamsdown and Splott and in neighbouring areas. 
 
How would nursery provision be affected? 
 
Children in Cardiff are entitled to a part-time nursery place from the start of the term following their 
third birthday and must attend for a minimum of five half days. Nursery places are not allocated on 
a catchment area basis. Places are offered in a local community nursery school or nursery class 
within two miles of a child’s place of residence.  If places are unavailable in local community 
nursery schools or nursery classes, parents may apply for nursery education place funding with a 
recognised provider designated by the Cardiff Early Childhood Steering Group. 
 
In the event the proposal is implemented accommodation would need to be of sufficient size to 
provide for the increased numbers and the appropriate investment made to realise the appropriate 
space in accordance with the numbers of places offered. As these are potentially expansion of 
existing nursery units the outdoor area would also be taken into account to ensure the area is able 
to offer a range of activities relevant to the delivery of the Foundation Phase to this age group. 
 
Whilst the Local Authority has been able to offer English-medium nursery places in the area to all 
those who have applied, this has proved more challenging in Welsh-medium in recent years 
following the increased housing and the rise in the birth rate. Also, some families have not taken 
up their offered place which means there is potential for further demand in excess of the supply 
available and any additional places would support a greater uptake of the nursery entitlement, 
particularly in the rising 3s age group. It has been increasingly difficult to source a sufficiency of 
places in settings that are approved to provide education places in areas that parents have 
requested and/or source new providers willing to enter into the contract with the Local Authority in 
some areas. 
 
Whilst the addition of nursery places would mean there would potentially be a reduced number 
purchased in the private and voluntary childcare sector, many also provide wrap around places 
and the opportunities for this could increase with a larger number of families accessing the 
maintained provision for part time sessions. 
 
It must be noted that accessing a nursery place at a school, does not guarantee a reception place 
and is subject to a separate primary phase admission process. 
 
Cylch Meithrin Glan Morfa	  
 
There are currently 32 school (maintained) morning nursery places available at Ysgol Glan Morfa.  
Additionally a cylch methrin (Cylch Meithin Glan Morfa) operates from the school offering non 
maintained nursery places, Flying Start childcare and wrap round care in the nursery facility during 
the afternoon.  Under these proposals the number of nursery places at Ysgol Glan Morfa is 
proposed to be increased, however it is expected that the facilities could be developed in a way 
that would mean the potential for the Cylch to continue to operate within the school could be 
retained.   The consultation provides an opportunity to consider how best to provide any places 

Page 358



  

16 
 

and views expressed specific to nursery and/or childcare as part of the schools future operating 
arrangements are welcomed.  
 
How would other schools be affected? 
 
It is anticipated that the proposed establishment of additional 1FE English medium and 1FE Welsh 
medium pupil capacity in the Adamsdown and Splott wards would have little or no effect on the 
number of pupils on roll at the majority of schools in the local area as the additional places are 
required to meet the projected demand from the increased population. 
 
Welsh-medium community schools 
 
Ysgol Glan Morfa primarily serves the demand for Welsh-medium places across the Adamsdown 
and Splott wards. 
 
As the pupil population is projected to grow in future years, the demand for places will increase 
accordingly. The projected numbers of pupils enrolled at those schools in close proximity or in 
adjacent catchment areas are therefore not expected to be impacted, compared to existing 
arrangements. 
 
Table 8 below/overleaf illustrates the number of pupils on Roll in recent years at Ysgol Glan Morfa 
and the projected numbers on roll should the proposal proceed factoring in recent trends in the 
uplift of Welsh-medium demand. 
 
Table 8 Recent and projected numbers on roll at Ysgol Glan Morfa  should the proposal 
proceed as described 

School 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
09

 
 Ja

nu
ar

y 
 2

01
0 

 Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
11

 
 Ja

nu
ar

y 
20

12
 

 Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
13

 
 Ja

nu
ar

y 
20

14
 

 Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
15

 
 20

15
/2

01
6 

P
ro

je
ct

io
n 

20
16

/2
01

7 
P

ro
je

ct
io

n 

20
17

/2
01

8 
P

ro
je

ct
io

n 

20
18

/2
01

9 
P

ro
je

ct
io

n 

20
19

/2
02

0 
P

ro
je

ct
io

n 

Ysgol Glan Morfa 76 96 118 142 145 156 173 184 203 225 249 275 
 
Should the proposal to expand Ysgol Glan Morfa proceed, forecasts indicate that some surplus 
places will be available at entry to Reception year. Those schools in close proximity or in adjacent 
catchment areas that are not fully subscribed (or where projected demand does not exceed places 
available), could be considered to be the most likely to be impacted by the proposed enlargement 
of Ysgol Glan Morfa. Ysgol Glan Morfa largely serves pupils from within its catchment area and 
few pupils from other catchment areas attend the school. Additionally, few pupils from within its 
catchment area opt for alternative Welsh-medium primary schools.  
 
The Council is also consulting on a separate proposal to provide additional Welsh-medium places 
to serve Butetown and Grangetown. Grangetown and Butetown are presently served by Ysgol 
Mynydd Bychan and Ysgol Gymraeg Pwll Coch. Ysgol Mynydd Bychan is fully subscribed at entry 
to Reception and this school is not anticipated to be affected by proposals for Ysgol Glan Morfa 
Ysgol Gymraeg Pwll Coch is also highly subscribed and is distant from the Ysgol Glan Morfa 
catchment area and therefore unlikely to be significantly impacted by the proposed enlargement of 
Ysgol Glan Morfa. 
 
Should the expansion of Ysgol Glan Morfa not be implemented then the school would continue to 
admit no more than 30 pupils per year group. Those pupils unable to gain admission to Ysgol Glan 

Page 359



  

17 
 

Morfa due to oversubscription could elect to attend alternative English-medium, Welsh-medium, 
Faith, private schools or schools outside of Cardiff and for the purpose of clarity table 9 below 
indicates the number of those pupils but does not add these pupils to the Numbers on Roll at 
alternative schools. 
 

Table 9 Projected numbers on roll at Ysgol Glan Morfa should the proposal not proceed  

School 2015/2016 
Projection 

2016/2017 
Projection 

2017/2018 
Projection 

2018/2019 
Projection 

*2019/2020 
Projection 

Ysgol Glan 
Morfa 184 198 205 207 207 

Welsh 
medium pupil 

excess 
0 +19 +41 +65 +91 

 
English-medium community schools 
 
Should the proposal to expand Moorland Primary School proceed, it would be necessary to 
enlarge its catchment area and to reduce the adjacent catchment area of Baden Powell Primary 
School, to provide a sustainable balance in the supply of and demand for school places.  
 
Although the number of pupils resident within the catchment area of Baden Powell Primary School 
may reduce, this is not anticipated to have a direct impact on the number of pupils enrolled at the 
school as the numbers of preferences submitted by parents for these schools is expected to 
remain at a similar level. 
 
As the pupil population is projected to grow in future years, the demand for places is expected to 
increase accordingly. The projected numbers of pupils enrolled at those schools in close proximity 
or in adjacent catchment areas are therefore not expected to be impacted, compared to existing 
arrangements. 
 
Table 10 below illustrates recent and projected numbers on roll if the proposal were to proceed. 
 

Table10: Recent and projected numbers on roll at local primary schools should the proposal proceed as 
described  

Name of School 

Is this school 
expected to 
be affected 

by the 
proposal? 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
09

 
 Ja

nu
ar

y 
 2

01
0 

 Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
11

 
 Ja

nu
ar

y 
20

12
 

 Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
13

 
 Ja

nu
ar

y 
20

14
 

 Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
15

 
 20

15
/2

01
6 

P
ro

je
ct

io
n 

20
16

/2
01

7 
P

ro
je

ct
io

n 

20
17

/2
01

8 
P

ro
je

ct
io

n 

20
18

/2
01

9 
P

ro
je

ct
io

n 

*2
01

9/
20

20
 P

ro
je

ct
io

n 

Adamsdown 
Primary School No 164 170 181 187 209 250 277 306 334 374 407 407 

Baden Powell 
Primary School Yes - Option 1 323 311 325 328 332 371 359 419 421 422 422 422 

Moorland Primary 
School 

Yes - Options 
1 & 2 286 297 316 330 346 369 392 414 444 474 504 534 

Stacey Primary 
School No 177 179 174 185 184 197 198 203 203 204 204 204 

St Albans RC 
Primary School No 200 191 203 212 187 172 159 175 183 177 181 181 

Tredegarville CW 
Primary School No 175 194 186 191 189 198 201 208 210 210 210 210 

St Peter’s RC 
Primary School No 425 428 434 443 463 464 486 476 478 481 487 487 

Page 360



  

18 
 

 
As is illustrated in the table above, the area is also served by a number of faith based primary 
schools. Admission to these schools is administered by the governing body of each school. As 
there are no current plans proposed by the relevant Diocese to expand these schools at this time, 
excess pupils requiring a faith based education have been factored in to the projections. 
 
Should the proposal not be implemented then the combined English-medium school intake to 
Adamsdown, Baden Powell, Moorland and Stacey primary schools would continue to be 210 
pupils per year group, and the projected number of pupils requiring English-medium based 
education would be exceeded as illustrated in the following table: 
 
Table 11 Recent and projected numbers on roll at local primary schools should the proposal not 
proceed as described 

School 2015/2016 
Projection 

2016/2017 
Projection 

2017/2018 
Projection 

2018/2019 
Projection 

*2019/2020 
Projection 

Baden Powell 
Primary School 419 421 422 422 422 

Moorland Primary 
School 414 416 420 420 420 

English medium pupil 
excess +4 +53 +99 +143 +184 

 
Those pupils whose families are seeking an English-medium place but have been unable to gain 
admission to English-medium to one of the English-medium primary schools due to 
oversubscription could elect to attend alternative English-medium, Welsh-medium, Faith, private 
schools or schools outside of Cardiff and for the purpose of clarity the above table indicates the 
number of those pupils but does not add these pupils to the Numbers on Roll at alternative 
schools. 
 
Should demand for English-medium and Welsh-medium places exceed the proposed capacity 
from September 2016, it may be necessary to amend catchment areas of the schools in 
Adamsdown and Splott and also in the neighbouring areas, where a number of families have 
elected to take up places.  These changes, if necessary, would ensure that there are sufficient 
places to balance the supply and demand both within Adamsdown and Splott and in neighbouring 
areas.  
 
Interim Arrangements  
 
Demand for both English-medium and Welsh-medium primary school places will be kept under 
review and temporary arrangements for September 2016 would be brought forward as necessary 
in local schools. 
 
Quality and Standards  
 
The Council works closely with the governing bodies of schools to ensure that standards in 
schools are high, that teaching is good and that leadership and governance is strong. The Council 
works closely with two organisations in order to monitor the performance of schools and to support 
school improvement. 
 
Estyn is the office of Her Majesty’s Chief Inspector of Education and Training in Wales. It is a 
Crown body, established under the Education Act 1992. Estyn is independent of the National 
Assembly for Wales but receives its funding from the Welsh Government under Section 104 of the 

Page 361



  

19 
 

Government of Wales Act 1998.  Estyn inspects quality and standards in education and training 
providers in Wales. 
 
Central South Consortium Joint Education Service (CSCJES) was established in September 
2012.  The Local Authority has commissioned the Consortium to support and challenge schools in 
Cardiff. 
 
When proposing changes of this type to schools Local Authorities are required to refer to the most 
recent Estyn reports, other evidence derived from performance monitoring and any other 
information available on a school's effectiveness.  
 
They must also demonstrate the likely impact of the proposals on the quality of: 
 
• outcomes (standards and wellbeing); 
• provision (learning experiences, teaching, care support and guidance, and 

learning environment);and 
• leadership and management (leadership, improving quality, partnership 

working and resource management) 
 
Estyn 
 
Schools are inspected as part of a national programme of school inspection.  The purpose of an 
inspection is to identify good features and shortcomings in schools in order that they may improve 
the quality of education offered and raise standards achieved by their pupils (Esytn) 
 
The relevant Estyn Inspection reports provide grades against Key Questions and provide schools 
with recommendations for improvement. 
 
For Estyn inspections carried out before September 2010, there were seven key questions each 
with the following grades which could be awarded: 
 
Grade 1 good with outstanding features 
Grade 2 good features and not important shortcomings 
Grade 3 good features outweigh shortcomings 
Grade 4 some good features, but shortcomings in important areas 
Grade 5 many important shortcomings 
 
In 2010 a new common inspection framework was introduced and Estyn inspections carried out 
after September 2010 provide judgements against three Key Questions. 
 
Each key question is provided with a judgement: 
 
• Excellent – Many strengths, including significant examples of sector-leading practice 
• Good – Many strengths and no important areas requiring significant improvement 
• Adequate – Strengths outweigh areas for improvement 
• Unsatisfactory – Important areas for improvement outweigh strengths 
 
Welsh Government categorisation of schools 
 
In 2014 the Welsh Government introduced a new categorisation system that considered each 
school’s standards alongside the school’s capacity to improve so as to understand the level of 
support that organisations such as the CSCJES need to provide to each school in order that they 
achieve their targets. 

Page 362



  

20 
 

 
The categorisation system is described in Table 12 below: 
 
Table 12: Welsh Government Categorisation System 
Category What the category means 
Green  A highly effective school which is well run, has a strong leadership and is 

clear about its priorities for improvement.   
Yellow An effective school which is already doing well and knows the areas it 

needs to improve.   
Amber A School in need of improvement which needs help to identify the steps to 

improve or to make change happen more quickly.   
Red A school in need of greatest improvement and will receive immediate, 

intensive support.   
 

 
To determine the colour coded category as explained in the table above, schools are placed in 
one of four groups for standards (1-4) and for bringing about improvement (A-D) with one being 
the highest grouping for standards and A being the highest for improvement capacity. 
 
For further information about the new categorisation scheme, please see Welsh Government’s 
parents’ guide to the National School Categorisation System: 
http://gov.wales/docs/dcells/publications/150119-parents-guide-en.pdf 
 
Tables 13 below/overleaf shows the Estyn judgements, recommendations, WG category and the 
Foundation Phase and Key Stage 2 data for Baden Powell Primary School (Estyn inspection 
October 2010) Moorland Primary School (Estyn inspection September 2012) and Tremorfa 
Nursery School (Estyn inspection December 2013).   
 
Table 14 shows the Estyn judgements, recommendations, WG category and the Foundation 
Phase and Key Stage 2 data for Ysgol Glan Morfa (Estyn inspection January 2009).  
 
Table 13: Estyn judgements and recommendations, WG category, FP & KS 2 data 
 Baden Powell 

Primary School 
Estyn 
Inspection 
October 2010 

Moorland Primary 
School  
Estyn Inspection 
September 2012  

Tremorfa Nursery 
School 
Estyn Inspection 
December 2013 

School’s current 
Performance  

Good Good Good 

School’s prospect for 
improvement 

Good Good Good 

Key Questions Judgement Judgement Judgement 
Key Question 1: How 
good are the outcomes?   

Good Good Good 

Standards Good Good Good 
Wellbeing Good Good Excellent 
    
Key Question 2: How 
good is provision?  

Good Good Excellent 

Learning experiences Good Good Excellent 
Teaching  Good Good Excellent 
Care, support and 
guidance 

Adequate Good Excellent 

Page 363



  

21 
 

Learning environment Good Good Good 
    
Key Question 3: How 
good are leadership and 
management?  

Good Good Good 

Leadership Adequate Good Good 
Improving quality Good Good Excellent 
Partnership working Adequate Good Excellent 
Resource management Good Good Good 
    
Recommendations    
R1 Improve the 

governing body’s 
understanding of 
its role as the 
school’s critical 
friend in order to 
hold it to better 
account for its 
performance 

Continue to 
improve the 
achievements of 
boys in writing and 
of those pupils 
entitled to receive 
free school meals 
 

Ensure that all 
staff challenge 
more able children 
consistently 

R2 Improve 
communication 
with parents and 
carers to enable 
them to support 
their children’s 
education more 
effectively; 
 

Improve further the 
quality of 
assessment for 
learning, especially 
in the way that 
pupils throughout 
the school assess 
their own work and 
that of their peers 
 

Develop the role of 
the Governing 
Body in the self-
evaluation process 

R3 Broaden the 
school’s provision 
for learning about 
and celebrating 
the diversity of 
the school 
community 

  Ensure the 
leadership roles 
are distributed 
more evenly 

R4 Address the 
health and safety 
concerns brought 
to the attention of 
the headteacher 
and governing 
body during the 
inspection 

  

Welsh Government 
Support Category 

Amber Green N/A 

*Pupils achieving the 
expected outcome in the 
FP areas of learning 
(2014) 

60% 81.8% N/A 

*Pupils achieving the 
expected level in the core 

75% 65.7% N/A 

Page 364



  

22 
 

subjects at KS2 (2014) 
*Attendance (2014) 92.9% 93.8% N/A 
 
*further information can be found on the website: mylocalschool.wales.gov.uk 
 
Table 14: Estyn judgements and recommendations, WG category, FP & KS 2 data 
 
Key Questions Grade 
Standards  
Key question 1: How well do learners achieve? 2 
The quality of education and training  
 

 

Key question 2: How effective are teaching, training 
and assessment? 
 

2 

Key question 3: How well do the learning experiences 
meet the needs and interest of learners and wider 
community? 
 

2 

Key question 4: How well are learners cared for, 
guided and supported? 

1 

Leadership and Management 
 

 

Key question 5: How effective are leadership and 
strategic management? 
 

2 

Key question 6: How well do leaders and managers 
evaluate and improve quality and standards? 
 
 

3 

Key question 7: How efficient are leaders and 
managers in using resources? 

2 

Recommendations  
R1 continue to sustain and raise 

standards across the curriculum 
and address the few 
shortcomings noted 

R2 formalise the opportunities for 
pupils to express their views 
about the school and offer 
improvements 

R3 ensure consistency in the 
standard of reports to parents 

R4 continue to develop strategic 
management procedures as the 
school grows 

R5 formalise the self-evaluation 
procedure ensuring that it 
underpins all the school’s work 
and ensuring that there is a 
definite link with the school 
improvement plan 

Page 365



  

23 
 

Welsh Government Support Category Amber 
*Pupils achieving the expected outome in the FP 
areas of learning (2014) 

88.9% 

*Pupils achieving the expected level in the core 
subjects at KS2 (2014) 

76.9% 

*Attendance (2014) 93.9% 
 
*further information can be found on the website: mylocalschool.wales.gov.uk 
 
Standards 
 
The Council’s aim is to provide sufficient good quality nursery and primary school places in both 
English-medium and Welsh-medium and Faith based education to a 21st Century school standard 
across the city.  All children and young people in Cardiff should be educated in environments that 
are fit for purpose, in the right place and that are the right size to enable the effective delivery of 
first class education, improve the sufficiency and suitability of school places across Cardiff and 
ensure the provision of a 21st Century School Standard. 
 
The Council has in place policies to support school improvement e.g. ‘High Achievement for All’ 
and ‘Achievement for Inclusion’.  It is working to respond to the key principles of the School 
Effectiveness Framework to secure better learning outcomes and well-being for all children 
including those at the existing schools which form part of these proposals. 
 
It is not anticipated that there will be any impact on the quality of standards of education or the 
delivery of the Foundation Phase at any of the schools. It is expected that facilities developed 
to be suited for purpose would support more effective teaching and learning. 
 
Provision 
 
The number of pupils entering Reception has increased and the expansion of existing schools 
seeks to provide sufficient English-medium and Welsh-medium community primary school places 
to serve the local area. 
 
The proposals will provide the opportunity to invest in providing high quality, modern facilities 
which would be able to support the delivery of a broad and balanced curriculum. 
 
Leadership and Governance 
 
The Council will work with the leadership of any schools affected by the proposals to develop a 
rigorous whole school approach to improvement planning and secure good relationships with 
parents and other partners in order to ensure pupils receive a high quality education.   
 
Careful planning will take place during the proposed period of change to avoid any risk of 
distraction or disruption to leadership and governance that could impact on educational outcomes. 
 
The Local Authority (LA) has no information to suggest that the Quality and Standards of existing 
schools would be negatively affected by the proposals. The expectation would be that investment 
in new school facilities would add value and have the potential to better support delivery of 
relevant curriculums and children’s learning experiences.  
 
 
 
 

Page 366



  

24 
 

How would SEN and EAL provision be affected? 
 
A child has Special Educational Needs if he or she has a learning difficulty which requires special 
educational provision.  A learning difficulty means the child has significantly greater difficulty in 
learning than most children of the same age or that the child has a disability that needs different 
educational facilities for those that the school generally provides for children. 
 
Table 15 below shows the percentage of SEN, FSM, EAL and Minority Ethnic pupils at Baden 
Powell Primary School, Moorland Primary School, Tremorfa Nursery School and Ysgol Glan 
Morfa. 

 
* further information can be found on the website: mylocalschool.wales.gov.uk. 
 
There is no information available that suggests that the proposals would have a negative effect on 
SEN provision at the schools and the schools would continue to provide SEN support for pupils.  
However consideration would need to be given to how any reconfiguration of buildings would 
facilitate this ongoing requirement. 
 
There is no information available that suggests that the proposals would have a negative effect on 
provision for any group including those who are from minority Ethnic groups or in receipt of free 
school meals and the schools would continue to provide support appropriate to the individual 
needs of each pupil. 
 
What are the benefits of these proposals? 
 
As part of the Council’s 21st Century School Programme the Council has set out it’s priority to 
improve the sufficiency and suitability of school places across Cardiff to ensure a 21st Century 
School Standard.  These proposals would contribute towards this aim: 

 
• Achieving a better match between the supply of and demand for English-medium 

(community) and Welsh-medium primary school places within the local area; 

Table 15: SEN, FSM, EAS and Minority Ethnic Information 
2014  Baden 

Powell 
Primary 
School  

Moorland 
Primary 
School  

Tremorfa 
Nursery 
School 

Ysgol Glan 
Morfa  

Wales 

Percentage of 
SEN Pupils 

School Action 
 
School Action 
Plus 
 
Statemented 
 

23.1% 
 
 
9.3% 
 
n/a 

13.3% 
 
 
15.9% 
 
2.3% 

n/a 
 
 
n/a 
 
n/a 
 

22.7% 
 
 
9.4% 
 
n/a 

15.1%  
 
 
8.8% 
 
1.7% 

Percentage of 
FSM Pupils – 3 
year average 

  
 
41.5% 

 
 
51.6% 

 
 
n/a 

 
 
28.1% 

 
 
20.5% 

Percentage of 
EAL Pupils 

  
16.0% 

 
32.0% 
 

 
n/a 

 
n/a 

 
5.5% 

Percentage of 
Minority Ethnic 
Pupils 

  
28.2% 

 
51.6% 

 
n/a 

 
15.6% 

 
10.0% 

Page 367



  

25 
 

• Providing the opportunity to invest in providing high quality, modern buildings which would be 
able to support the delivery of a broad and balanced curriculum;  

 
The proposal would result in reduced home-to-school travel distances for some pupils; 

 
When compared with smaller schools, the scale of a 2FE/3FE primary school permits greater 
flexibility and opportunity for pupils due to an extended, more enhanced and secure financial 
resource base; 

 
A 2FE/3FE school can provide a greater degree of stability at all levels of leadership including 
maintaining a full and stable complement of school governors; 

 
The ability to employ more teaching and support staff would allow a 2FE/3FE school to cover a 
wider range of curriculum expertise. 
 
Potential disadvantages of these proposals  
 
Potential increased traffic congestion around the school sites at drop off/pick up times.  However, 
the Council would work with the Governing Body of the schools to develop a Travel Plan to 
minimise any potential disruption.  
 
Changes to any existing buildings and any new build can cause some disruption however 
experience shows that this can be kept to a minimum and children’s education does not suffer. 
 
As the proposals would allow for additional capacity in schools for pupils entering Reception year 
from September 2017 onwards, there is a risk that pupils who move into the area and are above 
the eligible age range (those born after September 2012) are unable to be accommodated in local 
schools. 
 
The catchment area changes that may be required following the implementation of these 
proposals may result in increased home-to-school travel distances for some pupils electing to 
attend their local primary school. 
 
Risks associated with these proposals 
 
There is a risk that the projected increase in the number of pupils entering Reception does not 
materialise.  Whilst this appears most unlikely, the Council will keep its projections under review 
and respond to any such changes in demand accordingly.  
 
There is a possibility of development constraints not yet identified becoming apparent and having 
both a cost and delay implications.  Site surveys and geo-technic reports would provide further 
information around this and inform management strategies. 
 
There is a risk that upon progressing the options of a standardised design, it emerges that the 
approach is not suitable.  Further work around this would help to identify any potential issues and 
inform management strategies.  
 
The proposal may not be achievable if Welsh Government capital funding is not secured at the 
business case stage. 
 
If the Council were not successful in achieving this funding from the Welsh Government then the 
Council would be fully responsible for all costs relating to the proposal.  In these circumstances, it 
would be necessary to review investment options to ensure the delivery of sufficient school places. 
 

Page 368



  

26 
 

Alternatives considered  
 
English-medium provision  

Doing nothing is not a viable option because there is a need to achieve a better match in the  
supply of and demand for school places.   

An initial feasibility study has indicated that the Stacey Primary School site would be less suitable 
for accommodating increased provision. 

Welsh-medium provision  

The city-wide population and the population in the locality have each grown and demand for 
places at Welsh-medium schools has also grown.  City-wide, few surplus Welsh-medium places 
have been available at entry to Reception year at September 2014.  Only two other Welsh-
medium primary schools had more than 4 surplus places at entry to Reception in September 2014, 
namely Ysgol Coed Y Gof in Pentrebane (5 places) and Ysgol Gymraeg Pen Y Groes (14 places) 
whilst three were oversubscribed.  

Very few pupils transfer between Welsh-medium primary schools in Cardiff for reasons other than 
moving home.  It is therefore considered unlikely that there would be a significant net increase in 
the cohorts of primary-age already enrolled, as a result of pupils transferring from other schools in 
Cardiff.  

Alternative Options 

Nine alternative options were initially explored.  Of these, the options outlined in this document 
were shortlisted for consultation and seven others were discounted on the basis of not being 
considered appropriate based on a range of factors related to the schools at that time, prohibitive 
costs, location, planning and flood plain issues.  

Table 16: Alternative Options 
Option Details Status 

All-through campus at Willows 
High School site 

• Willows High School to operate as an all-
through 3-16 campus, plus Flying Start.  2FE 
English-medium primary school provision 
included. 

• Current Baden Powell Primary building to 
accommodate Ysgol Glan Morfa at 2FE 

• Moorland Primary (English-medium) to 
expand to 3FE utilising vacated Ysgol Glan 
Morfa Buildings 

Discounted 

2FE Welsh-medium primary 
on the Willows site 

• New build primary school at Willows High 
School – 2FE Welsh-medium 

• Baden Powell Primary to remain as   2FE 
English-medium 

• Moorland Primary (English-medium)  to 
expand to 3FE utilising vacated Ysgol Glan 
Morfa Buildings 

Discounted 

3FE English-medium primary 
school on the Willows High 

• New build primary at Willows High School site 
– 3FE English-medium plus Flying Start 

Discounted 

Page 369



  

27 
 

School site (1) • Current Baden Powell building to 
accommodate Ysgol Glan Morfa at 2FE 

• Moorland Primary to remain as 2FE English-
medium 

3FE English-medium Primary 
on the Willows site (2) 

• New build primary at Willows High School site 
– 3FE English-medium plus Flying Start 

• Baden Powell to remain as 2FE English-
medium 
Ysgol Glan Morfa to expand to 2FE on 
existing site utilising Moorland Primary School 
accommodation. 

Discounted 

2FE Welsh-medium Primary 
on Pengam Green 

• New build primary on identified site – 2FE 
Welsh-medium 

• Baden Powell Primary to remain as  2FE 
English-medium 

• Moorland Primary (English-medium) to 
expand to 3FE English-medium utilising 
vacated Ysgol Glan Morfa Buildings 

Discounted 

2FE English-medium Primary 
on Pengam Green 

• New build primary on identified site – 2FE 
English-medium 

• Current Baden Powell building to 
accommodate Ysgol Glan Morfa at 2FE 

• Moorland Primary at 3FE English-medium 
utilising vacated Ysgol Glan Morfa Buildings. 

Discounted 

2FE English-medium Primary 
on the Maltings 

• New build primary on identified site – 2FE 
English-medium 

• Current Baden Powell building to 
accommodate Ysgol Glan Morfa at 2FE 

• Moorland Primary at 3FE English-medium 
utilising vacated Ysgol Glan Morfa Buildings 

Discounted 

 
Admissions and catchment area arrangements 
 
There are no plans to change the Council’s policy on the admission of children to schools as a 
result of this proposal. 
 
Admission arrangements for Cardiff schools for the 2015/16 academic year were approved by the 
Council in early 2014. Consultation on admission arrangements for Cardiff schools for the 2016/17 
academic year was completed in January 2015 and was determined by the Cabinet at its meeting 
in March 2015. 
 
Should the proposal proceed, it may be necessary to consult at a later date on revising catchment 
area arrangements for some or all of the four English-medium primary school catchment areas 
within the Willows High School catchment area in order to achieve a better match of future 
catchment populations to the local school capacities. 
 
It may also be necessary to consult at a later date on revising the catchment area arrangements of 
Ysgol Glan Morfa, and therefore of adjacent Welsh-medium primary school catchment areas in 
order to achieve a better match of future catchment populations to the local school capacities. The 
catchment areas that may be affected will depend on whether separate proposals affecting the 
Butetown and Grangetown areas proceed. 
 

Page 370



  

28 
 

Any amendments to admission arrangements such as changes to Published Admission Numbers 
or the establishment and/ or revision of catchment areas as a result of this proposal could not be 
implemented until September 2017 at the earliest. 
 
Detailed information regarding admission arrangements is contained in the Council’s Admission to 
Schools booklet, and this information can also be viewed on the Council’s website 
(www.cardiff.gov.uk).   
 
The Council would implement this intake by authorising the admission of pupils in accordance with 
its published criteria. 
 
Financial Matters 
 
All options proposed include construction of a new build 2FE standardised build primary school 
building.  
 
Initial costings based on benchmarking information from other Local Authorities indicate that the 
construction cost of providing a single standardised build 2FE primary school would be between 
£5.4 – 6.5m subject to ground conditions. This would include costs for works such as, highways 
improvements, IT, fixed furniture and fittings (FFE) and fees.  Any land purchase costs would be in 
addition to the construction costs. 
 
A proposed 21st Century Schools capital investment Programme was submitted to Welsh 
Government (WG) in November 2011, and it received approval in-principle in December 2011 of 
50% WG capital grant funding. 
 
A proposed realigned Programme was presented to the Cabinet committee at its meeting on 19 
March 2015, reflecting current Council priorities. The specific proposals put forward in 2011 were 
replaced with a broader provision across the city. 
 
The realigned Strategic Outline Programme was submitted to WG in March 2015, noting that the 
full Programme was not affordable without additional capital support from WG. The SOP was 
considered at WG’s Capital Panel meeting on 30 March 2015 and in April 2015 it was confirmed 
that Cardiff Council had, in principle, been awarded additional capital grant funding. 
 
The realigned Programme proposes innovative approaches which it is considered could achieve 
capital savings through grouped procurements and standardised designs. This is subject to 
successfully negotiating a capped cost of capital investment with potential contractors. The 
Authority has undertaken a Common Contractor Briefing with framework contractors and 
established that up to three new 2FE primary schools could be delivered within a single, capped 
procurement.  Initial indications suggest contractors are interested to pursue this approach and 
there would be financial benefits in term of per school build costs. 
 
The 21st Century Schools Programme as a whole is limited to an approved level of investment, 
and therefore any scheme specific overspends can only be managed by underspends on other 
21st Century Schools schemes. The affordability of any specific scheme relies upon the 
successful budget management of all schemes within the Programme. At present the costs of 
delivering the proposals within this consultation document are based on estimated costs following 
discussions with contractors. 
 
The WG grant has been approved in-principle, and full grant approval would be received following 
successful Business Case submissions. The proposals within this consultation document either in 

Page 371



  

29 
 

isolation or as part of a grouped Business Case submission – are likely to require three stages of 
submission: 
 
•	  Strategic Outline Case (SOC); 
•	  Outline Business Case (OBC); 
•	  Full Business Case (FBC). 

 
It is anticipated that new build accommodation could be available by September 2017 to provide 
for Reception and nursery age children.  However this is dependent on a successful outcome of 
the revised procurement methods associated with the programme going forward. 
 
The funding agreed in principle as part of the realigned 21st Century Schools Programme means 
there is sufficient capital money available for the additional 60 places proposed for the locality.  It 
will not allow for rebuild or significant refurbishment of existing buildings or for the provision of 
facilities over and above a standard primary school such as community facilities.   
 
Any investment over and above the investment required to increase the number of places at the 
respective schools will necessitate consideration specific to additional funding sources to 
supplement the 21st Century Schools capital identified. 
 

 
Human Resources Matters 
 
A Human Resources Framework has been produced in consultation with key stakeholders 
including head teachers, governors, representatives of the diocesan authorities and the trade 
unions. It provides the basis for managing the human resources issues associated with School 
Organisation Planning and its purpose is to support governing bodies and staff working in schools, 
through a variety of strategies and with the ultimate aim of minimising compulsory redundancies 
across schools in Cardiff. Specific implications regarding the proposals are detailed below. 
 
The proposal to increase the current pupil intakes of Ysgol Glan Morfa and Moorland primary 
schools, and/ or proposals to relocate all or some of these primary schools would result in an 
increase of staff. The governing bodies of each school will need to consider whether to restructure 

Table 17: Cost Range 

Option Site Cost range (incl land costs where 
appropriate) 

    

1 
Baden Powell Primary School 

£7.9m - £9.9m Ysgol Glan Morfa 
Moorland Primary School  

1a 
Baden Powell Primary School 

£9.2 - £11.2m Tremorfa Nursery School 
Ysgol Glan Morfa 
Moorland Primary School  

    

2 
Ysgol Glan Morfa 

£7.9m - £9.9m Moorland Primary School 
Baden Powell Primary School 

2a 
Ysgol Glan Morfa 

£9.2 - £11.2m Moorland Primary School 
Baden Powell Primary School 
Tremorfa Nursery School 

Page 372



  

30 
 

their current staffing establishment in order to support the increased number on roll. The governing 
bodies of each school have adopted the Council's Redeployment and Redundancy Policy for 
schools and therefore any new vacancies arising as a consequence of an increase in numbers on 
the roll will provide opportunities for staff on the school redeployment register. 
 
The proposal to relocate Baden Powell Primary school will not result in a change to staffing levels. 
However, if the age range is changed from 3 -11 to 4 -11 this will mean a reduced requirement for 
staff. It is hoped that any resultant reduction required in staffing levels could be achieved through 
natural turnover. However, should this not be possible the school will need to manage this using 
the Redeployment and Redundancy for schools. 
 
Land Matters 
 
The Maltings site is in Council ownership and if selected for the purpose of building an educational 
facility would need to be appropriated to reflect the change of use.	  
 
Transport Matters 
 
Traffic and Transport implications will be considered as part of the Transport Assessment that 
would be required in order to achieve planning consent for building works should these proposals 
be implemented.  
 
Learner Travel Arrangements  
 
Under these proposals there are no plans to change the Council’s policy on the transport of 
children to and from schools.  Any pupils affected by this proposal as a result of catchment areas 
would be offered the same support with transport as is provided throughout Cardiff and in 
accordance with the same criteria that apply across Cardiff.  The Council’s transport policy for 
school children can be viewed on the Council’s website (www.cardiff.gov.uk). 
 
Impact of the proposal on the Welsh Language 
 
The proposal includes increasing the number of Welsh-medium nursery and primary school places 
available in the area.   
 
It is anticipated that there would be a positive impact on the Welsh language as a result of this 
proposal. 
 
Equality Matters 
 
An initial Equality Impact Assessment has been carried out.  The assessment concluded that this 
proposal would not adversely affect a particular group in society.  The assessment will be 
reviewed following consultation.  If the proposal were to proceed, further equality impact 
assessments would be undertaken including an assessment on the design for any new build 
accommodation or refurbishment/adaptation of existing accommodation. 
 
Sustainability Matters 
 
A Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) of the proposal has been carried out in accordance 
with European Legislation. The assessment confirms that the proposal is compatible with the 
environmental objectives identified in the SEA of Cardiff’s 21st Century: A Strategic Framework for 

Page 373



  

31 
 

a School Building Improvement Programme.  If the proposal were to proceed, an environmental 
assessment would be carried out as part of the planning application process. 
 
Considering Community Impact 
 
There is a need to increase the number of English and Welsh medium community places available 
without impacting adversely on the community.  The following are taken into account when 
considering a proposal: Public Open Space, parkland, noise and traffic congestion.  Officers will 
work with schools and any community group to ensure that the proposal avoids negative impacts 
wherever possible.  
 
The schools subject to the proposals are existing schools which offer a range of after school 
activities and some may have community organisations offering services from the school facilities.   
It is not anticipated that there would be a negative impact on any of these activities and all options 
allow for the potential development of community use of the additional facilities. 
 
Next steps, how to make your views know and feedback form 
 
What happens next? 
 
Key Dates 
 
The feedback from this consultation will be collated and summarised, and a report presented to 
the Council’s Cabinet.  This consultation report will be available for all persons to view on the 
Council website and copies can be obtained on request by using the contact details in this 
document.   
 
There are a number of further stages that the Council would have to go through before a final 
decision is made by the Council.   
 
These stages are set out in Table 18 below: 
 
Table 18: Further stages 

Statutory Process Timescale 

Consultation Period 12 October – 23 November 2015 
Consultation report considered by the Council 
Cabinet and published on the Council website 

December 2015 

Subject to approval statutory notice issued 
during which time formal written objections can 
be made 

January 2016 

Determination by the Council’s Cabinet March 2016 
Objection report published on the Council’s 
website and notification of Cabinet’s decision 

March 2016 

 
The proposed timetable may be subject to change 
 
Consultation period 
 
The consultation period for these proposals starts on 12 October and ends on 23 November 2015. 
See page 34 for further details of how to respond and make your views known. 
 

Page 374



  

32 
 

Within 13 weeks of 23 November 2015 a consultation report will be published on the City of Cardiff 
Council website. Hard copies of the report will also be available on request. The report will 
summarise the issues raised by consultees during the consultation period and provide the 
Council’s response to these issues. The report will also contain Estyn’s view of the proposals. 
 
The Council’s Cabinet will consider the consultation report and decide whether or not to proceed 
with the proposals. 
 
If the Cabinet decides to continue with the proposals the City of Cardiff Council must publish a 
statutory notice. 
 
Statutory Notice 
 
The statutory notice would be published on the City of Cardiff Council website and posted at or 
near the main entrance to the schools/sites subject to the notice. Copies of the notice would be 
made available to schools identified in the notice to distribute to pupils, parents, guardians, and 
staff members (the school may also distribute the notice by email). The notice sets out the details 
of the proposals and invites anyone who wishes to object to do so in writing within the period 
specified. 
 
Determination of the proposals 
 
The City of Cardiff Council Cabinet will determine the proposals. Cabinet may decide to approve, 
reject or approve the proposals with modifications. In doing so, Cabinet will take into account any 
statutory objections received. 
 
Decision Notification 
 
Following determination of proposals all interested parties will be informed of the decision which 
will be published electronically on the City of Cardiff Council’s website. 
 
Frequently Asked Questions 
 
• What would the proposals mean for children currently attending Baden Powell Primary 

School, Moorland Primary School, Tremorfa Nursery School, Ysgol Glan Morfa and 
Willows High School?   

 
Children currently attending these schools would remain at the schools.  
 
• Would the proposal have an impact on traffic in the local area? 

 
Traffic and transport implications would be considered as part of the Transport Assessment 
required in order to achieve planning consent for building works should this proposal be 
implemented.   
 
• Would the building works be carried out whilst children are on site? 
 
The City of Cardiff Council has increased experience in the successful delivery of building projects 
on the sites of occupied schools resulting from the progression of a growing school organisation 
programme.  Any building work carried out on the schools site would be managed effectively in 
consultation with the school management to ensure the full curriculum continues to be delivered 
and that high education standards and safety standards are maintained. 
 

Page 375



  

33 
 

• Would there be any change to the uniform? 
 
There are no changes of uniform at any of the schools arising out of this proposal. 
 
• What about local childcare providers in the area? 
 
The City of Cardiff Council is supportive of Early Years Childcare providers, and as such the aim 
would be to work with local childcare providers to enable continued serviced delivery. 

Page 376



  

34 
 

CONSULTATION RESPONSE FORM (The provision of additional English-medium and 
Welsh-medium primary school places in the Adamsdown and Splott wards)  
 
Your views matter, please tell us what you think about the proposal by: 
 
Completing and returning the accompanying questionnaire to the address given at the bottom of 
the form. 
 
Completing the on line response form at www.cardiff.gov.uk/21stcenturyschools 
 
Or if you prefer you can e-mail your views to: schoolresponses@cardiff.gov.uk 
 
Please note that all comments sent in writing or by e-mail must contain the full name and 
full postal address of the person making the comments. 
 
The closing date for responses to this consultation is 23 November 2015. Unfortunately no 
responses received after this date can be considered by the Council. 
 
Consultation responses will not be counted as objections to the proposals.  Objections could only 
be registered following publication of a statutory notice. 
 
Any responses received can be requested under the Freedom of Information Act and may have to 
be made public, however any information that would identify an individual such as name and 
address would be removed. 
 
Do you support the proposal to provide additional English-medium and Welsh-medium primary 
school places in the Adamsdown and Splott wards from 2017?   
 
Yes    No      
 
 
If you answered yes, do you like one option more than the others? 
 
Please number the options 1-4 in your preferred order with 1 being your most preferred option and 
number 4 being your least preferred: 
 
Option Level of priority 1- 4 

1=High 4 = Low 
1  
1a  
2  
2a  
 
If you do not support the proposal, please give your reasons together with any changes or 
alternatives that you would like to suggest.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
Do you wish to make any other comments? 
 

Page 377



  

35 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Your name: ……………………………………………………………………………………………. 
Address: ……………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………. 
Postcode: ……………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
Date: ……………………………………………………………………………………………………… 
Your status:      Parent 
                         Governor 
                         Pupil 
                         Member of Staff 
                         Other (please specify) ………………………………………………………………….  
 
 
Thank you for your comments 
 
Please tick the box below if you wish to be notified of publication of the consultation report  
 
Please return this form to the School Organisation Planning Team, Room 219, County Hall, CF10 
4UW by 23 November 2015. 
 

Page 378



Please return this form to Room 219, County Hall, Atlantic Wharf, Cardiff CF10 4UW by 
28 OCTOBER 2015 

Provision of additional primary school places in the Adamsdown and Splott 
Wards 12 October to 23 November 2015  

 
 
This document is about changes proposed to schools in your area.  You have been sent this 
document for you to find out more about this proposal and for you to give your views.  Please 
tick this box if you require this information in your language and write your name, address and 
telephone number in English or Welsh in the large box at the bottom of the form.  Please return 
this form to the address at the top of the form. 
 
 
FR □ 

 
 
CN □ 

 
 
SM □ 

 
 
PL □ 

 
 
CZ □ 

 
 
AR □ 

 
 
HD □ 

 
   

  

Page 379



Please return this form to Room 219, County Hall, Atlantic Wharf, Cardiff CF10 4UW by 
28 OCTOBER 2015 

Provision of additional primary school places in the Adamsdown and Splott 
Wards 12 October to 23 November 2015  

 
DR □ 

 
 
GJ □ 

 
 
KD □ 

 
 
PJ □ 

 
 
UD □ 

 
 
BG 
 
□ 

 
 
 
* Name: 

Address: 

 

( Phone: 

 

Page 380



Appendix 2

Page 381



Page 382



Page 383



Page 384



Page 385



Page 386



Page 387



Page 388



Page 389



Page 390



Page 391



Page 392



Page 393



Page 394



Page 395



Page 396



Page 397



Page 398



Page 399



Page 400



Estyn response to the proposal by Cardiff County Council’s consultation on 
the provision of additional English-medium and Welsh-medium primary school 
places in the Adamsdown and Splott Wards 

This report has been prepared by Her Majesty’s Inspectors of Education and 
Training in Wales.  

Under the terms of the School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 and its 
associated Code, proposers are required to send consultation documents to Estyn. 
However, Estyn is not a body which is required to act in accordance with the Code 
and the Act places no statutory requirements on Estyn in respect of school 
organisation matters. Therefore as a body being consulted, Estyn will provide their 
opinion only on the overall merits of school organisation proposals.  

Estyn has considered the educational aspects of the proposal and has produced the 
following response to the information provided by the proposer.  

Introduction 

This is a consultation proposal from Cardiff County Council. 

The proposal is to: 

 Provide 30 additional English-medium primary school places per year group
 Provide 30 additional Welsh-medium primary school places per year group
 Provide additional English-medium part time nursery places
 Provide additional Welsh-medium part time nursery places

The proposer has presented 4 options for Consultation. These options include 
increasing the number of two and three form entry year groups, modernising some 
present buildings and new build. 

Summary/Conclusion 

The proposal focuses on meeting the projected increased demand for extra English 
and Welsh-medium places in the Adamsdown and Splott Wards.  

The proposer has demonstrated clearly the proposals should meet the forecast 
demand for extra places in both English and Welsh-medium schools. 

The proposals are likely to at least maintain the current standards of education and 
provision in the area. 

Description and benefits 

The proposer has provided a detailed and clear rationale for the proposal. There has 
been significant growth in the number of Reception age pupils in the Adamsdown 
and Splott wards over a period of years. Increasing demand is forecast to continue 

Appendix 3

Page 401



for both English and Welsh-medium places. The proposer recognises appropriately 
that it may be necessary to consult in the future on revising catchment areas of 
primary schools in order to match the supply and demand for places more efficiently. 

The proposer has used relevant factors suitably to inform projections and forecasts 
regarding demand for English and Welsh-medium places in the variety of schools in 
the area.  It has provided clear and comprehensive evidence to calculate the 
projected increase and reasonably asserts that doing nothing is not a viable option 
because of the need to achieve a better balance in the supply of and demand for 
places.  

The proposer outlines the possible advantages, disadvantages and risks of the 
proposals clearly. The proposer also asserts reasonably that there would be 
advantages to increased 2 form entry and 3 form entry provision. These would 
include the ability to employ extra staff in order to cover a wider range of curriculum 
expertise, a more secure financial resource base and the capacity to maintain a full 
complement of school governors. 

The proposal suggests reasonably that high quality modern buildings would be more 
suited to supporting a broad and balanced curriculum.  The proposer has considered 
other alternative options suitably. It considered nine alternative options thoroughly 
and discounted each one due to a range of relevant factors. 

The proposer outlines clearly that the proposals could increase or decrease home-
to-school travel distances for different pupils.  It states that any pupils affected by this 
proposal as result of catchment areas would be offered the same support with 
transport as is provided in accordance with criteria that apply across Cardiff.  

The proposer asserts reasonably that the increase in supply of places is likely to 
meet projected increasing demand. The proposer states validly that surplus places 
could be addressed, in some instances, by reorganising catchment areas in order to 
provide a more sustainable balance for supply and demand. 

The proposer appropriately addresses the issue of possible surplus places due to 
the expansion of Welsh-medium provision in Ysgol Glan Morfa.  

 

Educational Aspects of the proposal: 

The proposer has considered appropriately the effect of the proposals on the quality 
of outcomes, provision and leadership and management. It refers validly to the 
outcomes of Estyn’s most recent inspection reports on the four schools and their 
support categories and bands. 

It concludes reasonably that it does not anticipate any negative impacts on the 
quality of standards of education or the delivery of the Foundation Phase at any of 
the schools. The proposer asserts strongly that new facilities would support  
teaching, learning and the delivery of a broad and balanced curriculum. 

The proposer makes the case satisfactorily that leadership and governance should 
not suffer under these proposals.  

Page 402



The proposer has considered thoroughly the impact upon vulnerable groups, 
including children with Special Educational Needs. It concludes appropriately that 
there is no evidence to suggest the proposal would have a negative impact on pupils 
with SEN, ethnic minority pupils or pupils in receipt of free school meals. 

The proposer has given suitable consideration to possible disruption to pupils. It 
clearly lists these risks such as increased traffic congestion at school sites at drop 
off/pick up times, changes to any existing buildings and any new build. The proposer 
asserts firmly that any such disruption can be minimised in order that pupils’ 
education does not suffer by introducing suitable measures including a travel plan 
formulated by the Council and relevant governing bodies. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 403



Appendix 4

Page 404



Page 405



Page 406



Page 407



Page 408



Page 409



Page 410



Page 411



Page 412



Page 413



Page 414



Page 415



Page 416



Page 417



Page 418



Page 419



Page 420



Page 421



Page 422



Page 423



Page 424



Page 425



Page 426



Page 427



Page 428



Page 429



 

Appendix 5 
Cardiff Council  
Statutory Screening Tool Guidance 
 
If you are developing a strategy, policy or activity that is likely to impact people, communities or 
land use in any way then there are a number of statutory requirements that apply. Failure to 
comply with these requirements, or demonstrate due regard, can expose the Council to legal 
challenge or other forms of reproach. 
 
For instance, this will apply to strategies (i.e. Housing Strategy or Disabled Play Strategy), 
policies (i.e. Procurement Policy) or activity (i.e. developing new play area).   
 
Completing the Statutory Screening Tool will ensure that all Cardiff Council strategies, policies 
and activities comply with relevant statutory obligations and responsibilities.  Where a more 
detailed consideration of an issue is required, the Screening Tool will identify if there is a need 
for a full impact assessment, as relevant. 
 

The main 
statutory requirements that strategies, policies or activities must reflect include: 
 
• Equality Act 2010 - Equality Impact Assessment 
• Welsh Government’s Sustainable Development Bill 
• Welsh Government’s Statutory Guidance - Shared Purpose Shared Delivery 
• United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child 
• United Nations Principles for Older Persons 
• Welsh Language Measure 2011 
• Health Impact Assessment 
• Habitats Regulations Assessment 
• Strategic Environmental Assessment 
 
This Statutory Screening Tool allows us to meet all the requirements of all these pieces of 
legislation as part of an integrated screening method that usually taken no longer than an 
hour.  

 
The Screening Tool can be completed as a self assessment or as part of a facilitated session, 
should further support be needed. For further information or if you require a facilitated session 
please contact the Policy, Partnerships and Citizen Focus Team on 2078 8563 e-mail: 
siadavies@cardiff.gov.uk. Please note: 
 
- The completed Screening Tool must be submitted as an appendix with the Cabinet report. 
- The completed screening tool will be published on the intranet. 
 

Page 430

http://cmsweb.cardiff.gov.uk/cardiff/content.asp?nav=3026,3050&parent_directory_id=3094
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/sustainabledevelopment/sdbill/?lang=en
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/improvingservices/publicationsevents/publications/sharedpurpdel/?lang=en
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/childrenyoungpeople/rights/uncrc/?lang=en
http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/en/about/UN-principles.aspx
http://www.cardiff.gov.uk/content.asp?nav=2872,3259,5018&parent_directory_id=2865&id=2477&d1p1=1
http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sites3/home.cfm?orgid=522
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/1843/introduction/made
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/environmentcountryside/consmanagement/sea/?lang=en
mailto:siadavies@cardiff.gov.uk


 Issue Status: 02 Date: 23/08/11 Process Owner: D. Owen Authorisation: R. Jones Page Page 2 
of 28 

 

Statutory Screening Tool 
 

Name of Strategy / Policy / Activity:  
 
Proposal to increase the number of Welsh and English-medium 
community primary schools places in the Adamsdown and Splott area, in 
permanent accommodation, from September 2017. 
 

Date of Screening:  
 
Updated Nov 2015 

Service Area/Section: Education  Lead Officer: Nick Batchelar 
Attendees:   
Self-assessment 
 
 
What are the objectives of the Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/ 
Service/Function 

Please provide background information on the           
Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function and any research 
done [e.g. service users data against demographic statistics, similar 
EIAs done etc.] 

 
At its meeting on 28 May 2015 the Cabinet authorised officers to hold a public 
consultation on proposals to: 
 
• Provide 30 additional English-medium primary school places per year 

group. 
• Provide 30 additional Welsh-medium primary school places per year group. 
• Provide additional English-medium part-time nursery places. 
• Provide additional Welsh-medium part-time nursery places. 
 
Four potential delivery options were identified: 

 
Option 1  
 
• A new *‘standardised build’ 2FE Baden Powell Primary School with 

nursery on the Willows High School site serving the age range 3 -
11 from September 2017. This would require the transfer of Baden 
Powell Primary School to the Willows High School site. Both 

 
In recent years there has been a significant growth in the number of 
Reception age pupils in the Adamsdown and Splott wards.  In 
December 2012 the Cabinet received a report outlining 
recommendations for meeting this growth by increasing the number of 
English-medium community school places in the Adamsdown and Splott 
wards.  
 
Following public consultation on three options, the Cabinet in June 2013 
approved the publication of statutory notices to increase the capacity of 
Adamsdown Primary Schools from 210 places 420 places for pupils 
aged 4-11, and to increase the capacity of Baden Powell Primary School 
from 420 places to 630 places for pupils aged 4-11.   
 
The notices were published on 01 July 2013.  A single objection to each 
notice was received.  
 
The objection and officers comments were forwarded to the Welsh 

P
age 431



 Issue Status: 02 Date: 23/08/11 Process Owner: D. Owen Authorisation: R. Jones Page Page 3 
of 28 

 

schools (Baden Powell Primary School and Willows High School) 
would remain as separate establishments with separate staff, 
management and governing bodies and be funded accordingly. 

• Increase the capacity of Ysgol Glan Morfa from 1FE to 2FE with 80 
part-time nursery places (an increase of 48 part-time places) 
serving the age range 3 -11 from September 2017. Transfer the 
enlarged Ysgol Glan Morfa to the vacated Baden Powell Primary 
School site from September 2017. 

• Increase the capacity of Moorland Primary School from 2FE to 3FE 
with 96 part-time nursery places (an increase of 32 part-time 
places) serving the age range 3 -11 utilising the vacated Ysgol Glan 
Morfa buildings from September 2017. 

• **Tremorfa Nursery School to remain at its current capacity on its 
existing site. 

 
Option 1a  
 
• A new *‘standardised build’ 2FE Baden Powell Primary School on 

the Willows High School site serving the age range 4 -11 from 
September 2017. This would require the transfer of Baden Powell 
Primary School to the Willows High School site. Both schools 
(Baden Powell Primary School and Willows High School) would 
remain as separate establishments with separate staff, 
management and governing bodies and be funded accordingly. 

• A new build **Tremorfa Nursery School on the Willows High School 
site providing up to 176 part-time nursery places serving the age 
range 3 - 4 from September 2017. This would require the transfer of 
Tremorfa Nursery School to the Willows High School site. The 
nursery school would remain as a separate establishment with 
separate staff, management and governing body and be funded 
accordingly. 

• Increase the capacity of Ysgol Glan Morfa from 1FE to 2FE with up 
to 80 part-time nursery places (an increase of 48 part-time places) 
serving the age range 3 -11 from September 2017. Transfer the 
enlarged Ysgol Glan Morfa to the vacated Baden Powell Primary 
School site from September 2017. 

• Increase the capacity of Moorland Primary School from 2FE to 3FE 
with 96 part-time nursery places (an increase of 32 part-time 

Government as the then determining body on 15 August 2013. 
 
Following a change of circumstances it was agreed that the proposal to 
increase the capacity of Baden Powell Primary School would not be 
progressed and options around increasing Welsh-medium primary 
provision in addition to the proposed expansion of English-medium 
provision in the area would be considered.  The proposal has been 
formally withdrawn. 
 
The Welsh Government notified officers in March 2014 of the Minister’s 
approval of the proposal to increase the capacity of Adamsdown 
Primary School from September 2015 and the Council Cabinet 
approved implementation of the proposal at its meeting on 15 May 2014.    

P
age 432



 Issue Status: 02 Date: 23/08/11 Process Owner: D. Owen Authorisation: R. Jones Page Page 4 
of 28 

 

places) serving the age range 3 -11 utilising the vacated Ysgol Glan 
Morfa buildings from September 2017. 

 
Option 2  

 
• Increase the capacity of Ysgol Glan Morfa from 1FE to 2FE with up 

to 80 part-time nursery places (an increase of 48 part-time places) 
serving the age range 3 -11 from September 2017. Transfer the 
enlarged Ysgol Glan Morfa to a new *‘standardised build’ 2FE 
primary school on a new site at the Maltings from September 2017. 

• Increase the capacity of Moorland Primary School from 2FE to 3FE 
with 96 part-time nursery places (an increase of 32 part-time 
places) serving the age range 3 -11 utilising the vacated Ysgol Glan 
Morfa buildings from September 2017.  

• Baden Powell Primary School to remain at its current capacity on its 
existing site.  

• **Tremorfa Nursery School to remain at its current capacity on its 
existing site. 

 
Option 2a 

 
• Increase the capacity of Ysgol Glan Morfa from 1FE to 2FE with 80 

part-time nursery places (an increase of 48 part-time places) 
serving the age range 3 -11 from September 2017. Transfer the 
enlarged Ysgol Glan Morfa to a new *‘standardised build’ 2FE 
primary school on a new site at the Maltings from September 2017. 

• Increase the capacity of Moorland Primary School from 2FE to 3FE 
with 96 part-time nursery places (an increase of 32 part-time 
places) serving the age range 3 -11 utilising the vacated Ysgol Glan 
Morfa buildings from September 2017.  

• The age range of Baden Powell Primary School to be reduced from 
3 -11 to 4 -11 from September 2017.  

• A new build **Tremorfa Nursery School providing up to 176 part-
time nursery places on the Baden Powell Primary School site 
serving the age range 3 - 4 from September 2017. This would 
require the transfer of Tremorfa Nursery School to the Baden 
Powell Primary School site. The nursery would remain as a 
separate establishment with separate staff, management and 

P
age 433



 Issue Status: 02 Date: 23/08/11 Process Owner: D. Owen Authorisation: R. Jones Page Page 5 
of 28 

 

governing body and be funded accordingly. 
 

P
age 434



 Issue Status: 02 Date: 23/08/11 Process Owner: D. Owen Authorisation: R. Jones Page Page 6 
of 28 

 

Part 1: Impact on outcomes and due regard to Sustainable Development 
 
Please use the following scale when considering what contribution the activity makes: 

+ Positive Positive contribution to the outcome 
 
Negative contribution to the outcome 
Neutral contribution to the outcome 
Uncertain if any contribution is made to the outcome 

- Negative 

ntrl Neutral 
Uncertain Not Sure 

 
 Has the Strategy/Policy/Activity considered how it will 

impact one or more of Cardiff’s 7 Citizen focused Outcomes? 
Please Tick Evidence or suggestion for improvement/mitigation 

+ - Ntrl Un-
Crtn 

1.1 People in Cardiff are healthy;  
Consider the potential impact on 
• the promotion of good health, prevention of damaging 

behaviour, promote healthy eating/active lifestyles etc, 
• vulnerable citizens and areas of multiple deprivation 
• Addressing instances of inequality in health 

 
 

  
 

 - Mental health and wellbeing is promoted by inspirational 
modern learning environments 

- See 1.2 below - encouraging walking, cycling and use of 
public transport 

- See 1.3 below re crime prevention (Secure by Design)  
 

 
1.2 People in Cardiff have a clean, attractive and sustainable 

environment; 
Consider the potential impact on 
• the causes and consequences of Climate Change and 

creating a carbon lite city  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
- The standalone new build accommodation would achieve a 

BREEAM Excellent rating and A for energy performance.   
 
- If possible, Passivhaus design principles and methodology 

would be applied and adopted which result in facilitating 
most of the school classroom windows facing North/South 
orientation, limiting and optimising summer and winter sun 
respectively. This minimises the use of energy for heating or 
cooling a room. 

 
- The wall construction and key junction details would be 

carefully developed to achieve a highly air tight building. 
 
- Under SEWSCAP, consideration is given to using local sub-

contractors and suppliers. As part of any tender process, 
emphasis is placed on how the construction project must 
benefit the local economy.  Examples of key Performance 
Indicators are as follows: 

P
age 435



 Issue Status: 02 Date: 23/08/11 Process Owner: D. Owen Authorisation: R. Jones Page Page 7 
of 28 

 

 Has the Strategy/Policy/Activity considered how it will 
impact one or more of Cardiff’s 7 Citizen focused Outcomes? 

Please Tick Evidence or suggestion for improvement/mitigation 
+ - Ntrl Un-

Crtn 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

- Contractors asked to report the % of contract value spent in 
the local economy. 

- Contractors or subcontractors asked to provide employment 
opportunities to unemployed people living in Wales. 

- Contractors asked to offer work experiences, traineeships 
and apprenticeship opportunities to people within the local 
community. 

 
Refurbishment/adaptations: 
 
- Where possible, energy efficient measures would be 

incorporated into the building works for any adaptations to 
existing accommodation. 

-  
• encouraging walking, cycling, and use of public transport 

and improving access to countryside and open space 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 - Emphasis is placed on travel by active modes where this is 
possible and on providing the facilities and opportunities at 
school for students to travel by walking, cycling and public 
transport. Encouraging active travel to school is a very 
important means of increasing levels of physical activity in 
children and tackling the growing problem of childhood 
obesity.  Reducing congestion at the school gate is key to 
ensuring the safety of pupils and to mitigating impacts on the 
local neighbourhood.  

 
- Provision of parent parking places is generally not supported 

by Cardiff Council. This is because such provision would 
promote travel to school by car, generate local traffic, 
contribute to congestion and reduce pupil safety.  Parking 
facilities provided at schools is generally only for staff and to 
meet operational needs. 

 
- Limited scope for parking would encourage walking to school 

P
age 436



 Issue Status: 02 Date: 23/08/11 Process Owner: D. Owen Authorisation: R. Jones Page Page 8 
of 28 

 

 Has the Strategy/Policy/Activity considered how it will 
impact one or more of Cardiff’s 7 Citizen focused Outcomes? 

Please Tick Evidence or suggestion for improvement/mitigation 
+ - Ntrl Un-

Crtn 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
- Provision of Safe Walking Routes to schools would 

encourage walking.  A travel plan would be submitted along 
with the planning application, detailing proximity to public 
transport and walking and cycling routes. 

 
- Cardiff’s Supplementary Planning Guidance (Access, 

Circulation and Parking Standards 2010) sets out that all 
new or expanded schools are required to develop a Travel 
Plan for submission with a planning application. A Travel 
Plan is a policy and action plan to: 

o manage transport efficiently  
o improve access by all means of travel for 

employees, visitors, patients and students  
o encourage sustainable transport – walking, 

cycling, public transport and car sharing  
o reduce car use.  

 
- A School Travel Plan is specifically designed to address the 

transport needs of pupils and staff and will vary according to 
the nature of the education being provided and the 
catchment area of the school.  

 
- A Traffic/Transport assessment is carried out as part of the 

planning application process.  
 
Option 1 : 
 
- Option 1 would result in Flying Start and the primary and 

secondary age range sharing one access road.  It is 
anticipated that perceived issues around pupil safety in 
terms of different age groups in the same locality and 
volume/movement of traffic may be raised during public 
consultation. 

 

P
age 437



 Issue Status: 02 Date: 23/08/11 Process Owner: D. Owen Authorisation: R. Jones Page Page 9 
of 28 

 

 Has the Strategy/Policy/Activity considered how it will 
impact one or more of Cardiff’s 7 Citizen focused Outcomes? 

Please Tick Evidence or suggestion for improvement/mitigation 
+ - Ntrl Un-

Crtn 

• reducing environmental pollution (land, air, noise and water)   
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Builders would be encouraged to minimise air, light and noise 
pollution during the construction period. 
 
New build accommodation would be located so as to avoid any 
adverse impact on access to natural light for neighbouring 
properties.    
 
An acoustic report would be prepared to ascertain the site 
acoustic levels and the acoustic impact of any school. A further 
report shall be prepared for the proposals in line with ‘BB93 
Acoustic Design of Schools’ requirements. 
 

• reducing consumption and encouraging waste reduction, 
reuse, recycling and recovery  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Contractors are required to demonstrate how they meet the 
requirements relating to consumption and waste reduction as 
set out by the Welsh Government and in the SEWSCAP 
procurement framework. 
 
Measures that would be considered in the design of any new 
build scheme: 
• Sustainable urban drainage system 
• Solar hot water 
• Photovoltaic 
• Natural Ventilation 
• Control of solar gains 
• Rainwater Harvesting 
• A or A+ rated materials in accordance with BRE Green Guide 
to Specification 
 

• encouraging biodiversity     
 
 
 
 

Ecological surveys would be undertaken as necessary and 
recommendations to mitigate any impacts on biodiversity would 
be considered as part of the planning application. 
 
A new build provides the opportunity to consider innovative 
ways to encourage biodiversity through the integration of the 
Eco-schools initiative into new build schemes. 

P
age 438



 Issue Status: 02 Date: 23/08/11 Process Owner: D. Owen Authorisation: R. Jones Page Page 
10 of 28 

 

 Has the Strategy/Policy/Activity considered how it will 
impact one or more of Cardiff’s 7 Citizen focused Outcomes? 

Please Tick Evidence or suggestion for improvement/mitigation 
+ - Ntrl Un-

Crtn 
 

1.3 People in Cardiff are safe and feel safe;  
Consider the potential impact on 
• reducing crime, fear of crime and increasing safety of 

individuals  
• addressing anti-social behaviour 
• protecting vulnerable adults and children  in Cardiff from 

harm or abuse 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The South Wales Police’s Crime Prevention Design Advisor 
would be consulted on the project and the recommendations 
considered and incorporated where practicable.   
 
Concerns raised by local residents regarding littering would be a 
matter for the school management and the school would work 
with pupils to try and establish a sense of personal responsibility 
to minimise littering by pupils within the local area.  
 
Schools are required to have safeguarding mechanisms in 
place.  Appropriate levels of DBS checks for contractors would 
be put in place. 

1.4 Cardiff has a thriving and prosperous economy; 
Consider the potential impact on 
• economic competitiveness (enterprise activity, social 

enterprises, average earnings, improve productivity) 
• Assisting those Not in Education, Employment or Training 
• attracting and retaining workers (new employment and 

training opportunities, increase the value of employment,) 
• promoting local procurement opportunities or enhancing the 

capacity of local companies to compete 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   
 
 
 
 

Investment in school buildings improves the learning 
environment, contributes to the delivery of the modern 
curriculum and should have a positive impact on the economy 
as it helps learners to achieve their potential. 
 
The SEWSCAP framework requires consideration to be given to 
using local sub-contractors and suppliers. As part of any tender 
process, emphasis is placed on how the construction project 
must benefit the local economy.  Examples of key Performance 
Indicators are as follows: 

• Contractors will be asked to report the % of contract 
value spent in the local economy. 

• Contractors or subcontractors will be asked to provide 
employment opportunities to unemployed people living in 
Wales. 

• Contractors will be asked to offer work experiences, 
traineeships and apprenticeship opportunities to people 
within the local community. 

1.5 People in Cardiff achieve their full potential;  
Consider the potential impact on 
• promoting and improving access to life-long learning in 

Cardiff 

 
 
 
 

   Investment in school buildings improves the learning 
environment, contributes to the delivery of the modern 
curriculum and helps learners to achieve their potential. 
 

P
age 439



 Issue Status: 02 Date: 23/08/11 Process Owner: D. Owen Authorisation: R. Jones Page Page 
11 of 28 

 

 Has the Strategy/Policy/Activity considered how it will 
impact one or more of Cardiff’s 7 Citizen focused Outcomes? 

Please Tick Evidence or suggestion for improvement/mitigation 
+ - Ntrl Un-

Crtn 

• raising levels of skills and qualifications 
• giving children the best start 
• improving the understanding of sustainability 
• addressing child poverty (financial poverty, access poverty, 

participation poverty) 
• the United Nations Convention on the Rights of a Child  and 

Principles for Older persons 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The scheme focuses on increasing capacity and school facilities 
in the southern arc of the city – the area of the city with the 
highest levels of child poverty and deprivation. 
 
Article 31 of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child 
requires that: ‘Every child has the right to rest, play, and to do 
things they enjoy.’ It is important that children have access to 
enriched play environments, which should include appropriate 
outdoor space.  New build schools are designed in accordance 
with the relevant Building Bulletin guidance that includes 
provision that enables play opportunities and access to outdoor 
space.  

1.6 Cardiff is a Great Place to Live, Work and Play 
Consider the potential impact on 
• promoting the cultural diversity of Cardiff 
• encouraging participation and access for all to physical 

activity, leisure & culture 
• play opportunities for Children and Young People 
• protecting and enhancing the landscape and historic 

heritage of Cardiff 
• promoting the City’s international links 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Consideration is given at the design stage to providing spaces 
that have the potential to be used by the community in response 
to local need.   
 
This has been observed at a recently completed template 
school; Nant Talwg, in the Vale of Glamorgan which has the hall 
space and associated facilities at the front of the school enabling 
the school to remain secure while offering community use 
outside of school hours. 
 
 
Using the Council’s online sources there are no cultural heritage 
receptors recorded on any of the sites being considered.  
 

P
age 440



 Issue Status: 02 Date: 23/08/11 Process Owner: D. Owen Authorisation: R. Jones Page Page 
12 of 28 

 

 Has the Strategy/Policy/Activity considered how it will 
impact one or more of Cardiff’s 7 Citizen focused Outcomes? 

Please Tick Evidence or suggestion for improvement/mitigation 
+ - Ntrl Un-

Crtn 

 
 
 

1.7 Cardiff is a fair, just and inclusive society. 
Consider the potential impact on 
• the elimination of discrimination, harassment or 

victimisation for equality groups  
• has the community or stakeholders been engaged in 

developing the strategy/policy/activity? 
• how will citizen participation be encouraged (encouraging 

actions that consider different forms of consultation, 
through more in depth engagement to full participation in 
service development and delivery)? 

 
 
 
 

  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

- See Equality Impact Assessment below. 
 
- Statutory public consultation would be carried out 
- Design Equalities Advisory Group (including representatives 

from external groups) would be given the opportunity to 
comment 

- Relevant departments in the Council would be engaged 
- Ecological Appraisal if required - external surveyors 
- South Wales Police’s Crime Prevention Design Advisor 

would be engaged 
- A design access statement would be included as part of any 

planning application. 
 

1.8 The Council delivers positive outcomes for the city and its 
citizens through strong partnerships 
Consider the potential impact on 
• strengthening partnerships with business and voluntary 

sectors 
• the collaboration agenda and the potential for shared 

services, cross-boundary working and efficiency savings 
 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

Modern school facilities can provide flexible spaces for 
partnership working (integrated services) and use as valuable 
community assets (potential for efficiency savings).  
 
This has been observed at a recently completed template 
school; Nant Talwg, in the Vale of Glamorgan which has the hall 
space and associated facilities at the front of the school enabling 
the school to remain secure while offering community use 
outside of school hours. 
 

 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project have a differential impact on 
any of the following: 
 

 Please give details/consequences of the differential impact (positive 
and negative), and what action(s) can you take to address any 
negative implications? 

• Age (including children and young people aged 0-25 and 
older people over 65 in line with the United Nations 
Conventions) 

 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

3-11 year olds 
 
Investment in school buildings improves the learning 
environment and contributes to the delivery of the modern 

P
age 441



 Issue Status: 02 Date: 23/08/11 Process Owner: D. Owen Authorisation: R. Jones Page Page 
13 of 28 

 

 Has the Strategy/Policy/Activity considered how it will 
impact one or more of Cardiff’s 7 Citizen focused Outcomes? 

Please Tick Evidence or suggestion for improvement/mitigation 
+ - Ntrl Un-

Crtn 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

curriculum. 
 
Proposals to increase English-medium or Welsh-medium 
educational provision are put forward in response to parental 
choice.   
 
Health and Safety and Safeguarding 
 
The Council has experience of delivering new build projects on 
school sites whilst enabling the continuous delivery of education 
and maintaining health and safety.   
 
Design 
 
If the new build accommodation is a standalone standardised 
build it would be wheelchair accessible and the design would 
incorporate the SEN facilities required by the relevant Building 
Bulletin.  The operational management of the school could also 
enable use of rooms not designated for SEN. 
 
 
 
Transport and Traffic 
 
- Emphasis is placed on travel by active modes where this is 

possible and on providing the facilities and opportunities at 
school for students to travel by walking, cycling and public 
transport. Encouraging active travel to school is a very 
important means of increasing levels of physical activity in 
children and tackling the growing problem of childhood 
obesity.  Reducing congestion at the school gate is key to 
ensuring the safety of pupils and to mitigating impacts on the 
local neighbourhood.  

 
- Provision of parent parking places is generally not supported 

by Cardiff Council. This is because such provision would 

P
age 442



 Issue Status: 02 Date: 23/08/11 Process Owner: D. Owen Authorisation: R. Jones Page Page 
14 of 28 

 

 Has the Strategy/Policy/Activity considered how it will 
impact one or more of Cardiff’s 7 Citizen focused Outcomes? 

Please Tick Evidence or suggestion for improvement/mitigation 
+ - Ntrl Un-

Crtn 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

promote travel to school by car, generate local traffic, 
contribute to congestion and reduce pupil safety.  Parking 
facilities provided at schools is generally only for staff and to 
meet operational needs. 

 
- Locating provision central to the area it serves should 

minimise the use of cars or public transport and encourage 
walking and cycling to and from school.    

 
- The limited scope for parking on a school site should 

encourage walking and cycling to school. 
 

- A Traffic/Transport assessment would be carried out as part 
of the planning application process.  
 

- A travel plan will be submitted along with the planning 
application, detailing proximity to public transport and 
walking and cycling routes.  
 

- Changes to the traffic and transport infrastructure would be 
considered as part of the Transport Assessment for a 
proposal. 
   

 
Employment Age 
 
Redeployment/recruitment 
 
There may still be a perception that redeployment/recruitment 
opportunities could be affected by age.   
 
The Council’s procedure for managing staffing changes arising 
from reorganisation would be used in implementing any changes 
as a result of this proposal.  This would ensure that good 
practice is followed, including the application of the Council’s 

P
age 443



 Issue Status: 02 Date: 23/08/11 Process Owner: D. Owen Authorisation: R. Jones Page Page 
15 of 28 

 

 Has the Strategy/Policy/Activity considered how it will 
impact one or more of Cardiff’s 7 Citizen focused Outcomes? 

Please Tick Evidence or suggestion for improvement/mitigation 
+ - Ntrl Un-

Crtn 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

policies on equal opportunities. 
 

P
age 444



 Issue Status: 02 Date: 23/08/11 Process Owner: D. Owen Authorisation: R. Jones Page Page 
16 of 28 

 

 Has the Strategy/Policy/Activity considered how it will 
impact one or more of Cardiff’s 7 Citizen focused Outcomes? 

Please Tick Evidence or suggestion for improvement/mitigation 
+ - Ntrl Un-

Crtn 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

• Disability  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

An equality impact assessment would be carried out at the 
design stage on the accessibility of any new build 
accommodation and to identify any reasonable adjustments that 
could be made to improve accessibility to existing 
accommodation within the scope of works.  The equality impact 
assessment would take into account policies such as the 
Equality Act 2010, TAN 12: Design June 2009 as well as 
building regulations such as, BS8300, Part M and Building 
Bulletin guidelines. 
 
Designs would take into account the needs of the following in 
the Design Access Statement that accompanies any planning 
application: 
 
- Those with a hearing impairment – e.g. appropriate 

acoustics, British Sign Language images/symbols and 
portable/static hearing loops. 

 
- Those with a visual impairment - e.g. the use of colour to 

differentiate between the function of spaces, tactile maps 
and Braille language on signs. 

P
age 445



 Issue Status: 02 Date: 23/08/11 Process Owner: D. Owen Authorisation: R. Jones Page Page 
17 of 28 

 

 Has the Strategy/Policy/Activity considered how it will 
impact one or more of Cardiff’s 7 Citizen focused Outcomes? 

Please Tick Evidence or suggestion for improvement/mitigation 
+ - Ntrl Un-

Crtn 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
- Those with a physical impairment – e.g. level threshold 

doors, lifts with disabled access 
 
- Those with learning disabilities.   

 
If the new accommodation is a standalone standardised build it 
would be wheelchair accessible and the design would 
incorporate the SEN facilities required by the relevant Building 
Bulletin guidelines.  The operational management of the school 
could also enable use of rooms not designated for SEN. 

 
Transport for disabled pupils would not be affected.  Transport 
needs are assessed on an individual basis. 
 

• Gender Reassignment     The privacy of changing and toilet facilities would be considered 
at the design stage. The assessment would refer to policies 
such as the Equality Act 2010, TAN 12: Design June 2009 as 
well as building regulations such as, BS8300, Part M and 
Building Bulletin guidelines.  
 

• Marriage & Civil Partnership     N/A 
• Pregnancy & Maternity     An equality impact assessment would be carried out at the 

design stage on the accessibility of any new build 
accommodation or interim temporary demountable 
accommodation and to identify any reasonable adjustments that 
could be made to improve accessibility to existing 
accommodation within the scope of works.  The equality impact 
assessment would take into account policies such as the 
Equality Act 2010, TAN 12: Design June 2009 as well as 
building regulations such as, BS8300, Part M and Building 
Bulletin guidelines. 

P
age 446



 Issue Status: 02 Date: 23/08/11 Process Owner: D. Owen Authorisation: R. Jones Page Page 
18 of 28 

 

 Has the Strategy/Policy/Activity considered how it will 
impact one or more of Cardiff’s 7 Citizen focused Outcomes? 

Please Tick Evidence or suggestion for improvement/mitigation 
+ - Ntrl Un-

Crtn 

• Race    
 
 

 Race and Religion/Belief 
 
The Southern Arc of the city, of which the Willows High 
catchment is a part, is an area with a high Minority Ethnic (ME) 
population and an area with a diversity of faith.    
 
Consolidating the capacities of the two schools would not have a 
differential impact upon one particular ethnic group or faith as 
the provision would be available to all.   
 
Language support 
 
The proposals would not directly impact on the level of support 
provided as all support is dependent on the Minority Ethnic 
Achievement Grant which is reviewed and then renewed 
according to the results of the annual Needs Assessment 
Survey.  The allocation of teachers and Bi-lingual Teacher 
Assistants (BTAs) is usually in place for the period of the 
academic year but is liable to change throughout the year to 
meet fluctuations in demand. 
 
If the new accommodation is a standalone standardised build it 
would be wheelchair accessible and the design would 
incorporate the EAL facilities required by the relevant Building 
Bulletin guidelines.  The operational management of the school 
could also enable use of rooms not designated for EAL. 
 
The senior management in a school are best placed to manage 
needs e.g. providing space for prayer and any significant 
change in diversity in terms of belief. 
 

• Religion/Belief  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

• Sex     The schools would admit pupils of both sexes. 
 
The Council’s procedure for managing staffing changes arising 
from reorganisation would be used in implementing the changes 
in this proposal.  This ensures that good practice is followed, 

P
age 447



 Issue Status: 02 Date: 23/08/11 Process Owner: D. Owen Authorisation: R. Jones Page Page 
19 of 28 

 

 Has the Strategy/Policy/Activity considered how it will 
impact one or more of Cardiff’s 7 Citizen focused Outcomes? 

Please Tick Evidence or suggestion for improvement/mitigation 
+ - Ntrl Un-

Crtn 

including the application of the Council’s policies on equal 
opportunities.  
 

• Sexual Orientation     Fears that redeployment/recruitment opportunities could be 
affected by sexual orientation.  
 
Evidence collated by the Stonewall lobby group alleges that 
LGB people are likely to be discriminated against in workplace 
recruitment. 
 
The Council’s procedure for managing staffing changes arising 
from reorganisation would be used in implementing the changes 
in this proposal.  This ensures that good practice is followed, 
including the application of the Council’s policies on equal 
opportunities.  

• Welsh Language 
• Other Languages 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Proposals to increase English-medium or Welsh-medium 
educational provision are put forward in response to parental 
choice.  The proposal would result in English-medium and 
Welsh-medium provision each increasing by 1FE. 
 
It is Cardiff Council policy to provide signage in English and 
Welsh but not in other languages.  Therefore, additional way-
finding methods would be considered at the design stage 
including the use of colour to differentiate between the function 
of spaces, tactile maps, Braille language on signs and British 
Sign Language images/symbols. The Sign Design Guide should 
be used as a reference point.  Information could be provided by 
the school in alternative formats upon request. 
 
Other Language support 
 
The proposals would not directly impact on the level of support 
provided as all support is dependent on the Minority Ethnic 
Achievement Grant which is reviewed and then renewed 
according to the results of the annual Needs Assessment 
Survey.  The allocation of teachers and Bi-lingual Teacher 

P
age 448



 Issue Status: 02 Date: 23/08/11 Process Owner: D. Owen Authorisation: R. Jones Page Page 
20 of 28 

 

 Has the Strategy/Policy/Activity considered how it will 
impact one or more of Cardiff’s 7 Citizen focused Outcomes? 

Please Tick Evidence or suggestion for improvement/mitigation 
+ - Ntrl Un-

Crtn 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Assistants (BTAs) is usually in place for the period of the 
academic year but is liable to change throughout the year to 
meet fluctuations in demand. 
 
If the new accommodation is a standalone standardised build it 
would be wheelchair accessible and the design would 
incorporate the EAL facilities required by Building Bulletin 103.  
The operational management of the school could also enable 
use of rooms not designated for EAL. 
 

 
SUMMARY OF APPRAISAL (highlight positive and negative effects of the policy / plan / project being assessed, demonstrating 
how it contributes to the economic, social and environmental sustainability of the city):  
 
Economic/Educational/Social 
 
Investment in school buildings improves the learning environment, contributes to the delivery of the modern curriculum and should have a positive impact 
on the economy as it helps learners to achieve their potential. 
 
Investment in school buildings improves the learning environment and contributes to the delivery of the modern curriculum. 
 
Proposals to increase English-medium or Welsh-medium educational provision are put forward in response to parental choice.  The proposal would result 
in English-medium and Welsh-medium provision each increasing by 1 Form of Entry. 
 
 
Health and Safety and Safeguarding 
 
The Council has experience of delivering new build projects on school sites whilst enabling the continuous delivery of education and maintaining health 
and safety.  For each option, the new build would be constructed in an isolated construction site i.e. a site only accessible by contractors.   
 
Design 
 
If the new build accommodation is a standalone standardised build it would be wheelchair accessible and the design would incorporate the SEN facilities 
required by the relevant Building Bulletin.  The operational management of the school could also enable use of rooms not designated for SEN. 
 

P
age 449



 Issue Status: 02 Date: 23/08/11 Process Owner: D. Owen Authorisation: R. Jones Page Page 
21 of 28 

 

Modern school facilities can provide the flexibility for partnership working (integrated services) and can be used as valuable community assets (potential 
for efficiency savings). This has been observed at a recently completed template school; Nant Talwg, in the Vale of Glamorgan which has the hall space 
and associated facilities at the front of the school enabling the school to remain secure while offering community use outside of school hours. 
 
Secure by Design 
 
The South Wales Police’s Crime Prevention Design Advisor would be consulted and the recommendations considered and incorporated where 
practicable.   
 
Accessibility 
 
An equality impact assessment would be carried out at the design stage on the accessibility of any new build accommodation or interim temporary 
demountable accommodation and to identify any reasonable adjustments that could be made to improve accessibility to existing accommodation within 
the scope of works.  The equality impact assessment would take into account policies such as the Equality Act 2010, TAN 12: Design June 2009 as well 
as building regulations such as, BS8300, Part M and Building Bulletin guidelines. 
 
Designs would take into account the needs of the following: 
 
- Those with a hearing impairment – e.g. appropriate acoustics, British Sign Language images/symbols and portable/static hearing loops. 
 
- Those with a visual impairment - e.g. the use of colour to differentiate between the function of spaces, tactile maps and Braille language on signs. 
 
- Those with a physical impairment – e.g. level threshold doors, lifts with disabled access 
 
- Those with learning disabilities.   

 
If the new build accommodation is a standardised build further discussion would be needed on how the design caters for pupils with learning disabilities.   
 
Transport for disabled pupils would not be affected.  Transport needs are assessed on an individual basis. 
 
Environmental sustainability 
 
The limited scope for parking would encourage walking and cycling to school.   
 
A travel plan is submitted along with any planning application, detailing proximity to public transport and walking and cycling routes. 
 
A Transport and Traffic assessment would be carried out as part of the planning application process. 
 

P
age 450



 Issue Status: 02 Date: 23/08/11 Process Owner: D. Owen Authorisation: R. Jones Page Page 
22 of 28 

 

Consideration would need to be given as to whether an Environmental Assessment would need to be carried out as part of the planning application 
process.  
 
Ecological surveys would be undertaken as necessary and recommendations to mitigate any impacts on biodiversity would be considered as part of the 
planning application. 
 
A new build provides the opportunity to consider innovative ways to encourage biodiversity through the integration of the Eco-schools initiative into new 
build schemes 
WHAT ACTIONS HAVE BEEN IDENTIFIED OR CHANGES BEEN MADE TO THE POLICY / PLAN / PROJECT AS A RESULT OF THIS 
APPRAISAL: 
The following assessments to be undertaken: 

• Equality Impact Assessment at the Design Stage 
• Transport/Traffic assessment  

 
An Environmental Assessment may be required in addition to the Strategic Environmental Assessment below.  

P
age 451



 

 23 

Part 2: Strategic Environmental Assessment Screening 
 

  Yes No 
2.1 Does the plan or programme set the framework for future 

development consent? 

x  

2.2 Is the plan or programme likely to have significant, positive or 
negative, environmental effects? 

 x 

 
Is a Full Strategic Environmental Assessment Screening 
Needed? 
 If yes has been ticked to both questions 2.1 and 

2.2 then the answer is yes 
 If a full SEA Screening is required then please 

contact the Sustainable Development Unit to 
arrange (details below) 

Yes No 
X 

An SEA has been 
undertaken (see 
attached)  

 
 
 

 

If you have any doubt on your answers to the above questions regarding SEA then please consult with 
the Sustainable Development Unit on 2087 3228 sustainabledevelopment@cardiff.gov.uk  
 
Part 3: Habitat Regulation Assessment (HRA) 
 

  Yes No Unsure 
 

3.1 Will the plan, project or programme results in an activity 
which is known to affect a European site, such as the Severn 
Estuary or the Cardiff Beech Woods? 

 x  
 

3.2 Will the plan, project or programme which steers 
development towards an area that includes a European site, 
such as the Severn Estuary or the Cardiff Beech Woods or 
may indirectly affect a European site? 

 x  

3.3 Is a full HRA needed?  x  

 
Details of the strategy will be sent to the County Ecologist on completion of the process to determine if a Habitat Regulation 
Assessment is needed.  For further information please phone 2087 3215 or email biodiversity@cardiff.gov.uk 

 

Page 452

mailto:sustainabledevelopment@cardiff.gov.uk


 

 24 

Appendix 1 – Statutory Requirements 
 
It is possible that the Impact Screening Tool will identify the need to undertake specific statutory assessments: 
 

• Equality Impact Assessment: This assessment is required by the Equality Act 2010 and Welsh 
Government’s Equality Regulations 2011.  

• Sustainable Development Bill: The Bill, when it comes into effect, will require sustainable development 
(SD) to be a central organising principle for the organisation. This means that there is a duty to consider 
SD in the strategic decision making processes. 

• Shared Purpose Shared Delivery- The Welsh Government requires local authorities to produce a single 
integrated plan to meet statutory requirements under a range of legislation. Cardiff Council must 
therefore demonstrate its contribution towards Cardiff’s own integrated plan; “What Matters”. 

• United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child: The Children Act 2004 guidance for Wales 
requires local authorities and their partners to have regard to the United Nations Convention on the 
Rights of a Child.  

• United Nations Principles for Older Persons: The principles require a consideration of independence, 
participation, care, self-fulfillment and dignity. 

• The Welsh Language Measure 2011: The measure sets out official status for the Welsh language, a 
Welsh language Commissioner, and the freedom to speak Welsh. 

• Health Impact Assessment: (HIA) considers policies, programmes or projects for their potential effects on 
the health of a population 

• Strategic Environmental Impact Assessment: A Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) is an European 
Directive for plans, programmes and policies with land use implications and significant environmental 
effects. 

• Habitats Regulations Assessment: The Conservation (Natural Habitats, &c.) (Amendment) Regulations 
2007 provides a requirement to undertake Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) of land use plans.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 453

http://cmsweb.cardiff.gov.uk/cardiff/content.asp?nav=3026,3050&parent_directory_id=3094
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/sustainabledevelopment/sdbill/?lang=en
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/improvingservices/publicationsevents/publications/sharedpurpdel/?lang=en
http://www.cardiffpartnership.co.uk/content.asp?nav=260&parent_directory_id=2
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/childrenyoungpeople/rights/uncrc/?lang=en
http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/en/about/UN-principles.aspx
http://www.cardiff.gov.uk/content.asp?nav=2872,3259,5018&parent_directory_id=2865&id=2477&d1p1=1
http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sites3/home.cfm?orgid=522
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/environmentcountryside/consmanagement/sea/?lang=en
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/1843/introduction/made


 

 25 

A Sustainability Appraisal (SA) incorporating Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) of the 
School Organisation Planning proposal to increase the English-medium and Welsh-medium 
school community primary school provision in the Adamsdown and Splott wards from 
September 2017 
 
In 2008, a retrospective Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) of Cardiff’s 21st Century: A Strategic 
Framework for a School Building Improvement Programme (published in 2006) was carried out based on 
the guidance that supports the European SEA Directive 2001/42/EC.   
 
The retrospective approach to assessment was quality assured by an external consultant and their 
independent compliance review determined that the report detailing the assessment on the strategic 
framework met the key requirements set out for reporting the SEA process as required by the SEA 
Directive. 
 
The assessment provides the basis for assessing current and future school organisation proposals at a 
strategic level.  If a proposal were to proceed, an Environmental Assessment of the specific scheme for 
delivering the proposal may be required as part of the planning application process. 
 
To request a copy of the assessment on the Strategic Framework please contact Rachel Willis, 
029 2087 3946 , RWillis@cardiff.gov.uk  
 

Page 454



 

 26 

Key: 
 

xx = very incompatible; very negative effect 
x = incompatible; negative effect 
✔ = compatible; positive effect 

✔✔ = very compatible; very positive effect 
0 = no links; neutral effect 
? = uncertain effects 

DNA = data not available 
 
* Comparison of the preferred option to a possible alternative option(s) are required in a SA/SEA. 
 
SEA Objectives Increase the capacity of Ysgol Glan Morfa 

from 1FE to 2FE with up to 80 part-time 
nursery places serving the age range 3-11 
from September 2017.  Transfer the enlarged 
Ysgol Glan Morfa to a new standardised 2FE 
primary school on a new site at the Maltings 
from September 2017.  

Increase  the capacity of Moorland Primary School 
from 2FE to 3FE with 96 part-time nursery places 
serving the age range 3-11 utilising the vacated 
Ysgol Glan Morfa buildings from September 2017. 

  
 
 

Do Nothing 
 
 

Rating Commentary/ explanation of 
compatibility with SEA 
objective 
 

Rating Commentary/ explanation of 
compatibility with SEA objective 

Rating Commentary/ explanation of 
compatibility with SEA objective 

Rating Commentary/ explanation of 
compatibility with SEA objective 

Rating Commentary/ explanation of 
compatibility with SEA objective 

1. Promote a 
greener 
economy by 
delivering a 
sustainable 
pattern of 
English Medium, 
Welsh Medium 
and Faith 
Schools across 
Cardiff 
 

✔ 
 

Achieved as this proposal 
should result in schools with 
sustainable intakes.   Minimal 
surplus school places and high 
room utilisation rates ensures 
money and energy is not wasted 
on heating underutilised spaces.   
The standalone new build 
accommodation would achieve a 
BREEAM Excellent rating and A 
rated for energy performance. 
 

✔ 
 

Achieved as this proposal should result in 
schools with sustainable intakes.   Minimal 
surplus school places and high room 
utilisation rates ensures money and 
energy is not wasted on heating 
underutilised spaces.    

✔ 
 

 ✔ 
 

 x 
 

Do nothing is not an option as projected 
demand for school places shows  the 
number of pupils entering Reception in the 
Willows High catchment area increasing 
significantly in future years.   
 
If the demand for school places in an area 
of the city is not met, pupils without places 
have to travel outside of their locality to 
attend school which can then impact on 
the ability of those schools to meet 
demand from their own catchment areas.   
 
Demountable accommodation could be 
provided but it would not be a sustainable 
solution as it would not include additional 
ancillary facilities (e.g. hall space).   

2. Reduce 
greenhouse gas 
emissions 
through: 

 
a) 
Energy efficient 
building design 
and disposing of 
poor quality 
surplus 
accommodation 
 
b) 
Promoting 
sustainable 
modes of 
transport and 
integrated 
transport 
systems 
 
 
 
 

a) ✔/o 
b) ✔ 

a)    
Standalone new build: 
- Achieved as this proposal would provide new build accommodation that is BREEAM Excellent and A rated for energy performance. 
- Where possible, Passivhaus design principles and methodology would be applied and adopted which result in facilitating most of the school classroom windows facing North/South orientation, limiting 

and optimising summer and winter sun respectively. This minimises the use of energy for heating or cooling a room. 
- The wall construction and key junction details would be carefully developed to achieve a highly air tight building. 
- Wherever possible the design would promote, specify and use locally sourced materials which have a commitment to sustainability and the environment. 

 
Extensions: 
 
- Where possible, energy efficient measures would be incorporated into the building works for any adaptations to existing accommodation. 
 

b) Locating additional provision central to the area it would serve should minimise use of cars or public transport and encourage walking and cycling to and from school. 
 
Traffic and transport implications including measures to encourage walking and cycling would be considered as part of a Transport Assessment. 
 
Pupils are entitled to free school transport only if they are over the statutory school starting age and under 11 (Primary aged), living over two miles from the nearest appropriate catchment school for their 
home address. 
 

a)o 
 

b) x 

a) No improvement to existing 
accommodation (same as proposal ) 
 
b) If the demand for school places in an 
area of the city is not met, pupils without 
places have to travel outside of their 
locality to attend school and are more 
likely to use polluting modes of transport.   
Congestion is also exacerbated due to the 
volume of traffic criss-crossing the city.  

3. Promote 
health and 
wellbeing by 
protecting and 
enhancing public 
open space and 
improving 
access to POS 
 

0 As the space on the existing and 
proposed school sites are not 
accessible to the public and/or 
are not formally held by the 
Council as Public Open Space. 
 

0 As the space on the existing and proposed 
school sites are not accessible to the 
public and/or are not formally held by the 
Council as Public Open Space. 
 

✔ The land at Pengam Green is owned by 
the Council.  It is proposed that if a 
school were to be built on part of this 
site, the community value of the site 
could be enhanced with the provision of 
a publicly accessible multi-use games 
area.  Any existing recreational facilities 
on the site would be retained or 
replaced. 

✔ The land at the Maltings is owned by the 
Council.  It is proposed that if a school 
were to be built on part of this site, the 
community value of the site could be 
enhanced with the provision of a publicly 
accessible multi-use games area.  Any 
existing recreational facilities on the site 
would be retained or replaced. 

0 
 

N/A 

4. Minimise air, 
light and noise 
pollution 
associated with 

a) ✔ 
 
 
 

a) Builders would be encouraged to minimise air, light and noise pollution during the construction period. 
 
The new build would be located so as to avoid any adverse impact on access to natural light for neighbouring properties.    
 

x 
 

If the demand for school places in an area 
of the city is not met, pupils without places 
have to travel outside of their locality to 
attend school and are more likely to use 

P
age 455

http://www.cardiff.gov.uk/content.asp?nav=2869%2C3047%2C3062%2C3905&parent_directory_id=2865&positioning_article_id=&language=&sortkey=


 

 27 

SEA Objectives Increase the capacity of Ysgol Glan Morfa 
from 1FE to 2FE with up to 80 part-time 
nursery places serving the age range 3-11 
from September 2017.  Transfer the enlarged 
Ysgol Glan Morfa to a new standardised 2FE 
primary school on a new site at the Maltings 
from September 2017.  

Increase  the capacity of Moorland Primary School 
from 2FE to 3FE with 96 part-time nursery places 
serving the age range 3-11 utilising the vacated 
Ysgol Glan Morfa buildings from September 2017. 

  
 
 

Do Nothing 
 
 

Rating Commentary/ explanation of 
compatibility with SEA 
objective 
 

Rating Commentary/ explanation of 
compatibility with SEA objective 

Rating Commentary/ explanation of 
compatibility with SEA objective 

Rating Commentary/ explanation of 
compatibility with SEA objective 

Rating Commentary/ explanation of 
compatibility with SEA objective 

building 
development 
and traffic 
congestion 

b) x 
 
  
 
Mitigation  

b) An increase in the number of children attending the schools could increase the volume of traffic in the vicinity of the schools. 
 
 
Miitigated by: 
 

- locating additional provision central to the area it would serve.  This would minimise use of cars or public transport and encourage walking and cycling to and from school. 
- Limited scope for parking would encourage walking to school.  Provision of parent parking places is generally not supported by Cardiff Council. This is because such provision would promote travel to 

school by car, generate local traffic, contribute to congestion and reduce pupil safety.  Parking facilities provided at schools is generally only for staff and to meet operational needs. 
- Formalising the parking regime outside the schools to discourage unsafe parking and help with enforcement. 
- A Travel Plan which includes schemes such as the Park Safe / Walk Safe scheme which encourage parents to park further away from the school. 
- A Travel Plan that encourages the use of public transport, walking and cycling 
- Giving consideration to providing a non statutory bus service based on demand  
- Consideration given  to improving the traffic and transport infrastructure 

 
 
 
 
 

polluting modes of transport.   Congestion 
is also exacerbated due to the volume of 
traffic criss-crossing the city. 

5. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna  

? 
Mitigation 

Ecological surveys would be 
undertaken as necessary and 
recommendations to mitigate any 
impacts on biodiversity would be 
considered as part of the planning 
application. 
 
A new build provides the 
opportunity to consider innovative 
ways to encourage biodiversity 
through the integration of the Eco-
schools initiative into new build 
schemes. 

? 
Mitigation 

Same as option 1 ? 
Mitigatio
n 

 ? 
Mitigation 

 0 N/A 

6. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 
  

? 
Mitigation 

Any potential impact on the natural 
environment would be taken into 
account at an early stage in the 
design process so that it can be 
mitigated.  
 

? 
Mitigation 

Same as option 1 ? 
Mitigatio
n 

 ? 
Mitigation 

 0 N/A 

7. Conserve 
water resources 
and increase 
water efficiency 
in new 
developments 
and promote 
sustainable 
urban drainage 
systems 

a) 0 
 

b) ? 

a) Achieved by designing water 
efficient measures into the building 
design and addressing drainage 
through Sustainable urban 
drainage systems (SUDS).   
 
b) Water efficient measures may 
be possible to a lesser or greater 
extent depending on the 
compatibility of existing buildings. 
 

a) 0 
 

b) ? 

Same as option 1 a) 0 
 

b) ? 

 a) 0 
 

b) ? 

 0 N/A 

8. Promote 
regeneration by 
delivering 
inclusive schools 
that will improve 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

a) ✔ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

b)  
 

? 
 
 

? 

a) All new build accommodation must be DDA accessible under the Equality Act 2010. 
 
 
Modern school facilities can provide flexible spaces for partnership working (integrated 
services) and use as valuable community assets (potential for efficiency savings).  
 
This has been observed at a recently completed template school; Nant Talwg, in the Vale of 
Glamorgan which has the hall space and associated facilities at the front of the school 
enabling the school to remain secure while offering community use outside of school hours. 
 

a) ✔ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

b) ? 

a) All new build accommodation must be 
DDA accessible under the Equality Act 
2010. 
 
If the proposal were to proceed, an 
equality impact assessment would be 
carried out at the design stage to ensure 
the accessibility of any new build 
accommodation and to identify any 
reasonable adjustments that could be 
made to improve accessibility to existing 
accommodation within the scope of 
works.  The equality impact assessment 
would take into account policies such as 
the Equality Act 2010, TAN 12: Design 
June 2009 as well as building 
regulations such as, BS8300, Part M 
and Building Bulletin guidelines. 
 
b)  Consideration is given at the design 
stage to providing spaces that have the 
potential to be used by the community in 

a) ✔ 
b) ? 

Same as option 3 0 N/A 

P
age 456



 

 28 

SEA Objectives Increase the capacity of Ysgol Glan Morfa 
from 1FE to 2FE with up to 80 part-time 
nursery places serving the age range 3-11 
from September 2017.  Transfer the enlarged 
Ysgol Glan Morfa to a new standardised 2FE 
primary school on a new site at the Maltings 
from September 2017.  

Increase  the capacity of Moorland Primary School 
from 2FE to 3FE with 96 part-time nursery places 
serving the age range 3-11 utilising the vacated 
Ysgol Glan Morfa buildings from September 2017. 

  
 
 

Do Nothing 
 
 

Rating Commentary/ explanation of 
compatibility with SEA 
objective 
 

Rating Commentary/ explanation of 
compatibility with SEA objective 

Rating Commentary/ explanation of 
compatibility with SEA objective 

Rating Commentary/ explanation of 
compatibility with SEA objective 

Rating Commentary/ explanation of 
compatibility with SEA objective 

response to local need.   
 
Modern school facilities can provide 
flexible spaces for partnership working 
(integrated services) and use as 
valuable community assets (potential for 
efficiency savings).  
 
This has been observed at a recently 
completed template school; Nant Talwg, 
in the Vale of Glamorgan which has the 
hall space and associated facilities at the 
front of the school enabling the school to 
remain secure while offering community 
use outside of school hours. 
 

9. Protect and 
enhance 
designated 
historic assets 

0 There are no registered historic 
assets within the site boundary 
of the existing or proposed 
sites? 

0 Same as option 1 0 Same as option 1 0 Same as option 1  0 N/A 

 
Conclusion 
 
The proposal has been assessed to be largely compatible with the environmental objectives used to assess the goal and principles of the ‘’21st Century Schools: A Strategic Framework for A School Building Improvement 
Programme”.  The proposal is to provide additional school provision central to the area it would serve to minimise use of cars or public transport and encourage walking and cycling to and from school.  The proposal also includes 
providing additional school places new build accommodation with a BREEAM rating.  Where the assessment has identified a potential negative environmental impact in terms of an increase in the volume of traffic (Objective 4) 
and biodiversity (Objective 5), measures to mitigate the effect are detailed.   
 
Doing nothing would mean that children without places would have to travel out of their locality to attend English-medium and Welsh-medium community provision and are more likely to use polluting modes of transport to get to 
and from school. 

P
age 457



Appendix 6

Page 458



Page 459



Appendix 2

Page 460



 
 

Table of Contents  
               
1. Introduction             
2. How can you find out more and give your views? 
3. Your views matter 
4. Explanation of terms used in this document 
5. Why are we proposing the changes? 
6. The proposal 
7. Facilities included in a school 
8. Schools serving the area at present 
9. Primary school provision catchment map 
10. School capacities, condition and suitability of school buildings 
11. Existing English-medium provision 
12. Welsh-medium community schools 
13. Faith based primary schools 
14. Calculating local demand for primary school places 
15. Future demand for places 
16. Meeting projected demand from the increasing population 
17. Proposed new housing 
18. How might demand change? 
19. Summary forecasts of demand for places at entry to Reception 
20. How would nursery provision be affected? 
21. How would other schools be affected? 
22. Interim arrangements 
23. Quality and standards 

• Estyn 
• Welsh Government categorisation of schools 
• Standards 
• Provision 
• Leadership and Governance 

24. How would SEN and EAL provision be affected? 
25. What are the benefits of these proposals? 
26. Potential disadvantages of these proposals 
27. Risks associated with these proposals 
28. Alternatives considered 

• English-medium provision 
• Welsh-medium provision 
• Alternative options 

29. Admissions and catchment area arrangements 
30. Financial matters 
31. Human Resources Matters 
32. Land Matters 
33. Transport Matters 
34. Learner Travel Arrangements 
35. Impact of the proposal on the Welsh Language 
36. Equality Matters 
37. Sustainability Matters 
38. Considering Community Impact 
39. Next Steps, how to make your views known and feedback form 

• What happens next? 
• Key Dates 
• Consultation period 
• Statutory Notice 

Page 461



  

 
 

• Determination of the proposals 
• Decision Notification 

40. Frequently Asked Questions  
41. Consultation Response Form  
 

Page 462



   1 
 

Introduction  
 
This consultation is an opportunity for people to learn about the school organisation proposal put 
forward in your area.  It is your chance to ask questions and make comments that will be 
considered when the Council decides how to proceed. 

 
Our consultation process follows Welsh Government guidelines outlined in the School 
Organisation Code 2013 and therefore a range of individuals and groups are being asked for their 
views about these proposals. 
 
However, before any decisions are made the Council needs to ensure that it offers a number of 
opportunities for individuals and interested groups to make their views and opinions on the 
proposal known. 
 
Table 1 below sets out details of the groups the Council is consulting: 
 
Table 1: Groups the Council is consulting with 
Children and young people Welsh Ministers 
Parents/carers Police & Crime Commissioner 
School staff Central South Consortium Joint Education 

Service (CSCJES) 
School Governing Bodies Welsh Language Commissioner  
Local residents Rhieni dros Addysg Gymraeg (RhAG) 
Local Members/Assembly Members (AMs)/ 
Regional Assembly Members/Member of 
Parliament (MPs) 

Trade Unions 

Diocesan Directors of Education Childcare providers 
Neighbouring Authorities Mudiad Meithrin 
Neighbouring Primary and Secondary schools 
within Cardiff  

Wales Pre-School Providers Association 

Estyn Clybiau Plant Cymru Kids Club 
Communities First Partnership National Day Nurseries Association 
 
How can you find out more and give your views? 
 
Public meetings and drop in sessions have been arranged where the proposals will be explained.  
These are provided so you can ask questions and make comments that will be recorded.  You 
may also provide your views in writing.   
 
Information regarding this proposal will be available to view at, Baden Powell Primary School, 
Ysgol Glan Morfa, Moorland Primary School, Tremorfa Nursery and Willows Community Hub.     
 
Details of the consultation meeting dates are given in Table 2 below:  
 

Table 2 Consultation Meeting Dates 

Nature of Consultation  Date/Time  Venue  

Staff Meeting 13 October 2015 
3:45pm 

Tremorfa Nursery School 

Governors Meeting 13 October 2015 
5:30pm 

Tremorfa Nursery School 

Page 463



  

2 
 

Staff Meeting 14 October 2015 
3pm 

Ysgol Glan Morfa 

Governors Meeting 14 October 2015 
5pm 

Ysgol Glan Morfa 

Staff Meeting 15 October 2015 
3:30pm 

Baden Powell Primary School 

Governors Meeting 15 October 2015 
5:30pm 

Baden Powell Primary School 

Drop in session 19 October 2015 
10am – 12 noon 

Star Centre 

Drop in session 20 October 2015 
1:15pm – 3:15pm 

Tremorfa Nursery School 

Drop in session 22 October 2015 
8:30am – 10:30am 

Baden Powell Primary School  

Staff Meeting 03 November 2015 
3:15pm 

Moorland Primary School 

Governors Meeting 03 November 2015 
5pm 

Moorland Primary School 

Drop in session 05 November 2015 
8:30am – 10:30am 

Moorland Primary School 

Staff Meeting 09 November 2015 
3:30pm 

Willows High School 

Governors Meeting 09 November 2015 
5pm 

Willows High School 

Public Meeting 09 November 2015 
6:30pm – 8:30pm 

Willows High School 

Drop in session 12 November 2015 
8:30am – 10:30am 

Ysgol Glan Morfa  

 
In addition, workshop sessions will be arranged with local primary age children and Willows High 
School pupils to provide an opportunity for pupils to ask questions and learn more about the 
proposal and give their views. 
 
Your Views Matter  
 
Your views matter and we want you to tell us what you think about the proposal. You can do this 
by attending one of the meetings or drop in sessions above, and/or by completing the 
Consultation Response Form which can be found on page 34 of this document or completing the 
online form www.cardiff.gov.uk/21stCenturySchools.   
 
Alternatively contact the School Organisation Planning Team on (029) 2087 2720, by e-mail to 
schoolresponses@cardiff.gov.uk or by post to Room 219, County Hall, Atlantic Wharf, Cardiff, 
CF10 4UW. 
 
The closing date for responses to this consultation is 23 November 2015. 
 
Explanation of terms used in this document  
 
Please note the following terms used throughout this document: 
 
FE - a Form of Entry refers to a class of 30 children in each year group. A 2FE school is therefore 
two classes of 30 children in each year group.   

Page 464



  

3 
 

 
WG – Welsh Government 
 
Number on roll data - the number of pupils attending school excluding nursery age pupils. 
 
PLASC - Pupil Level Annual School Census. In January of every year, verified information is 
collected by schools for submission to the Welsh Government. This includes the number of pupils 
enrolled in each school, their age groups, home addresses, ethnicity, and data on Welsh 
language, Free School Meals eligibility, Special Educational Needs and first language. 
 
CSCJES – Central South Consortium Joint Education Service. The regional School Improvement 
Service for the five local authorities of Bridgend, Cardiff, Merthyr Tydfil, Rhondda Cynon Taff and 
the Vale of Glamorgan. 
 
SEN - Special Educational Needs  
 
FSM - Free School Meals 
 
EAL - English as an Additional Language 
 
School Action - When a class or subject teacher identifies that a pupil has SEN they provide 
interventions that are additional to or different from those provided as part of the school’s usual 
curriculum.  
 
School Action Plus - When the class or subject teacher and the SEN Co-ordinator are provided with 
advice or support from outside specialists, so that alternative interventions additional or different to 
those provided for the pupil through School Action can be put in place.  
 
Statemented - A child has SEN if he or she has learning difficulties which requires special 
educational provision to be made for him or her. A learning difficulty means that the child has 
significantly greater difficulty in learning than most children of the same age, or that the child has a 
disability that needs different educational facilities from those that the school generally provides 
for children. 
 
Statutory Notice – a statutory notice is the formal publication of a finalised proposal, if approved 
by the Council’s Cabinet and will only be considered once the Cabinet have received a report on 
all the responses from the consultation. This is a legal requirement as outlined in the School 
Organisation Code 2013. 
 
Foundation Phase – The first years of school (ages 3-7) 
 
Key Stage 2 – The second phase of primary education (ages 7-11) 
 
Why are we proposing the changes? 
 
In recent years there has been a significant growth in the number of Reception age pupils in the 
Adamsdown and Splott wards. In December 2012 the Cabinet received a report outlining 
recommendations for meeting this growth by increasing the number of English-medium community 
school places in the Adamsdown and Splott wards. 
 
Following public consultation on three options, the Cabinet in June 2013 approved the publication 
of statutory notices to increase the capacity of Adamsdown Primary Schools from 210 places to 
420 places for pupils aged 4-11, and to increase the capacity of Baden Powell Primary School 
from 420 places to 630 places for pupils aged 4-11. 

Page 465



  

4 
 

 
The notices were published on 01 July 2013. A single objection to each notice was received.  
 
This objection and Officers’ comments thereon were forwarded to the Welsh Government as the 
then determining body on 15 August 2013. 
 
Following a change of circumstances it was agreed that the proposal to increase the capacity of 
Baden Powell Primary School would not be progressed and options around increasing Welsh-
medium primary provision in addition to the proposed expansion of English-medium provision in 
the area would be considered.  The proposal has been formally withdrawn. 
 
The Welsh Government notified officers in March 2014 of the Minister’s approval of the proposal to 
increase the capacity of Adamsdown Primary School from September 2015 and the Council 
Cabinet approved implementation of the proposal at its meeting on 15 May 2014. 
 
The Proposal  
 
The Council is now consulting on proposals to: 
 

• Provide 30 additional English-medium primary school places per year group. 
• Provide 30 additional Welsh-medium primary school places per year group. 
• Provide additional English-medium part time nursery places 
• Provide additional Welsh-medium part time nursery places 

 
The following delivery options have been identified, all of which would result in the required 
number of additional English-medium and Welsh-medium primary places being made available. 
 
Table 3 below/overleaf outlines the options being proposed. 

Table 3: Options Summary table 

Option School 
 Language 

Medium/School 
Category 

Proposal 

1 

Baden Powell 
Primary School 

English-medium 
(Community) 

A new *’standardised build’ 2FE Baden Powell Primary School 
with nursery on the Willows High School site serving the age 
range 3 -11 from September 2017.  This would require the 
transfer of Baden Powell Primary School to the Willows High 
School site.  Both schools (Baden Powell Primary School and 
Willows High School) would remain as separate establishments 
with separate staff, management and governing bodies and be 
funded accordingly.    

Ysgol Glan 
Morfa 

Welsh-medium 
(Community) 

Increase the capacity of Ysgol Glan Morfa from 1FE to 2FE with 
80 part-time nursery places (an increase of 48 part-time places) 
serving the age range 3 -11 from September 2017 
 
Transfer the enlarged Ysgol Glan Morfa to the vacated Baden 
Powell Primary School site from September 2017. 
 

Moorland 
Primary School  

 

English-medium 
(Community) 

Increase the capacity of Moorland Primary School from 2FE to 
3FE with 96 part-time time nursery places (an increase of 32 
part-time places)  serving the age range 3 -11 utilising the 
vacated Ysgol Glan Morfa buildings from September 2017. 

**Tremorfa 
Nursery School 

English-medium 
(Community) 

No change. Tremorfa Nursery School to remain at its current  
capacity on its existing site. 

Page 466



  

5 
 

1a 

Baden Powell 
Primary School 

English-medium 
(Community) 

A new *’standardised build’ 2FE Baden Powell Primary School 
on the Willows High School site serving the age range 4 -11 
from September 2017.  This would require the transfer of Baden 
Powell Primary School to the Willows High School site.  Both 
schools (Baden Powell Primary School and Willows High 
School) would remain as separate establishments with separate 
staff, management and governing bodies and be funded 
accordingly.   

**Tremorfa 
Nursery School 

English-medium 
(Community) 

A new build Tremorfa Nursery School providing up to 176 part 
time nursery places on the Willows High School site serving the 
age range 3 - 4 from September 2017. This would require the 
transfer of Tremorfa Nursery School to the Willows High School 
site.   
 
The nursery school would remain as a separate establishment 
with separate staff, management and governing body and be 
funded accordingly 

Ysgol Glan 
Morfa 

Welsh-medium 
(Community) 

Increase the capacity of Ysgol Glan Morfa from 1FE to 2FE with 
up to 80 part-time nursery places (an increase of 48 part-time 
places) serving the age range 3 -11 from September 2017. 
 
Transfer the enlarged Ysgol Glan Morfa to the vacated Baden 
Powell Primary School site from September 2017. 
 

Moorland 
Primary School  

 

English-medium 
(Community) 

Increase the capacity of Moorland Primary School from 2FE to 
3FE with 96 part-time time nursery places (an increase of 32 
part-time places) serving the age range 3 -11 utilising the 
vacated Ysgol Glan Morfa buildings from September 2017. 

2 

Ysgol Glan 
Morfa 

Welsh-medium 
(Community) 

Increase the capacity of Ysgol Glan Morfa from 1FE to 2FE with 
up to 80 part-time nursery places (an increase of 48 part-time 
places) serving the age range 3 -11 from September 2017. 
 
Transfer the enlarged Ysgol Glan Morfa to a new *’standardised 
build’ 2FE primary school on a new site at the Maltings from 
September 2017. 
 

Moorland 
Primary School 

English-medium 
(Community) 

Increase the capacity of Moorland Primary School from 2FE to 
3FE with 96 part-time time nursery places (an increase of 32 
part-time places) serving the age range 3 -11 utilising the 
vacated Ysgol Glan Morfa buildings from September 2017. 

Baden Powell 
Primary School 

English-medium 
(Community) 

No change.  Baden Powell Primary School to remain at its 
current capacity on its existing site. 

**Tremorfa 
Nursery School 

English-medium 
(Community) 

No change.  Tremorfa Nursery School to remain at its current 
capacity on its existing site. 

2a 

Ysgol Glan 
Morfa 

Welsh-medium 
(Community) 

Increase the capacity of Ysgol Glan Morfa from 1FE to 2FE with 
80 part-time nursery places (an increase of 48 part-time places) 
serving the age range 3 -11 from September 2017. 
 
Transfer the enlarged Ysgol Glan Morfa to a new *’standardised 
build’ 2FE primary school on a new site at the Maltings from 
September 2017. 
 

Moorland 
Primary School 

English-medium 
(Community) 

Increase the capacity of Moorland Primary School from 2FE to 
3FE with 96 part-time time nursery places (an increase of 32 
part-time places) serving the age range 3 -11 utilising the 
vacated Ysgol Glan Morfa buildings from September 2017. 

Baden Powell 
Primary School 

English-medium 
(Community) 

The age range of Baden Powell Primary School to be reduced 
from 3 -11 to 4 -11 from September 2017. 
 

**Tremorfa 
Nursery School 

English-medium 
(Community) 

A new build Tremorfa Nursery School providing up to 176 part 
time nursery places on the Baden Powell Primary School site 
serving the age range 3 - 4 from September 2017.  This would 
require the transfer of Tremorfa Nursery School to the Baden 

Page 467



  

6 
 

 
* A ‘standardised design’ refers to a predetermined building form, the client (i.e. the Council) 
effectively buys ‘off plan’ to a pre designed solution.  Contractors are able to minimise costs by 
reducing the fees spent on design and tendering as they already have a predetermined design 
and supply chain and also do not have to set aside a significant cost for risk due to the early 
engagement of the contractor.  In-house design fees are also significantly reduced as it does not 
require a bespoke design. 
 
** The Council previously consulted on a proposal to close Tremorfa Nursery School.  The options 
outlined in Table 3 relate to the potential transfer to Tremorfa Nursery School to an alternative site 
and not closure. The nursery school would remain as a separate establishment with separate staff, 
managmentand governing body and be funded accordingly. Any change proposed relates to 
relocation and potential expansion alongside Baden Powell Primary School. 
 
Facilities included in a school 
  
Any changes to existing school buildings or any new buildings required in the event of any one of 
the options outlined above proceeding to implementation would be equal to/meet Welsh 
Government (WG) funding conditions such as BREEAM and also be designed in accordance with 
The Department of Education: Area guidelines for mainstream schools Building Bulletins which set 
out that the following facilities need to be included in any school: 
 
• Teaching space: internal and external 
• Halls/dining area  
• Learning resource areas 
• Staff and administration  
• Storage 
• Toilets and personal care 
• Kitchen facilities 
• Circulation, plant and internal walls 
• Withdrawal areas to support small group/SEN working 
 
All detailed design of the facilities at any new school buildings/existing school buildings would be 
agreed between the Council, the governing body and the Headteacher if a proposal is progressed 
to implementation.   
 
Indicative layouts showing maps of the school sites/ the Maltings site and how the sites would look 
can be viewed on line at www.cardiff.gov.uk and will be available to view at Baden Powell Primary 
School, Ysgol Glan Morfa, Moorland Primary School, Tremorfa Nursery and Willows Community 
Hub.     

Powell Primary School site.   
 
The nursery school would remain as a separate establishment 
with separate staff, management and governing body and be 
funded accordingly. 

Page 468



  

7 
 

 
Schools serving the area at present  
 
The Adamsdown and Splott areas are currently served by a number of English-medium, Welsh-
medium and Faith-based primary schools. School catchment areas in Cardiff are not coterminous 
with ward boundaries and often serve all or part of several ward areas. 
 
These areas are severed by four English-medium community primary school catchment areas, 
namely: 
 
• Adamsdown Primary School 
• Baden Powell Primary School 
• Moorland Primary School 
• Stacey Primary School 
 
The catchment areas of Adamsdown, Baden Powell, Moorland and Stacey Primary Schools fall 
within the catchment area of Willows High School. 
 
These areas are also served by the Welsh-medium community primary school catchment area of 
Ysgol Glan Morfa which falls within the secondary school catchment area of Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg 
Glantaf.  Ysgol Glan Morfa also serves some parts of Penylan, Rumney and Trowbridge in which 
there is no housing.   
 
Faith based schools serving the Adamsdown and Splott areas include St Albans RC Primary 
School and Tredegarville CW Primary School.  These areas are also served by other Faith-based 
primary schools located outside of the locality.  
 
The combined areas of Adamsdown and Splott are similar to the combined catchment areas of 
Adamsdown, Baden Powell, Moorland and Stacey primary schools.  
 
The combined areas of Adamsdown and Splott are also similar to the catchment area of Ysgol 
Glan Morfa. 
 
The geographical units that are most suitable to analyse the localised increase in demand for 
English-medium primary school places are the Willows High School catchment area and the four 
constituent English-medium primary school catchment areas within it (namely those of Moorland 
Primary, Baden Powell Primary, Stacey Primary and Adamsdown Primary schools) as this allows 
analysis to be focused to smaller areas and comparison of the demand between these areas to be 
undertaken. 
 
In geographical terms the Ysgol Glan Morfa catchment area is the nearest single comparable unit 
that most closely matches for the purpose of calculating demand for Welsh-medium places.  
 
A map showing the Willows High School catchment area primary school catchment areas within 
and school sites within the area can be seen on page 8. A map showing the Ysgol Glan Morfa and 
Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf catchment areas can be seen on page 9. 
 

Page 469



  

8 
 

Primary School provision catchment  

Page 470



  

9 
 

 
Page 471



  

10 
 

School Capacities, Condition and Suitability of School Buildings  
 
This section sets out the capacities, condition and suitability of School Buildings and existing 
demand for primary school places that serve the Adamsdown and Splott areas.  
 
Table 4 below provides details of school capacities and information regarding the condition and 
suitability of school buildings. 
 
Table 4: Capacity, condition and suitability of nursery and primary schools  
 
Name of School Language 

medium / 
Category of 
school 

Condition 
Category as 
identified by 
21st Century 
Schools 
Survey   

Current 
Published 
Capacity 
(age 4-11) 

Published 
Capacity  
(nursery – 
part time 
places) 

Adamsdown Primary 
School 

English-medium 
community 
primary 

Satisfactory* 330** 48 

Baden Powell Primary 
School  

English-medium 
community 
primary 

Satisfactory 403 48 

Moorland Primary 
School  

English-medium 
community 
primary 

Satisfactory 382 64 

Stacey Primary  
School  

English-medium 
community 
primary 

Satisfactory 197 64 

Ysgol Glan Morfa  Welsh-medium 
community 
primary 

Satisfactory 210 32 

St Albans RC Primary 
School   

English-medium 
Voluntary Aided 
primary  

Satisfactory 203 0 

Tredegarville CW 
Primary School  

English-medium 
Voluntary Aided 
primary 

Satisfactory 210 52 

Tremorfa Nursery 
School  

English-medium 
community 
nursery  

Satisfactory N/a 112 

 
*Adamsdown Primary School, including former demountable classrooms, graded as ‘Poor’ in 2010. Main 
building graded as ‘Satisfactory’. Significant investment since 2010 to improve and upgrade main building 
 
**Phased permanent enlargement to 420 places  
 
Existing English-medium provision  
 
English-medium community primary school places to serve the Willows High School catchment 
area are provided at Adamsdown, Baden Powell, Moorland and Stacey Primary Schools.  
 
Additional English-medium primary school places were provided on a temporary basis at 
Adamsdown Primary School in September 2012, 2013 and 2014 and the majority of these places 
have been taken up by pupils from the local area. Following the permanent enlargement of 
Adamsdown Primary School, to provide an additional 30 places at entry to Reception, the number 
of places at entry to Reception serving the Willows High School catchment area now totals 210. 

Page 472



  

11 
 

 
The take up of English-medium community places by pupils resident in the Willows High School 
catchment area has risen from 138 pupils in the Reception age group in 2007 to 210 pupils in 
2013.  
 
Welsh-medium community schools 
 
Welsh-medium community school places to serve the Adamsdown and Splott area are provided at 
Ysgol Glan Morfa. The number of places available at entry to Reception at Ysgol Glan Morfa is 30. 
The take up of Welsh-medium community places by pupils resident in the Willows High School 
catchment area has risen from 22 pupils in the Reception age group in 2007 to 35 pupils in 2013. 
 
Welsh-medium primary school places at alternative schools were offered to meet excess demand 
at entry to Reception in recent years. The demand for places in Welsh-medium primary schools in 
neighbouring catchment areas (including Ysgol Bro Eirwg, Ysgol Y Berllan Deg and Ysgol Mynydd 
Bychan) have also exceeded the number of places available and projections reflect the take up of 
places at schools which had been capped at the number of places available. The total demand for 
Welsh-medium primary school places in the Adamsdown and Splott area is therefore difficult to 
assess.  
 
For the purpose of assessing the supply of Welsh-medium school places serving the Willows High 
School catchment area, an estimate of 30 places at entry to Reception has been used. 
 
Faith-based primary schools 
 
There are two Faith-based primary schools within the Willows High School catchment area. There 
are 30 places available at entry to Reception at St Alban’s RC Primary School and 30 places 
available at Tredegarville CW Primary School. 
 
Pupils resident in this area have also taken up places at a number of other Faith schools in recent 
years. The take up of Faith school places by pupils resident in the Willows High School catchment 
area has risen from 79 pupils in the Reception age group in 2007 to 93 pupils in 2013. On the 
basis of the above take-up of places in recent years it is considered that the local supply of faith 
school places serving the Willows High School area is 92. 
 
Calculating local demand for primary school places 
 
In order to calculate the likely demand from the Adamsdown and Splott areas, historic trends 
specific to the established school catchment areas have been used. 
 
The following paragraphs give details of these catchment areas, the data used and the 
methodology applied. 
 
The number of places available at entry to Reception at the seven primary schools located in the 
Adamsdown and Splott areas totals 300. However, the catchment areas for community schools do 
not precisely match the boundaries of the Adamsdown and Splott wards. Ysgol Glan Morfa is 
located in Splott but serves a catchment area that includes housing in parts of Butetown, and also 
serves some parts of Penylan, Rumney and Trowbridge in which there is no housing. Furthermore 
the admission arrangements for, and areas served by, Faith schools also differ. The approximate 
number of places that serve the overall area is therefore 332. 
 
Table 5 below compares the existing supply of English-medium, Welsh-medium and Faith school 
places with the most recent verified take up of school places in each area.  

Page 473



  

12 
 

 
Table 5:  Existing supply of  places compared to most recent take up of places at entry to 
Reception as at January 2013  
 
 Supply of places at Reception age: 

January 2014 
 Take up of places: January 2013 

Catchment 
area 

English-
medium 

Welsh-
medium 

Faith Total 
places 
by 
area 

English-
medium 

Welsh-
medium 

Faith Total 
demand 
by area 

Combined 
Willows 

High 
School 

catchment 
area 

210 30 92 332 210 35 93 338 

 
Table 6 below sets out the most recent verified PLASC (Pupil Level Annual School Census) data 
as supplied by schools in January 2013, confirming the numbers of pupils in each of the four 
English-medium primary school catchment areas within the Willows High School catchment area, 
enrolled in Reception classes at English-medium, Welsh-medium and Faith schools. 
 

Table 6: Pupils in the Willows High School catchment area enrolled in the Reception class at 
English-medium, Welsh-medium and Faith schools – January 2013 
Catchment area English-medium Welsh-medium Faith schools Total 
Adamsdown 33 (55.9%) 1 (1.7%) 25 (42.4%) 59 (100%) 
Baden Powell 83 (59.7%) 20 (14.4%) 36 (25.9%) 139 (100%) 
Moorland 52 (72.2%) 7 (9.7%) 13 (18.1%) 72 (100%) 
Stacey 42 (61.8%) 7(10.3%) 19 (27.9%) 68 (100%) 
Total 210 (62.1%) 35 (10.4%) 93 (27.5%) 338 (100%) 

 
Future demand for places 
 
Meeting projected demand from the increasing population 
 
Projections based upon NHS data received in 2013 indicate that the number of English-medium 
community pupils entering Reception will continue to increase in future years until at least 
September 2016, the latest year for which verified data are available. In order to calculate the 
likely demand for school places, historic trends specific to the established school catchment areas 
have been used. 
 
Comparison of the population data supplied by the NHS with the number of pupils admitted to 
Cardiff schools from each cohort allows the Council to project both the demand for school places, 
and also the combined proportion of pupils that will opt for school places outside of Cardiff or take 
up places in the private education sector. 
 
When considering likely demand for places across the area a number of factors have been used to 
inform projections and forecasts, including: 
 
• Recent and historic populations known to be living in each area utilising NHS data; 
• Recent and historic numbers on roll taken from verified PLASC (Pupil Level Annual Census) 

for Cardiff schools; 
• Recent and historic percentages of children attending English-medium and Welsh-medium 

community and faith places. 
 

Page 474



  

13 
 

Table 7 below sets out the demand for places at entry to Reception should the proportions of 
pupils in the Willows High School catchment area requiring places in English-medium, Welsh-
medium and faith schools at entry to Reception in future years remain at the same levels as in 
2013. 
 
Table 7: Projected numbers of pupils entering the Reception age group resident within the Willows 
High School catchment area (existing housing only) if there were no changes to proportionate demand 
in each primary school catchment area 

Academic 
Year of 

birth 

Academic 
Year: 

entering 
Reception 

Year 

NHS GP 
registration 
data 2013 

Projected 
pupil 

population 

Projected 
English-
medium 
demand 

Projected 
Welsh-

medium 
demand 

Projected 
Faith 

school 
demand 

Projected 
total 

school 
demand 

2009/2010 2014/2015 407 418 226 36 105 367 
2010/2011 2015/2016 407 406 222 35 104 360 
2011/2012 2016/2017 440 448 247 40 113 400 

 
Initial analysis of 2014 data confirms that the population in the area is broadly consistent with that 
provided in previous datasets, and also that the projected Reception age pupil population in 
2017/18 will be similar to that in 2016/17. 
 
It is notable that projections for demand for places at entry for Reception, which take account of 
annual updates to data supplied by the NHS, indicate a cohort survival ratio (i.e. the proportion of 
the population retained in the area) of below 100% in each cohort.  
 
The sizes of cohorts and projections based on populations in this area are prone to fluctuation as 
pupil mobility (the total movement in and out of schools by pupils other than at the usual times of 
joining and leaving) is very high. This is in part due the level of temporary housing that is/ has 
been available in the area. 
 
The combined projected demand for English-medium, Welsh-medium and Faith school primary 
school places significantly exceeds the overall supply of 332 places at Reception between the 
schools within or serving the area. As each of the seven primary schools in the area have been 
fully subscribed at entry to Reception at a number of recent intakes, projections reflect the take up 
of places at each of these schools which had been capped at the number of places available.  
 
Proposed new housing 
 
A number of small sites in the area are proposed for housing development, some of which have 
planning permission with others at early stages of consideration. Additional pupil yields from these 
developments would further exacerbate the overall shortfall. 
 
In accordance with the Council’s approved Supplementary Planning Guidance, financial 
contributions are sought from housing developers to meet the demand arising from proposed 
additional housing. However, the small sites proposed within the combined Willows High School 
catchment area are not sufficiently large for the Council to be able to request s106 financial 
contributions. Of the dwellings proposed in the Adamsdown and Splott area, the majority of those 
are one bed properties from which no pupil yield is expected, or are apartments from which 
reduced yields (compared to houses) are expected. The nominal yield calculated from proposed 
new housing has not been added to trend projections as these already take account of in-
migration (cohort survival ratio) and the rate of new housing completion is not likely to exceed that 
of the past three years. 
 
 
 

Page 475



  

14 
 

How might demand change? 
 
Population data supplied by the NHS indicates that the number of pupils resident in the Willows 
High School catchment area entering Reception in future years in the area will be at higher levels 
than at present. 
 
There has been a period of sustained growth in the number of pupils taking up English-medium 
community school Reception places in the Willows High School catchment area. This numerical 
growth in take-up has been broadly proportionate to the growth in population, the proportionate 
demand fluctuating between 57% and 63% in the period January 2007 to January 2013. 
 
The proportion of Reception age pupils enrolled in Welsh-medium education in the Adamsdown 
and Splott area fluctuated in the period January 2007 to January 2011 but has since grown to 
11.4% in January 2012, and fallen back to 10.4% in January 2013. However, the recent trend 
established indicates an increase in demand of approximately 4.5% per year. 
 
There has been a period of sustained growth in the take up of Faith school Reception places in the 
Willows High School catchment area, however, as the population has grown at a faster rate the 
proportion of pupils taking up Reception places in Faith schools has fallen from 33% in January 
2007 to 28% in January 2013. 
 
As there are no proposals to expand Faith school provision, projected demand for English-medium 
and Faith school places therefore take account of the projected uplift in demand for Welsh-
medium places and are reduced accordingly.  
  
Forecasts have therefore been prepared based on: 
 
• Likely demand if take up patterns were to remain consistent with the most recent years 

applying these trends to the relevant populations coming through in future years; 
• Known populations along with a potential 4.5% annual uplift in Welsh-medium demand by 

comparison with recent take up patterns between 2011 – 2013; 
• Demand for Faith school places in excess of the places available added to the demand for 

English-medium community school places. 
 
Summary forecasts of demand for places at entry to Reception 
 
The work undertaken to establish the likely demand across the area shows that there will be an 
overall projected shortfall of approximately 68 Reception places serving the Adamsdown and 
Splott areas based on existing housing. 
 
When compared to the existing supply of places at Reception age, projections for September 2015 
and 2016 indicate: 
 
• A deficit of 13 Welsh-medium community school places in September 2015, rising to a deficit 

of 19 in September 2016, should the uplift of 4.5% in the take-up of Welsh-medium places 
continue as expected; 

• A deficit of 21 English-medium community school places in September 2015, rising to a 
deficit of 49 in September 2016, should faith schools be unable to accommodate the excess 
projected demand and this be added to the projected demand for English-medium 
community school places. 

 
In summary, it is proposed that an addition of 1FE English-medium and 1FE Welsh-medium 
community school places are provided to meet the projected shortfall. 

Page 476



  

15 
 

 
The rising population in the area, and demand for English-medium and Welsh-medium community 
school places will be kept under review. 
 
Should demand for English-medium and Welsh-medium places exceed the proposed capacity 
from September 2016, it may be necessary to amend catchment areas of the schools in 
Adamsdown and Splott and also in the neighbouring areas, where a number of families have 
elected to take up places. These changes, if necessary, would seek to balance the supply and 
demand both within Adamsdown and Splott and in neighbouring areas. 
 
How would nursery provision be affected? 
 
Children in Cardiff are entitled to a part-time nursery place from the start of the term following their 
third birthday and must attend for a minimum of five half days. Nursery places are not allocated on 
a catchment area basis. Places are offered in a local community nursery school or nursery class 
within two miles of a child’s place of residence.  If places are unavailable in local community 
nursery schools or nursery classes, parents may apply for nursery education place funding with a 
recognised provider designated by the Cardiff Early Childhood Steering Group. 
 
In the event the proposal is implemented accommodation would need to be of sufficient size to 
provide for the increased numbers and the appropriate investment made to realise the appropriate 
space in accordance with the numbers of places offered. As these are potentially expansion of 
existing nursery units the outdoor area would also be taken into account to ensure the area is able 
to offer a range of activities relevant to the delivery of the Foundation Phase to this age group. 
 
Whilst the Local Authority has been able to offer English-medium nursery places in the area to all 
those who have applied, this has proved more challenging in Welsh-medium in recent years 
following the increased housing and the rise in the birth rate. Also, some families have not taken 
up their offered place which means there is potential for further demand in excess of the supply 
available and any additional places would support a greater uptake of the nursery entitlement, 
particularly in the rising 3s age group. It has been increasingly difficult to source a sufficiency of 
places in settings that are approved to provide education places in areas that parents have 
requested and/or source new providers willing to enter into the contract with the Local Authority in 
some areas. 
 
Whilst the addition of nursery places would mean there would potentially be a reduced number 
purchased in the private and voluntary childcare sector, many also provide wrap around places 
and the opportunities for this could increase with a larger number of families accessing the 
maintained provision for part time sessions. 
 
It must be noted that accessing a nursery place at a school, does not guarantee a reception place 
and is subject to a separate primary phase admission process. 
 
Cylch Meithrin Glan Morfa	  
 
There are currently 32 school (maintained) morning nursery places available at Ysgol Glan Morfa.  
Additionally a cylch methrin (Cylch Meithin Glan Morfa) operates from the school offering non 
maintained nursery places, Flying Start childcare and wrap round care in the nursery facility during 
the afternoon.  Under these proposals the number of nursery places at Ysgol Glan Morfa is 
proposed to be increased, however it is expected that the facilities could be developed in a way 
that would mean the potential for the Cylch to continue to operate within the school could be 
retained.   The consultation provides an opportunity to consider how best to provide any places 

Page 477



  

16 
 

and views expressed specific to nursery and/or childcare as part of the schools future operating 
arrangements are welcomed.  
 
How would other schools be affected? 
 
It is anticipated that the proposed establishment of additional 1FE English medium and 1FE Welsh 
medium pupil capacity in the Adamsdown and Splott wards would have little or no effect on the 
number of pupils on roll at the majority of schools in the local area as the additional places are 
required to meet the projected demand from the increased population. 
 
Welsh-medium community schools 
 
Ysgol Glan Morfa primarily serves the demand for Welsh-medium places across the Adamsdown 
and Splott wards. 
 
As the pupil population is projected to grow in future years, the demand for places will increase 
accordingly. The projected numbers of pupils enrolled at those schools in close proximity or in 
adjacent catchment areas are therefore not expected to be impacted, compared to existing 
arrangements. 
 
Table 8 below/overleaf illustrates the number of pupils on Roll in recent years at Ysgol Glan Morfa 
and the projected numbers on roll should the proposal proceed factoring in recent trends in the 
uplift of Welsh-medium demand. 
 
Table 8 Recent and projected numbers on roll at Ysgol Glan Morfa  should the proposal 
proceed as described 

School 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
09

 
 Ja

nu
ar

y 
 2

01
0 

 Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
11

 
 Ja

nu
ar

y 
20

12
 

 Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
13

 
 Ja

nu
ar

y 
20

14
 

 Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
15

 
 20

15
/2

01
6 

P
ro

je
ct

io
n 

20
16

/2
01

7 
P

ro
je

ct
io

n 

20
17

/2
01

8 
P

ro
je

ct
io

n 

20
18

/2
01

9 
P

ro
je

ct
io

n 

20
19

/2
02

0 
P

ro
je

ct
io

n 

Ysgol Glan Morfa 76 96 118 142 145 156 173 184 203 225 249 275 
 
Should the proposal to expand Ysgol Glan Morfa proceed, forecasts indicate that some surplus 
places will be available at entry to Reception year. Those schools in close proximity or in adjacent 
catchment areas that are not fully subscribed (or where projected demand does not exceed places 
available), could be considered to be the most likely to be impacted by the proposed enlargement 
of Ysgol Glan Morfa. Ysgol Glan Morfa largely serves pupils from within its catchment area and 
few pupils from other catchment areas attend the school. Additionally, few pupils from within its 
catchment area opt for alternative Welsh-medium primary schools.  
 
The Council is also consulting on a separate proposal to provide additional Welsh-medium places 
to serve Butetown and Grangetown. Grangetown and Butetown are presently served by Ysgol 
Mynydd Bychan and Ysgol Gymraeg Pwll Coch. Ysgol Mynydd Bychan is fully subscribed at entry 
to Reception and this school is not anticipated to be affected by proposals for Ysgol Glan Morfa 
Ysgol Gymraeg Pwll Coch is also highly subscribed and is distant from the Ysgol Glan Morfa 
catchment area and therefore unlikely to be significantly impacted by the proposed enlargement of 
Ysgol Glan Morfa. 
 
Should the expansion of Ysgol Glan Morfa not be implemented then the school would continue to 
admit no more than 30 pupils per year group. Those pupils unable to gain admission to Ysgol Glan 

Page 478



  

17 
 

Morfa due to oversubscription could elect to attend alternative English-medium, Welsh-medium, 
Faith, private schools or schools outside of Cardiff and for the purpose of clarity table 9 below 
indicates the number of those pupils but does not add these pupils to the Numbers on Roll at 
alternative schools. 
 

Table 9 Projected numbers on roll at Ysgol Glan Morfa should the proposal not proceed  

School 2015/2016 
Projection 

2016/2017 
Projection 

2017/2018 
Projection 

2018/2019 
Projection 

*2019/2020 
Projection 

Ysgol Glan 
Morfa 184 198 205 207 207 

Welsh 
medium pupil 

excess 
0 +19 +41 +65 +91 

 
English-medium community schools 
 
Should the proposal to expand Moorland Primary School proceed, it would be necessary to 
enlarge its catchment area and to reduce the adjacent catchment area of Baden Powell Primary 
School, to provide a sustainable balance in the supply of and demand for school places.  
 
Although the number of pupils resident within the catchment area of Baden Powell Primary School 
may reduce, this is not anticipated to have a direct impact on the number of pupils enrolled at the 
school as the numbers of preferences submitted by parents for these schools is expected to 
remain at a similar level. 
 
As the pupil population is projected to grow in future years, the demand for places is expected to 
increase accordingly. The projected numbers of pupils enrolled at those schools in close proximity 
or in adjacent catchment areas are therefore not expected to be impacted, compared to existing 
arrangements. 
 
Table 10 below illustrates recent and projected numbers on roll if the proposal were to proceed. 
 

Table10: Recent and projected numbers on roll at local primary schools should the proposal proceed as 
described  

Name of School 

Is this school 
expected to 
be affected 

by the 
proposal? 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
09

 
 Ja

nu
ar

y 
 2

01
0 

 Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
11

 
 Ja

nu
ar

y 
20

12
 

 Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
13

 
 Ja

nu
ar

y 
20

14
 

 Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
15

 
 20

15
/2

01
6 

P
ro

je
ct

io
n 

20
16

/2
01

7 
P

ro
je

ct
io

n 

20
17

/2
01

8 
P

ro
je

ct
io

n 

20
18

/2
01

9 
P

ro
je

ct
io

n 

*2
01

9/
20

20
 P

ro
je

ct
io

n 

Adamsdown 
Primary School No 164 170 181 187 209 250 277 306 334 374 407 407 

Baden Powell 
Primary School Yes - Option 1 323 311 325 328 332 371 359 419 421 422 422 422 

Moorland Primary 
School 

Yes - Options 
1 & 2 286 297 316 330 346 369 392 414 444 474 504 534 

Stacey Primary 
School No 177 179 174 185 184 197 198 203 203 204 204 204 

St Albans RC 
Primary School No 200 191 203 212 187 172 159 175 183 177 181 181 

Tredegarville CW 
Primary School No 175 194 186 191 189 198 201 208 210 210 210 210 

St Peter’s RC 
Primary School No 425 428 434 443 463 464 486 476 478 481 487 487 

Page 479



  

18 
 

 
As is illustrated in the table above, the area is also served by a number of faith based primary 
schools. Admission to these schools is administered by the governing body of each school. As 
there are no current plans proposed by the relevant Diocese to expand these schools at this time, 
excess pupils requiring a faith based education have been factored in to the projections. 
 
Should the proposal not be implemented then the combined English-medium school intake to 
Adamsdown, Baden Powell, Moorland and Stacey primary schools would continue to be 210 
pupils per year group, and the projected number of pupils requiring English-medium based 
education would be exceeded as illustrated in the following table: 
 
Table 11 Recent and projected numbers on roll at local primary schools should the proposal not 
proceed as described 

School 2015/2016 
Projection 

2016/2017 
Projection 

2017/2018 
Projection 

2018/2019 
Projection 

*2019/2020 
Projection 

Baden Powell 
Primary School 419 421 422 422 422 

Moorland Primary 
School 414 416 420 420 420 

English medium pupil 
excess +4 +53 +99 +143 +184 

 
Those pupils whose families are seeking an English-medium place but have been unable to gain 
admission to English-medium to one of the English-medium primary schools due to 
oversubscription could elect to attend alternative English-medium, Welsh-medium, Faith, private 
schools or schools outside of Cardiff and for the purpose of clarity the above table indicates the 
number of those pupils but does not add these pupils to the Numbers on Roll at alternative 
schools. 
 
Should demand for English-medium and Welsh-medium places exceed the proposed capacity 
from September 2016, it may be necessary to amend catchment areas of the schools in 
Adamsdown and Splott and also in the neighbouring areas, where a number of families have 
elected to take up places.  These changes, if necessary, would ensure that there are sufficient 
places to balance the supply and demand both within Adamsdown and Splott and in neighbouring 
areas.  
 
Interim Arrangements  
 
Demand for both English-medium and Welsh-medium primary school places will be kept under 
review and temporary arrangements for September 2016 would be brought forward as necessary 
in local schools. 
 
Quality and Standards  
 
The Council works closely with the governing bodies of schools to ensure that standards in 
schools are high, that teaching is good and that leadership and governance is strong. The Council 
works closely with two organisations in order to monitor the performance of schools and to support 
school improvement. 
 
Estyn is the office of Her Majesty’s Chief Inspector of Education and Training in Wales. It is a 
Crown body, established under the Education Act 1992. Estyn is independent of the National 
Assembly for Wales but receives its funding from the Welsh Government under Section 104 of the 

Page 480



  

19 
 

Government of Wales Act 1998.  Estyn inspects quality and standards in education and training 
providers in Wales. 
 
Central South Consortium Joint Education Service (CSCJES) was established in September 
2012.  The Local Authority has commissioned the Consortium to support and challenge schools in 
Cardiff. 
 
When proposing changes of this type to schools Local Authorities are required to refer to the most 
recent Estyn reports, other evidence derived from performance monitoring and any other 
information available on a school's effectiveness.  
 
They must also demonstrate the likely impact of the proposals on the quality of: 
 
• outcomes (standards and wellbeing); 
• provision (learning experiences, teaching, care support and guidance, and 

learning environment);and 
• leadership and management (leadership, improving quality, partnership 

working and resource management) 
 
Estyn 
 
Schools are inspected as part of a national programme of school inspection.  The purpose of an 
inspection is to identify good features and shortcomings in schools in order that they may improve 
the quality of education offered and raise standards achieved by their pupils (Esytn) 
 
The relevant Estyn Inspection reports provide grades against Key Questions and provide schools 
with recommendations for improvement. 
 
For Estyn inspections carried out before September 2010, there were seven key questions each 
with the following grades which could be awarded: 
 
Grade 1 good with outstanding features 
Grade 2 good features and not important shortcomings 
Grade 3 good features outweigh shortcomings 
Grade 4 some good features, but shortcomings in important areas 
Grade 5 many important shortcomings 
 
In 2010 a new common inspection framework was introduced and Estyn inspections carried out 
after September 2010 provide judgements against three Key Questions. 
 
Each key question is provided with a judgement: 
 
• Excellent – Many strengths, including significant examples of sector-leading practice 
• Good – Many strengths and no important areas requiring significant improvement 
• Adequate – Strengths outweigh areas for improvement 
• Unsatisfactory – Important areas for improvement outweigh strengths 
 
Welsh Government categorisation of schools 
 
In 2014 the Welsh Government introduced a new categorisation system that considered each 
school’s standards alongside the school’s capacity to improve so as to understand the level of 
support that organisations such as the CSCJES need to provide to each school in order that they 
achieve their targets. 

Page 481



  

20 
 

 
The categorisation system is described in Table 12 below: 
 
Table 12: Welsh Government Categorisation System 
Category What the category means 
Green  A highly effective school which is well run, has a strong leadership and is 

clear about its priorities for improvement.   
Yellow An effective school which is already doing well and knows the areas it 

needs to improve.   
Amber A School in need of improvement which needs help to identify the steps to 

improve or to make change happen more quickly.   
Red A school in need of greatest improvement and will receive immediate, 

intensive support.   
 

 
To determine the colour coded category as explained in the table above, schools are placed in 
one of four groups for standards (1-4) and for bringing about improvement (A-D) with one being 
the highest grouping for standards and A being the highest for improvement capacity. 
 
For further information about the new categorisation scheme, please see Welsh Government’s 
parents’ guide to the National School Categorisation System: 
http://gov.wales/docs/dcells/publications/150119-parents-guide-en.pdf 
 
Tables 13 below/overleaf shows the Estyn judgements, recommendations, WG category and the 
Foundation Phase and Key Stage 2 data for Baden Powell Primary School (Estyn inspection 
October 2010) Moorland Primary School (Estyn inspection September 2012) and Tremorfa 
Nursery School (Estyn inspection December 2013).   
 
Table 14 shows the Estyn judgements, recommendations, WG category and the Foundation 
Phase and Key Stage 2 data for Ysgol Glan Morfa (Estyn inspection January 2009).  
 
Table 13: Estyn judgements and recommendations, WG category, FP & KS 2 data 
 Baden Powell 

Primary School 
Estyn 
Inspection 
October 2010 

Moorland Primary 
School  
Estyn Inspection 
September 2012  

Tremorfa Nursery 
School 
Estyn Inspection 
December 2013 

School’s current 
Performance  

Good Good Good 

School’s prospect for 
improvement 

Good Good Good 

Key Questions Judgement Judgement Judgement 
Key Question 1: How 
good are the outcomes?   

Good Good Good 

Standards Good Good Good 
Wellbeing Good Good Excellent 
    
Key Question 2: How 
good is provision?  

Good Good Excellent 

Learning experiences Good Good Excellent 
Teaching  Good Good Excellent 
Care, support and 
guidance 

Adequate Good Excellent 

Page 482



  

21 
 

Learning environment Good Good Good 
    
Key Question 3: How 
good are leadership and 
management?  

Good Good Good 

Leadership Adequate Good Good 
Improving quality Good Good Excellent 
Partnership working Adequate Good Excellent 
Resource management Good Good Good 
    
Recommendations    
R1 Improve the 

governing body’s 
understanding of 
its role as the 
school’s critical 
friend in order to 
hold it to better 
account for its 
performance 

Continue to 
improve the 
achievements of 
boys in writing and 
of those pupils 
entitled to receive 
free school meals 
 

Ensure that all 
staff challenge 
more able children 
consistently 

R2 Improve 
communication 
with parents and 
carers to enable 
them to support 
their children’s 
education more 
effectively; 
 

Improve further the 
quality of 
assessment for 
learning, especially 
in the way that 
pupils throughout 
the school assess 
their own work and 
that of their peers 
 

Develop the role of 
the Governing 
Body in the self-
evaluation process 

R3 Broaden the 
school’s provision 
for learning about 
and celebrating 
the diversity of 
the school 
community 

  Ensure the 
leadership roles 
are distributed 
more evenly 

R4 Address the 
health and safety 
concerns brought 
to the attention of 
the headteacher 
and governing 
body during the 
inspection 

  

Welsh Government 
Support Category 

Amber Green N/A 

*Pupils achieving the 
expected outcome in the 
FP areas of learning 
(2014) 

60% 81.8% N/A 

*Pupils achieving the 
expected level in the core 

75% 65.7% N/A 

Page 483



  

22 
 

subjects at KS2 (2014) 
*Attendance (2014) 92.9% 93.8% N/A 
 
*further information can be found on the website: mylocalschool.wales.gov.uk 
 
Table 14: Estyn judgements and recommendations, WG category, FP & KS 2 data 
 
Key Questions Grade 
Standards  
Key question 1: How well do learners achieve? 2 
The quality of education and training  
 

 

Key question 2: How effective are teaching, training 
and assessment? 
 

2 

Key question 3: How well do the learning experiences 
meet the needs and interest of learners and wider 
community? 
 

2 

Key question 4: How well are learners cared for, 
guided and supported? 

1 

Leadership and Management 
 

 

Key question 5: How effective are leadership and 
strategic management? 
 

2 

Key question 6: How well do leaders and managers 
evaluate and improve quality and standards? 
 
 

3 

Key question 7: How efficient are leaders and 
managers in using resources? 

2 

Recommendations  
R1 continue to sustain and raise 

standards across the curriculum 
and address the few 
shortcomings noted 

R2 formalise the opportunities for 
pupils to express their views 
about the school and offer 
improvements 

R3 ensure consistency in the 
standard of reports to parents 

R4 continue to develop strategic 
management procedures as the 
school grows 

R5 formalise the self-evaluation 
procedure ensuring that it 
underpins all the school’s work 
and ensuring that there is a 
definite link with the school 
improvement plan 

Page 484



  

23 
 

Welsh Government Support Category Amber 
*Pupils achieving the expected outome in the FP 
areas of learning (2014) 

88.9% 

*Pupils achieving the expected level in the core 
subjects at KS2 (2014) 

76.9% 

*Attendance (2014) 93.9% 
 
*further information can be found on the website: mylocalschool.wales.gov.uk 
 
Standards 
 
The Council’s aim is to provide sufficient good quality nursery and primary school places in both 
English-medium and Welsh-medium and Faith based education to a 21st Century school standard 
across the city.  All children and young people in Cardiff should be educated in environments that 
are fit for purpose, in the right place and that are the right size to enable the effective delivery of 
first class education, improve the sufficiency and suitability of school places across Cardiff and 
ensure the provision of a 21st Century School Standard. 
 
The Council has in place policies to support school improvement e.g. ‘High Achievement for All’ 
and ‘Achievement for Inclusion’.  It is working to respond to the key principles of the School 
Effectiveness Framework to secure better learning outcomes and well-being for all children 
including those at the existing schools which form part of these proposals. 
 
It is not anticipated that there will be any impact on the quality of standards of education or the 
delivery of the Foundation Phase at any of the schools. It is expected that facilities developed 
to be suited for purpose would support more effective teaching and learning. 
 
Provision 
 
The number of pupils entering Reception has increased and the expansion of existing schools 
seeks to provide sufficient English-medium and Welsh-medium community primary school places 
to serve the local area. 
 
The proposals will provide the opportunity to invest in providing high quality, modern facilities 
which would be able to support the delivery of a broad and balanced curriculum. 
 
Leadership and Governance 
 
The Council will work with the leadership of any schools affected by the proposals to develop a 
rigorous whole school approach to improvement planning and secure good relationships with 
parents and other partners in order to ensure pupils receive a high quality education.   
 
Careful planning will take place during the proposed period of change to avoid any risk of 
distraction or disruption to leadership and governance that could impact on educational outcomes. 
 
The Local Authority (LA) has no information to suggest that the Quality and Standards of existing 
schools would be negatively affected by the proposals. The expectation would be that investment 
in new school facilities would add value and have the potential to better support delivery of 
relevant curriculums and children’s learning experiences.  
 
 
 
 

Page 485



  

24 
 

How would SEN and EAL provision be affected? 
 
A child has Special Educational Needs if he or she has a learning difficulty which requires special 
educational provision.  A learning difficulty means the child has significantly greater difficulty in 
learning than most children of the same age or that the child has a disability that needs different 
educational facilities for those that the school generally provides for children. 
 
Table 15 below shows the percentage of SEN, FSM, EAL and Minority Ethnic pupils at Baden 
Powell Primary School, Moorland Primary School, Tremorfa Nursery School and Ysgol Glan 
Morfa. 

 
* further information can be found on the website: mylocalschool.wales.gov.uk. 
 
There is no information available that suggests that the proposals would have a negative effect on 
SEN provision at the schools and the schools would continue to provide SEN support for pupils.  
However consideration would need to be given to how any reconfiguration of buildings would 
facilitate this ongoing requirement. 
 
There is no information available that suggests that the proposals would have a negative effect on 
provision for any group including those who are from minority Ethnic groups or in receipt of free 
school meals and the schools would continue to provide support appropriate to the individual 
needs of each pupil. 
 
What are the benefits of these proposals? 
 
As part of the Council’s 21st Century School Programme the Council has set out it’s priority to 
improve the sufficiency and suitability of school places across Cardiff to ensure a 21st Century 
School Standard.  These proposals would contribute towards this aim: 

 
• Achieving a better match between the supply of and demand for English-medium 

(community) and Welsh-medium primary school places within the local area; 

Table 15: SEN, FSM, EAS and Minority Ethnic Information 
2014  Baden 

Powell 
Primary 
School  

Moorland 
Primary 
School  

Tremorfa 
Nursery 
School 

Ysgol Glan 
Morfa  

Wales 

Percentage of 
SEN Pupils 

School Action 
 
School Action 
Plus 
 
Statemented 
 

23.1% 
 
 
9.3% 
 
n/a 

13.3% 
 
 
15.9% 
 
2.3% 

n/a 
 
 
n/a 
 
n/a 
 

22.7% 
 
 
9.4% 
 
n/a 

15.1%  
 
 
8.8% 
 
1.7% 

Percentage of 
FSM Pupils – 3 
year average 

  
 
41.5% 

 
 
51.6% 

 
 
n/a 

 
 
28.1% 

 
 
20.5% 

Percentage of 
EAL Pupils 

  
16.0% 

 
32.0% 
 

 
n/a 

 
n/a 

 
5.5% 

Percentage of 
Minority Ethnic 
Pupils 

  
28.2% 

 
51.6% 

 
n/a 

 
15.6% 

 
10.0% 

Page 486



  

25 
 

• Providing the opportunity to invest in providing high quality, modern buildings which would be 
able to support the delivery of a broad and balanced curriculum;  

 
The proposal would result in reduced home-to-school travel distances for some pupils; 

 
When compared with smaller schools, the scale of a 2FE/3FE primary school permits greater 
flexibility and opportunity for pupils due to an extended, more enhanced and secure financial 
resource base; 

 
A 2FE/3FE school can provide a greater degree of stability at all levels of leadership including 
maintaining a full and stable complement of school governors; 

 
The ability to employ more teaching and support staff would allow a 2FE/3FE school to cover a 
wider range of curriculum expertise. 
 
Potential disadvantages of these proposals  
 
Potential increased traffic congestion around the school sites at drop off/pick up times.  However, 
the Council would work with the Governing Body of the schools to develop a Travel Plan to 
minimise any potential disruption.  
 
Changes to any existing buildings and any new build can cause some disruption however 
experience shows that this can be kept to a minimum and children’s education does not suffer. 
 
As the proposals would allow for additional capacity in schools for pupils entering Reception year 
from September 2017 onwards, there is a risk that pupils who move into the area and are above 
the eligible age range (those born after September 2012) are unable to be accommodated in local 
schools. 
 
The catchment area changes that may be required following the implementation of these 
proposals may result in increased home-to-school travel distances for some pupils electing to 
attend their local primary school. 
 
Risks associated with these proposals 
 
There is a risk that the projected increase in the number of pupils entering Reception does not 
materialise.  Whilst this appears most unlikely, the Council will keep its projections under review 
and respond to any such changes in demand accordingly.  
 
There is a possibility of development constraints not yet identified becoming apparent and having 
both a cost and delay implications.  Site surveys and geo-technic reports would provide further 
information around this and inform management strategies. 
 
There is a risk that upon progressing the options of a standardised design, it emerges that the 
approach is not suitable.  Further work around this would help to identify any potential issues and 
inform management strategies.  
 
The proposal may not be achievable if Welsh Government capital funding is not secured at the 
business case stage. 
 
If the Council were not successful in achieving this funding from the Welsh Government then the 
Council would be fully responsible for all costs relating to the proposal.  In these circumstances, it 
would be necessary to review investment options to ensure the delivery of sufficient school places. 
 

Page 487



  

26 
 

Alternatives considered  
 
English-medium provision  

Doing nothing is not a viable option because there is a need to achieve a better match in the  
supply of and demand for school places.   

An initial feasibility study has indicated that the Stacey Primary School site would be less suitable 
for accommodating increased provision. 

Welsh-medium provision  

The city-wide population and the population in the locality have each grown and demand for 
places at Welsh-medium schools has also grown.  City-wide, few surplus Welsh-medium places 
have been available at entry to Reception year at September 2014.  Only two other Welsh-
medium primary schools had more than 4 surplus places at entry to Reception in September 2014, 
namely Ysgol Coed Y Gof in Pentrebane (5 places) and Ysgol Gymraeg Pen Y Groes (14 places) 
whilst three were oversubscribed.  

Very few pupils transfer between Welsh-medium primary schools in Cardiff for reasons other than 
moving home.  It is therefore considered unlikely that there would be a significant net increase in 
the cohorts of primary-age already enrolled, as a result of pupils transferring from other schools in 
Cardiff.  

Alternative Options 

Nine alternative options were initially explored.  Of these, the options outlined in this document 
were shortlisted for consultation and seven others were discounted on the basis of not being 
considered appropriate based on a range of factors related to the schools at that time, prohibitive 
costs, location, planning and flood plain issues.  

Table 16: Alternative Options 
Option Details Status 

All-through campus at Willows 
High School site 

• Willows High School to operate as an all-
through 3-16 campus, plus Flying Start.  2FE 
English-medium primary school provision 
included. 

• Current Baden Powell Primary building to 
accommodate Ysgol Glan Morfa at 2FE 

• Moorland Primary (English-medium) to 
expand to 3FE utilising vacated Ysgol Glan 
Morfa Buildings 

Discounted 

2FE Welsh-medium primary 
on the Willows site 

• New build primary school at Willows High 
School – 2FE Welsh-medium 

• Baden Powell Primary to remain as   2FE 
English-medium 

• Moorland Primary (English-medium)  to 
expand to 3FE utilising vacated Ysgol Glan 
Morfa Buildings 

Discounted 

3FE English-medium primary 
school on the Willows High 

• New build primary at Willows High School site 
– 3FE English-medium plus Flying Start 

Discounted 

Page 488



  

27 
 

School site (1) • Current Baden Powell building to 
accommodate Ysgol Glan Morfa at 2FE 

• Moorland Primary to remain as 2FE English-
medium 

3FE English-medium Primary 
on the Willows site (2) 

• New build primary at Willows High School site 
– 3FE English-medium plus Flying Start 

• Baden Powell to remain as 2FE English-
medium 
Ysgol Glan Morfa to expand to 2FE on 
existing site utilising Moorland Primary School 
accommodation. 

Discounted 

2FE Welsh-medium Primary 
on Pengam Green 

• New build primary on identified site – 2FE 
Welsh-medium 

• Baden Powell Primary to remain as  2FE 
English-medium 

• Moorland Primary (English-medium) to 
expand to 3FE English-medium utilising 
vacated Ysgol Glan Morfa Buildings 

Discounted 

2FE English-medium Primary 
on Pengam Green 

• New build primary on identified site – 2FE 
English-medium 

• Current Baden Powell building to 
accommodate Ysgol Glan Morfa at 2FE 

• Moorland Primary at 3FE English-medium 
utilising vacated Ysgol Glan Morfa Buildings. 

Discounted 

2FE English-medium Primary 
on the Maltings 

• New build primary on identified site – 2FE 
English-medium 

• Current Baden Powell building to 
accommodate Ysgol Glan Morfa at 2FE 

• Moorland Primary at 3FE English-medium 
utilising vacated Ysgol Glan Morfa Buildings 

Discounted 

 
Admissions and catchment area arrangements 
 
There are no plans to change the Council’s policy on the admission of children to schools as a 
result of this proposal. 
 
Admission arrangements for Cardiff schools for the 2015/16 academic year were approved by the 
Council in early 2014. Consultation on admission arrangements for Cardiff schools for the 2016/17 
academic year was completed in January 2015 and was determined by the Cabinet at its meeting 
in March 2015. 
 
Should the proposal proceed, it may be necessary to consult at a later date on revising catchment 
area arrangements for some or all of the four English-medium primary school catchment areas 
within the Willows High School catchment area in order to achieve a better match of future 
catchment populations to the local school capacities. 
 
It may also be necessary to consult at a later date on revising the catchment area arrangements of 
Ysgol Glan Morfa, and therefore of adjacent Welsh-medium primary school catchment areas in 
order to achieve a better match of future catchment populations to the local school capacities. The 
catchment areas that may be affected will depend on whether separate proposals affecting the 
Butetown and Grangetown areas proceed. 
 

Page 489



  

28 
 

Any amendments to admission arrangements such as changes to Published Admission Numbers 
or the establishment and/ or revision of catchment areas as a result of this proposal could not be 
implemented until September 2017 at the earliest. 
 
Detailed information regarding admission arrangements is contained in the Council’s Admission to 
Schools booklet, and this information can also be viewed on the Council’s website 
(www.cardiff.gov.uk).   
 
The Council would implement this intake by authorising the admission of pupils in accordance with 
its published criteria. 
 
Financial Matters 
 
All options proposed include construction of a new build 2FE standardised build primary school 
building.  
 
Initial costings based on benchmarking information from other Local Authorities indicate that the 
construction cost of providing a single standardised build 2FE primary school would be between 
£5.4 – 6.5m subject to ground conditions. This would include costs for works such as, highways 
improvements, IT, fixed furniture and fittings (FFE) and fees.  Any land purchase costs would be in 
addition to the construction costs. 
 
A proposed 21st Century Schools capital investment Programme was submitted to Welsh 
Government (WG) in November 2011, and it received approval in-principle in December 2011 of 
50% WG capital grant funding. 
 
A proposed realigned Programme was presented to the Cabinet committee at its meeting on 19 
March 2015, reflecting current Council priorities. The specific proposals put forward in 2011 were 
replaced with a broader provision across the city. 
 
The realigned Strategic Outline Programme was submitted to WG in March 2015, noting that the 
full Programme was not affordable without additional capital support from WG. The SOP was 
considered at WG’s Capital Panel meeting on 30 March 2015 and in April 2015 it was confirmed 
that Cardiff Council had, in principle, been awarded additional capital grant funding. 
 
The realigned Programme proposes innovative approaches which it is considered could achieve 
capital savings through grouped procurements and standardised designs. This is subject to 
successfully negotiating a capped cost of capital investment with potential contractors. The 
Authority has undertaken a Common Contractor Briefing with framework contractors and 
established that up to three new 2FE primary schools could be delivered within a single, capped 
procurement.  Initial indications suggest contractors are interested to pursue this approach and 
there would be financial benefits in term of per school build costs. 
 
The 21st Century Schools Programme as a whole is limited to an approved level of investment, 
and therefore any scheme specific overspends can only be managed by underspends on other 
21st Century Schools schemes. The affordability of any specific scheme relies upon the 
successful budget management of all schemes within the Programme. At present the costs of 
delivering the proposals within this consultation document are based on estimated costs following 
discussions with contractors. 
 
The WG grant has been approved in-principle, and full grant approval would be received following 
successful Business Case submissions. The proposals within this consultation document either in 

Page 490



  

29 
 

isolation or as part of a grouped Business Case submission – are likely to require three stages of 
submission: 
 
•	  Strategic Outline Case (SOC); 
•	  Outline Business Case (OBC); 
•	  Full Business Case (FBC). 

 
It is anticipated that new build accommodation could be available by September 2017 to provide 
for Reception and nursery age children.  However this is dependent on a successful outcome of 
the revised procurement methods associated with the programme going forward. 
 
The funding agreed in principle as part of the realigned 21st Century Schools Programme means 
there is sufficient capital money available for the additional 60 places proposed for the locality.  It 
will not allow for rebuild or significant refurbishment of existing buildings or for the provision of 
facilities over and above a standard primary school such as community facilities.   
 
Any investment over and above the investment required to increase the number of places at the 
respective schools will necessitate consideration specific to additional funding sources to 
supplement the 21st Century Schools capital identified. 
 

 
Human Resources Matters 
 
A Human Resources Framework has been produced in consultation with key stakeholders 
including head teachers, governors, representatives of the diocesan authorities and the trade 
unions. It provides the basis for managing the human resources issues associated with School 
Organisation Planning and its purpose is to support governing bodies and staff working in schools, 
through a variety of strategies and with the ultimate aim of minimising compulsory redundancies 
across schools in Cardiff. Specific implications regarding the proposals are detailed below. 
 
The proposal to increase the current pupil intakes of Ysgol Glan Morfa and Moorland primary 
schools, and/ or proposals to relocate all or some of these primary schools would result in an 
increase of staff. The governing bodies of each school will need to consider whether to restructure 

Table 17: Cost Range 

Option Site Cost range (incl land costs where 
appropriate) 

    

1 
Baden Powell Primary School 

£7.9m - £9.9m Ysgol Glan Morfa 
Moorland Primary School  

1a 
Baden Powell Primary School 

£9.2 - £11.2m Tremorfa Nursery School 
Ysgol Glan Morfa 
Moorland Primary School  

    

2 
Ysgol Glan Morfa 

£7.9m - £9.9m Moorland Primary School 
Baden Powell Primary School 

2a 
Ysgol Glan Morfa 

£9.2 - £11.2m Moorland Primary School 
Baden Powell Primary School 
Tremorfa Nursery School 

Page 491



  

30 
 

their current staffing establishment in order to support the increased number on roll. The governing 
bodies of each school have adopted the Council's Redeployment and Redundancy Policy for 
schools and therefore any new vacancies arising as a consequence of an increase in numbers on 
the roll will provide opportunities for staff on the school redeployment register. 
 
The proposal to relocate Baden Powell Primary school will not result in a change to staffing levels. 
However, if the age range is changed from 3 -11 to 4 -11 this will mean a reduced requirement for 
staff. It is hoped that any resultant reduction required in staffing levels could be achieved through 
natural turnover. However, should this not be possible the school will need to manage this using 
the Redeployment and Redundancy for schools. 
 
Land Matters 
 
The Maltings site is in Council ownership and if selected for the purpose of building an educational 
facility would need to be appropriated to reflect the change of use.	  
 
Transport Matters 
 
Traffic and Transport implications will be considered as part of the Transport Assessment that 
would be required in order to achieve planning consent for building works should these proposals 
be implemented.  
 
Learner Travel Arrangements  
 
Under these proposals there are no plans to change the Council’s policy on the transport of 
children to and from schools.  Any pupils affected by this proposal as a result of catchment areas 
would be offered the same support with transport as is provided throughout Cardiff and in 
accordance with the same criteria that apply across Cardiff.  The Council’s transport policy for 
school children can be viewed on the Council’s website (www.cardiff.gov.uk). 
 
Impact of the proposal on the Welsh Language 
 
The proposal includes increasing the number of Welsh-medium nursery and primary school places 
available in the area.   
 
It is anticipated that there would be a positive impact on the Welsh language as a result of this 
proposal. 
 
Equality Matters 
 
An initial Equality Impact Assessment has been carried out.  The assessment concluded that this 
proposal would not adversely affect a particular group in society.  The assessment will be 
reviewed following consultation.  If the proposal were to proceed, further equality impact 
assessments would be undertaken including an assessment on the design for any new build 
accommodation or refurbishment/adaptation of existing accommodation. 
 
Sustainability Matters 
 
A Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) of the proposal has been carried out in accordance 
with European Legislation. The assessment confirms that the proposal is compatible with the 
environmental objectives identified in the SEA of Cardiff’s 21st Century: A Strategic Framework for 

Page 492



  

31 
 

a School Building Improvement Programme.  If the proposal were to proceed, an environmental 
assessment would be carried out as part of the planning application process. 
 
Considering Community Impact 
 
There is a need to increase the number of English and Welsh medium community places available 
without impacting adversely on the community.  The following are taken into account when 
considering a proposal: Public Open Space, parkland, noise and traffic congestion.  Officers will 
work with schools and any community group to ensure that the proposal avoids negative impacts 
wherever possible.  
 
The schools subject to the proposals are existing schools which offer a range of after school 
activities and some may have community organisations offering services from the school facilities.   
It is not anticipated that there would be a negative impact on any of these activities and all options 
allow for the potential development of community use of the additional facilities. 
 
Next steps, how to make your views know and feedback form 
 
What happens next? 
 
Key Dates 
 
The feedback from this consultation will be collated and summarised, and a report presented to 
the Council’s Cabinet.  This consultation report will be available for all persons to view on the 
Council website and copies can be obtained on request by using the contact details in this 
document.   
 
There are a number of further stages that the Council would have to go through before a final 
decision is made by the Council.   
 
These stages are set out in Table 18 below: 
 
Table 18: Further stages 

Statutory Process Timescale 

Consultation Period 12 October – 23 November 2015 
Consultation report considered by the Council 
Cabinet and published on the Council website 

December 2015 

Subject to approval statutory notice issued 
during which time formal written objections can 
be made 

January 2016 

Determination by the Council’s Cabinet March 2016 
Objection report published on the Council’s 
website and notification of Cabinet’s decision 

March 2016 

 
The proposed timetable may be subject to change 
 
Consultation period 
 
The consultation period for these proposals starts on 12 October and ends on 23 November 2015. 
See page 34 for further details of how to respond and make your views known. 
 

Page 493



  

32 
 

Within 13 weeks of 23 November 2015 a consultation report will be published on the City of Cardiff 
Council website. Hard copies of the report will also be available on request. The report will 
summarise the issues raised by consultees during the consultation period and provide the 
Council’s response to these issues. The report will also contain Estyn’s view of the proposals. 
 
The Council’s Cabinet will consider the consultation report and decide whether or not to proceed 
with the proposals. 
 
If the Cabinet decides to continue with the proposals the City of Cardiff Council must publish a 
statutory notice. 
 
Statutory Notice 
 
The statutory notice would be published on the City of Cardiff Council website and posted at or 
near the main entrance to the schools/sites subject to the notice. Copies of the notice would be 
made available to schools identified in the notice to distribute to pupils, parents, guardians, and 
staff members (the school may also distribute the notice by email). The notice sets out the details 
of the proposals and invites anyone who wishes to object to do so in writing within the period 
specified. 
 
Determination of the proposals 
 
The City of Cardiff Council Cabinet will determine the proposals. Cabinet may decide to approve, 
reject or approve the proposals with modifications. In doing so, Cabinet will take into account any 
statutory objections received. 
 
Decision Notification 
 
Following determination of proposals all interested parties will be informed of the decision which 
will be published electronically on the City of Cardiff Council’s website. 
 
Frequently Asked Questions 
 
• What would the proposals mean for children currently attending Baden Powell Primary 

School, Moorland Primary School, Tremorfa Nursery School, Ysgol Glan Morfa and 
Willows High School?   

 
Children currently attending these schools would remain at the schools.  
 
• Would the proposal have an impact on traffic in the local area? 

 
Traffic and transport implications would be considered as part of the Transport Assessment 
required in order to achieve planning consent for building works should this proposal be 
implemented.   
 
• Would the building works be carried out whilst children are on site? 
 
The City of Cardiff Council has increased experience in the successful delivery of building projects 
on the sites of occupied schools resulting from the progression of a growing school organisation 
programme.  Any building work carried out on the schools site would be managed effectively in 
consultation with the school management to ensure the full curriculum continues to be delivered 
and that high education standards and safety standards are maintained. 
 

Page 494



  

33 
 

• Would there be any change to the uniform? 
 
There are no changes of uniform at any of the schools arising out of this proposal. 
 
• What about local childcare providers in the area? 
 
The City of Cardiff Council is supportive of Early Years Childcare providers, and as such the aim 
would be to work with local childcare providers to enable continued serviced delivery. 

Page 495



  

34 
 

CONSULTATION RESPONSE FORM (The provision of additional English-medium and 
Welsh-medium primary school places in the Adamsdown and Splott wards)  
 
Your views matter, please tell us what you think about the proposal by: 
 
Completing and returning the accompanying questionnaire to the address given at the bottom of 
the form. 
 
Completing the on line response form at www.cardiff.gov.uk/21stcenturyschools 
 
Or if you prefer you can e-mail your views to: schoolresponses@cardiff.gov.uk 
 
Please note that all comments sent in writing or by e-mail must contain the full name and 
full postal address of the person making the comments. 
 
The closing date for responses to this consultation is 23 November 2015. Unfortunately no 
responses received after this date can be considered by the Council. 
 
Consultation responses will not be counted as objections to the proposals.  Objections could only 
be registered following publication of a statutory notice. 
 
Any responses received can be requested under the Freedom of Information Act and may have to 
be made public, however any information that would identify an individual such as name and 
address would be removed. 
 
Do you support the proposal to provide additional English-medium and Welsh-medium primary 
school places in the Adamsdown and Splott wards from 2017?   
 
Yes    No      
 
 
If you answered yes, do you like one option more than the others? 
 
Please number the options 1-4 in your preferred order with 1 being your most preferred option and 
number 4 being your least preferred: 
 
Option Level of priority 1- 4 

1=High 4 = Low 
1  
1a  
2  
2a  
 
If you do not support the proposal, please give your reasons together with any changes or 
alternatives that you would like to suggest.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
Do you wish to make any other comments? 
 

Page 496



  

35 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Your name: ……………………………………………………………………………………………. 
Address: ……………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………. 
Postcode: ……………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
Date: ……………………………………………………………………………………………………… 
Your status:      Parent 
                         Governor 
                         Pupil 
                         Member of Staff 
                         Other (please specify) ………………………………………………………………….  
 
 
Thank you for your comments 
 
Please tick the box below if you wish to be notified of publication of the consultation report  
 
Please return this form to the School Organisation Planning Team, Room 219, County Hall, CF10 
4UW by 23 November 2015. 
 

Page 497



Please return this form to Room 219, County Hall, Atlantic Wharf, Cardiff CF10 4UW by 
28 OCTOBER 2015 

Provision of additional primary school places in the Adamsdown and Splott 
Wards 12 October to 23 November 2015  

 
 
This document is about changes proposed to schools in your area.  You have been sent this 
document for you to find out more about this proposal and for you to give your views.  Please 
tick this box if you require this information in your language and write your name, address and 
telephone number in English or Welsh in the large box at the bottom of the form.  Please return 
this form to the address at the top of the form. 
 
 
FR □ 

 
 
CN □ 

 
 
SM □ 

 
 
PL □ 

 
 
CZ □ 

 
 
AR □ 

 
 
HD □ 

 
   

  

Page 498



Please return this form to Room 219, County Hall, Atlantic Wharf, Cardiff CF10 4UW by 
28 OCTOBER 2015 

Provision of additional primary school places in the Adamsdown and Splott 
Wards 12 October to 23 November 2015  

 
DR □ 

 
 
GJ □ 

 
 
KD □ 

 
 
PJ □ 

 
 
UD □ 

 
 
BG 
 
□ 

 
 
 
* Name: 

Address: 

 

( Phone: 

 

Page 499



Date Performance

Moorland Primary School Cardiff 60 52.90% 31.70% Sep 2012 2: Good
St Andrews Primary School Newport 90 38.70% 23.40% Nov 2015 3: Adequate
May Park Primary School Bristol 120 49.60% 70.50% Mar 2015 2: Good
Gascoigne Primary School Barking and Dagenham 150 47.10% 80.20% Jul 2013 2: Good
William Bellamy Primary School Barking and Dagenham 150 51.50% 34.25% Apr 2014 2: Good
Mulberry Primary School Haringey 90 47.90% 80.60% Mar 2013 2: Good
Upton Cross Primary School Newham 150 19.40% 94.60% Jun 2013 1: Outstanding
Avenue Primary School Newham 120 84.10% 93.50% Sep 2014 2: Good
Dersingham Primary School Newham 90 44.60% 97.30% Oct 2015 2: Good
Bannockburn School Greenwich 120 27.30% 57.20% Jan 2014 1: Outstanding

PAN FSM 2014 EAL 2013
Latest Estyn/Offsted inspection

Appendix 3

P
age 500



Appendix 4  
 
Estyn Findings  
 
Moorland Primary School: Estyn judgements and recommendations, WG 
category, FP & KS 2 data 
 Moorland Primary School  

Estyn Inspection 
September 2012  

School’s current Performance  Good 
School’s prospect for improvement Good 
Key Questions Judgement 
Key Question 1: How good are the 
outcomes?   

Good 

Standards Good 
Wellbeing Good 
  
Key Question 2: How good is 
provision?  

Good 

Learning experiences Good 
Teaching  Good 
Care, support and guidance Good 
Learning environment Good 
  
Key Question 3: How good are 
leadership and management?  

Good 

Leadership Good 
Improving quality Good 
Partnership working Good 
Resource management Good 
  
Recommendations  
R1 Continue to improve the 

achievements of boys in writing and 
of those pupils entitled to receive free 
school meals 
 

R2 Improve further the quality of 
assessment for learning, especially in 
the way that pupils throughout the 
school assess their own work and 
that of their peers 
 

R3   
R4  
Welsh Government Support Category Green 
*Pupils achieving the expected outcome 
in the FP areas of learning (2014) 

81.8% 

*Pupils achieving the expected level in 65.7% 

Page 501



the core subjects at KS2 (2014) 
*Attendance (2014) 93.8% 
 
Ysgol Glan Morfa: Estyn judgements and recommendations, WG category, 
FP & KS 2 data 
 
Key Questions Grade 
Standards  
Key question 1: How well do learners achieve? 2 
The quality of education and training  
 

 

Key question 2: How effective are teaching, 
training and assessment? 
 

2 

Key question 3: How well do the learning 
experiences meet the needs and interest of 
learners and wider community? 
 

2 

Key question 4: How well are learners cared for, 
guided and supported? 

1 

Leadership and Management 
 

 

Key question 5: How effective are leadership and 
strategic management? 
 

2 

Key question 6: How well do leaders and 
managers evaluate and improve quality and 
standards? 
 
 

3 

Key question 7: How efficient are leaders and 
managers in using resources? 

2 

Recommendations  
R1 continue to sustain and raise 

standards across the 
curriculum and address the few 
shortcomings noted 

R2 formalise the opportunities for 
pupils to express their views 
about the school and offer 
improvements 

R3 ensure consistency in the 
standard of reports to parents 

R4 continue to develop strategic 
management procedures as 
the school grows 

R5 formalise the self-evaluation 
procedure ensuring that it 
underpins all the school’s work 

Page 502



and ensuring that there is a 
definite link with the school 
improvement plan 

Welsh Government Support Category Amber 
*Pupils achieving the expected outome in the FP 
areas of learning (2014) 

88.9% 

*Pupils achieving the expected level in the core 
subjects at KS2 (2014) 

76.9% 

*Attendance (2014) 93.9% 
 

Page 503



Appendix 5 

Page 504



Page 505



Page 506



Page 507



Page 508



Page 509



Page 510



Page 511



Page 512



Page 513



Page 514



Page 515



Page 516



Page 517



Page 518



Page 519



Page 520



Page 521



Page 522



Page 523



Page 524



Page 525



Page 526



Page 527



Page 528



Page 529



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 6 

CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL  
CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD 
 
CABINET MEETING: 21 MARCH 2016 

 
 
CARDIFF CENTRAL TRANSPORT INTERCHANGE 
 
REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
AGENDA  

ITEM: 7    
 
  
PORTFOLIO: TRANSPORT, PLANNING AND SUSTAINABILITY 
(COUNCILLOR RAMESH PATEL) 
 

Appendices 1-3 of this report are exempt from publication because they 
contain information of the kind described in paragraphs 14 and 21 of parts 

4 and 5 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
Reason for this Report 
 
1. To provide Cabinet with a further update on the Central Transport 

Interchange project and to seek to progress to the next stage of the 
project pending a more detailed report to Cabinet in May regarding the 
commercial options for funding and carrying out the development works. 

 
2. To authorise the completion of a Pre Planning Agreement upon the terms 

set out in this report. 
 

Background 
 
3. On the 3 December 2015 a report was presented to Cabinet to provide 

an update on the Central Square regeneration scheme and to outline 
proposals for the delivery of the new Central Transport Interchange 
building, including an indicative construction programme and estimated 
costs for the bus station element. The report gave delegated powers to 
officers to consider detailed funding options and to come back to Cabinet 
with a final recommendation once the developer had submitted its 
proposals to the Council. 
 

4. Since December significant progress has been made on both the 
broader Central Square regeneration scheme and on preparing for the 
delivery of the Central Transport Interchange building.  In terms of 
Central Square, Building No1 has now been completed and will be 
occupied from 14th March 2016. The construction of the BBC HQ 
building has progressed. The site is currently being excavated to prepare 
for the construction of the sub-structure and the accommodation of 
underground parking. The developer has now secured significant interest 
in Building No2 and as such has commissioned Foster & Partners to 

 

Page 531

Agenda Item 7



Page 2 of 6 

prepare detailed designs to enable the discharge of reserved matters 
which will be submitted in March.  A contractor has also been appointed 
with a view to progressing the development at the same time as the 
delivery of the BBC HQ.  Design works on the public realm scheme have 
also progressed and it is intended that the Council will enter into a fixed 
price contract with the developer for the delivery of the public realm 
scheme, details of which will also be reported to Cabinet in May. 

 
5. In terms of the Interchange building, since December, significant 

progress and investment has been made to ensure the project continues 
to move forward in line with the delivery programme. Recent activity 
includes:  

 
• Submission of a planning application for the demolition of the Wood 

Street NCP Car Park and Marland House. This has subsequently 
been approved. 
 

• The main contractor for the construction of the Interchange 
development has been procured through a tender process with four 
national construction companies and Sir Robert McAlpine has been 
appointed. Work has progressed on designing a preferred 
construction methodology in collaboration with Foster + Partners and 
Arup. This has informed the development of detailed cost estimates 
and appraisals for the construction of the building. 

 
• The developer has appointed Foster + Partners to prepare a detailed 

planning application for submission in June 2016. 
 
• The developer has appointed Aecom to undertake a Transport 

Impact Assessment to support the submission of the planning 
application in June. Further to this Aecom has also been appointed 
by the Council to update the City Centre Transport Strategy to 
ensure the bus interchange development links seamlessly with the 
wider transport requirements for the city centre. Aecom has been 
appointed by the Council to provide specific transport expertise as 
part of the process of developing the detailed design for the bus 
station element of the Interchange building. 

 
• Negotiations for the termination of tenancies at Marland House have 

progressed. The Council has assisted tenants that have required to 
be relocated and will now be in a position to deliver vacant 
possession at the end of March. This will enable demolition of 
Marland House to commence towards the end of April. 

 
• Engagement with stakeholders has continued on a regular basis. 

This will be stepped-up over coming months to ensure broad input 
into the detailed design of the scheme that is being prepared for 
submission to planning. 

 
 
 
 

Page 532



Page 3 of 6 

Issues 
 
6. The programme for construction of the new Central Transport 

Interchange is dictated by the termination of the existing Marland House 
tenancies, demolition of Marland House and the Wood Street NCP Car 
Park and completion of detailed design works to enable submission of a 
detailed planning application. Together these represent a major pre-
development cost. 
 

7. The next step in the process for the delivery of the Central Transport 
Interchange is for the Council to enter into a Pre Planning Agreement 
with the developer in advance of agreeing a heads of terms funding 
package. A report on options for funding the development will be 
presented to Cabinet in May.  Confidential Appendix 1 summarises the 
key information that is being compiled to enable a decision in May. 

 
Pre Planning Agreement 
 
8. The developer of Central Square holds an option to take a lease of the 

Marland House site and is prepared to pre-fund the design, planning, 
tenancy and demolition costs which need to be progressed prior to final 
approval of the main funding package for the Interchange. This will keep 
the project on programme. However the developer is at risk in incurring 
these costs in advance of the Council formally agreeing to the funding 
package. Accordingly, the developer has offered the Council the 
opportunity to enter into a Pre Planning Agreement whereby the 
developer will deal with the tenant, design, planning and demolition 
issues. Those costs will form part of the development appraisal which is 
due for approval in May. The Pre Planning Agreement commits the 
Council to underwrite certain agreed costs to enable work on the full 
planning application to be progressed in advance of agreeing the funding 
package. The terms of the Pre Planning Agreement are set out in 
confidential Appendix 2 and are subject to the specified maximum figure.  
  

9. In order to mitigate the risk to the Council of entering into a Pre Planning 
Agreement before an in principle funding approach is agreed, the pre 
planning costs have been divided into two stages.  The first stage will 
provide for the submission of a hybrid planning application in June 
providing detailed design for excavation and sub-structure and seeking 
outline consent for the super-structure. The second phase will deal with 
the discharge of detailed conditions relating to the super-structure. The 
Cabinet is therefore, at this time, only being asked to provide approval for 
the first stage of costs as outlined in Appendix 2.  The second stage of 
pre planning costs will then be considered as part of the broader decision 
to be taken on the funding approach and associated affordability 
implications by Cabinet in May. 
 

10. In terms of funding the new interchange building, the Council is exploring 
a number of approaches that not only seek to reduce the overall cost to 
the Council, but also seek to enable delivery of a comprehensive scheme 
that meets the Council’s planning and place-making aspirations for 
Central Square. The Council has allocated adequate funds to deliver a 

Page 533



Page 4 of 6 

stand-alone bus station on the site in its capital programme. However, 
this would mean the bus station bearing the whole costs associated with 
the assembly of the site. Therefore, in order to minimise the overall cost 
of the new bus interchange, and to realise the maximum possible return 
for the investment made in land, the Council has developed a mixed use 
scheme including offices and retail. A mixed use scheme has a headline 
cost far in excess of the capital costs previously estimated for the 
delivery of a stand-alone bus station. However, a mixed use scheme has 
the potential to make a significant contribution towards the affordability of 
delivering a new bus interchange through rental income. 
 

11. The developer has now provided the Council with a proposal in relation 
to the interchange development, including potential options in relation to 
retail and office elements, as well as the interchange itself. Appraisals 
have been received and these are currently being reviewed by the 
Council’s advisers in regard to projected costs, values and expected 
commercial income streams. 

 
Reason for Recommendation 

 
12. To request delegated authority to enter into a Pre-Planning Agreement 

which will enable the Interchange project to remain on programme. 
 
Financial Implications 
 
13. The attached report provides a further update on the Central Transport 

Interchange and seeks authority to progress tenant relocation, 
demolition, design and planning via a Pre-Planning Agreement with the 
developer. As matters contained in Appendix 1 and Appendix 2 are 
commercially confidential, an additional set of confidential Financial 
Implications have been set-out at Appendix 3, which should be 
considered in conjunction with the report. 

 
14. The 2016-17 Capital Programme presented to Council in February 

included an allocation of £20 million for the ‘Delivery of Central Square 
development including a new Integrated Transport Hub’, which is to be 
fully funded by capital receipts and s106 contributions associated with 
Central Square.  In addition, £3.715 million of the Central Square Public 
Realm budget is directly reliant on resources generated from the Marland 
House/NCP car park sites (plots 9-12).  However, in previous reports 
Cabinet were advised that the actual level of receipts and s106 
contributions realised will be very much dependent on the proposal and 
related development appraisal brought forward for consideration.  

 
15. The developer has now provided the council with a proposal in relation to 

the Marland House/NCP car park sites and these are being reviewed by 
the Council’s financial and commercial advisors.  Should the proposals 
brought forward by the developer either result in lower receipts than 
previously anticipated or be reliant on an alternative funding strategy, 
then the resulting budgetary implications will need to be fully considered 
as part of any decision to proceed.  The strategy for managing any 

Page 534



Page 5 of 6 

shortfall arising against the public realm budget would also need to be 
understood.    

 
16. Where the proposed funding solution is reliant on future commercial 

income streams, then these will need to be robustly tested to understand 
the base assumptions, the level of sensitivity inherent within those 
assumptions and the resultant impact on affordability should changes 
occur over the life of the funding term.  Other matters such as void 
periods, management costs, VAT, SDLT and wider taxation issues will 
also need to be factored into the overall affordability assessment.   

 
17. The report seeks to delegate authority to conclude details of a phased 

Pre Planning Agreement as set in Appendices 1 and 2, subject to a 
specified maximum figure for the first phase, to the 30th June.  In the 
event the Council becomes liable for the costs associated with the Pre 
Planning Agreement, these costs may become abortive and will need to 
be written-off to the Council’s revenue account.  The resulting budgetary 
implications will need to be managed within existing resources.  In-light 
of the financial climate the council finds itself in, the challenges 
associated with accommodating a significant sum should not be under 
estimated. 

 
18. Due to pre-agreed deadlines it is necessary for the council to fund an 

element of statutory compensation costs in advance of entering into the 
Pre-Planning Agreement.  These sums can be initially met from the 
Cardiff Enterprise Zone earmarked reserve set-up to cover management 
and holding costs associated with buildings acquired as part of the 
redevelopment of Central Square.  In the event that the Pre Planning 
Agreement is enforced, the design costs will be warranted to the council 
and could be used as part of an alternative proposal.  Similarly, the 
council would still need to vacate existing tenants from Marland House in 
order to preserve the value of its asset and maximise its potential as part 
of any alternative scheme that may be brought forward. 

 
19. It anticipated that the full financial implications of the developer’s 

proposal will be reported to Cabinet in May as part of the next phase of 
key decisions required (as set-out in Appendix 1).  The budget 
implications arising will need to be factored into the wider Capital 
Programme for future years, which is being progressed on the basis that 
any commitments relating to the interchange development are self-
funded. 
 

Legal Implications 
 
20. In its dealings with property, the Council has to be mindful of its fiduciary 

duty to its council tax payers and the need to demonstrate value for 
money. In disposing of property, the Council has a specific duty to secure 
the best consideration reasonably obtainable, whether in cash or 
otherwise, pursuant to section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972. 

 
21. The Council’s Procedure Rules for the acquisition or disposal of interests 

in property provide that the Council’s decision makers will have proper 

Page 535



Page 6 of 6 

regard to professional advice from a qualified valuer at all relevant stages 
during the process. The intention is that due probity and accountability 
can be demonstrated and value for money achieved. Value for money 
also has to be demonstrated in regard to the cost of carrying out of 
works. 

 
22. In the case of commercial properties, disposal and acquisition prices are 

impacted upon by considerations such as achievable rental income, 
service charges and holding costs, the costs and values of 
redevelopment, funding costs, the tenanting of new accommodation and 
the cost obtaining vacant possession from sitting tenants. In the current 
economic climate, this kind of consideration can impact significantly upon 
residual valuations for the premiums attached to the granting and taking 
of commercial leases, and upon the viable level of Section 106 
contributions. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Cabinet is recommended to delegate authority to the Director of Economic 
Development, in consultation with the Leader of the Council, the Cabinet 
Member for Corporate Services and Performance, the Cabinet Member for 
Transport, Planning and Sustainability, the Corporate Director Resources and 
the Interim Monitoring Officer to settle the terms of a phased Pre-Planning 
Agreement in accordance with paragraph 9 of this report and the proposal set 
out in Appendices 1 and 2 with a view to preserving the indicative timetable for 
the new Interchange building in advance of the recommendation to Cabinet in 
May 2016 regarding the funding package. 
 
 
Neil Hanratty 
Director 
15 March 2016 
 
The following appendices are attached: 
 
Appendix 1: (Confidential) Summary of the Proposed Pre-planning Agreement 
for the new Transport Interchange  
 
Appendix 2: (Confidential) Pre Planning Indicative Costs and Proposed 
Phased Cost Cap 
 
Appendix 3:  (Confidential) Financial Implications 
 
 

Page 536



Document is Restricted

Page 537

By virtue of paragraph(s) 14, 21 of Part(s) 4 and 5 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 To receive the Community and Adult Services Scrutiny Committee report entitled "How to reduce Crime and Disorder in the Night Time Economy in a time of Austerity"
	2 Wales Audit Office Corporate Assessment Follow On Report - Statement of Action
	CAB 21 March 2016 - WAO
	CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD

	CAB 21 March 2016 - WAO - App 1

	3 Cardiff Capital Region City Deal
	CAB 21 March 2016 - City Deal
	CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD

	CAB 21 March 2016 - City Deal Appendix A

	4 Creative Education Partnership
	CAB 21 March 2016 - Creative Education
	CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD

	CAB 21 March 2016 - Creative Education - Appendix 1

	5 School Catchment Areas
	CAB 21 March 2016 - Catchment
	CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD

	CAB 21 March 2016 - Catchment - Appendix 1
	CAB 21 March 2016 - Catchment - Appendix 1a
	CAB 21 March 2016 - Catchment - Appendix 2
	CAB 21 March 2016 - Catchment - Appendix 3
	CAB 21 March 2016 - Catchment - Appendix 4
	CAB 21 March 2016 - Catchment - Appendix 5
	CAB 21 March 2016 - Catchment - Appendix 6

	6 School Organisation Planning: The provision of additional English-medium and Welsh-medium primary school provision in the Adamsdown and Splott Wards.
	CAB 21 March 2016 - SOP - Splott & Adamsdown
	CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD

	CAB 21 March 2016 - SOP - Splott & Adamsdown - Appendix 1
	Cabinet 10 Dec 2015 SOP Adamsdown & Splott
	CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD

	Cabinet 10 Dec 2015 SOP Adamsdown & Splott App 1
	Cabinet 10 Dec 2015 SOP Adamsdown & Splott App 2
	Cabinet 10 Dec 2015 SOP Adamsdown & Splott App 3
	Cabinet 10 Dec 2015 SOP Adamsdown & Splott App 4
	Cabinet 10 Dec 2015 SOP Adamsdown & Splott App 5
	- Mental health and wellbeing is promoted by inspirational modern learning environments
	- See 1.2 below - encouraging walking, cycling and use of public transport
	- See 1.3 below re crime prevention (Secure by Design) 
	- The standalone new build accommodation would achieve a BREEAM Excellent rating and A for energy performance.  
	- If possible, Passivhaus design principles and methodology would be applied and adopted which result in facilitating most of the school classroom windows facing North/South orientation, limiting and optimising summer and winter sun respectively. This minimises the use of energy for heating or cooling a room.
	- The wall construction and key junction details would be carefully developed to achieve a highly air tight building.
	- Under SEWSCAP, consideration is given to using local sub-contractors and suppliers. As part of any tender process, emphasis is placed on how the construction project must benefit the local economy.  Examples of key Performance Indicators are as follows:
	- Contractors asked to report the % of contract value spent in the local economy.
	- Contractors or subcontractors asked to provide employment opportunities to unemployed people living in Wales.
	- Contractors asked to offer work experiences, traineeships and apprenticeship opportunities to people within the local community.
	Refurbishment/adaptations:
	- Where possible, energy efficient measures would be incorporated into the building works for any adaptations to existing accommodation.
	- Emphasis is placed on travel by active modes where this is possible and on providing the facilities and opportunities at school for students to travel by walking, cycling and public transport. Encouraging active travel to school is a very important means of increasing levels of physical activity in children and tackling the growing problem of childhood obesity.  Reducing congestion at the school gate is key to ensuring the safety of pupils and to mitigating impacts on the local neighbourhood. 
	- Provision of parent parking places is generally not supported by Cardiff Council. This is because such provision would promote travel to school by car, generate local traffic, contribute to congestion and reduce pupil safety.  Parking facilities provided at schools is generally only for staff and to meet operational needs.
	- Limited scope for parking would encourage walking to school
	- Provision of Safe Walking Routes to schools would encourage walking.  A travel plan would be submitted along with the planning application, detailing proximity to public transport and walking and cycling routes.
	- Cardiff’s Supplementary Planning Guidance (Access, Circulation and Parking Standards 2010) sets out that all new or expanded schools are required to develop a Travel Plan for submission with a planning application. A Travel Plan is a policy and action plan to:
	o manage transport efficiently 
	o improve access by all means of travel for employees, visitors, patients and students 
	o encourage sustainable transport – walking, cycling, public transport and car sharing 
	o reduce car use. 
	- A School Travel Plan is specifically designed to address the transport needs of pupils and staff and will vary according to the nature of the education being provided and the catchment area of the school. 
	- A Traffic/Transport assessment is carried out as part of the planning application process. 
	- Option 1 would result in Flying Start and the primary and secondary age range sharing one access road.  It is anticipated that perceived issues around pupil safety in terms of different age groups in the same locality and volume/movement of traffic may be raised during public consultation.
	Consider the potential impact on
	Consider the potential impact on
	 promoting and improving access to life-long learning in Cardiff
	 raising levels of skills and qualifications
	 giving children the best start
	 improving the understanding of sustainability
	 addressing child poverty (financial poverty, access poverty, participation poverty)
	 the United Nations Convention on the Rights of a Child  and Principles for Older persons
	Consider the potential impact on
	 promoting the cultural diversity of Cardiff
	 encouraging participation and access for all to physical activity, leisure & culture
	 protecting and enhancing the landscape and historic heritage of Cardiff

	- See Equality Impact Assessment below.
	- Statutory public consultation would be carried out
	- Design Equalities Advisory Group (including representatives from external groups) would be given the opportunity to comment
	- Relevant departments in the Council would be engaged
	- Ecological Appraisal if required - external surveyors
	- South Wales Police’s Crime Prevention Design Advisor would be engaged
	- A design access statement would be included as part of any planning application.
	Consider the potential impact on
	 strengthening partnerships with business and voluntary sectors

	- Emphasis is placed on travel by active modes where this is possible and on providing the facilities and opportunities at school for students to travel by walking, cycling and public transport. Encouraging active travel to school is a very important means of increasing levels of physical activity in children and tackling the growing problem of childhood obesity.  Reducing congestion at the school gate is key to ensuring the safety of pupils and to mitigating impacts on the local neighbourhood. 
	- Provision of parent parking places is generally not supported by Cardiff Council. This is because such provision would promote travel to school by car, generate local traffic, contribute to congestion and reduce pupil safety.  Parking facilities provided at schools is generally only for staff and to meet operational needs.
	- Locating provision central to the area it serves should minimise the use of cars or public transport and encourage walking and cycling to and from school.   
	- The limited scope for parking on a school site should encourage walking and cycling to school.
	- A Traffic/Transport assessment would be carried out as part of the planning application process. 
	- A travel plan will be submitted along with the planning application, detailing proximity to public transport and walking and cycling routes. 
	- Changes to the traffic and transport infrastructure would be considered as part of the Transport Assessment for a proposal.
	 Habitats Regulations Assessment: The Conservation (Natural Habitats, &c.) (Amendment) Regulations 2007 provides a requirement to undertake Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) of land use plans.

	Cabinet 10 Dec 2015 SOP Adamsdown & Splott App 6

	CAB 21 March 2016 - SOP - Splott & Adamsdown - Appendix 2
	CAB 21 March 2016 - SOP - Splott & Adamsdown - Appendix 3
	CAB 21 March 2016 - SOP - Splott & Adamsdown - Appendix 4
	CAB 21 March 2016 - SOP - Splott & Adamsdown - Appendix 5

	7 Cardiff Central Transport Interchange
	CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD
	Item 7 - Interchange Appendices - CONFIDENTIAL




